An Investigation of the Molecular Basis of Interactions Between Human Monoclonal Antibodies and Antigens that are Clinically Relevant in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and the Antiphospholipid Syndrome

By Anastasia Lambrianides

Department of Medicine University College London

A Thesis submitted for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Science

UMI Number: U592227

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI U592227 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

ABSTRACT

Autontibodies to a wide variety of antigens are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and the Antiphospholipid Syndrome (APS). Previous studies have demonstrated the importance of somatic mutations and arginine residues in the complementarity determining regions (CDRs) of pathogenic anti-dsDNA and antiphospholipid antibodies. This thesis describes the study of two human monoclonal IgG antibodies, B3 (anti-DNA) and IS4 (antiphospholipid) that were derived from a patient with active SLE and primary APS respectively. I have demonstrated *in-vitro* expression and mutagenesis of B3 and IS4 and used this expression system to investigate the importance of the arginine residues in B3V_H and IS4V_H. The mutant heavy chains, as well as the wild-type V_H were expressed with different light chains and the resulting antibodies assessed for binding to nucleosomes, alpha-actinin, cardiolipin (CL), phosphatidylserine (PS), beta-2-glycoprotein I (β_2 GPI), and the N-terminal domain of β_2 GPI (Domain I) using direct binding assays.

The results obtained have shown that the presence of arginine at position 53 in $B3V_{H}$ was essential but not sufficient for binding to dsDNA and nucleosomes. Conversely, the presence of this arginine reduced binding to alpha-actinin, β_2 GPI and Domain I of β_2 GPI. The fact that the arginine to serine substitution at position 53 in $B3V_{H}$ significantly alters binding of B3 to different clinically relevant antigens, but in opposite directions implies that this arginine residue plays a critical role in the affinity maturation of the antibody B3. Furthermore, of four arginine residues in IS4V_H CDR3 substituted to serine, two at positions 100 and 100g reduced binding to all antigens, while two at positions 96 and 97 reduced binding to β_2 GPI but increased or decreased binding to CL and PS. Only one H/L chain combination bound neutral phospholipid and none bound dsDNA; hence, these effects are particularly relevant to antigens important in APS. Therefore, my findings suggest that these four arginine residues have developed as a result of somatic mutations driven by an antigen containing both phospholipid and β_2 GPI. These results extend our knowledge of the structure-function relationship of human anti-DNA and antiphospholipid antibodies and aid in our understanding of how these antibodies lead to pathogenicity and what we need to target in the future for possible therapies.

This thesis is dedicated to my family for their love, constant support and encouragement

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would firstly like to thank my supervisors Dr Anisur Rahman and Professor David Isenberg for their guidance and support, their constant assistance and helpful criticism of my thesis. Anisur's broad base of knowledge, insight, practicality, efficiency, patience and optimism have been invaluable over the last three years, and will continue to be qualities I will work towards as I pursue my own career.

I would also like to thank Dr Ian Giles who has been guiding me since my first day in the lab and has taught me how to be a good scientist. This work and this thesis would not have been done without him. I would like to thank all of my colleagues at the Medical Molecular Biology Unit at the Institute of Child Health, UCL. In particular I would like to thank Dr John Ioannou for his doses of daily entertainment, jokes and Cypriot support, James McCormick for the moral support we gave each other as we both embarked on our long journey for a PhD and Mr John Estridge for being an excellent lab manager. I would also like to extend my gratitude to my colleagues at the centre for Rheumatology, UCL for their help, in particular Dr Lesley Mason and Dr Jessica Manson. Thank you to Dr George Poyiadjis who helped me keep everything in perspective.

Last but definitely not least, I would especially like to say a big thank you to Christopher Carroll to whom I am indebted for always being there for me, for his patience and support and discussions over cups of coffee, glasses of wine and pints of beer.

DECLARATION

The work described in this thesis was carried out by the author unless otherwise stated.

PUBLICATIONS

LAMBRIANIDES, A., GILES, I., IOANNOU, Y., MASON, L., MANSON, J., LATCHMAN, D.S., ISENBERG, D.A. & RAHMAN, A. (2006) Substitution of a single arginine residue alters the binding properties of a human monoclonal antibody to multiple clinically relevant antigens. Submitted.

GILES I., LAMBRIANIDES N., PATTNI N., FAULKES D., LATCHMAN D.S., CHEN P., CHUKWUOCHA R., PIERANGELI S., ISENBERG D.A., RAHMAN A. (2006) Arginine residues are important in determining the binding of human monoclonal antiphospholipid antibodies to clinically relevant antigens. *J Immunol*; 177 (3): 1729-36.

IOANNOU, Y., GILES, I., <u>LAMBRIANIDES, A.</u>, RICHARDSON, C., PEARL, L. H., LATCHMAN, D. S., ISENBERG, D. A. & RAHMAN, A. (2006) A novel expression system of domain I of human beta2 glycoprotein I in Escherichia coli. *BMC Biotechnol*, 6, 8.

GILES, I., <u>LAMBRIANIDES</u>, N., LATCHMAN, D., CHEN, P., CHUKWUOCHA, R., ISENBERG, D. & RAHMAN, A. (2005) The critical role of arginine residues in the binding of human monoclonal antibodies to cardiolipin. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 7, R47-56.

MASON, L. J., <u>LAMBRIANIDES, A.</u>, HALEY, J. D., MANSON, J. J., LATCHMAN, D. S., ISENBERG, D. A. & RAHMAN, A. (2005) Stable expression of a recombinant human antinucleosome antibody to investigate relationships between antibody sequence, binding properties, and pathogenicity. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 7, R971-83.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title page	. 1
Abstract	. 2
Dedication	. 3
Acknowledgements	.4
Declaration	.4
Publications	. 5
Table of Contents	. 6
List of Figures	12
List of Tables	14
Abbreviations1	15
Table of Amino Acids 1	18
CHAPTER ONE	19
Introduction	19
1.1 The immune system	20
1.1.1 Components of immunity	20
1.1.2 Cells of the immune system	20
1.1.3 The role of antibodies in the immune system	23
1.2 What is Systemic Lupus Erythematosus?	28
1.2.1 Aetiology of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus	29
1.2.2 Clinical Features of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus	31
1.2.3 Immunopathogenesis of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus	33
1.2.4 The role of anti-dsDNA autoantibodies	45
1.2.5 The role of nucleosomes in SLE	53
1.3 What is The Antiphospholipid Syndrome?	57
1.3.1 Criteria for classification and diagnosis of the APS	57
1.3.2 Clinical Features of the APS	58
1.3.3 Antiphospholipid Antibodies	62
1.3.4 Mechanisms of pathogenesis in the APS	67
1.3.5 The role of T cells and cytokines in the APS	71
1.3.6 The importance of β_2 -Glycoprotein I in APS	73
1.4 The generation of diversity in immunoglobulins	76
1.4.1 Organisation of immunoglobulin genes	76

1.4.2 The mechanism of rearrangement of immunoglobulin genes	78
1.4.3 Generation of antibody diversity	80
1.4.4 Somatic hypermutation	81
1.4.5 The repertoire of human variable region genes	84
1.5 Sequence Analysis of Human Monoclonal Anti-DNA and Antiphospholipid	
Antibodies	88
1.5.1 Sequence analysis of murine anti-DNA antibodies	89
1.5.2 Sequence analysis of murine aPL	90
1.5.3 Sequence analysis of human anti-DNA antibodies	91
1.5.4 Sequence analysis of human aPL	91
1.5.5 The importance of somatic hypermutation and charged residues in t	he
CDRs of anti-DNA antibodies and aPL?	92
1.6 Three-dimensional images of anti-DNA and antiphospholipid antibodies .	94
1.6.1 X-ray crystallography of anti-DNA antibodies	94
1.6.2 Computer-modelling of anti-DNA antibodies and aPL	95
1.7 Expression systems for antibodies	101
1.7.1 Bacterial expression systems	101
1.7.2 Eukaryotic expression systems	106
1.8 Conclusion:	1 14
1.9 Aims of this thesis	116
CHAPTER TWO	117
Materials and Methods	117
2.1 Materials	118
2.1.1. Chemicals and variants	118
	118
2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment	
2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment 2.1.3 Enzymes	119
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 	110 119 119
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 	119 119 120
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 2.1.6 General buffers and solutions 	119 119 120 121
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 2.1.6 General buffers and solutions 2.1.7 Specific buffers and solutions. 	119 119 120 121 121
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 2.1.6 General buffers and solutions 2.1.7 Specific buffers and solutions. 2.1.8 ELISA Reagents and buffers 	119 119 120 121 121 123
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 2.1.6 General buffers and solutions 2.1.7 Specific buffers and solutions. 2.1.8 ELISA Reagents and buffers 2.1.9 Bacterial Strains 	119 119 120 121 121 123 123
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 2.1.6 General buffers and solutions 2.1.7 Specific buffers and solutions. 2.1.8 ELISA Reagents and buffers 2.1.9 Bacterial Strains 2.1.10 Bacterial growth media 	119 119 120 121 121 123 123 123
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 2.1.6 General buffers and solutions 2.1.7 Specific buffers and solutions. 2.1.8 ELISA Reagents and buffers 2.1.9 Bacterial Strains 2.1.10 Bacterial growth media 2.1.11 Human monoclonal antibodies 	110 119 120 121 121 123 123 123 123
 2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents 2.1.2 General materials and equipment. 2.1.3 Enzymes 2.1.4 Reaction buffers 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers 2.1.6 General buffers and solutions 2.1.7 Specific buffers and solutions. 2.1.8 ELISA Reagents and buffers 2.1.9 Bacterial Strains 2.1.10 Bacterial growth media 2.1.11 Human monoclonal antibodies 2.1.12 Eukaryotic cell lines 	110 119 120 121 121 123 123 123 124 125

2.1.13 Growth media and solutions for maintenance of eukaryotic cell lines125
2.1.14 Expression constructs126
2.1.15 Hybrid V _L chain constructs128
2.2 Small-scale extraction of recombinant V _H /V _L vectors
2.2.1 Restriction digest of recombinant vectors containing V_H/V_L fragments134
2.2.2 Separation of DNA fragments by agarose gel electrophoresis
2.2.3 Ethanol Precipitation of DNA136
2.3 Cloning of VH3-23 sequence into pG1D210 Vector
2.3.1 Amplification of V _H by PCR136
2.3.2 Purification of amplified V_H DNA from agarose gels
2.3.3 Ligation of amplified DNA into pG1D210 Vector
2.3.4 Production of fresh competent DH5 α -strain <i>E.coli</i> cells
2.3.5 Transformation of competent E.coli cells
2.4 Site directed PCR mutagenesis
2.5 Large scale extraction of DNA for transfection into COS-7 cells
2.5.1 Quantification of dsDNA concentration
2.6 Tissue culture
2.6.1 Transient Expression System in COS-7 cells
2.6.2 Defrosting COS-7 cells aliquots stored in liquid nitrogen
2.6.3 Maintenance of COS-7 cells in culture
2.6.4 Freezing down COS-7 cells for storage in liquid nitrogen
2.6.5 Preparation of COS-7 cells for electroporation
2.6.6 Trypan blue viable cell count148
2.6.7 Transfection of COS-7 cells with recombinant expression vectors by
electroporation149
2.6.8 Treatment of COS-7 cell supernatants with DNase I (RNase -free)150
2.6.9 Concentration of whole IgG in cell supernatants150
2.7 Analysis of COS-7 supernatant IgG by immunoassays151
2.7.1 Detection of total whole IgG molecules in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA
2.7.2 Detection of anti-dsDNA activity in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA152
2.7.3 Detection of anti-cardiolipin antibodies in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA153
2.7.4 Detection of anti- α -actinin antibodies in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA154
2.7.5 Detection of anti- β_2 GPI antibodies in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA155
2.7.6 Detection of monoclonal aPL binding to purified recombinant his-tagged

2.7.7 Detection of monoclonal aPL binding to PS or PC	156
2.7.8 Detection of anti-PS-PT antibodies by standard ELISA	157
2.8 Stable expression system in CHOdhfr ⁻ cells	157
2.8.1 Maintenance of CHOdhfr cells prior to electroporation	158
2.8.2 Preparation of CHO cells for electroporation	158
2.8.3 Transfection of recombinant expression supervector into CHOdhfr ⁻ ce	ells158
2.8.4 Selection of transfected CHOdhfr ⁻ cells post electroporation	159
2.8.5 Assay of antibody production in transfected CHOdhfr ⁻ cells	160
2.8.6 Amplification of transfected CHOdhfr ⁻ cells following electroporation a	and
selection	160
2.9 SDS-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)	161
2.9.1 Coomassie Stain	162
2.9.2 Transfer of protein to nitrocellulose and western blotting	163
2.9.3 Immunodetection of proteins on western blots	163
2.10 Nucleosome preparation	163
2.11 Reproducibility of direct binding assays	164

CHAPTER THREE	166
The importance of sequence features of the heavy chain of B3 and the	e light
chain of UK4 in binding to different antigens	166
3.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter	167
3.2 The importance of sequence features of $B3V_H$ in binding to dsDNA,	
nucleosomes, cardiolipin and alpha-actinin	169
3.2.1 Transfer of V_H 3-23 cloned PCR fragment from neSLE122H45.4 to pG	i1D210
	169
3.2.2 Sequences of heavy chains and light chains expressed and results of	f site-
directed mutagenesis	173
3.2.3 Transient expression of whole IgG1 molecules in COS-7 cells	178
3.2.4 Results of anti-nucleosome and anti-dsDNA ELISA with COS-7	
supernatants	181
3.2.5 Anti-alpha-actinin binding of expressed whole IgG molecules	181
3.2.6 Anti-cardiolipin binding of expressed whole IgG molecules	182
3.3 The importance of sequence features of $UK4V_{L}$ in binding to dsDNA	188
3.3.1 Results of site-directed mutagenesis for production of UK4V variant	188
3.3.2 Transient expression of whole IgG1 molecules in COS-7 cells	188
3.3.3 Results of anti-dsDNA binding of expressed whole IgG molecules	188

3.4 Stable expression of whole IgG molecules in CHOdhfr ⁻ cells	192
3.4.1 "Supervectors" expressing both V _H and V _L	192
3.4.2 Transfection of CHOdhfr ⁻ cells with supervectors and methotrexate	
amplification of the transfected CHO cell lines	193
3.5 Discussion	194

CHAPTER FOUR	
Somatic mutations to arginine residues affect the binding of differen	t
human aPL derived heavy and light chains to cardiolipin, β_2 -glycopro	tein I
and phosphatidylserine	
4.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter	200
4.2 The importance of sequence features of $IS4V_{H}$ in binding to CL	201
4.2.1 Sequences of heavy chains and light chains expressed	201
4.2.2 Results of site-directed mutagenesis	201
4.2.3 Transient expression of whole IgG in COS-7 cells	204
4.2.4 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA and the importance of arginine resi	dues in
IS4V _H	204
4.3 Stable expression of whole IgG molecules in CHOdhfr ⁻ cells	207
4.3.1 Transfection of CHOdhfr ⁻ cells with supervectors and methotrexate	
amplification of the transfected CHO cell lines to increase the yield of IgG	207
4.3.2 Binding of IgG produced by CHO cells to CL	209
4.3.3 Binding of IgG produced by CHO cells to β_2 GPI and PS	209
4.4 Discussion	214

CHAPTER FIVE	217
Investigation of the relationship between antibody sequence and binding	ng
properties of purified human monoclonal antibody B3 and its variants	217
5.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter	218
5.2 Results of binding of purified human IgG molecules to clinically relevant	
antigens	219
5.2.1 Assembly of purified antibodies	219
5.2.1.1 Results of anti-dsDNA ELISA	219
5.2.1.2 Results of anti-nucleosome and anti-ssDNA ELISA	222
5.2.1.3 Addition of nucleosomes allows the reinstatement of dsDNA bindir	ig of
the purified antibodies	222
5.2.1.4 Results of α -actinin ELISA	225

5.2.1.5 Results of binding to whole β_2 GPI and Domain I of β_2 GPI	225
5.2.1.6 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA	229
5.2.1.7 Results of anti-phosphatidylserine ELISA	229
5.2.2 Reproducibility of results	229
5.3 Discussion	235

CHAPTER SIX	240
Arginine residues are important in determining the binding of purified	
human monoclonal antibody IS4 to clinically relevant antigens	240
6.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter	241
6.2 Assembly of aPL antibodies	241
6.2.1 Sequences of expressed antibody variable regions	241
6.2.2 Stable expression of whole IgG in CHO cells and purification of antiboo	yt
	242
6.3 Characterisation of the binding properties of monoclonal aPL by ELISA	242
6.3.1 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA	242
6.3.1 Results of modified anti-CL ELISA	247
6.3.2 Results of anti-phospatidylserine ELISA	247
6.3.3 Results of anti-phosphatidylcholine ELISA	252
6.3.4 Results of anti-phosphatidylserine-prothrombin ELISA	252
6.3.5 Results of anti-dsDNA ELISA	252
6.3.6 Results of anti- β_2 GPI ELISA	255
6.3.4 Results of anti-Domain I ELISA	258
6.4 Discussion	261

CHAPTER SEVEN	265
Overview and ideas for future work	265

List of References	71
--------------------	----

List of Figures

1.1 Schematic diagram of the structure of an IgG molecule
1.2 Diagramatic representation of the structure of a nucleosome
1.3 Pathogenic Mechanisms in The Antiphospholipid Syndrome
1.4 Structure of β_2 -glycoprotein I
1.5 Computer generated model of $B3V_H/B3V_L$ with dsDNA
1.6 Computer generated model of $B3V_{H}/33H11V_{L}$ with dsDNA
1.7 Computer generated model of $B3V_H/UK4V_L$
1.8 Models of IS4V _H and IS4V _L 100
1.9 Production of single chain Fv (scFv) in bacterial expression system104
1.10 Production of Fab antibody fragments in bacterial expression system105
1.11 Production of whole Ig molecules using eukaryotic expression systems108
2.1 Plasmid map of expression vector pG1D210129
2.2 Vector map of recombinant expression vector pLN10 containing V $_{\rm L}$ cDNA130
2.3 Plasmid map of expression vector pLN100131
2.4 Cloning method used to construct the supervectors by combining the light chain
and heavy chain expression vectors
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
 2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
 2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
 2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
 2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes
2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes

3.12 Effect of point mutation in UK4V _L 191
4.1 Sequence alignment of expressed V_L and V_H regions
4.2 Production of IS4V _H variants
4.3 Effect of arginine to serine point mutations in IS4V _H CDR3206
4.4 Results of aCL ELISA
4.5 Results of anti-β ₂ GPI ELISA212
4.6 Results of anti-PS ELISA
E 1 Rinding of purified human IgG molecules to dsDNA 220
5.1 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to successory 223
5.2 Binding to dcDNA of purified antibodies containing nucleosomes
5.5 binding to userva or purified antibodies containing inducessories
5.4 Results of anti- α -acumin ELISA
5.5 Results of anti-pageri ELISA
5.6 Results of anti-confidini I ELISA
5.7 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA
5.8 Amino acid sequence of Domain 1 of numan and bovine β_2 GP1
5.9 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA in the presence of numan serum
5.10 Results of anti-phosphaudylserine ELISA
5.11 Summary or binding to nucleosomes and α -actinin
5.12 Summary of binding to cardiolipin, β_2 GPI and Domain 1
6.1 Western blot showing the presence of whole IgG
6.2 Results of cardiolipin ELISA
6.3 Reproducibility of cardiolipin binding with purified IgG246
6.4 Results of modified anti-cardiolipin ELISA
6.5 Western blot showing the presence of whole β_2 GPI in antibody preparations249
6.6 Results of phosphatidylserine ELISA250
6.7 Reproducibility of phoshpatidylserine binding with purified IgG251
6.8 Phosphatidylcholine binding with purified IgG253
6.9 Results of phosphatidylserine-prothrombin ELISA
6.10 Results of β_2 GPI ELISA
6.11 Reproducibility of β_2 GPI binding with purified IgG257
6.12 Results of Domain I of β_2 GPI ELISA
6.13 Reproducibility of binding to Domain I of β_2 GPI with purified IgG260

List of Tables

1.1 The American College of Rheumatology criteria for the diagnosis of SLE
1.2 Autoantibodies involved in SLE and the approximate prevalence detectable in the
serum of patients
1.3 Preliminary classification criteria for the APS
1.4 Clinical manifestations of the APS
2.1 Sequences of primers used in site directed mutagenesis 142
2.1 Sequences of primers used in site directed mutagenesis
2.2 Primers used in sequencing or mutations144
2.3 Composition of resolving and stacking gels for SDS-PAGE
3.1 The heavy/light chain combinations expressed in COS-7 cells
3.2 The range of IgG concentrations in ng/ml for each heavy/light chain combination
during the COS-7 transient expression experiments
3.3 Human IgG production rates of CHO cells transfected with the supervectors193
4.1 The range of IgG concentrations in ng/ml produced for each heavy/light chain
combination during the COS-7 transient expression experiments
4.2 Human IgG production rates of CHO cells transfected with the supervectors208
6.1 Patterns of Arginine to serine replacements in IS4V _H CDR3242
7.1 Summary of the binding properties of the B3 variants
7.2 Summary of the binding properties of the IS4 variants

ABBREVIATIONS

ANA	Anti-nuclear antibodies			
aCL	Anticardiolipin antibodies			
Anti-dsDNA	Antibodies to double stranded DNA			
Anti-ssDNA	Antibodies to single stranded DNA			
APC	Antigen presenting cell			
aPL	Antiphosholipid antibodies			
APS	Antiphospholipid syndrome			
BCR	B cell receptor			
β₂GPI	β2-Glycoprotein I			
BIC	Bicarbonate buffer			
bp	Base pairs (of DNA)			
BSA	Bovine serum albumin			
BWF1	1st generation (F1) of New Zealand Black x New Zealand White mice			
CDR	Complementarity-determining region			
Сн	Constant domain of heavy chain			
CHO cell	Chinese hamster ovary cell			
CL	Cardiolipin			
CL	Constant domain of light chain			
CR	Complement receptor			
DC	Dendritic cell			
DI	Domain I			
dhfr	dihydrofolate reductase gene			
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid			
DNase	Deoxyribonuclease			
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus			
EC	Endothelial cell			
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetra-acetic acid			
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay			
Fab	Antigen binding fragment of antibody			
Fc	Crystallizable fragment of antibody			
FR	Framework region			
GBM	Glomerular basement membrane			
H1	Histone 1 (also H2A, H2B, H3 and H4)			
H ^r	Heavy chain			

HCLV	Heavy chain loss variant			
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus			
HLA	Human leucocyte antigen			
HS	Heparan sulphate			
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cells			
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1			
IFN	Interferon			
Ig	Immunoglobulin			
IL	Interleukin			
IPTG	Isopropylthiogalactoside			
J	Joining region gene			
Kb	Kilobase			
kDa	Kilodalton			
L	Light chain			
LA	Lupus anticoagulant			
LB	Luria-Bertani			
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide			
mAb	Monoclonal antibody			
MCS	Multiple cloning site			
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex			
MRL/ <i>Ipr</i>	MRL/Mp-Ipr/Ipr (lymphoproliferative gene) mice			
MW	Molecular weight			
(NZB/W)F ₁	First generation (F1) of New Zealand Black and New Zealand White			
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kB			
NK	Natural killer cell			
nRNP	nuclear ribonucleoprotein			
OD	Optical density			
PAPS	Primary Antiphospholipid Syndrome			
PBL	Peripheral blood lymphocyte			
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline			
PC	Phosphatidylcholine			
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction			
pG1D1	Heavy chain expression vector (AERES Biomedical, London, UK)			
pG1D210	Heavy chain expression vector (AERES Biomedical, London, UK)			
PL	Phospholipid			
pLN10	Light chain expression vector (AERES Biomedical, London, UK)			

PS	Phosphatidylserine			
R	Arginine (see the complete amino acid-single letter code)			
RNA	Ribonucleic acid			
SAP	Serum amyloid P			
scFv	Single chain Fv fragment of Antibody			
SCID	Severe Combined Immunodeficiency			
SD	Standard deviation			
SEC	Sample/enzyme/conjugate dilution buffer			
SLE	Systemic Lupus Erythematosus			
Sm	smith antigen (spliceosome)			
SNF1	First generation (F1) of Swiss-Webster and New Zealand Black mice			
SnRNP	small nuclear ribonucleoprotein			
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance			
TAE	Tris Acetate EDTA buffer			
TBE	Tris Borate EDTA buffer			
TBS	Tris buffered saline			
Tc	T cytotoxic cells			
TCR	T cell receptor			
TE	Tris EDTA buffer			
TF	Tissue factor			
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor-beta			
Th	T helper cell			
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor			
UV	Ultraviolet			
V	Variable			
VCAM-1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule-1			
V _H	Variable domain of heavy chain			
V _κ	Variable domain of kappa light chain			
V_{λ}	Variable domain of lambda light chain			
VL	Variable domain of light chain			

AMINO ACIDS

One letter codes and three letter codes

Amino acid	Letter code	Three letter code
Alanine	А	GCT, GCC, GCA, GCG
Arginine	R	CGT, CGC, CGA, CGG, AGA, AGG
Asparagine	Ν	AAT, AAC
Aspartic acid	D	GAT, GAC
Cysteine	С	TGT, TGC
Glutamic acid	E	GAA, GAG
Glutamine	Q	CAA, CAG
Glycine	G	ggt, ggc, gga, ggg
Histidine	н	CAT, CAC
Isoleucine	I	ATT, ATC, ATA
Leucine	L	СТТ, СТС, СТА, СТG, ТТА, ТТG
Lysine	К	AAA, AAG
Methionine	Μ	ATG
Phenylalanine	F	ттт, ттс
Proline	Р	CCT, CCC, CCA, CCG
Serine	S	TCT, TCC, TCA, TCG, AGT, AGC
Threonine	Т	ACT, ACC, ACA, ACG
Tryptophan	W	TGG
Tyrosine	Y	TAT, TAC
Valine	V	GTT, GTC, GTA, GTG

CHAPTER ONE Introduction

CHAPTER ONE.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 The immune system

1.1.1 Components of immunity

Immunity is the body's capability to repel foreign substances and cells. The nonspecific component, innate immunity, is the first line of defense and consists of a set of disease-resistance mechanisms that are not specific to a particular pathogen. Nonspecific responses block the entry and spread of disease-causing agents. In contrast, the highly specific component, adaptive immunity, is the second line of defense and is adapted to an individual threat therefore displaying a high degree of specificity as well as the remarkable properties of "memory". Antibody-mediated and cell-mediated responses are the two types of specific response (Roitt and Delves, 2002). Unfortunately, when the target of the immune response becomes self-antigen, as opposed to foreign antigen, these components of the immune system may be unable to remove the antigen completely, resulting in a sustained immune response, chronic inflammation and self-tissue damage as seen in autoimmunity. Autoimmune diseases are classified as organ-specific - affecting a single organ, or systemic - affecting multiple organ systems.

1.1.2 Cells of the immune system

The immune system is composed of many interdependent cell types with specialised functions that collectively protect the body from bacterial, parasitic, fungal, viral infections and from the growth of tumor cells. An effective immune response involves two major groups of cells: lymphocytes, which arise in the bone marrow (B cells and T cells) and antigen-presenting cells.

1.1.2.1 B cells

The human body makes millions of different types of B cells each day, and each type has a unique receptor protein [referred to as the B cell receptor or immunoglobulin

Chapter One

(Ig) or antibody] on its membrane that will bind to one particular antigen. A mature B cell leaves the bone marrow expressing membrane-bound Ig of the IgM and IgD class with a single antigenic specificity. These naïve B cells, which have not encountered antigen are circulating in the blood and lymph and are carried to the secondary lymphoid organs, most notably the spleen and lymph nodes. Once the B cell encounters its cognate antigen, the cell proliferates by clonal expansion and it can further differentiate to generate a population of antibody-secreting plasma cells and memory cells. The B cell can either directly become one of these cell types or go through an intermediate differentiation step, the germinal center reaction, in which the B cell will hypermutate the variable (V) region of the antibody and possibly class switch. Only 10% of the potential B cells reach maturity and exit the bone marrow. In the absence of antigen-induced activation, naïve B cells in the periphery die within a few days (Goldsby et al., 2000, Janeway et al., 2001).

Plasma cells secrete antibodies, which effect the destruction of antigens by binding to them and making them easier targets for phagocytes. Most live only for a few days, do not express membrane bound antibody but instead produce large amounts of the antibody in secreted form. Memory B cells are formed specific to the antigen encountered during the primary immune response and are able to live much longer (Dorner and Radbruch, 2005). These cells can respond quickly upon second exposure to the antigen for which they are specific, therefore expressing membrane bound antibody with the same specificity as their parent cell (Goldsby et al., 2000, Janeway et al., 2001).

1.1.2.2 T cells

T lymphocytes are usually divided into two major subsets that are functionally different. Both types of T cells can be found throughout the body. They often depend on the secondary lymphoid organs (the lymph nodes and spleen) as sites where activation occurs, but they are also found in other tissues of the body, most evidently the liver, lung, blood, and intestinal and reproductive tracts.

The two types of T cells are distinguished by the presence on their surface of one or the other of two glycoproteins designated CD4 and CD8. The T helper subset, also called the $CD4^+$ T cell, co-ordinates immune regulation. The main function of the T helper cell is to augment or potentiate immune responses by the secretion of specialised factors that activate other white blood cells to fight off infection. $CD4^+$ T

cells bind an epitope consisting of an antigen fragment lying in the groove of a class II histocompatibility molecule. $CD4^+$ T cells are essential for both the cell-mediated and antibody-mediated branches of the immune system. The T helper (Th) cells may be subdivided according to their cytokine secretion profile. Th1 cells secrete interleukin IL-2, IL-3 and gamma interferon IFN- γ that play a central part in cell mediated immunity and acute allograft rejection. In the cell-mediated immunity, the Th1 cells bind to antigen presented by antigen-presenting cells (APCs) like phagocytic macrophages and dendritic cells. The T cells then release cytokines that attract other cells. The Th2 cells secrete interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9 and IL-10, which enhance antibody production. The Th2 cells participate in the antibody-mediated immunity where they bind to antigen presented by B cells. The result is the development of clones of plasma cells secreting antibodies against the antigenic material (Roitt and Delves, 2002).

The other important type of T cell is called the T cytotoxic (Tc) subset or CD8⁺ T cell. These cells are important in directly killing certain tumor cells, viral-infected cells and sometimes parasites. The Tc cells are also important in down-regulation of immune responses. Under the influence of Th-derived cytokines, a Tc cell that recognises an antigen-Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC) Class I molecule proliferates and differentiates into a cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) which does not secrete many cytokines and instead exhibits cytotoxic activity. The CTL has a crucial function in monitoring the cells of the body and eliminating any virus-infected cells, tumour cells, or cells of a foreign tissue graft (Goldsby et al., 2000, Janeway et al., 2001).

1.1.2.3 Antigen Presenting Cells

Macrophages are important in the regulation of immune responses. They are referred to as antigen-presenting cells (APC) because they identify, pick up and ingest foreign materials and present these antigens to other cells of the immune system notably T cells and B cells. This action is one of the important first steps in the initiation of an immune response. Stimulated macrophages exhibit increased levels of phagocytosis and are also secretory. These cells are part of the innate response. Unlike T and B cells, they do not contain any antigen specific receptors. Macrophages continuously phagocytose self-proteins and cells in their vicinity, during normal tissue repair and aging (e.g. old red blood cells). All of these proteins are degraded and presented with MHC-Class II molecules. These self-proteins however, do not fully activate T cells, because in the absence of infection, macrophages

express low levels of MHC-II, and almost no co-stimulator (B7). B7 molecules are members of the Iq superfamily; they have a single V-like domain and a single constant (C)-like domain. They are constitutively expressed on dendritic cells and induced on activated macrophages and activated B cells. In the case of infection, however, macrophages posses certain types of receptors that recognise differential carbohydrate patterns on foreign cells. They also have receptors for specific bacterial products such as LPS (endotoxin). These receptors, called Toll-like receptors (TLRs), are transmembrane proteins that serve as a key part of the innate immune system and are also able to stimulate activation of the adaptive immune system, linking innate and acquired immune responses. TLRs are considered pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), binding to pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) small molecular sequences consistently found on pathogens. Their function is the recognition of pathogens and the activation of immune cell responses directed against those pathogens. Macrophages are therefore stimulated to up-regulate MHC-II and B7, providing these cells with strong antigen presentation properties. They also start to secrete cytokines that aid in their functions (IL-1, 6, 8, 12 and TNF α). It is at this point that antigen presentation by MHC Class II will activate Th cells (Goldsby et al., 2000, Janeway et al., 2001).

Dendritic cells, which also originate in the bone marrow, function as antigen presenting cells. These cells can be classified by their location either in skin and mucous membranes, in the lymphoid organs such as the thymus, lymph nodes and spleen, or in the bloodstream and other organs of the body. They capture antigen or bring it to the lymphoid organs where an immune response is initiated. These cells continuously express high levels of both MHC class II molecules and co-stimulatory B7. For this reason, they are more potent than macrophages and B cells, both of which need to be activated before they can function as APCs. After recognition of foreign particles, dendritic cells migrate into the blood or lymph and circulate to various lymphoid organs, where they present the antigen to T lymphocytes (Peakman and Vergani, 1997).

1.1.3 The role of antibodies in the immune system

The first insights into the mechanism of immunity and the first description of antibodies were provided in 1890 by the experimental work of Emil von Behring and Shibasaburo Kitasato. Antibodies are specialised proteins produced by plasma cells

that circulate in the blood recognising and binding to foreign proteins, microorganisms or toxins in order to neutralise them. They are also known as Igs.

1.1.3.1 Antibody structure and function

The basic antibody structural unit made of amino acids contains four polypeptide chains (Figure 1.1). There are two heavy (H) chains (MW 50,000-70,000) and two light (L) chains (MW 25,000). Disulphide bonds connect each H chain to its partner L chain, and connect the two H chains. When individual Ig molecules of the same type are compared, some portions of the molecule are identical while others are extremely variable. The V parts are the N-terminal domains of both H and L chains and are called V regions (V_H and V_L). The remainder of the H and L chains are identical in all molecules of the same class and are called C regions (C_H1-C_H3 and C_L) (Roitt and Delves, 2002).

V regions form the antigen-binding sites. Antibodies as a group can bind many different antigens because there are many different kinds of V domains. The antigenbinding site is formed from the V domains of one H chain and one L chain. Within an Iq molecule, two H chains are always identical, as are the two L chains, so each Iq unit has two identical binding sites. Antigen and antibody are both sterically and chemically complementary with the interacting surfaces forming multiple bonds. Antigens are often macromolecules and an antibody therefore binds to only a small portion of an antigen's surface, an epitope or antigenic determinant. A large, complex, antigen such as a protein has many epitopes. When the immune system reacts to an antigen, although each individual Ig molecule is epitope-specific, the population of antibodies produced will bind to many different epitopes. Since each distinct type of antibody is produced by a different clone of plasma cells, this response is termed a polyclonal response. Not all epitopes provide equally strong stimuli, and antibodies to a few immunodominant epitopes may constitute most of the antibodies formed. Dominant epitopes are typically present in many copies (Roitt et al., 1996).

Most of the amino acid differences among antibodies fall within areas called complementarity-determining regions (CDRs), and it is these CDRs, on both L and H chains, that constitute the antigen-binding site of the Ig molecule. Each V domain has 3 CDRs (Chothia et al., 1989). The remainder of the V regions is largely composed of β -sheets and comprises the framework regions (FRs), which are more

conserved and perform a structural role, to hold the CDRs in place (Wu and Kabat, 1970). When antibody V region sequences are compared, CDRs are much more different than FRs. Because of this difference the CDRs are also called hypervariable regions. CDRs of both V_{H} and V_{L} make up the antigen-binding site and they are held in place by interactions between them and between their associated $C_{H}1$ and C_{L} domains.

There are five different classes of antibodies, with distinct biological properties. Each class has a H chain with a different amino acid sequence. The five Ig classes are designated IgA, IgG, IgM, IgE and IgD and the five types of H chains are designated by the corresponding lowercase Greek letter, α , γ , μ , ε , and δ . There are two different kinds of L chain designated κ and λ and either type of L chain can associate with any H chain. In humans 60% of the L chains are κ and 40% are λ . IgG has four subclasses (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, IgG4) and IgA has two subclasses (IgA1, IgA2).



Figure 1.1 Schematic diagram of the structure of an IgG molecule

Immunoglobulin molecules consist of two identical heavy chains (50 KD each) and two identical light chains (25 KD each), which are linked by disulphide bridges. The heavy chains comprise four domains and the light chains each have two domains. Three of the heavy chain domains (C_H1 , C_H2 & C_H3) are constant in all antibodies of the same isotype and one (V_H) is highly variable between individual antibody molecules. The light chain has one constant (C_L) and one variable (V_L) domain. The variable domains, and in particular the hypervariable regions (termed complementarity determining regions, CDRs), of the amino terminal domains (N-terminus) of both the heavy and light chains form the antigen binding site of the antibody. The carboxyl terminal domains (C-terminus) of the heavy chains form the Fc (crystallisable fragment) region, this region determines the isotype of the antibody molecule and controls the antibody's effector functions.

1.1.3.3 Autoimmunity and autoantibodies

Unfortunately, there are there are situations in which the immune system ceases to recognise one or more of the body's normal constituents as "self," creates "self binding" or autoantibodies, and starts to attack its own cells, tissues, and/or organs, causing inflammation and damage. The causes of this mistake are varied and are not completely understood. These misdirected immune responses are referred to as autoimmunity, which can be demonstrated by the presence of autoantibodies or T lymphocytes reactive with host antigens (Roitt et al., 1996).

It is thought that some autoantibody production is due to a genetic predisposition combined with an environmental trigger (such as a viral illness or a prolonged exposure to certain toxic chemicals). There is however generally not a direct genetic link. While families may be prone to develop autoimmune conditions, individual family members may have different autoimmune disorders, or may never develop a "full-blown" autoimmune condition. It is likely that there may also be a hormonal component as many autoimmune conditions are much more prevalent in women.

The type of autoimmune disease that occurs and the amount of destruction done to the body depends on which systems or organs are targeted by the autoantibodies, and how strongly. Disorders caused by organ specific autoantibodies, those that primarily target a single organ, are often the easiest to diagnose as they frequently present with organ related symptoms. Examples of organ-specific autoimmune disorders are insulin-dependent diabetes (Type I) which affects the pancreas, Hashimoto's thyroiditis and Graves' disease which affect the thyroid gland, pernicious anemia which affects the absorption of vitamin B12, Addison's disease which affects the adrenal glands, and chronic active hepatitis which affects the liver. Disorders due to systemic autoantibodies can be much more difficult to diagnose. Symptoms may include: joint pain, fatigue, fever, rashes, cold or allergy-type symptoms, weight loss, and muscular weakness. Even if they are due to a particular systemic autoimmune condition, the symptoms will vary from person to person, vary over time, vary with organ involvement, and they may decrease or flare unexpectedly. Examples of nonorgan specific autoimmune disorders are rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and the Antiphospholipid syndrome (APS) (Roitt et al., 1996). SLE and APS will be discussed more extensively later in this chapter.

Autoantibodies found in SLE and APS patients tend to differ from natural autoantibodies found in healthy individuals in that they are generally IgG isotype and have a high affinity for particular autoantigens. In healthy individuals however, low titres of low affinity autoantibodies are part of the normal B cell repertoire (Peeva et al. 2002). These natural autoantibodies resemble the antibodies of a primary immune response in that they are primarily IgM and exhibit polyreactive binding to a wide variety of both autoantigens and foreign antigens. Natural autoantibodies are mainly germline encoded and some germline autoantibody genes are used in the absence of an autoimmune disease. Some autoantibodies might actually be the precursors to pathogenic autoantibodies in SLE. Shlomchik et al., (1987) suggested that pathogenic autoantibodies arise by the somatic mutation of genes that encode protective autoantibodies.

1.1.3.3 Monoclonal Antibodies

Monoclonal antibody (mAb) technology allows the production of large amounts of homogenous pure antibodies. A myeloma is a tumor of the bone marrow that can be adapted to grow permanently in cell culture. When myeloma cells were fused with antibody-producing mammalian spleen cells, it was found that the resulting hybrid cells, or hybridomas, produced large amounts of mAb (Kohler and Milstein, 1975). This product of cell fusion combined the desired qualities of the two different types of cells: the ability to grow continually, and the ability to produce large amounts of pure antibody. These antibodies are called monoclonal because they come from only one type of cell, the hybridoma cell; antibodies produced by conventional methods, on the other hand, are derived from preparations containing many kinds of cells, and hence are called polyclonal. Because selected hybrid cells produce only one specific antibody, they are more pure than the polyclonal antibodies. mAbs are useful because they allow us to study autoimmune rheumatic diseases such as SLE.

1.2 What is Systemic Lupus Erythematosus?

SLE is a complex, heterogeneous autoimmune rheumatic disease characterised by the production of antibodies to components of the cell nucleus in association with a diverse array of clinical manifestations. It is a disabling disease and the primary pathological findings in patients involve widespread inflammation, vasculitis and immune complex deposition. Virtually every organ and/or system of the body may be involved although the skin, joints, kidneys, lungs and the central nervous system are most commonly affected. The term "lupus erythematosus" was first used in 1852 by Cazenave and Calausit (Amital et al., 1999, Morrow et al., 1999) and its systemic nature has been accepted for the past 100 years (Isenberg et al., 1997).

Lupus is found worldwide. The incidence rate of SLE in the UK is approximately four cases per 10⁵ people every year (Johnson et al., 1995). Like many other autoimmune diseases, women are more commonly affected than men and the age of onset is, on average, between 20 and 40 years (Alarcòn-Segovia et al., 1999). It is much more common among black females in the UK, the West Indies, and the United States (Nived and Sturfelt, 1997). Although lupus is widely regarded as a serious and potentially fatal disease, the overall probability of survival in patients with SLE has improved dramatically over the last few decades. Whereas earlier studies in 1955 showed a survival rate of less than 50% in 5 years reports from the last decade revealed that over 90% of patients with SLE survive for 10 years (Abu-Shakra et al., 2004). The exact cause of SLE is not known. However it is clearly a multi-factorial disease influenced by genetic, hormonal and environmental factors.

1.2.1 Aetiology of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

1.2.1.1 The Genetics of SLE

The exact aetiology of SLE remains elusive. There is however clearly a genetic component to disease susceptibility in SLE. The disease shows a strong familial aggregation, with a much higher frequency among first-degree relatives of patients. Moreover, in extended families, SLE may co-exist with other organ specific autoimmune diseases such as haemolytic anaemia and thyroiditis. The concordance of the disease in monozygotic twins is approximately 25% compared with dizygotic which is about 2% (Pisetsky and Drayton, 1997, Deapen et al., 1992). Therefore, the increased risk of developing the disease in siblings of SLE patients reflects a polygenic inheritance of the disease.

Multiple genes contribute to disease susceptibility and SLE is believed to result from the effects of a number of gene interactions. For instance, patients with homozygous deficiencies of the early components of complement are at risk of developing an SLElike disease. The genes of the MHC - also known in humans as the Human Leukocyte Antigen System A (HLA)- have been most extensively studied for their contribution in SLE. An increased frequency of HLA-DR2 and DR3 has been reported in Caucasian SLE patients (Eroglu and Kohler, 2002, Jonsen et al., 2004). However it is possible that some individuals may possess all these genes but still not develop SLE. Further aspects on the genetics of SLE are dicussed in section 1.2.4.1.

1.2.1.2 Hormonal Factors in SLE

SLE is predominantly a female disease, affecting women during the child-bearing years. Females are commonly affected up to ten times more than males. It has been demonstrated that in both sexes, low endogenous oestrogen concentrations are protective and in males, low androgen values increase risk. Oestrogen can act as a potent disease stimulator in lupus-prone mice (Carlsten et al., 1990, Roubinian et al., 1979). In addition, there is evidence from mouse models that androgens may have a protective effect (Lucas et al., 1985, Roubinian et al., 1979). These observations suggest a role for sex hormones in disease predisposition.

1.2.1.3 Environmental Factors in SLE

Various viruses have been implicated in the aetiology of SLE and Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is the most popular candidate. Infection with EBV results in the production of the viral protein Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1 (EBNA-1), antibodies against which cross-react with lupus-associated autoantigens, including Ro, Sm B/B', and Sm D1, in lupus patients (Poole et al., 2006).

Photosensitivity is a common presenting symptom of SLE. Ultraviolet (UV) light exposure provokes an abnormal cutaneous reaction and also initiation or activation of systemic flare in susceptible individuals (Millard and Hawk, 2001). UV irradiation induces apoptosis of human keratinocytes and changes the subcellular location of the ribonucleoprotein autoantigens targeted in SLE (Ro, La, small nuclear ribonucleoproteins) (Casciola-Rosen et al., 1994). These antigens stained in a punctate pattern at the cell surface of irradiated cells, a site at which they were never present in unirradiated cells. Little is known about other possible environmental or occupational exposures in relation to SLE disease risk.

1.2.2 Clinical Features of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

SLE can cause a wide variety of clinical manifestations. The American College of Rheumatology (ACR) has designated a set of criteria (Table 1.1) to aid the diagnosis of SLE (Tan et al., 1982, Hochberg, 1997). To be classified as having SLE, a patient must either have consecutively, or concurrently, satisfied four or more of these criteria. Dermatological problems such as the classic butterfly rash found over the bridge of the nose and malar bones, alopecia, vasculitic skin lesions, buccal and nasal ulceration are very frequent and are present in up to 85% of patients (Isenberg and Horsefall, 1998). Many of these skin lesions are photosensitive thus sun protection forms an important part of management of SLE. Musculoskeletal problems are also a common feature of lupus and these include arthralgia (about 90% of patients) as well as myalgia, muscle weakness and tenderness. In advanced disease, almost any system in the body may be involved, with renal, cerebral and pulmonary manifestations being most dangerous. Significant renal disease will develop in approximately 30% of SLE patients.

Patients with SLE appear to be at high risk for coronary artery disease (Jonsson, 1989, Rahman et al., 1999). The pericardium, myocardium and endocardium may all be affected. Chest pain that increases with respiration and breathlessness are common symptoms in SLE. Infections of the respiratory and urinary systems are frequent and difficult to distinguish from flares of lupus activity (Edworthy, 2001). Normocytic anaemia is present in up to 70% of SLE patients and a Coombs' positive haemolytic anaemia in 10% of patients. Leucopenia and lymphopenia are the most frequent abnormalities of the white blood cell count found in SLE patients (Morrow et al., 1999). Vascular lesions as well as cutaneous vasculitis, ulcers and digital gangrene are also well recognised in SLE patients. Abdominal pain is found in 10 - 20% of the patients, the causes of which range from mild non-specific gastroenteritis to life threatening mesenteric vasculitis. Hepatomegaly and/or persistent liver function test abnormalities as well as splenomegaly are found in up to 10% of patients but pancreatitis is less common (Morrow et al., 1999).

The clinical manifestations of SLE are fundamentally the same in children and adults. SLE can be fatal with the most frequent cases of death divided equally between infections (due to use of immunosuppressive drug treatments), cardiovascular disease and cancer (Cervera et al., 1999). The disease is characterised by cycles of relapse and remission due to the disease activity fluctuating over time between

organs and tissues involved (Morrow et al., 1999). Flares of the disease may require drug treatment with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, antimalarials, corticosteroids and immunosuppressive agents. Hydrochloroquine sulphate has a place in the management of SLE because of its low record of toxicity and its potential role in lowering cholesterol (Hodis et al., 1993). Severe organ involvement, such as nephritis or vasculitis, requires treatment with a combination of corticosteroids and either azathioprine or cyclophosphamide. Cyclophosphamide, azathioprine and methotrexate, as well as more recent immunosuppressive agents such as mycophenolate (MMF) -see below- may be used to treat more severe forms of SLE (such as renal, cerebral and haematological manifestations). However, they inhibit the inflammatory immune response non-specifically and are therefore associated with a host of unpleasant side effects that may require further therapeutic intervention. For instance, corticosteroids are associated with weight gain, osteoporosis and diabetes and cyclophosphamide is associated with bladder toxicity and infertility.

Because of the side effects from the treatments listed above and the limited prevention measures available, there is a continuing need to increase our understanding of the pathogenesis of the disease. A number of new treatments for SLE are now being introduced and these have been developed owing to a better understanding of the immunology of the disease. New immunosuppressive agents include MMF [reviewed in (Isenberg and Rahman, 2006)]. MMF is the prodrug of mycophenolic acid, which inhibits the enzyme inosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase, resulting in inhibition of purine synthesis, lymphocyte proliferation and T-cell-dependent antibody responses. MMF is as effective as intravenous cyclophoshamide for the treatment of lupus nephritis and other major SLE manifestations. It is also associated with fewer side effects than cyclophosphamide and does not seem to cause infertility (Contreras et al., 2004). B-cell depletion is another approach for treating patients with SLE. The treatment incorporates the use of two infusions each of methylprednisolone, cyclophosphamide and rituximab. This approach results in significant clinical improvement and normalises two of the biomarkers (CD20 and CD22) that reflect disease activity. Thus, it can lower antidsDNA antibody levels. Although manifestations of SLE in the major organs or systems involved can improve with this treatment, some of the clinical features return with the return of B cells (Leandro et al., 2005, Looney et al., 2004).

Additionally, therapies directed at the T cell-APC interaction are being investigated. The use of the fusion protein CTLAa-Ig, which blocks the binding of the costimulatory B7 molecules expressed on APCs with CD28 on activated T cells, seems promising. Anticytokine therapy is also under investigation. Infliximab, a chimeric mAb, has high affinity for TNF and neutralises its activity. In an open-label study of infliximab in six patients with SLE, Smolen and colleagues have demonstrated significant clinical improvement (Aringer et al., 2004). Another approach that targets cytokines has been the development of B lymphocyte stimulating protein (BLyS) antagonists. Complement therapy is also an attractive approach. Eculizumab is a humanised mAb that exerts its effects by blocking the generation of the terminal complement component C5a and C5b-9. Early human studies indicate that this molecule is safe and well tolerated (Rother et al., 2004). The new therapeutic approaches described above have shown promise in early studies however large clinical trials are awaited.

1.2.3 Immunopathogenesis of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

1.2.3.1 Autoantibodies in SLE

The central immunological disturbance in patients with SLE is autoantibody production. These antibodies are directed at several self molecules found in the nucleus, cytoplasm, and cell surface, in addition to soluble molecules such as IgG and coagulation factors. It is now almost 50 years since the discovery of anti-nuclear and anti-DNA antibodies in the serum of patients with lupus. Antibodies to DNA were first isolated by four different groups in 1957 (Ceppellini et al., 1957, Robbins et al., 1957, Miescher and Strassle, 1957, Seligmann, 1957). A broad spectrum of autoantibodies was identified in patients with SLE over the next two decades.

Antinuclear antibodies (ANA) are present in more than 95% of patients, making the ANA test the most sensitive test for lupus. However, ANA are not specific, because they can be detected in a variety of autoimmune, rheumatic, and infectious conditions. Moreover, ANA can be detected in normal individuals, especially in the elderly. However, the absence of ANA makes the diagnosis of lupus much less likely, although still possible. ANA are most commonly detected using the indirect immunofluorescent technique on a tissue culture cell substrate.

Anti-double stranded DNA (dsDNA) and anti-Sm antibodies are unique to patients with SLE. In fact, their presence is included in the classification criteria of SLE (Table 1.1). The Sm antigen is designated as a small nuclear ribonucleoprotein (snRNP) and is composed of a unique set of uridine rich RNA molecules bound to a group of core proteins associated with the RNA molecules. Anti-Sm antibodies react with snRNP core proteins. Antibodies to both denatured/single-stranded (ssDNA) and native/ dsDNA are often present in SLE patients, however the latter notably of the IgG isotype are more strongly associated with the renal pathology (Okamura et al., 1993). Other autoantibodies have been associated with SLE and are summarised in Table 1.2. Anti-dsDNA autoantibodies will be discussed in more detail in section 1.2.4. Arbuckle at el., (2003) studied 130 patients with SLE and showed that at least one SLE autoantibody was present in 115 patients before diagnosis. They proposed that there is a progressive accumulation of specific autoantibodies before the onset of SLE, while patients are still asymptomatic (Arbuckle et al., 2003).

1. Malar rash (butterfly rash) 2. Discoid rash (erythematosus raised patches) 3. Photosensitivity (skin rash to sunlight) 4. Oral ulcers 5. Arthritis (involving two or more peripheral joints) (a) Pleuritis 6. Serositis (b) Pericarditis (a) Proteinuria 7. Renal disorder (b) Cellular casts (a) Seizures 8. Neurological disorder (b) Psychosis (a) Haemolytic anaemia 9. Haematological disorder (b) Leucopaenia (c) Lymphopaenia (d) Thrombocytopenia 10. Immunological disorder (a) Positive for lupus anticoagulant (b) Raised anti-native DNA/ Anti-Sm antibody binding (c) Abnormal serum level of IgG or IgM anti-cardiolipin antibodies Anti-Sm antibody (d) False-positive serological test for syphilis, present for at least six months 11. Anti-nuclear antibody in raised titre

Table 1.1 The American College of Rheumatology criteria for the diagnosis of SLEAdapted from Tan et al., (1982) and updated Hochberg, (1997)
	Antibody Specificity	Prevalence (%
Antibodies to cell nucleus components	Anti-nuclear antibodies	>90
	Anti-dsDNA antibodies	40-90
	Anti-ssDNA antibodies	up tp 70
	Anti-ssRNA antibodies (including anti-poly A, -	-
	poly C, -poly I, -poly U)	
	Anti-ssRNA antibodies (including anti-poly-rU, - poly-rA)	-
	Anti-poly (ADP-ribose) antibodies	-
	Anti-histone antibodies	30-80
	Anti-ribonucleoprotein antibodies	20-35
	Anti-Sm antibodies	5-30
	Anti-SS-A(Ro) antibodies	30-40
	Anti-SS-B(La) antibodies	10-15
Antibodies to cytoplasmic antigens	Heat Shock proteins	5-50
Antibodies to cell membranes	Lymphocytotoxic antibodies	-
	Anti-neurone antibodies	-
	Anti-erythrocyte antibodies	-
	Anti-platelet antibodies	-
	Anti-phospholipid antibodies (cardiolipin)	20-50
Antibodies to serum components	Anticoagulants (lupus anticoagulant)	10-20
	Antiglobulins (rheumatoid factor)	25
	C1g	20-45

 Table 1.2 Autoantibodies found in SLE and the approximate prevalence detectable in the serum of patients

 Adapted from Morrow et al., (1999).

.

.

1.2.3.2 The role of complement in SLE

The complement system consists of a large number of proteins, some of which are soluble plasma constituents and others cell membrane proteins. A main task of complement components is to stop the invasion of the body by microbes and membrane complement proteins act as receptors. The complement molecules coat the microorganism and the cell takes up the whole complement-microorganism complex, a process called opsonization. The complement system is not only involved in killing of invasive pathogens, but also contains important regulators and activators of several humoral and cellular immune functions (Bohana-Kashtan et al., 2004). Regulators of complement activation protect self-tissue from damage (Walport, 2001a, Walport, 2001b). The actions of complement involve activation of one of three pathways, all generating C3 convertase: the classical pathway, the mannose-binding lectin (MBL) pathway and the alternative pathway.

Complement has both beneficial and harmful roles in the pathogenesis of SLE. On the one hand, patients with SLE present with decreased complement levels and with complement deposition in inflamed tissues, suggestive of a damaging role of complement in the effector phase of disease. On the other hand, homozygous deficiency of any of the classical pathway proteins is strongly associated with the development of SLE. The classical pathway is mainly initiated by interaction of C1q with antibodies (IgG and IgM) in immune complexes and is the main effector of antibody-mediated immunity (Sturfelt and Truedsson, 2005).

Complement is strongly activated in patients with SLE. Deposits of C3, C4, and associated complement proteins can be easily detected in biopsies from inflamed tissues from patients with SLE (Manderson et al., 2004). Complement activity and classical pathway protein levels are generally reduced (especially C1, C4 and C2 levels) in relation to disease activity and increase following treatment (Walport, 2002). The initial cause of complement activation in SLE is thought to be the formation of high levels of immune complexes that, in turn, activate complement via the classical pathway. Disease activity however, as well as the presence of autoantibodies directed against complement proteins (anti-C1q antibodies) may influence the degree of reduction of levels of complement components (Manderson et al., 2004).

Inherited complement deficiencies are rare but when they occur these individuals may develop a form of SLE. Complement deficiencies may be partial (heterozygous) or complete (homozygous). In recent years, evidence has emerged that homozygous deficiency of any of the early components of the classical pathway of complement activation (C1q, C1r, C1s, C4, and C2) predisposes to the development of SLE. In fact, these deficiencies are the strongest susceptibility factors for the development of SLE identified up to now in humans (Manderson et al., 2004). There is an association of disease prevalence and severity within the classical pathway, with patients deficient in one of C1-complex proteins exhibiting the strongest prevalence (>80%) and the most severe disease, followed in turn by C4 and C2-deficient patients (Pickering and Walport, 2000).

Several mouse strains have been generated with classical pathway complement deficiencies and have provided important insights into the pathogenesis of SLE. The genes for C1g, C4 and C3 have been successfully targeted in mice, and these mouse strains showed a hierarchy of disease susceptibility similar to that observed in humans. C1q has been shown to bind directly to apoptotic blebs and apoptotic bodies are found in the glomeruli of the C1g deficient mice (Korb and Ahearn, 1997) (Taylor et al., 2000). A recent study performed by Trouw and colleagues in MRL/Ipr mice has shown that anti-C1q antibodies were present in the sera and deposited in the kidney (Trouw et al., 2004). Gene-targeted C1q-deficient mice have also been shown to develop a syndrome reminiscent of SLE with antinuclear autoantibodies and proliferative glomerulonephritis (Mitchell et al., 2002, Botto et al., 1998). In another study by Paul et al., (2002) using C4-deficient mice, higher levels of antidsDNA antibodies developed compared to C4 sufficient littermate controls. At 3 months of age, females with and without C4 have equivalent levels of DNA binding. By 6 months however, anti-dsDNA antibodies of the IgM isotype are elevated in C4^{-/-} females compared to C4^{+/+} controls and by 9 months IgG anti-dsDNA antibodies also increase (Paul et al., 2002). Furthermore, they observed that the kidneys of C4^{-/-} mice had glomerular immune complexes. Hence, these findings demonstrate that C4 normally helps prevent early stages of autoimmune disease and that C4 deficiency predisposes to abnormal regulation of autoreactive B cells.

The levels of complement receptors, CR1 and CR2, are also altered in patients with SLE. CR1 expressed on peripheral B cells, erythrocytes, monocytes and macrophages, binds and clears activated complement components (C3b, iC3b and

C4b) and their associated immune complexes. Walport and Lachmann, (1988) have described decreased expression of CR1 on erythrocytes and peripheral blood leukocytes in patients with SLE and have shown that levels correlated with disease activity. CR2 is expressed on B-cells and follicular dendritic cells. Furthermore, Tolnay and Tsokos, (1998) have shown that MRL/*Ipr* mice deficient in CR2 have more severe disease.

1.2.3.3 The role of apoptosis in SLE

Apoptosis, or programmed cell death, is a process that leads to the ordered destruction of cells, avoiding the release of intracellular contents into the extracellular microenvironment, where they have a powerful inflammatory effect. During apoptosis intracellular structures, including the nucleus, are broken down via certain pathways by specific enzymes. Casciola-Rosen et al., (1994) demonstrated that these intracellular components often make up the spectrum of target autoantigens in lupus (for example, nucleosomal DNA, Ro, La and RNP particles) and cluster in blebs on the surface of apoptotic cells enabling them to be presented as antigen. These observations provide a possible connection between apoptosis and SLE.

Under normal circumstances, apoptotic cells are engulfed by macrophages in the early phase of apoptotic cell death without inducing inflammation or the immune response. Recent studies have shown that the clearance of apoptotic cells by macrophages in patients with SLE is impaired (Herrmann et al., 1998). This impairment has generated much interest in recent years, with defective clearance of apoptotic fragments summarised as the 'waste disposal hypothesis' (Walport, 2001a, Walport, 2001b). An early suggestion that defective clearance of apoptotic cells might predispose to SLE came from the observations of those who observed that C1q-null mice develop SLE-like autoimmunity in the presence of defective clearance of apoptotic cells (Botto and Walport, 2002). These mice show glomerulonephritis with deposits of immune complexes and apoptotic cells in the glomeruli (Botto et al., 1998). Interestingly, C1q binds to apoptotic cells by macrophages (Korb and Ahearn, 1997, Taylor et al., 2000).

Cocca et al., (2002) have also illustrated that the clearance of apoptotic cells may be slowed in patients with SLE. They showed that a murine autoantibody can bind

directly to blebs on apoptotic cells, due to the presence of certain ligands, and consequently prevent another molecule, annexin V from recognising ligands on the surface and binding. Their results suggest that if autoantibody binding can prevent annexin V from binding then it is possible that autoantibody binding to blebs may slow apoptotic cell clearance further when other molecules recognising factors on surface of apoptotic cells such as phagocytes and complement are prevented from reaching their receptors and aiding apoptotic cell removal.

A number of studies with animal models support the role of apoptosis in SLE. Fas is a 43-kDa glycoprotein molecule which is involved in inducing apoptosis in both B and T lymphocytes. One of the pathways which leads to apoptosis involves Fas (CD95) and Fas ligand (FasL). MRL/Ipr mice are characterised by the presence of the lymphoproliferation (*lpr*) gene, which is associated with defective Fas (CD95) receptors on the surface of lymphocytes (Suzuki et al., 1998). In the murine MRL/lpr model of SLE, the *lpr* mutation results in defective transcription of the gene that codes for the Fas protein (Singh, 1995). MRL mice which carry the homozygous recessive Ipr mutation develop a lupus-like disease characterised by high IgG autoantibody levels and immune complex-mediated glomerulonephritis. Takahashi and colleagues reported that Gld/gld mice, characterised by a mutation in the Fas ligand (FasL) gene leading to a non-functional FasL molecule, also developed lymphoproliferation, hypergammaglobulinaemia, and Ig deposits in the kidneys (Takahashi et al., 1994). Bcl-2 is a proto-oncogene, which exerts a regulatory function during development and maintenance of adult tissue, by preventing apoptosis in specific cell types. Evidence has demonstrated that mice transgenic for overexpression of bcl-2 develop prolonged B cell survival and other features in common with SLE patients [reviewed in Morrow et al., (1999)]. Therefore, these animal models suggest that these molecules, which play critical roles in apoptosis, may play a role in the pathogenesis of SLE.

The impaired clearance mechanisms for these apoptotic materials seen in patients with SLE, may predispose individuals to the development of antibodies against nucleosomes, which contain materials such as histones and dsDNA. Radic et al., (2004) have shown that autoantibodies specific for the nucleosome core or its molecular components selectively precipitated a complex of core histones and DNA from the cytosol at four hours after induction of apoptosis. Their results indicate a direct role for nucleosomes in the execution of apoptosis, clearance of apoptotic cells

and regulation of anti-nuclear autoantibody production (Radic et al., 2004). Therefore, as the experimental evidence discussed above suggests, the release of nucleosomes from the nucleus and their exposure at the cell surface is important in the pathogenesis of SLE. The role of nucleosomes is further discussed in section 1.2.5.

1.2.3.4 Cellular dysfunction: The role of B cells and T cells in SLE

SLE is characterised by abnormalities of the immune system that involve B cells and T cells. B cell activation is abnormal in patients with SLE. The precise role of B cells in systemic autoimmunity is incompletely understood. Although B cells are necessary for expression of disease, it is unclear whether autoantibody production, antigen presentation, and other B cell functions are required for the complete pathologic phenotype. The number of B cells at all stages of activation is increased in the peripheral blood of patients with active SLE (Klinman et al., 1991). Autoantibody secretion is not the only role of B cells in patients with SLE. B cells are extremely efficient antigen presenting cells for antigens taken up specifically through the B cell receptor (Ig receptor). Although B cells are necessary for expression of disease, it is unclear whether autoantibody production, antigen presentation, and other B cell functions are required for the complete pathologic phenotype. To address this issue, Chan et al. (1999) analysed the individual contributions of circulating antibodies and B cells using MRL/lpr mice that expressed a mutant transgene encoding surface Ig, but which did not permit the secretion of circulating Ig. These mice developed nephritis, characterised by cellular infiltration within the kidney, indicating that B cells themselves, without soluble autoantibody production, exert a pathogenic role. The results indicated that, independent of serum autoantibody, functional B cells expressing surface Ig are essential for disease expression, either by serving as antigen-presenting cells for antigen-specific, autoreactive T cells, or by contributing directly to local inflammation (Chan et al., 1999). New evidence for the strength of the role of B cells in disease development comes from a recent preliminary study of B-cell depletion therapy (involving Rituximab and cyclophosphamide) in 24 patients with SLE resistant to conventional therapies. The results showed a beneficial response in the majority of treated patients (Leandro et al., 2002). There is also evidence that B cells in patients with SLE are more sensitive to the stimulatory effects of cytokines such as IL-6 and it appears that are more prone to polyclonal activation by antigens and cytokines (Linker-Israeli et al., 1991).

Abnormalities in T cell function are also evident in patients with SLE. T cell abnormalities are crucial in the pathogenesis of the disease because T cells regulate B cell function and the production of most antibodies is T-cell dependent. The total number of peripheral blood T cells is usually reduced and experiments have shown that the early events of T cell activation are defective in patients with SLE compared with controls (Fernandez-Gutierrez et al., 1998). In patients with SLE there is generally an exaggerated activity of CD4⁺ T helper cells and diminished function of CD8⁺ T suppressor cells. This effect is accompanied by reduced antibody-dependent cytotoxicity and imbalanced cytokine production. Due to the loss of effective CD8⁺ T cells, B cell clones produce autoantibodies directed against an array of intra- and extracellular autoantigens (Kammer et al., 2002). T lymphocytopenia is common in patients with SLE, especially of cells bearing the CD8⁺ phenotype. Studies in lupus-prone mouse models and patients with SLE suggest that T cell dysfunction is primarily caused by multiple biochemical defects in T cell signalling pathways (Kammer et al., 2002).

Nucleosome-specific T helper (Th) cells provide CD4⁺-class II-restricted help to nephritogenic ANA-producing B cells in lupus. The autoimmune Th cells of lupus were cloned from (SWR X NZB)F1 (SNF1) mice with lupus nephritis, as well as from nephritic patients with SLE (Mohan et al., 1993). In the SNF₁ model, representative pathogenic autoantibody-inducing Th clones rapidly induce immune-deposit glomerulonephritis. Approximately 50% of such pathogenic Th clones respond to nucleosomal antigens and nucleosome-specific T cells are detectable in SNF1 mice. Thus, nucleosomes are primary immunogens that initiate the cognate interaction between the pathogenic Th and B cells of lupus. However, the lupus Th cells do not respond when components of the nucleosome, such as free DNA or histories, are individually presented by APCs (Kaliyaperumal et al., 1996). Thus critical peptide epitopes for the pathogenic Th cells are probably protected during uptake and processing of the native nucleosome particle as a whole. Kaliyaperumal et al. (1996) synthesised peptides spanning all four core histones in the nucleosome and the nucleosome-specific, pathogenic autoantibody-inducing Th clones were tested for response to these synthetic peptides. The authors reported that the peptide autoepitopes triggered the pathogenic Th cells of SNF₁ lupus mice in vivo to induce the development of severe lupus nephritis and stimulated the production of Th1-type cytokines, consistent with IgG2a, IgG2b, and IgG3 being the isotypes of nephritogenic autoantibodies induced in the lupus mice. Interestingly, the Th cell

epitopes overlapped with regions in histones that contain B cell epitopes targeted by autoantibodies, as well as the sites where histones contact with DNA in the nucleosome (Kaliyaperumal et al., 1996).

1.2.3.5 The role of cytokines in SLE

Cytokines are low-molecular-weight regulatory proteins or glycoproteins secreted by white blood cells and various other cells in the body in response to a number of stimuli. They play an essential role in moulding the quality of an immune response to foreign or self-antigens. Many cytokines have been implicated in regulating disease activity and in the involvement of different organs in patients with SLE (Kirou and Crow, 1999). There is however a significant body of data only for IL-6, IL-10, interferon- α (INF α) and tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF α). Cytokine production in patients with SLE differs from both healthy controls and patients with other diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) but also changes with different disease phenotypes. For example, IL-6 seems to be increased in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with central nervous system involvement in SLE but not in patients with SLE who lack neurological symptoms (Dean et al., 2000).

A recent study performed by Mathian et al., (2005) indicated that IFN α is involved in pathogenesis of SLE. The authors showed that *in vivo* adenovector-mediated delivery of murine IFN- α resulted in preautoimmune (New Zealand Black (NZB) x New Zealand White (NZW))F₁ [(NZB/W)F₁], but not in normal, mice, in a rapid and severe disease with all characteristics of SLE. Anti-dsDNA antibodies appeared as soon as day 10 after initiation of IFN α treatment. Proteinuria and death caused by glomerulonephritis occurred in all treated mice within, respectively, approximately 9 and approximately 18 week, at a time when all untreated (NZB/W)F₁ did not show any sign of disease (Mathian et al., 2005). Serum levels of IFN α are elevated in SLE patients, and gene expression profiling of peripheral blood cells using microarrays showed that most lupus cases demonstrate an upregulation of IFN-responsive genes (Bennett et al., 2003, Baechler et al., 2003). Of interest, these authors found that the IFN gene 'signature' correlates with more severe disease.

Jacob et al., (1988), used an (NZB/W)F₁ hybrid mouse model with a severe autoimmune disease similar to SLE in humans to study the role of TNF α . They presented evidence that the TNF α gene could be involved in the pathogenesis of

lupus nephritis in (NZB/W)F₁ mice and replacement therapy with recombinant TNF α induced a significant delay in the development of the nephritis (Jacob and McDevitt, 1988). IL-10 both inhibits Th1 responses and is a potent cofactor for B cell survival, proliferation, differentiation, and Ig secretion, therefore it may play a potential role in the pathogenesis of SLE (Beebe et al., 2002). SLE patients produce abnormally high levels of IL-10 (Lacki et al., 1997) and results obtained by another group indicate that serum IL-10 values reflect SLE disease activity suggesting that overexpression of IL-10 might play a pathogenic role in SLE (Houssiau et al., 1995). To explore the consequences of IL-10 neutralization in (NZB/W)F1 mice, animals were injected with anti-IL-10 antibodies from birth until 8-10 months (Ishida et al., 1994). Anti-IL-10 treatment substantially delayed onset of autoimmunity in $(NZB/W)F_1$ mice as monitored either by overall survival, or by development of proteinuria, alomerulonephritis, or autoantibodies. Survival at 9 months was increased from 10 to 80% in anti-IL-10-treated mice relative to Ig isotype-treated controls (Ishida et al., 1994). Furthermore, another group reported IL-10 antagonist administration to humans and showed that the use of IL-10 antagonists may be beneficial in the management of SLE (Llorente et al., 2000).

Anti-TNF α therapy is slightly more complicated because of TNF α 's dual physiological roles; it is a proinflammatory cytokine but has also been proposed to be an immunoregulatory molecule that can alter the balance of T regulatory cells. Anti-TNF α therapy is effective for the majority of autoimmune patients with RA with end organ destruction due to inflammation, but can worsen or induce autoimmunity for a significant minority of these patients (Kodama et al., 2005). This finding is consistent with numerous animal and human studies showing that reducing TNF α activity aggravates or initiates certain forms of autoimmunity. Anti-TNF α in humans can promote production of anti-DNA antibodies (Ehrenstein et al., 1993b). Kodama et al., (2005) presented a mechanistically based hypothesis that $TNF\alpha$ holds potential therapeutic value because of its demonstrated capacity in animal models of autoimmunity to selectively kill, by apoptosis, autoreactive (pathogenic) T cells but not normal cells. To investigate the safety of the apeutic TNF α blockade, 6 patients with active SLE were given four 300-mg doses of infliximab, a chimeric anti-TNF α antibody (Aringer et al., 2004). The authors proposed that anti-TNF therapy could suppress the local tissue destruction in SLE. Infliximab did not lead to adverse events related to an increase in SLE activity, although autoantibodies to dsDNA and cardiolipin (CL) increased. However, this study was small and was limited to patients

with nephritis or arthritis and low-to-moderate overall disease activity. Thus, to sufficiently address the potential value of TNF-blocking therapy in SLE, larger and controlled clinical trials are necessary.

1.2.4 The role of anti-dsDNA autoantibodies

1.2.4.1 Origin of pathogenic anti-dsDNA antibodies

Autoantibodies that bind dsDNA have generated the most interest since they are believed to be most closely involved with the pathogenesis of SLE (Isenberg, 1997). Even though they are among the most specific autoantibodies in lupus, they are not particularly sensitive because they may be transiently present and found in 60-80% of lupus patients at some point in their disease course (Hahn, 1998). Anti-dsDNA antibodies are very rare in other conditions but anti-ssDNA antibodies can be found in some cases of autoimmune hepatitis and infections including syphilis, parasitic infections, and bacterial endocarditis (Sawalha and Harley, 2004).

Anti-DNA antibodies differ in their properties, including isotype, ability to fix complement, and capacity to bind to the glomeruli causing pathogenicity. Only certain types of anti-DNA antibodies are pathogenic (Hahn, 1998). The most remarkable feature of high-affinity anti-dsDNA IgG antibodies is that they are frequently linked to glomerulonephritis and widely suspected to be responsible for kidney damage in many lupus patients (Putterman et al., 1997). Complement fixation may be essential for tissue damage; thus IgG1 and IgG3 subclasses, which fix complement, are enriched in pathogenic antibodies (Hahn, 1998).

Okamura et al., (1993) studied the correlation between renal histology and class specific (IgG and IgM) antibodies to dsDNA and ssDNA by ELISA in 40 untreated patients with SLE. The levels of IgG antibodies to dsDNA were significantly higher in patients with World Health Organisation class IV nephritis (Hochberg et al., 1992), indicating more severe renal disease, than in those with class I, class II, or class III nephritis. IgG antibodies to dsDNA were higher in patients with class IV than in those with class II nephritis. IgG antibodies to dsDNA showed a close correlation with the renal histological activity score whereas IgG antibodies to ssDNA were not correlated with renal histological features (Okamura et al., 1993).

Cationic charge gives an antibody to dsDNA a pathogenic advantage. Extensive studies in murine models of lupus nephritis have shown that cationic anti-DNA autoantibodies have nephritogenic potential. Suzuki et al., (1993) investigated whether cationic anti-DNA antibodies of IgG class are also produced in vivo in patients with active lupus nephritis. They have shown that the highly cationic anti-dsDNA antibodies of IgG class were prominent in the patients with active lupus nephritis. They have shown that the highly cationic anti-dsDNA antibodies of IgG class were prominent in the patients with active lupus nephritis. The cationic anti-DNA antibodies bound to heparan sulphate (HS), a major glycosaminoglycan in the glomerular basement membrane (GBM), much better than neutral anti-DNA antibodies. The results suggest that the cationic anti-DNA autoantibodies may play a certain role in the development of lupus nephritis (Suzuki et al., 1993).

A variety of methods for detecting anti-dsDNA antibodies have been described. Immunofluorescence of the haemoflagellate of *Crithidia luciliae* is generally considered to be the cheapest and most specific test (Hahn, 1998). The high specificity of the test relates to the pure circular dsDNA in the kinetoplast (with no no histones or single stranded DNA in its structure) (Isenberg, 2004). The enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for antibodies to DNA is widely available, relatively easy to perform and therefore, very popular among many laboratories. In this assay, plastic wells in a microtiter plate are coated with dsDNA and test serum is added. IgG antibodies bound to the dsDNA are detected by adding enzyme-labeled anti-human IgG followed by substrate, which changes colour when acted on by the enzyme. In the Farr assay, radiolabeled DNA is incubated with serum, and the DNA–anti-DNA complexes are precipitated with ammonium sulfate or polyethylene glycol (Hahn, 1998). This is a very accurate method of assessing dsDNA antibody levels and most likely to predict the occurrence of disease flares, particularly flares of glomerulonephritis (ter Borg et al., 1990).

Several mechanisms can lead to the production of antibodies to dsDNA. These antibodies are part of the normal repertoire of natural autoantibodies, most of which are low-affinity IgM antibodies that react weakly with several self-antigens (Putterman et al., 1997). However, natural antibodies can undergo an isotype switch (from IgM to IgG)- see section 1.4.4- and therefore increase their potential to be pathogenic. High-affinity IgG antibodies to dsDNA, can also be produced by somatic mutations in the encoding Ig genes (discussed in more detail in section 1.4).

Antibodies to dsDNA can be induced in mice by stimulation with antigens, such as bacterial DNA or cell-wall phospholipids (PLs); or by DNA and proteins complexes. These induced antibodies have been found to be deposited in the glomeruli, where damage may result. Bacterial DNA has been shown to be much more antigenic than mammalian DNA. Bacterial DNA contains unmethylated CpG motifs, which are immunostimulatory and more common in bacterial DNA than in mammalian DNA and can elicit cytokine production and polyclonal B cell activation (Pisetsky, 1996). Immunisation of BALB/c mice with ssDNA from Escherichia coli (E.coli) induced a significant anti-DNA response that included antibodies resembling lupus anti-DNA antibodies in their binding properties, although lacking specificity for mammalian dsDNA (Gilkeson et al., 1993). DNA may also be presented to T cells in association with foreign proteins or peptides. Anti-DNA antibodies have been induced in normal, nonautoimmune mice by immunisation with complexes formed with a DNA-binding peptide, Fus1, and native, B form, mammalian DNA (Krishnan and Marion, 1993). Fus1 is a 27-amino acid peptide from the internal domain of a ubiquitin fusion protein from Trypanosoma cruzi. From a single BALB/c mouse immunised with Fus1-DNA, six monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies were produced that shared specificity and V region structural similarity with monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies derived from autoimmune (NZB/W)F₁ mice (Krishnan and Marion, 1993). Polyomavirus transcription factor T antigen can induce anti-DNA antibodies in mice and antibodies recognizing dsDNA were confined to patients with frequent polyomavirus reactivations (Rekvig et al., 1997). In these cases, it is believed that immunogenic immune complexes are formed between the host chromatin (packages of nucleosomes connected by DNA linkers) and the DNA-binding large T antigen of polyomavirus.

The ability to make antibodies to dsDNA depends in part on genetic susceptibility. In the NZB/W-related NZM2410 lupus-prone strain, Wakeland and colleagues have identified the genomic positions of three recessive loci (*Sle1*, *Sle2*, and *Sle3* on chromosomes one, four, and seven, respectively) that are strongly associated with SLE-susceptibility (glomerulonephritis and anti-dsDNA autoantibody production) (Morel et al., 1994). Although linkage analyses have provided information about the number and locations of susceptibility genes in lupus-prone strains, they have supplied little information about the nature of the component phenotypes each locus contributes and how they interact to produce the immunopathology characteristic of the susceptible parental strains. To address this issue, Wakeland and colleagues

adopted a congenic dissection approach (Wakeland et al., 1997). The basic principle of this approach is to convert a polygenic system into a series of monogenic systems in individual congenic strains, each carrying a single susceptibility interval on a resistant genetic background (mouse strain C57BL/6 [B6]). Two strains are congenic if they are genetically identical and differ only at a single genetic locus. Any phenotypic differences that can be detected between congenic strains are related to the genetic locus that distinguishes the strains. The authors have produced three congenic strains B6.NZMS/e1, B6.NZMS/e2, B6.NZMS/e3. S/e1 mediates the loss of tolerance to nuclear antigens; Sle2 lowers the activation threshold of B cells; and Sle3 mediates a dysregulation of CD4⁺ T cells. However, these Sle loci are not sufficient individually to mediate fatal lupus nephritis and disease liability increased with the number of susceptibility loci, suggesting that significant penetrance of disease would require two or more loci (Morel et al., 2000). Morel and colleagues reported that *Sle1* in combination with either *Sle2* or *Sle3* as a B6-bicongenic strain develop severe humoral autoimmunity with moderately penetrant fatal alomerulonephritis leading to kidney failure whilst other locus combinations without Sle1 failed to mediate fatal disease (Morel et al., 2000). The tricongenic strain resulted in fully penetrant, fatal glomerulonephritis. Therefore these loci are sufficient to reconstitute a fully penetrant SLE phenotype in these mice. These results are believed to be relevant to human SLE since these susceptibility loci are syntenic with regions found in human chromosomes. Moreover, several groups have completed linkage analyses in data sets from families containing multiple members affected with SLE. Results have identified chromosomal regions exhibiting evidence for significant linkage to SLE and have been confirmed using independent cohorts (1q23, 1q25-31, 1q41-42, 2q35-37, 4p16-15.2, 6p11-21, 12q24, and 16q12), suggesting the high likelihood of the presence of one or multiple SLE susceptibility genes at each locus [reviewed in (Shen and Tsao, 2004)].

1.2.4.2 The role of antibodies to DNA in the pathogenesis of disease

Anti-DNA antibodies can be isolated from glomerular eluates of patients with active lupus nephritis and can induce nephritis in normal and severe combined immunodeficient mice (Vlahakos et al., 1992, Ehrenstein et al., 1995). However, the correlation between anti-DNA antibodies and lupus nephritis is not absolute because some patients with active nephritis are negative for anti-DNA antibodies, whereas some patients with persistent high titres of anti-DNA may not show renal involvement (Mok and Lau, 2003). Different mechanisms for how anti-DNA antibodies induce nephritis have been proposed. These follow two main, non-mutually exclusive directions. The first theory of pathogenesis is that circulating antibody-antigen complexes are postulated to deposit in the GBM, forming a site for subsequent inflammatory responses. AntidsDNA-nucleosomal DNA complexes get passively trapped via interactions between the positively charged cationic N-terminus of the core histones and the negatively charged HS in the glomeruli (Fournie, 1988, Rekvig et al., 2004, Lefkowith and Gilkeson, 1996, Kramers et al., 1994). Apoptotic blebs are important in antigen presentation, and are believed to be the source of nucleosomal material involved in the formation of these immune complexes. On the other hand, there is also new support for the alternative theory of pathogenesis that a subset of anti-dsDNA antibodies cross-reacts with a non-nucleosomal antigen in the kidney, thereby leading to tissue damage. This will be discussed futher in section 1.2.4.3.

Anti-dsDNA antibodies penetrate living cells, even to the nucleus, and bind various intracellular constituents. Alarcon-Segovia and colleagues reported that anti-DNA antibodies could enter living cells and interact with their intracellular target (Alarcon-Segovia and Llorente, 1983). Subsequent work from other investigators has confirmed these initial observations, and a mechanism of intracellular penetration of anti-dsDNA antibodies into living cells was suggested for the pathogenicity of antidsDNA autoantibodies (Yanase et al., 1997). Cellular entry was found to be initiated by the binding of the nuclear localising anti-DNA antibodies to myosin 1, a 110-kDa cell surface receptor. Myosin 1 is expressed on the surfaces of many cell types. Recent evidence suggests that within the cytoplasm, myosin 1 forms a complex with DNase I (Yanase et al., 1997). Therefore internalization of anti-DNA antibodies by myosin 1 places them in proximity to DNase I, with the potential to interfere with the activity of the enzyme within the cell (such as apoptosis). Other researchers suggested that antibody penetration depends on binding to an extracellular matrix protein in the presence of DNA or a membrane determinant precisely resembling DNA (Zack et al., 1996). It thus appears that a subset of cross-reactive anti-DNA antibodies might exert their pathogenic effect by cellular penetration and nuclear localization (Madaio and Yanase, 1998).

Interestingly, anti-dsDNA antibodies have various effects on a number of cellular cytokines, providing another feature that can explain their potential pathogenic effect in lupus patients. Cellular interactions with anti-dsDNA antibodies have been shown

to be associated with upregulated expression of IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) in supernatants of lupus Ig treated cells. IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 and TGF- β were determined in cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECS), incubated with control IgG, anti-dsDNA, or IgG from the same lupus patients depleted of anti-dsDNA by affinity chromatography (Neng Lai et al., 1996, Lai et al., 1997). Compared with control IgG, there was a significant increase of IL-1 in endothelial cells (ECs) incubated with anti-dsDNA. IL-1 and IL-6 were significantly elevated in ECs incubated with anti-dsDNA, compared with those incubated with anti-dsDNA-depleted-IgG (Neng Lai et al., 1996). Furthermore, compared with either control IgG or anti-dsDNA-depleted-IgG, ECs incubated with anti-dsDNA-containing-IgG expressed higher levels of IL-8 and TGF- β (Lai et al., 1997).

In many patients with SLE, increased renal disease activity is associated with rising titres of anti-DNA antibodies, while prophylactic treatment of serologically active patients with corticosteroids significantly reduces the number of subsequent disease flares, contributing to the suspicion that anti-dsDNA is a specificity that is closely allied with clinical disease. Bootsma and colleagues investigated whether giving prednisone when a rise in anti-dsDNA occurs can prevent these relapses (Bootsma et al., 1995). They showed that treatment with prednisone as soon as a significant rise in anti-dsDNA occurs prevents relapse in most cases. However, doubling of the level of anti-dsDNA was taken as sufficient to trigger an increase in steroid dose. This doubling could occur within the normal range or only just outside of it. In addition, the potential serious complications of this study cannot be ignored. The patients were on high doses of steroid so much of the time that they had many side effects such as weight gain and hypertension and made this treatment unattractive for many patients. Furthermore, Alarcon-Segovia and colleagues have recently reported that LJP 394, an immunomodulating agent designed to specifically downregulate antidsDNA producing B cells, prolonged the time to renal flare and decreased the number of renal flares in a subgroup of lupus patients (Alarcon-Segovia et al., 2003). However, LJP 394 was not significantly better than placebo when the whole group of patients in the trial is considered.

1.2.4.3 Cross-reactivity of anti-DNA antibodies with renal antigens

Nephritogenic anti-DNA antibodies may be polyreactive. Phosphodiester groups occur in both polynucleotides and PLs, which can account for the ability of some monoclonal and serum derived lupus autoantibodies to bind to both species of molecules. Therefore, the cross-reactivity of anti-DNA antibodies with CL and other negatively charged PLs suggested that anti-DNA antibodies might react with renal tissue antigens that share epitopes with DNA (Shoenfeld et al., 1983). Furthermore, proteins that form a major structural component of glomerular podocytes and mesangial cells, such as laminin and α -actinin are known to play a prominent role in the pathogenesis of several experimental glomerulopathies.

Laminin is a major non-collagenous protein constituent of the GBM. Sabbaga and colleagues reported that the interaction of a murine monoclonal anti-DNA antibody with extracellular glomerular antigens was found to be due to the binding of this antibody to laminin (Sabbaga et al., 1989). In addition, this interaction was specific, since it was inhibited by laminin, dsDNA and ssDNA in solution. Therefore, the authors concluded that the polyreactivity of the anti-DNA antibody that confers to it the capacity to bind laminin, may account for its ability to form immune deposits by binding directly to non-DNA glomerular antigens. In addition, Amital and colleagues have analyzed the fine specificity of the interaction of pathogenic murine lupus autoantibodies with laminin and found that pathogenic murine lupus autoantibodies react with a 21-mer peptide located in the globular part of the α -chain of laminin. Furthermore, they have shown that immunisation of young lupus-prone mice with this peptide accelerated renal disease (Amital et al., 2005).

Mostoslavsky and colleagues investigated a panel of anti-DNA, anti-histone and antinucleosome mAb derived from lupus-prone NZB/W or MRL/*lpr* mice for their *in vivo* pathogenicity, using the RAG-1-deficient mouse model (Mostoslavsky et al., 2001). They have shown in this model a group of anti-DNA, but not anti-histone or antinucleosome mAb were strongly pathogenic and could be distinguished from the nonpathogenic mAb by their cross-reaction with a ~100-kDa glomerular protein, identified by mass spectrometry and Edman degradation as α -actinin. α -actinin is a cross-reactive target for pathogenic anti-dsDNA antibodies in renal tissue, and antigen expression and accessibility may contribute to the susceptibility of particular strains of mice to anti-dsDNA antibody-induced nephritis.

Deocharan and colleagues studied R4A, a pathogenic anti-DNA antibody and found that this antibody bound to and immunoprecipitated a 100-kDa protein identified as α -actinin from mesangial cell lysates (Deocharan et al., 2002). This finding was not the case for a nonpathogenic mutant of R4A. The authors observed that binding was

more apparent using MRL/*Ipr* than nonautoimmune BALB/c mesangial cell lysates, suggesting that antigen expression in the kidney plays a role in anti-DNA antibody binding to renal tissue. Furthermore, sera and kidney eluates from lupus mice with active nephritis displayed high titers of anti- α -actinin antibodies. The nature of the anti-DNA-reactive epitope in α -actinin is not known. α -actinin is a dimer composed of two 100-kDa monomers that are arranged in an antiparallel manner to form a rod-shaped molecule, in which there is a high density of acidic residues with negative electrostatic potential. This structure could potentially constitute a structural mimic to the sugar-phosphate backbone of the DNA double helix. Two groups have investigated the differences between a pathogenic and non-pathogenic subset of anti-DNA antibodies and whether a particular antigen was involved in SLE pathogenesis.

What I have discussed so far are the findings of studies carried out using murine anti-DNA mAbs, which suggest that pathogenic anti-dsDNA antibodies cross-react with α -actinin. To further elucidate the nature of DNA/ α -actinin cross-reactivity in human lupus and to directly study the pathogenic potential of these antibodies, our group recently studied binding to α -actinin in humans (Mason et al., 2004). Two human mAbs (RH14 and B3), which cause proteinuria in severe combined immunodeficiency mice (SCID) mice bound strongly to α -actinin in ELISA, while nonpathogenic DIL-6 bound very weakly. Serum samples from patients with SLE were also tested. α -actinin binding was found to be significantly higher in patients than in healthy controls. A greater proportion of anti-dsDNA IgG-binding antibodies purified from patients with renal disease bound to α -actinin than did those purified from the sera of patients without renal disease. The results published by our group support the findings of previous studies using murine anti-DNA mAbs, which suggest that some pathogenic anti-dsDNA antibodies cross-react with α -actinin.

The question regarding which glomerular structures (α -actinin, nucleosomes, or others) are recognised by nephritogenic anti-dsDNA antibodies is still controversial. In a recent study, Kalaaji et al., (2006) determined which glomerular structures are recognised by monoclonal and *in vivo* bound nephritogenic antibodies. They analyzed sera from patients with lupus nephritis, from random ANA-positive patients, and paired antibodies from sera and kidney eluates from nephritic (NZB/W)F₁ mice for activity against proteins identified by monoclonal nephritogenic antibodies, and against α -actinin, dsDNA, nucleosomes, histone H1, HS, *DNase I*, and type IV

Chapter One

collagen. Anti- α -actinin antibodies were observed in human and murine lupus nephritis sera and in sera from patients without SLE and were not detected in kidney eluates from nephritic mice. Antibodies to dsDNA and histone H1 were detected in all eluates. Western blot analyses revealed that nephritogenic anti-dsDNA antibodies recognised histone H1. Competitive ELISA demonstrated that nephritogenic mAbs, and dominant antibodies eluted from nephritic kidneys, cross-reacted with dsDNA and H1. Immunoelectron microscopic analysis of nephritic (NZB/W)F₁ mouse kidneys revealed that antibodies eluted from kidneys, but not anti- α -actinin antibodies, bound to distinct nephritis-associated electron-dense structures linked to GBMs (Kalaaji et al., 2006). From their experiments it seems that cross-reactive antidsDNA/anti-histone H1 antibodies are central among those deposited in nephritic glomeruli.

Zhao and colleagues analyzed the reactivity and pathogenicity of monoclonal autoantibodies derived from lupus patients with and without renal disease (Zhao et al., 2005). They have extensively characterised a panel of 10 IgM anti-dsDNA/anti- α -actinin antibodies that was generated by Epstein-Barr virus transformation of lymphocytes from patients with SLE and have shown that all anti-dsDNA antibodies isolated also bound α -actinin and cross-reactive antibodies bound to mesangial cells and to isolated glomeruli. In addition the authors reported that binding to glomeruli was not inhibited by *DNase* treatment, but could be inhibited by α -actinin.

1.2.5 The role of nucleosomes in SLE

1.2.5.1 The nucleosome stucture

There is strong evidence to suggest that nucleosomes are important in both the development of pathogenic antibodies in SLE and the interaction of these antibodies with tissues. The nucleosome is the fundamental unit of chromatin and consists of a core particle composed of an octamer of two copies each of histones H2A, H2B, H3, and H4, around which is wrapped round approximately 146 basepairs (bp) of helical DNA (Figure 1.2). Histones in the core associate among themselves primarily through their globular domains, while their basic amino-terminal segments are external and interact with DNA on the surface of the nucleosome. Histone H1 associates through its globular domain with the nucleosome core particle at the entry and exit points of the DNA strands to form a full nucleosome. The molecular weight of a nucleosome particle is 262-kDa with a molar ratio protein/DNA = 1. This highly conserved

structure occurs every 200±40 bp throughout all eukaryotic genomes. Interestingly, chromatin breakdown and DNA fragmentation are common events in apoptotic cell death. Linker DNA, which is accessible, is degraded by nuclear endonucleases upon activation in order to produce mono- and oligo-nucleosomes. Apoptotic cells are then an important source of nucleosomes. In physiological conditions, these apoptotic cells are recognised and engulfed by phagocytes to prevent any release of cell constituents in the extracellular environment. Experimental evidence suggests that SLE patients and lupus mice have been shown to undergo increased rate of apoptosis, leading to an increased nucleosome release (apoptosis is very controversial since reduced apoptosis also mediates pathogenesis of SLE-discussed in more detail in section 1.2.3.3).



Core of 8 Histone molecules (2 molecules each of H2A, H2B, H3 and H4)

Figure 1.2 Diagramatic representation of the structure of a nucleosome A nucleosome consists of an octameric histone core, containing two molecules each of H2A, H2B, H3 and H4, surrounded by two turns of the DNA helix. H1 binds to the nucleosome where DNA enters and leaves the nucleosome.

manual complexes have been shown to deposit in tiplacity, onto the GBM (van druggen et al., 1997). The sugar phosphete beckcone of DNA is negatively charged mendors DRA koeff is unlikely to be deposited in the GBM due to repulsion by similarly charged relatedes. The GBM also carries a strong negative charge due to this presence of physicaniminophysian side chains, particularly PS. Kramers and colleegues demonstrated that for notif monoclonal mume antibodies and polyclonal human antibodies, both DNA binding and ability to cause negatives cause be reduced

1.2.5.2 The role of anti-nucleosome reactivity in the pathogenesis of SLE

Free nucleosomes have been found in the sera of lupus patients and lupus mice (Rumore and Steinman, 1990). Interestingly, a positive correlation was found between the presence of circulating nucleosomes in patients and the development of renal and neurological manifestations (Williams et al., 2001). Moreover, antinucleosome autoantibodies as well as autoreactive Th lymphocytes specific for nucleosomes are found in lupus patients (Datta, 1998). Anti-nucleosome autoantibodies are actually detected very early during the disease (before antidsDNA and anti-histone antibodies) and are potentially nephritogenic in lupus mice (Amoura et al., 1994). Mohan and colleagues have reported that nucleosome autoantibody production and accelerate the disease (Mohan et al., 1993). All these reports support the hypothesis that nucleosome is a main lupus autoantigen and that circulating nucleosome autoantibody is correlated with disease activity in humans.

Anti-nucleosome antibodies are believed to be pathogenic in the form of immune complexes which deposit in kidneys, causing inflammation and tissue damage and also lead to activation of the complement system. Several mechanisms might explain the binding of anti-nucleosome antibodies to kidney cells, either directly or indirectly if nucleosomes are "planted" in the glomerular tissue due to its affinity for extracellular components where nucleosomes work as bridges.

In the direct-binding mechanism of anti-nucleosome antibodies to kidney cells, these antibodies might cross-react with non-nucleosomal kidney antigens, as it was demonstrated for anti-dsDNA antibodies and cross-reaction with α -actinin, which I have discussed above (Mostoslavsky et al., 2001). In the case of the indirect binding via a "planted antigen", nucleosome/anti-nucleosome or nucleosome/anti-DNA immune complexes have been shown to deposit in kidneys, onto the GBM (van Bruggen et al., 1997). The sugar-phosphate backbone of DNA is negatively charged therefore DNA itself is unlikely to be deposited in the GBM due to repulsion by similarly charged molecules. The GBM also carries a strong negative charge due to the presence of glycosaminoglycan side chains, particularly HS. Kramers and colleagues demonstrated that for both monoclonal murine antibodies and polyclonal human antibodies, both DNA binding and ability to cause nephritis could be reduced

Chapter One

by purification under conditions in which antibody-nucleosome complexes dissociate (Kramers et al., 1994). They suggested that the cause of renal damage was not the antibody itself but an antibody-nucleosome complex. The authors investigated this using a rat kidney model. Following renal perfusion of antibody, no binding to the GBM was seen whereas infusion of antibody complexed to nucleosome resulted in binding. Therefore the hypothesis is that the positively charged histones bind to the negatively charged HS in the GBM whilst the DNA part of the nucleosomes is bound by anti-DNA antibodies. Thus nucleosomes may act as a bridge between anti-DNA antibodies and the negatively charged HS in the GBM.

About 30% of SLE patients have no anti-dsDNA antibodies. Among these patients, about 65% are positive for anti-nucleosome antibodies (Amoura et al., 2000b). In this study, the authors have shown that IgG anti-nucleosome antibodies are significantly increased in SLE. Importantly, IgG anti-nucleosome antibodies were detected in both active and inactive SLE in contrast to IgG anti-dsDNA antibodies, which were nearly exclusively detected in active patients. This finding shows that anti-nucleosome maybe more important in some people than others. Moreover, active disease was marked by a unique increase in IgG3 anti-nucleosome antibody levels during SLE flares (Amoura et al., 2000a). This increase was also associated with active nephritis. In my opinion, clinical studies analysing only anti-DNA antibodies ignore anti-nucleosome antibodies, which can be important in disease diagnosis and activity assessment in patients negative for anti-DNA antibodies.

1.3 What is The Antiphospholipid Syndrome?

In 1983, it was recognised that in patients with SLE the presence of circulating antiphospholipid antibodies (aPL), notably lupus anticoagulant (LA) and anti-CL antibodies (aCL), was associated with thrombosis, pregnancy complications and thrombocytopenia (Hughes, 1983). This association was later termed APS (Harris, 1987). During the last 23 years, there has been enormous progress in the knowledge of different aspects of APS, but still a substantial number of questions, mainly about pathogenic mechanisms and treatment, remain unanswered.

1.3.1 Criteria for classification and diagnosis of the APS

By definition, a diagnosis of APS requires persistent presence of medium to high levels of aCL (IgG or IgM isotype), presence of LA or both. A recent consensus provides simplified criteria for the diagnosis of APS (Table 1.3) (Wilson et al., 1999, Miyakis et al., 2006). A patient with APS must meet at least one of two clinical criteria and at least one of two laboratory criteria. APS is divided into several categories. "Primary" APS occurs in patients without clinical evidence of another autoimmune disease, whereas "secondary" APS occurs in association with another autoimmune disease. SLE is by far the most common disease with which the APS occurs. A minority of patients with APS present with multiple simultaneous vascular occlusions throughout the body, often resulting in death. This acute and devastating syndrome, termed "catastrophic" APS, is defined by the clinical involvement of at least three different organ systems over a period of days or weeks with histopathological evidence of multiple occlusions of large or particularly small vessels (Asherson, 1998). The classification criteria have helped to focus research but have their limitations since they do not include some clinical manifestations associated with APS such as cardiac valve disease and cerebral ischemia. aPL are found among young, apparently healthy control subjects at a prevalence of 1.5% to 5% for both aCL and LA. The prevalence of aPL increases with age and is much higher among patients with SLE, with figures ranging from 12-30% for aCL and 15-34% for the LA (Cervera et al., 1993). APS has been shown to develop in up to 50-70% of patients with SLE who are aPL positive (Petri, 2000). However, many healthy individuals have laboratory evidence of aPL without clinical consequences.

1.3.2 Clinical Features of the APS

Thrombosis within the venous or arterial circulation is a major and most common clinical manifestation of this syndrome (Table 1.4). Any size of vessel of any organ may be affected. In the venous circulation, deep or superficial vein thrombosis of the legs is particularly common occurring in 31 to 55% of patients with the syndrome, half of whom also have pulmonary emboli (Asherson et al., 1989, Cervera et al., 2002). Arterial thromboses are less common than venous thromboses and involve the brain in up to 50% of cases, presenting as transient ischemic attacks or strokes (7 to 13%) (Cervera et al., 2002). Other anatomic sites for arterial thrombosis are the heart (25%), causing coronary occlusion, and the eye, kidney and peripheral arteries (25%). Thrombocytopenia, present in up to half of the patients with APS, is a prominent manifestation of the condition and occasionally patients can also develop a form of haemolytic anaemia (6 to 20% patients). A skin rash known as livedo reticularis, whose severity varies enormously from a confined area of skin to large parts of the arms or legs, is a recognised prominent complication of the

syndrome (occurs in 11 to 22% of patients) (Cervera et al., 2002). These lesions are characterised by thrombi in the intradermal vessels.

A particularly striking feature of PAPS is the development of recurrent, spontaneous fetal loss. The risk of pregnancy loss in women with aPL is greatest from the 10th week of gestation onward (fetal period) (Wilson, 2001). This finding is in contrast to pregnancy loss in the general population, which is most frequent during the first 9 weeks of gestation (Morrow et al., 1999). There is also evidence that women with aPL have an increased risk of giving birth to a premature infant because of pregnancy-associated hypertension and uteroplacental insufficiency (Lima et al., 1996). It has also been proposed that aPL may also impair trophoblast invasion and hormone production (Di Simone et al., 2000). The prevalence of pregnancy loss in patients with aPL has not yet been established, however, in aPL-positive patients, the risk of pregnancy loss is directly related to the levels of aPL, mainly aCL IgG isotype. According to a cohort study of 1000 patients, the most common obstetric complications in the mother were preeclampsia (9.5% of pregnant women), eclampsia (4.4%), and placental abruption (2.0%) (Cervera et al., 2002).

Treatment decisions for the APS fall into four main categories: prophylaxis, prevention of further thromboses of large vessels, treatment of acute thrombotic microangiopathy and management of recurrent fetal loss. Many clinicians use low dose aspirin in patients with no history of thrombosis but persistently high IgG aPL and/or positive LA. The immediate management of arterial or venous thrombotic events follows standard methods of anticoagulation using heparin initially, followed by warfarin. Anticoagulation should be balanced against the risks, particularly of major haemorrhage. Options for the management of pregnancy in aPL positive patients include low dose aspirin or anticoagulation with subcutaneous low molecular weight heparin. In patients known to have aPL, it is generally wise to avoid exposure to other procoagulant factors such as oral contraceptives. Improvement in treatment awaits the further elucidation of pathogenic mechanisms (Ruiz-Irastorza and Khamashta, 2005).

Vascular thrombosis

a) One or more clinical episodes of arterial, venous or small-vessel thrombosis in any tissue or organ AND

b) Thrombosis confirmed by imaging or Doppler studies or histopathology, with the exception of superficial venous thrombosis AND

c) For histopathological confirmation, thrombosis present without significant evidence of inflammation in the vessel wall.

Pregnancy morbidity

a) One or more unexplained deaths of a morphologically normal foetus at or beyond the 10th week of gestation, with normal foetal morphology documented by ultrasound or by direct examination of the foetus OR

b) One or more premature births of a morphologically normal neonate at or before the 34th week of gestation because of severe placental insufficiency OR

c) Three or more unexplained consecutive spontaneous abortions before the 10th week of gestation, with maternal, anatomic or hormonal abnormalities and paternal and maternal chromosomal causes excluded.

Laboratory criteria

a) Anti-cardiolipin antibody of IgG and/or IgM isotype in blood, present in medium or high titre on at least two occasions at least 12 weeks apart, measured by standard ELISA for β_2 -Glycoprotein I dependent anti-cardiolipin antibodies OR

b) Lupus anticoagulant present in plasma on two or more occasions at least six weeks apart, detected according to the guidelines of the international Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis OR

c) Anti- β_2 glycoprotein-I antibody of IgG and/or IgM isotype in serum or plasma, present on two or more occasions, at least 12 weeks apart, measured by a standardised ELISA, according to recommended procedures

Table 1.3 Preliminary classification criteria for the Antiphospholipid Syndrome (Wilson et al., 1999, Miyakis et al., 2006)

ORGAN SYSTEM PRIMARY PATHOGENIC PROCESS

Arterial	Thrombosis of the aorta or axillary, carotid, hepatic, mesenteric, pancreatic, splenic artery
Cardiac	Angina, myocardial infarction, valvular abnormalities, atherosclerosis
Cutaneous	Superficial thrombophlebitis, splinter hemorrhages, leg ulcers, Livedo reticularis, purpura
Endocrine	Adrenal infarction, necrosis of the pituitary gland
Gastrointestinal	Hepatic infarction, intestinal infarction, splenic infarction, ascites
Haematologic	Thrombocytopenia, haemolytic anaemia
Miscellaneous	Perforation of the nasal septum or avascular necrosis of bone
Neurologic	Transient ischaemic attack, stroke, seizures, multi-infarct dementia, encephalopathy, migraines,
	cerebral venous thrombosis
Obstetrical	Pregnancy loss, intrauterine growth retardation, uteroplacental insufficiency
Opthalmologic	Thrombosis of the retinal artery, thrombosis of the retinal vein
Pulmonary	Pulmonary emboli, pulmonary hypertension, pulmonary arterial thrombosis, alveolar hemorrhage
Renal	Thrombosis of the renal vein, thrombosis of the renal artery, renal infarction, hypertension, acute
	renal failure, chronic renal failure, proteinuria, haematuria
Venous	Deep venous thrombosis of the legs or thrombosis of the adrenal, hepatic, mesenteric, or splenic vein

Table 1.4 Clinical manifestations of the Antiphospholipid Syndrome (Levine et al., 2002)

1.3.3 Antiphospholipid Antibodies

1.3.3.1 Detection of clinically relevant aPL

aPL are Igs of IgG, IgM, and IgA isotypes that target PLs and/or PL-binding plasma proteins. There are two broad categories of PLs. The neutrally charged PLs include phosphatidyl ethanolamine, phosphatidyl choline (PC) and platelet-activating factor. Negatively charged PL include phosphatidyl glycerol, phosphatidyl serine (PS), phosphatidic acid, phosphatidyl inositol, and CL (Morrow et al., 1999).

aPL, notably the LA antibodies, aCL antibodies, and anti- β_2 -Glycoprotein I (β_2 GPI) are the serological hallmarks of APS and the most-useful determinations for screening patients (Levine et al., 2002). Division into these subgroups is broadly based on the method of detection. aPL are detected by coagulation assays that indicate the inhibition of PL-dependent coagulation reactions and by immunoassays that use solid-phase PLs and protein cofactors as antigenic targets. In general, LA antibodies are more specific for APS, whereas aCL antibodies are more sensitive (Levine et al., 2002). Therefore, the most sensitive test for aPL detection is a solid-phase immunoassay for aCL which was initially introduced in 1983 (Harris et al., 1983). IgG and IgM are the isotypes usually measured and they are expressed in GPL and MPL international units (IU), respectively. However, there is no definitive association between specific clinical manifestations and particular subgroups of aPL. Therefore, multiple tests for aPL should be performed, since patients may be negative according to one tests yet positive according to another. There are 30% of patients with only LA or aCL, therefore to identify all patients with aPL both LA and aCL have to be measured (Cuadrado and Lopez-Pedrera, 2003). The anti- β_2 GPI assay shows higher specificity than aCL for APS diagnosis. In 3–10% of APS patients, anti- β_2 GPI may be the only test positive (Miyakis et al., 2006).

aPL can occur in patients with a variety of infectious or neoplastic conditions or patients exposed to certain medications. However, these antibodies usually are not related to the clinical manifestations of the APS and are different from those generated in patients with the syndrome. They are not associated with an increased risk of thrombosis and bind to both neutral and anionic PL (Hunt et al., 1992). Several groups have reported that the predominant reactivity is against a complex formed by CL and serum PL-binding proteins ("cofactors") rather than reactivity against CL per se (Ordi et al., 1993, Galli et al., 1990, McNeil et al., 1990). aPL have

been shown to be directed against a variety of other PL binding serum proteins which include protein C, protein S and prothrombin (PT) (Bevers et al., 1991, Oosting et al., 1993). The most commonly studied however is β_2 GPI, which associates with negatively charged PLs through charge interactions. In contrast to antibodies generated in patients with APS, which recognise β_2 GPI on PL-binding proteins and thus are referred to as being cofactor-dependent, the aPL that occur in patients with infections generally recognise PL epitopes and bind directly to negatively charged PLs themselves. This phenomenon distinguishes "non-pathogenic" and "pathogenic" aPL.

McNeil and colleagues purified aPL that exhibit binding in a CL ELISA. However, these highly purified aPL did not bind to the CL when assayed by a modified CL ELISA in which the blocking agent did not contain bovine serum, nor did they bind to PL affinity columns (McNeil et al., 1990). Binding to the PL antigen only occured when normal human plasma, human serum, or bovine serum was present, suggesting that the binding of aPL to CL requires the presence of a serum cofactor. Using sequential PL affinity, gel-filtration, and ion-exchange chromatography, McNeil and colleagues purified this cofactor to homogeneity and have shown that the binding of aPL to CL requires the presence of this cofactor in a dose-dependent manner. Using N-terminal region sequence analysis of the molecule they identified the cofactor as β_2 GPI (McNeil et al., 1990). Their findings indicate that the presence of β_2 GPI is required for some antibody-PL interaction, suggesting that bound β_2 GPI forms the antigen to which aPL are directed.

Ordi and colleagues used a similar approach, a standard ELISA method and a modified ELISA to study four groups of patients (Group 1- patients with aCL and autoimmune disease [SLE and PAPS]; Group 2- patients with aCL, no symptoms and no underlying infection or autoimmune disease; Group 3- patients with aCL and infectious diseases [syphilis, leprosy, HIV infection and Q fever]; Group 4- control group). They observed that 19 of 20 samples from patients in Group 1 had cofactor dependence in aCL activity and 17 of 19 samples from patients in Group 3 had aCL activity, which was independent of the presence of the cofactor. Three of four patients in Group 2 had cofactor independent aCL and one had cofactor dependent aCL activity. None of the samples from the control group had aCL. In addition, the authors have shown that aCL related clinical manifestations (thrombosis) depend on the presence of cofactor dependent aCL and not on cofactor independent aCL (Ordi et al., 1993). Absence of cofactor dependency however was shown with the IqM

APS-derived antibodies, HVA2 and HLC9. These antibodies presented polyreactivity to several PLs- CL, PS, phosphatidyl ethanolamine, phospatidyl inositol and PC- but not to β_2 GPI (Buschmann et al., 2005).

Forastiero et al., (2005) assessed the contribution of antibodies to β_2 GPI and PT to the thrombotic risk in a cohort of 194 patients with persistent LA and/or aCL. IgG anti- β_2 GPI and anti-PT antibodies were associated with an increased risk of thrombosis. Patients testing positive for anti- β_2 GPI had a higher rate of thrombosis than did antiphospholipid patients without anti- β_2 GPI. Similarly, a higher rate of thrombosis was found in patients with positive anti-PT compared with patients without anti-PT (Forastiero et al., 2005).

1.3.3.2 The role of aPL in the APS

Unlike anti-dsDNA antibodies, aPL do not form immune deposits in the affected tissues and rarely produce significant amounts of inflammation. aPL exhibit multiple effects because of the many biological processes that involve PLs and PL membranes hence it is difficult to determine whether these are clinically relevant. However, the major features of APS arise from thrombosis. No single mechanism is accepted as the main cause of thrombosis in APS. The fact that thrombosis in APS is episodic and localized suggests that the presence of high levels of aPL alone are not enough to trigger it. Any proposed aPL-mediated effects that are based on *in vitro* studies must be assessed *in vivo* in animal models and clinical studies to evaluate significance. Evidence accumulated from animal models of the APS, where different groups induce the APS in normal mice by both the passive transfer of aPL and active immunisation with aPL or β_2 GPI, indicate that aPL can play a role in the development of thrombosis and pregnancy loss [reviewed in (Radway-Bright et al., 1999)].

There are few models of the thrombosis found in patients with APS. Pierangeli and colleagues (Pierangeli et al., 1994, Pierangeli et al., 1996) have developed a novel mouse model of induced venous thrombosis to study the role of autoantibodies in thrombus formation. To determine whether Igs from patients with the APS play a role in thrombosis, the authors passively immunised groups mice, intraperitoneally, either with Igs (IgG, IgM and IgA) purified from patients with the APS or with Igs of the same isotype from healthy controls. Each animal was anesthetised and the femoral vein minimally mobilised and subjected to a standardised "pinch" injury to

Chapter One

induce thrombosis. The vessel was transilluminated and clot formation and dissolution were visualised. The authors noted that in eight out of nine Ig preparations from patients with APS there was a significant increase in mean thrombus area and a significant delay in mean thrombus disappearance time compared to mice that received Ig from healthy people (Pierangeli et al., 1994). In addition, Pierangeli and colleagues compared the effects on thrombus formation produced by separate groups of mice injected with affinity-purified IgG or IgM aCL or with normal Igs of the same isotype to determine whether aCL are involved (Pierangeli et al., 1996). They have observed that mean thrombus area and mean disappearance times were again significantly increased in all four groups injected with affinity-purified aCL antibodies. This study was the first to show that aCL of IgG, IgM and IgA isotypes may play a role in thrombosis *in vivo*. The drawback of this work however, is that not all aPL can mediate this effect in the model and the pinch injury used in this model provides a second stimulus for the cause of thrombosis.

In a later study, the same authors (Pierangeli et al., 1999) tested human affinitypurified aPL from patients with the APS, in the mouse model of microcirculation that allows direct microscopic examination of thrombus formation and adhesion of white blood cells to ECs in the cremaster muscle as an indication of EC activation *in vivo*. Adhesion molecule expression on HUVECs after aPL exposure was also performed to confirm EC activation *in vitro*. Pierangeli and colleagues demonstrated that all 6 aPL significantly increased the expression of VCAM-1, with one of the antibodies also increasing the expression of E-selectin on HUVECs *in vitro*. In the *in vivo* experiments, they showed that each aPL antibody, except from one preparation, increased white blood cell sticking compared with control, which correlated with enhanced thrombus adhesion (Pierangeli et al., 1999). Therefore, activation of ECs by aPL *in vivo* may create a prothrombotic state on ECs, which may be the first pathophysiological event of thrombosis in APS.

Jankowski and colleagues adapted a hamster model of arterial thrombosis (Jankowski et al., 2003). This animal model complies with the concept of thrombosis as a "double-hit" phenomenon. Very mild thrombosis is provoked by limited photochemically induced injury to the vessel wall ("first hit"). Three mAbs raised against human β_2 GPI were selected on the basis of their crossreactivity with hamster β_2 GPI. Two of these, one with LA activity, 5H2, and one with only aCL properties, 11E8, were infused prior to photochemically induced vessel damage. 5H2 promoted

thrombus formation dose dependently. The LA mAb 11E8 reactive with human β_2 GPI exclusively, did not significantly promote thrombus formation. mAb 27A8, non-cross-reacting with hamster β_2 GPI and chosen as a negative control, had no clear effect.

In another animal model, Fischetti et al., (2005) used intravital microscopy to monitor the vascular changes that occur in rats following the intraarterial injection of aPL. Their results showed that human polyclonal IgG with anti- β_2 GPI activity triggers clotting in the microcirculation of rat mesentery in the presence of a priming proinflammatory stimulus. In this case this group did not induce a thrombogenic injury by a mechanical or photochemical damage of the vessel wall. Their approach was to mimic more closely the in vivo situation using a cofactor commonly occurring in patients with APS and unable to trigger clotting per se, such as LPS. They showed that the endothelial cells seem to play a critical role in the initiation of aPL antibodymediated thrombosis in this model. aPL injected into LPS-treated rats targeted to the endothelium of the mesenteric microvessels. The binding appears to be selective for the anti- β_2 GPI antibodies because deposits of IgG were not observed in rats receiving aPL-positive IgG depleted of anti- β_2 GPI antibodies. Weak deposits of IgG not associated with the formation of thrombi were seen in rats treated with aPLpositive IgG in the absence of LPS. To explain the increased antibody deposition observed after injection of LPS and aPL the authors suggested that LPS up-regulates the expression of the ligand for β_2 GPI on endothelial cells or synergizes with the antibodies in clustering the ligand capable of stimulating the endothelial cells (Fischetti et al., 2005).

A study performed by Blank and colleagues provides more direct evidence of a pathogenic role of aPL in obstetric manifestations of APS. Blank et al., (1991) infused murine monoclonal aPL and human polyclonal IgG aPL from a patient with PAPS into the tail vein of pregnant mice to evaluate the effect on fecundity, fetal loss (fetal resorption), and the weight of embryos and placentae. They demonstrated lower fecundity rate, increased resorption index of embryos (equivalent to recurrent fetal loss), lower number of embryos per pregnancy, and lower mean weights of embryos and placentae in comparison to mice infused with appropriate control Igs (murine or human control Ig lacking aPL binding) (Blank et al., 1991). Therefore, their results showed that aPL have direct effects on fecundity and on the outcome of pregnancy in this murine model.

In another study, a significantly higher rate of fetal resorptions with a significant reduction in fetal and placental weight was found in pregnant BALB/c mice injected with human monoclonal IgG aPL from a PAPS patient compared to mice injected with a control human monoclonal IgG antibody lacking aPL activity (Ikematsu et al., 1998).

Other models of APS exist, mainly in mice that are prone to spontaneously develop autoimmune disease (systemic lupus-like illness). Hashimoto and colleagues found that (NZWxBXSB)F₁ mice produce high titres of aCL and develop abnormally high incidence of degenerative coronary vascular disease with myocardial infarction and thrombocytopenia (Hashimoto et al., 1992). Futhermore, MRL/*lpr* mice spontaneously develop some features similar to human APS such as high levels of IgG aCL, thrombocytopenia and poor pregnancy outcome (Gharavi et al., 1989). Another group reported histologic evidence of central nervous system thromboses in MRL/*lpr* mice (Smith et al., 1990). However, there are differences between the models compared to human SLE and APS. The marked lymphadenopathy found in MRL/*lpr* mice is not a common feature of SLE. The autoimmune mice with murine lupus almost invariably die of severe glomerulonephritis, whereas less that 50% of patients with SLE develop renal involvement.

1.3.4 Mechanisms of pathogenesis in the APS

Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the cellular and molecular mechanisms by which aPL promote thrombosis. The present hypotheses for pathogenic mechanisms in the APS are summarised in Figure 1.3. However, the major mechanisms of hypercoagulability in APS involve up-regulation of the tissue factor (TF) pathway, inhibition of the protein C pathway and the interaction of aPL with the endothelium.

It is known that aPL are able to recognise, injure, and/or activate cultured vascular ECs. Binding of aPL induces EC activation, as evaluated by up-regulation of the expression of adhesion molecules (intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), VCAM-1 and E-selectin) and up-regulation of cytokine secretion (George et al., 1998a).



68

Intro

oter

Comparable findings have also been reproduced in murine in vivo experimental models of microcirculation as discussed in the section above (Pierangeli et al., 1999, Pierangeli et al., 2000). The same authors used ICAM-1-deficient and ICAM-1-/P selectin-deficient mice to determine whether aPL enhance thrombus formation or increase leukocyte adhesion to ECs of mouse cremaster muscle compared with the corresponding wild-type mice (Pierangeli et al., 2001). In both ICAM-1^{-/-} mice and ICAM-1^{-/-}/P-selectin^{-/-} mice, IgG aPL affinity purified from an APS patient did not increase leucocyte adhesion to ECs nor did these antibodies enhance thrombus formation (Pierangeli et al., 2001). In the *in vitro* studies aPL binding to ECs was dependent upon the presence of β_2 GPI (Del Papa et al., 1995). β_2 GPI was found to adhere to human endothelial and trophoblast cell membranes and to offer suitable epitopes for circulating anti- β_2 GPI antibodies. The binding of circulating anti- β_2 GPI antibodies to cell adhered β_2 GPI was shown to induce functional effects (such as increased adhesion molecule expression, up-regulation of cytokine secretion and arachidonic acid metabolism) potentially related to the pathogenesis of the clinical manifestations of APS such as thrombotic events and fetal loss (Meroni et al., 2000).

TF is the physiological initiator of normal coagulation and a major initiator of clotting in thrombotic disease. Structurally, TF is a member of the cytokine receptor superfamily; it is a 47-kd transmembrane glycoprotein that serves as both receptor and enzyme activator for plasma and is constitutively expressed on the surfaces of various cell types (e.g. ECs and monocytes) in response to various stimuli including bacterial LPS, immune-complexes, IL-1 and TNF (Dobado-Berrios et al., 2001). Data obtained from a number of studies suggest that increased TF activity is an important cause of hypercoagulability in the APS [reviewed in (Roubey, 2000)]. Potential mechanisms contributing to upregulation of the TF pathway include increased expression of TF due to increased transcription, increased functional activity of TF molecules due to de-encryption and decreased activity of TF pathway inhibitor. Anti- β_2 GPI autoantibodies have been specifically implicated in the antibody-mediated enhancement of TF activity.

The protein C pathway is an important feedback mechanism for controlling thrombin formation, and thus has an anti-thrombotic effect. Protein C is a vitamin-K-dependent serine proteinase, a heterozygous deficiency of which results in recurrent thrombotic disease (Mackworth-Young, 2004). Activated protein C combines with another cofactor, protein S, in the presence of PL to catalyse the degradation of

factors Va and VIIIa of the coagulation pathway. For this to occur, protein C is first converted to its active form by thrombin in the presence of thrombomodulin, an ECderived cofactor. Protein C is a potential target for antibodies in APS. It has been shown that aPL can interfere with the protein C system by different mechanisms, which include the inhibition of thrombin formation, decrease of protein C activation by the thrombomodulin thrombin complex, inhibition of protein C complex assembly, inhibition of protein C activity directly or via its cofactor protein S, and binding to factors Va and VIIa in a manner that protects them from proteolysis by activated protein C (de Groot et al., 1996). It has been described that aPL isolated from patients can inhibit protein C activity. To investigate if aPL are directed against a combination of PLs and protein C or protein S, Oosting and colleagues studied IgG fractions from the 30 patients, of whom 26 had aPL and 23 had thrombosis (Oosting et al., 1993). The authors found that the antibodies responsible for inhibiting Va degradation were directed against PL-bound protein C or protein S. Other groups have also demonstrated that aPL derived from patients' serum impairs the degradation of factor V by protein C in vitro (Marciniak and Romond, 1989, Borrell et al., 1992).

The pathogenic mechanisms contributing to obstetric complications are not fully understood either. Originally aPL were thought to cause pregnancy morbidity by placental thrombosis but recently there has been more compelling evidence of a direct effect upon maternal and fetal cells. For instance, it has been shown that purified aPL can bind specifically to placental antigens, providing a potential mechanism for nonthrombotic placental damage and impaired foetal blood supply. Donohoe and colleagues developed an immunofluorescent technique to detect human aPL binding to human placenta and demonstrated binding to the placenta by affinity purified aPL from five of six patients with the APS (Donohoe et al., 1999). They have also performed preliminary sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and western blotting studies that demonstrated that aPL bind a number of placental proteins (Donohoe et al., 1999). aPL and antibodies to β_2 GPI have also been found to modify trophoblast proliferation and differentiation (Chamley et al., 1998).

Defective endovascular trophoblast invasion, rather than intervillous thrombosis, is the most frequent hostological abnormality in PAPS-positive associated early pregnancy loss (Sebire et al., 2002). Sebire and colleagues examined placental

histopathology in patients with a history of recurrent miscarriage, both with and without PAPS. They confirmed that the major pathophysiologic mechanism is uteroplacental vasculopathy, such as placental infarction and preeclampsia. In addition, in this study only one case of fetoplacental vascular thrombosis was identified; this occurred in a clinically uncomplicated PAPS–positive pregnancy delivered at 38 weeks. Their findings therefore do not support the hypothesis that pregnancy complications in PAPS are related to intraplacental thromboses, although this could occur in failed pregnancies as opposed to those successfully treated and resulting in live birth (Sebire et al., 2003).

While antigenic epitopes recognised by aPL are important in the pathogenesis of the APS, there is emerging evidence that the complement pathway may mediate fetal damage (Salmon et al., 2002). Holers et al., (2002) used a murine model of APS in which pregnant mice are injected with human IgG containing aPL to investigate whether these antibodies activate complement in the placenta, generating split products that mediate placental injury and lead to fetal loss and growth retardation. They found that inhibition of the complement cascade *in vivo* blocks fetal loss and growth retardation and mice deficient in complement C3 were resistant to fetal injury induced by aPL (Holers et al., 2002). Similarly, (Girardi et al., 2003) also tested complement activation in pregnant mice that received human IgG containing aPL. They identified complement component C5 (and particularly its cleavage product C5a) and neutrophils as key mediators of fetal injury and showed that antibodies that block C5a–C5a receptor interactions prevent pregnancy complications.

Despite the multiple ways by which aPL could cause pathology, many individuals with high IgG aPL levels do not develop features of APS. This may be due to the particular pattern of antibody specificities in their serum. However, it appears that for many people other factors may be needed for the expression of the APS, i.e. a 'second hit' is required. aPL would be responsible for a hypercoagulable state and a second stimulus, such as other thrombotic risk factors, infections, or drugs, would lead to the development of thrombosis.

1.3.5 The role of T cells and cytokines in the APS

Cytokine abnormalities have been implicated in the pathogenesis of fetal loss, one of the major manifestations of the APS. Interleukin-3 (IL-3) is an important factor that aids in embryo implantation and placental development. IL-3 was found to be
decreased both in pregnant women with APS compared with a control group, and in animal models of APS (Shoenfeld et al., 1998). In another study, where primary APS was induced following immunisation of BALB/c mice with a human monoclonal aPL antibody (H-3), analysis of the cytokine profile of the mice with the APS indicated low production of IL-2, IL-3 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) (Fishman et al., 1993). The authors concluded that administration of murine recombinant IL-3 led to a dramatic reduction in the fetal resorptions rate and thrombocytopenia associated with the experimental APS was also corrected following IL-3 administration (Fishman et al., 1993).

To examine antigen recognition profiles and Th cell activity in β_2 GPI reactive T cells. Arai et al., (2001) generated 14 CD4+ T cell clones specific to β_2 GPI from three patients with APS. At least four distinct T cell epitopes were identified, but the majority of the β_2 GPI specific T cell clones responded to a peptide encompassing amino acid residues 276 to 290 of β_2 GPI containing the major PL binding site. Ten of 12 β_2 GPI specific T cell clones stimulated peripheral blood B cells that produced anti- β_2 GPI antibody in the presence of recombinant β_2 GPI. Th cell activity was found exclusively in T cell clones capable of producing IL-6. In vitro anti- β_2 GPI antibody production induced by T cell clones was inhibited by either anti-IL-6 or by the anti-CD40 ligand mAb. In addition, exogenous IL-6 augmented anti- β_2 GPI antibody production in cultures of B cells with T cell clones lacking IL-6 expression. The results of this study indicate that β_2 GPI specific CD4+ T cells in APS patients preferentially recognise the antigenic peptide containing the major PL binding site and have the capability to stimulate B cells to produce anti- β_2 GPI antibody via expression of IL-6 (Arai et al., 2001).

T cells appear to play a major part in the pathogenesis of APS since autoantibody production by B cells generally requires T cell help. Experimental primary APS was induced in mice following active immunisation with aPL mAb and T cells from the APS mice were infused into BALB/c recipients (Blank et al., 1995). The authors observed high serum titers of aPL and clinical features of primary APS, including thrombocytopenia and a high frequency of fetal resorptions. T cell-depleted bone marrow cells did not transfer the disease (Blank et al., 1995). In addition, another group treated BALB/c mice with anti-CD4 mAb either before or after induction of experimental APS and SLE (Tomer et al., 1994). The treated mice did not develop

proteinuria, had fewer episodes of fetal resorption and significantly lower levels of antibodies to dsDNA, histones, CL, and PS.

1.3.6 The importance of β_2 -Glycoprotein I in APS

 β_2 GPI, an abundant glycoprotein in human plasma found at a concentration of approximately 200µg/ml, is synthesized mainly in the liver but also by other cells such as trophoblasts (Li and Krilis, 2003). β_2 GPI is a protein of approximately 50kDa; it is a highly glycosylated, single-chain polypeptide of 326 amino acids containing a high proportion of proline and cysteine residues, with 20% w/w carbohydrate attached. The protein is a member of the complement control protein or short consensus repeat (SCR) superfamily, characterised by repeating stretches of 60 amino acid residues, each with a set of 16 conserved residues and 2 fully conserved disulfide bonds and has 5 of the repeating SCR domains (also known as "sushi domains"). β_2 GPI is highly conserved among different mammalian species including humans, bovines, canines and mice (Miyakis et al., 2004).

aPL can recognise β_2 GPI directly (in the absence of PL) if the protein antigen is present on microtiter plates at a sufficient density. The crystal structure of the protein has been solved both in solid and fluid phase and bears relevance for the positioning of the domains of β_2 GPI involved in the binding of the antibodies (Figure 1.4) (Schwarzenbacher et al., 1999); its structure suggests that the protein binds to PL membranes via the cationic portion of its fifth SCR domain. Domains III and IV are heavily glycosylated and therefore partially shielded from protein-protein interactions and may therefore be regarded as linking domains for the N-terminal domains that are exposed most in the blood (Bouma et al., 1999).

Controversial results have been reported regarding the aPL-specific epitopes of β_2 GPI that are crucial in the development of APS. Although, short peptides containing sequences from domain V of β_2 GPI inhibited binding to human mAbs to β_2 GPI, polyclonal antibodies from human patients did not bind these peptides (Wang et al., 1995). Results from other studies using truncated β_2 GPI with various domain deletions indicated that the binding epitopes were not on domain V in most cases but on domain IV (George et al., 1998b).



Figure 1.4 Structure of β_2 -glycoprotein I

(A) Schematic drawing of the domain structure of β_2 -glycoprotein I. Domain V is involved in the binding to anionic phospholipids while domain I contains the binding epitope for anti- β_2 GPI antibodies. (B) Space-filling model of the crystal structure of β_2 -glycoprotein I. The antibody recognition site in domain I and the phospholipid-binding site in domain V are indicated. Adapted from (de Groot and Derksen, 2005)

Chapter One

Using anti- β_2 GPI antibody from patients with APS and different β_2 GPI domain-deleted mutants, Iverson and colleagues have reported that domain I (DI) is essential for the binding of APS antibodies to β_2 GPI (Iverson et al., 1998). Seven different domaindeleted mutants of human β_2 GPI, and full-length human β_2 GPI (wild-type), were used in competition assays to inhibit the autoantibodies from binding to immobilized wild-type β_2 GPI. Only those domain-deleted mutants that contained DI inhibited the binding to immobilized wild-type β_2 GPI from all of the patients. In a recent study using anti- β_2 GPI antibodies from patients with APS with DI-mutated β_2 GPI, another group confirmed the finding that DI of β_2 GPI contains significant epitopes for the anti- β -GPI antibodies found in APS (Reddel et al., 2000). Recently it was suggested the positively charged arginine at position 43 and glycine at position 40 on DI are important in the binding of anti- β_2 GPI antibodies (Iverson et al., 2002, de Laat et al., 2006). de Laat et al., (2005) tested the specificity of anti- β_2 GPI antibodies with patients with PAPS and SLE by using eight deletion mutants of β_2 GPI (comprising DI, DI-II, DI-III, DI-IV, DII-V, DII-V, DIV-V and DV) and three recombinant β_2 GPI molecules with different point mutations in DI (aspartate to alanine mutation at position 8, glycine-glutamate mutation at position 40, and an arginine to glycine mutation at position 43). The authors have shown that anti- β_2 GPI antibodies directed at DI (recognizing epitopes at position 40 and 43) cause lupus anticoagulant activity and strongly associate with thrombosis (de Laat et al., 2005).

The precise physiological role of β_2 GPI has not been resolved; *in vitro*, β_2 GPI binds to negatively charged PLs, such as CL and phosphatidylserine (PS), as well as inhibiting contact activation of the intrinsic coagulation pathway, platelet prothrombinase activity, and adenosine diphosphate (ADP)-mediated platelet aggregation and also aids clearance of oxidized low-density lipoproteins (LDL) (Miyakis et al., 2004). *In-vivo*, β_2 GPI is involved in the clearance of apoptotic bodies (Pittoni et al., 2000) and liposomes as well as interfering with the protein C pathway (Roubey, 1996). β_2 GPI adheres to resting human ECs. β_2 GPI, dimerised after binding of circulating aPL, has an increased affinity for cells, such as platelets, ECs and monocytes leading to their activation (Del Papa et al., 1997). In addition, β_2 GPI appears to promote clearance of certain products of oxidation and prevent thrombus formation (review in (Inanc et al., 1997)). Therefore, binding of aPL to epitopes on β_2 GPI may interfere with these functions, and therefore promote thrombosis.

1.4 The generation of diversity in immunoglobulins

1.4.1 Organisation of immunoglobulin genes

The structure of antibodies has been discussed in section 1.1.3.1. It has been estimated that the mammalian immune system can generate more than 10¹¹ different antibodies and is capable of specifically recognising and responding to a limitless array of foreign antigens (Berek and Milstein, 1988). For several decades, immunologists sought to visualise a genetic mechanism that might generate such diversity. One of the theories that emerged is the germline theory, which maintained that the genome contributed by the germ cells contains a large repertoire of Ig genes. In contrast, the somatic-mutation theory maintained that the genome contains a small number of Ig genes, from which a large number of antibody specificities are generated in the somatic cells by mutation or recombination.

Dreyer and Bennett suggested another model which combined elements of the two theories; that two separate genes encode a single Ig H or L chain, one gene for the V region and one for the C region (Dreyer and Bennett, 1965). Moreover, they proposed that a large number of V region genes were carried in the germline, whereas only single copies of C region class and subclass genes exist. Although Dreyer and Bennett provided a good theoretical model, further validation of their hypothesis has been achieved with major technological advances in molecular biology with the use of restriction enzyme analysis and Southern blotting. The first direct evidence was provided by the work of Hozumi and Tonegawa in 1976. Chromosomal DNA from embryonic cells and adult myeloma cells was first cut with a restriction enzyme, and the DNA fragments containing particular V and C region sequences were identified by hybridization with radiolabeled DNA probes specific for the relevant DNA sequences (Hozumi and Tonegawa, 1976). What their experiments showed is that in germline DNA (in embryonic cells), the V and C region sequences identified by the probes are on separate DNA fragments. However, in DNA from an antibody-producing B cell these V and C region sequences are on the same DNA fragment, showing that a rearrangement of the DNA has occurred (Hozumi and Tonegawa, 1976). These results are important since they show that the Ig genes are rearranged in cells of the B-lymphocyte lineage, but not in other cells.

Subsequently, cloning and sequencing of the L and H chain DNA was accomplished and showed that the κ and λ L chains and the H chains are encoded by separate multigene families each containing several gene segments. Tonegawa et al., (1978) cloned the germline DNA for the mouse V_{λ} and determined its complete nucleotide sequence. The λ V region is encoded by two fused gene segments in the order V-J (V–joining) (Tonegawa et al., 1978). Furthermore, Sakano and colleagues determined the entire nucleotide sequence for mouse Ig κ chain gene and as in the λ multigene family, the V_{κ} and J_{κ} gene segments encode the V region of the κ L chain (Sakano et al., 1979).

The organisation of the Ig H chain genes is similar but more complex. Schilling et al., (1980) determined the complete V region sequences from ten antibodies and two myeloma proteins binding alpha-1,3 dextran and found that the V_H gene segment encodes amino acids 1 to 94 and the J_H gene segment was found to encode amino acids 99 to 107. The most striking feature of their data is the extensive sequence variability of a region that corresponded to amino acids 95 to 97 of the H chain, which they denoted the D (diversity) segment (Schilling et al., 1980). From these results, the authors proposed that a third germline gene segment is located at the junction between the V and J segments in the centre of the third hypervariable region and must join the V_H and J_H gene segments was later confirmed by Kurosawa and Tonegawa (1982). They located the D gene segments within mouse germline DNA with a cDNA D-region probe, which hybridized with a stretch of DNA lying between the V_H and J_H gene segments (Kurosawa and Tonegawa, 1982).

DNA sequencing studies revealed the presence of conserved sequences flanking each germline V, D, and J gene segment. The conserved heptamer/nonamer sequences have been termed recombination signal sequences (RSSs) and function as signals for the recombination process that rearranges the genes. These conserved palindromic heptamers (CACTGTG) and conserved nonamer sequences (GGTTTTTGT) are located 3' to each V gene segment, 5' to each J gene segment, and on both sides of each D gene segment and are separated by an intervening sequence of 12 or 23 bp. Early and colleagues observed that these intervening 12 and 23 bp sequences correspond, respectively, to one and two turns of the DNA helix (one-turn recombination signal sequences) (Early et al., 1980). Signal sequences having a one-turn spacer can only join with sequences having a two-turn spacer (the one-turn/two-turn joining rule). This ensures that a V_{H} , D_{H} , D_{H} , J_{H} segments join in the

proper order and that segments of the same type do not join together (for example a V_H segment does not join to another V_H segment).

This work was all carried out in mice. Matthyssens and Rabbits cloned the first human V_H gene, which has been isolated from human fetal liver DNA by using a cDNA plasmid probe containing a mouse V_H sequence (Matthyssens and Rabbitts, 1980). The human J_H and the first D_H genes were subsequently cloned and sequenced (Ravetch et al., 1981, Siebenlist et al., 1981). When the V_k (Bentley and Rabbits, 1980), V_k (Brockly et al., 1989), J_k (Hieter et al., 1980) and J_k (Vasicek and Leder, 1990) genes were also cloned, it was found that the same principle applied to human gene segments as well as mice, confirming the presence of RSSs and the one-turn/two-turn joining rule.

1.4.2 The mechanism of rearrangement of immunoglobulin genes

The recombination of V region gene segments, is a site-specific recombination process that occurs only in developing lymphocytes and only in between Ig and TCR gene segments flanked by RSSs (Bassing et al., 2002). The complex of enzymes that act synergistically to mediate V(D)J recombination is termed the V(D)J recombinase. The products of the two genes RAG-1 and RAG-2 (recombination-activating genes) comprise the lymphoid-specific components of the recombinase.

V(D)J recombination is a multistep enzymatic process in which the first reaction is recognition of RSSs by recombinase enzymes and alignment of two signal sequences together with the adjacent coding sequence (Schatz, 2004). RAG-1 and RAG-2 make two single-strand DNA breaks at sites just 5' of each RSS, leaving a free 3' -OH group at the end of each coding segment. This 3' -OH group then hydrolyzes the phosphodiester bond on the other strand, sealing the end of the dsDNA to create a 'hairpin' structure at the cut end of the coding sequence (Janeway et al., 2001). The DNA hairpin is nicked open by a single-stranded break at various points for the addition of P-region nucleotides, followed by the trimming of a few nucleotides from the coding sequence by a single-strand endonuclease. Terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase (TdT) allows the addition of N-region nucleotides. Double-strand break repair (DSBR) enzymes then catalyse the ligation of the coding sequences with each other and the signal sequences with each other (Goldsby et al., 2000).

Chapter One

Although the double-strand DNA breaks that initiate V(D)J rearrangement are introduced precisely at the junctions of signal sequences and coding sequences, there is variation in the enzymatic processes in the subsequent joining of the coding sequences (Schatz et al., 1992). This imprecision in the joining process seems to create diversity by contributing to the hypervariability of the antigen-binding site. Another consequence of imprecise joining is nonproductive rearrangement, where the resulting VJ or VDJ unit will lose or gain nucleotides at the junctions such that the triplet reading frame for translation is interrupted (Schatz et al., 1992). When the gene segments are joined in phase, the reading frame is maintained. This generates a productive rearrangement with the resulting VJ or VDJ unit translated in its entirety, yielding a complete antibody. If one allele rearranges non-productively, a B cell may still be able to rearrange the other allele productively.

B cells, like all somatic cells, are diploid and contain both maternal and paternal chromosomes (Albert et al., 2002). In fact, however, each B cell expresses the rearranged H chain genes from only one chromosome and the rearranged L chain genes from only one chromosome. This process, termed allelic exclusion is essential for the antigenic specificity of the B cell since it ensures that functional B cells never contain more than one $V_H D_H J_H$ and one $V_L J_L$ unit and accounts for their monospecificity (Mostoslavsky et al., 2004). It is apparent that once a productive $V_H D_H J_H$ rearrangement and a productive $V_L J_L$ rearrangement have occurred, recombination stops, so that the H and L chain genes on the homologous chromosomes are not expressed.

A model proposed to explain allelic exclusion suggests that once a productive rearrangement is attained, its encoded protein is expressed and its presence acts as a signal to prevent further gene rearrangement (Yancopoulos and Alt, 1986). According to this model, the presence of μ H chains signals the maturing B cell to turn off rearrangement of the other H chain allele and to turn on rearrangement of the κ L chain genes. If a productive κ rearrangement occurs, κ L chains are produced and then pair with μ H chains to form a complete antibody molecule. The presence of this antibody then turns off further L chain rearrangement. If κ rearrangement is nonproductive for both κ alleles, rearrangement of the λ chain genes begins. If neither λ allele rearranges productively, the B cell ceases to mature and dies by apoptosis.

However, Ig expression sometimes fails to prevent further rearrangement. Some B cells that have made productive H and L chain rearrangements will nevertheless rearrange a second L chain locus (Prak and Weigert, 1995). This process is called receptor editing and allows a B cell to change its receptor specificity. Prak and Weigert, (1995) described a mouse model which recreates a functional rearranged κ locus by replacing the unrearranged J_k region with a rearranged V_k-J_k gene. This L chain replacement (V_kR) simulates the genotype of a normal B cell with a functional V_k-J_k L chain gene on one allele. The V_kR models illustrate that a productively rearranged L chain can either terminate further rearrangement or allow further rearrangement.

1.4.3 Generation of antibody diversity

Antibody diversity is generated in four main ways. Two of these are consequences of the recombination process described above. The third is due to the different possible combinations of a H and a L chain in the complete Ig molecule. The fourth is a mutational process that occurs in mature B cells, acting only on rearranged DNA encoding the V regions.

The gene rearrangement that combines gene segments to form a complete V region generates diversity in two ways (Maizels, 2005). First, there are multiple different copies of each type of gene segment. Human germline DNA contains 44 V_H (Matsuda et al., 1998), 27 D (Corbett et al., 1997), 6 J_H (Ravetch et al., 1981), 40 V_{κ} (Schable and Zachau, 1993), 5 J_{κ}, 30 V_{λ} (Williams et al., 1996) and 4 J_{λ} gene segments (these numbers apply to functional genes, discussed in more detail in section 1.4.5). Different combinations of gene segments can be used in different rearrangement events, however, not all gene segments are used at the same frequency and some are more common than others. This combinatorial V(D)J diversity is responsible for a substantial part of the diversity of the H and L chain V regions.

Second, junctional flexibility is introduced at the joints between the different gene segments. As described above, recombination involves both the joining of RSSs to form a coding joint and the joining of coding sequences to form a coding joint. Although the signal sequences are always joined precisely, joining of the coding sequences is often imprecise. Junctional flexibility leads to many nonproductive rearrangements, but it also several produces productive combinations that encode

alternative amino acids at each coding joint. The third hypervariable region (CDR3) falls between the V-D and the D-J joints. In both H and L chains, the diversity of CDR3 is significantly increased by the addition (P-addition and N-addition) and deletion of nucleotides in the formation of the junctions between gene segments. Since CDR3 makes a major contribution to antigen binding by the antibody molecule, amino acid changes generated by junctional flexibility can make a major contribution to antibody diversity.

A third source of diversity is also combinatorial, arising from the many possible different combinations of H and L chain V regions that pair to form the antigenbinding site in the Ig molecule. Although it is difficult to calculate with precision the number of different antibody combining sites the immune system can generate, the number is very large. Nevertheless, it is not likely that all V_H and V_L will pair with each other. Finally, somatic hypermutation (discussed in more detail in the next section) introduces point mutations into the rearranged V region genes, creating further diversity that can be selected for enhanced binding to antigen.

1.4.4 Somatic hypermutation

All of the antibody diversity mechanisms discussed so far occur during the formation of V regions by gene rearrangement in the pre-B cell (early B cell precursor that does not express functional membrane-bound Ig and is therefore not sensitive to antigen). Following antigen exposure, activated B cells migrate into the primary follicles of peripheral lymphoid organs where they undergo intense proliferation and form germinal centres, which appear towards the end of the first week after exposure and provide the location for both hypermutation and antigen selection (Neuberger and Milstein, 1995). Somatic hypermutation occurs only within germinal centers and is targeted to rearranged V regions located within a DNA sequence which includes the whole of the VJ or VDJ segment (Wagner and Neuberger, 1996). Somatic hypermutation occurs at a frequency approaching 10⁻³ per base pair per generation, a rate which is a hundred thousand-fold higher that the spontaneous mutation rate in other genes and is unique to B cells (Neuberger and Milstein, 1995).

The mechanism of somatic hypermutation is poorly defined. The mutations introduced are predominantly single nucleotide substitutions (rather than insertions or deletions). The base changes are distributed throughout the V region, but not completely randomly; there are certain 'hotspots' of mutation that indicate a

preference for characteristic short motifs (A/G-G-C/T) (Rogozin and Kolchanov, 1992). Gearhart and Bogenhagen (1983) examined six rearranged V_x167 genes from hybridoma and myeloma cells. The sequences were compared to the germline sequence of the V_x167 gene, the J_x genes, and the C_x gene to identify sites of mutation. Four of six rearranged genes had extensive mutation which occurred exclusively in a region of DNA centered around the V-J gene. Mutations were mostly due to nucleotide substitutions and their location around each gene indicates that they occur in clusters at random sites (Gearhart and Bogenhagen, 1983).

Experimental evidence demonstrating the importance of somatic hypermutation was obtained from a series of experiments on the response to the phOx hapten (2-phenyl-5-oxazolone) in mice by Berek and Milstein, (1988). They coupled the hapten to a protein carrier, immunised mice with the phOx-carrier and used the mouse spleen cells to prepare hybridomas secreting mAbs specific for the phOx hapten. The 12 hybridomas obtained from mice seven days after a primary immunisation, had very similar sequences to the mouse germline V genes. However, 14 days after primary immunisation, all of the hybridomas included one or more mutations from the germline sequence. The number of mutations in the anti-phOx hybridomas progressively increased following primary, secondary, and tertiary immunisations, as did the overall affinity of the antibodies for phOx (Berek and Milstein, 1988).

The process of somatic hypermutation generates antibodies with varying affinity for antigen. Following exposure to antigen, those B cells with higher affinity receptors will be preferentially selected for survival because of their greater ability to bind to the antigen, a process called affinity maturation which takes place within germinal centers. Mutations at some positions in the sequence will either adversely affect the basic structure of the antibody molecule or reduce its affinity for antigen. B cells expressing antibodies with the highest affinity for the driving antigen are likely to become initially the dominating population. These cells consequently proliferate faster thus eventually dominating the germinal centre. This is termed antigen-driven clonal expansion (Berek and Milstein, 1987). Schlomchik et al., (1987) studied a panel of IgG rheumatoid factor autoantibodies derived from the autoimmune MRL/*lpr* mouse and provided evidence for antigen-driven clonal expansion. Sequence analysis showed that these antibodies were derived from a small number of expanded clones. Clonally related antibodies were recognised by possession of identical VDJ joint sequences. The authors noted that a high replacement (alters amino acid sequence

of antibody) to silent (does not alter amino acid sequence of antibody) mutation ratio occurs in the CDRs but not the FRs. Since the V region CDRs mainly determine the structure of the antigen-binding site, replacement mutations in CDRs are more likely to alter antigen binding properties indicating that the development of a particular antibody sequence was antigen-driven (Shlomchik et al., 1987).

Statistical analysis can be applied to the distribution of replacement and silent mutations in an antibody sequence to determine whether this pattern of somatic mutation is a consequence of antigen-drive. Chang and colleagues performed an evaluation using a binomial distribution model equation (Chang and Casali, 1994). The binomial method involves the use of a mathematical formula for calculating the probability that a particular pattern of mutations (in the Ig V gene CDRs or FRs) could have developed by chance only, in the absence of antigen drive (Chang and Casali, 1994). However, this model is inappropriate for Ig genes in which mutations have four different distribution possibilities (replacement and silent mutations in the CDR and/or FW regions of the gene). Lossos and colleagues proposed a multinomial distribution model for assessment of antigen selection (Lossos et al., 2000). Side-by-side application of multinomial and binomial models on 86 previously established Ig sequences disclosed 8 discrepancies, leading to opposite statistical conclusions about antigen selection. Therefore, the use of the multinomial model is thought to be more accurate (Lossos et al., 2000).

After antigenic stimulation of a B cell, the H chain DNA can undergo a further rearrangement in which the $V_H D_H J_H$ unit can combine with any C_H gene segment, a process called class switching. It is a DNA recombination reaction specific to the Ig H chain (IgH) locus that increases antibody versatility by associating a given IgH V region with one of several different C regions. The C_{μ} region is replaced by downstream C_Y , C_E , or C_{α} segments to generate IgG, IgE, and IgA antibodies, respectively. There seems to be a link between hypermutation and class switching since they occur at a similar point in cell development and IgG antibodies tend to carry more somatic mutations than IgM of the same specificity (Tillman et al., 1992). Furthermore, Huang and Stollar (1993) carried out study to determine whether similar Ig gene segment usage occurs in normal human adult peripheral blood lymphocytes. They found that 48 of 77 IgM clones (62%) shared 99% or more identity with known germline V_H segments, only two of 28 rearranged V_H genes

from the IgG library showed this degree of homology. Therefore, they concluded that IgG-encoding sequences had more mutations than IgM-encoding sequences (Huang and Stollar, 1993).

It has recently been discovered that deficiency in the enzyme called activation induced cytidine deaminase, blocks the accumulation of somatic hypermutations (Selsing, 2006, Nussenzweig and Alt, 2004). The mechanism by which this enzyme contributes to hypermutation is unknown. Interestingly, deficiency of this enzyme also abrogates the rearrangement of C-region genes that underlies the Ig class switching seen in activated B cells.

A key research question which I have attempted to answer in this thesis is: do the somatic mutations that accumulate in the CDRs of rearranged Ig sequences account for changes in the binding properties of antibodies? The binding properties of antibodies depend on the sequences of their V regions, particularly the CDRs. Antibodies with pathogenic properties may have a tendency to utilize the same V_H or V_L genes or develop the same somatic mutations under the influence of the same antigen. For this reason, it is crucial to have full understanding of the germline human V region repertoire.

1.4.5 The repertoire of human variable region genes

To understand the origin and behaviour of the human immune repertoire it is important to have the complete structure of the human V_{κ} , V_{λ} and V_{H} locus. In humans, the Ig molecule is encoded by three independent gene loci, namely Ig_k and Ig_{{\lambda}}</sub> genes for the L chain and IgH genes for the H chain, which are located on chromosome 2 (Malcolm et al., 1982, McBride et al., 1982), chromosome 22 (McBride et al., 1982, Erikson et al., 1981), and chromosome 14 (Croce et al., 1979), respectively.

1.4.5.1 Human V_H locus

A complete map of the functional V_H locus at chromosome 14q32.3 has been produced (Matsuda et al., 1993). The complete nucleotide sequence of the human Ig V_H region locus is 957-kb in length. The region contains 123 V_H segments classifiable into seven different families, of which 79 are pseudogenes. A V_H segment is defined as functional if it contains an open reading frame (ORF), an intact exon-intron

structure and is arranged in a functional Ig gene (functional VDJ rearrangement). Pseudogenes are nucleotide sequences that are stable components of the genome but are incapable of being expressed. Pseudogenes are thought to have been derived by mutation of active ancestral genes (Goldsby et al., 2000). Of the 44 V_H segments with an ORF, 39 are expressed as H chain proteins and 1 as mRNA, while the remaining 4 are not found in Ig cDNAs (Matsuda et al., 1998). Eight V_H were identified on chromosome 15 and sixteen on chromosome 16, however these are unlikely to be functional since chromosomes 15 and 16 have no D, J or C segments (Cook and Tomlinson, 1995).

Human V_H segments can be classified into seven families, V_H1 - V_H7 on the basis of sequence homology, which are interspersed throughout the locus. Different members of the same family are at least 80% homologous at the nucleotide sequence level and some families are more highly related (V_H4) than others, which are more divergent (V_H5). In terms of the number of functional V_H segments, the V_H3 family makes the largest contribution to the functional repertoire, followed by the V_H1 and V_H4 families (Cook and Tomlinson, 1995).

The exact dimensions of the V_H locus and number of functional segments vary between individuals and V_H genes display a certain amount of polymorphism. Under these circumstances, the question arises whether differences between expressed and germline sequences are true somatic mutations or arise because of a difference between alleles of the same gene. Certain genes occur in some people but not in others as a result of insertion/deletion polymorphism with 75% of people having an extra group of genes located between segments 3-30 and 4-31 which are listed in V-BASE, a sequence directory containing the complete human Ig gene repertoire that is constantly being updated with new alleles (Tomlinson et al., 1996). This database of published alleles as well as data from direct sequencing of the same gene in difference individuals (Sanz et al., 1989) show that the majority of alleles differ by one or two nucleotides. For this reason, it is logical to assume that most of the differences expressed and germline sequences result from mutation rather than from polymorphism.

1.4.5.2 Human D_H locus

The complete nucleotide sequence of the human IgD segment locus on chromosome 14q32.3 was determined and a total of 27 D segments were identified (Corbett et al., 1997). These can be grouped into seven families based on sequence homology. Six of these families (DXP, DA, DK, DN, DM and DLR) (Ichihara et al., 1988) have at least four members, whilst the seventh is the unique DHQ52 segment. Nucleotide sequences of D_H genes belonging to different families diverge greatly, while those belonging to the same families are well conserved. Other than these typical D_H genes, however, Ichihara et al., (1988) described another D_H gene (which they termed DIR) the spacer lengths of whose neighbouring signals were irregular. The DIR gene appeared to be involved in DIR-D_H or D_H-DIR joining by inversion or deletion. Nevertheless, V_HCDR3 vary greatly due to versatility of the D_H segments. Various other hypotheses had been proposed to explain this extensive versatility such as the DD recombination (regardless of the 12/23 rule) (Sanz, 1991), inverted D segments, or the use of minor D segments found on chromosome 15 (Cook and Tomlinson, 1995).

However, a systematic analysis which compared the complete sequence of the human Ig D segment locus with a database of rearranged sequences to identify all the germline D segments and any other sequences that contribute to the extreme diversity of V_HCDR3 showed no evidence to suggest that any of the above hypotheses took place (Corbett et al., 1997). In previous studies, the criteria for assigning V_HCDR3 sequences to their germline D segments appear to have been more lenient. For example, others have taken five nucleotides of identity or six nucleotides with one mismatch as their minimum cut-off for matching an expressed sequence to a germline D gene (Brezinschek et al., 1995). Corbett et al., (1997), however, applied more stringent criteria whereby at least ten consecutive nucleotides of identity were generally required to confidently assign a D segment to its germline match, with the precise threshold depending on the CDR3 length.

1.4.5.3 Human J_H locus

The human J_H locus contains nine J-like gene segments, six of which appear to be functional (designated J_H1 to J_H6) and account for most of the known human H chain amino acid sequences whilst three are pseudogenes (Ravetch et al., 1981).

1.4.5.4 Human kappa (κ) locus

The human κ L chain locus has been mapped to chromosome 2p11-12 and contains approximately 40 functional V_{κ} and five J_{κ} genes with no D gene segments (Schable and Zachau, 1993). The total number of V_{κ} genes is 76. The 40 functional V_{κ} genes are arranged into seven families, two of which are very small (V_{κ}IV and V_{κ}VII) and are interspersed throughout the locus amongst 36 pseudogenes. Additional V_{κ} genes are located upon chromosomes 1 and 22 although these are pseudogenes (Schable and Zachau, 1993). Allelic polymorphism is rare and where present, alleles differ by only one or two nucleotides (Tomlinson et al., 1996). There is only one human C_{κ} gene segment (Hieter et al., 1980) therefore no alternative isotypes of the κ chain exist.

1.4.5.5 Human lambda (λ) locus

The human λ locus lies on chromosome 22q11.2. There are 30 functional V_{λ} (Williams et al., 1996) and four functional J_{λ} genes (Vasicek and Leder, 1990). Ten V_{λ} families exist, spread amongst three distinct V_{λ} gene clusters. The V_{λ} 1, 2 and 3 families comprise more than half of all the V_{λ} genes and are more commonly expressed in humans. Once again, allelic polymorphism is relatively rare and where present, alleles differ by only one or two nucleotides just as in the human V_{H} and V_{κ} loci (Williams et al., 1996).

The J_{λ} and C_{λ} loci are also located upon chromosome 22. There are seven C regions however C_{λ} 1, 2, 3, and 7 are active genes while C_{λ} 4, 5, and 6 are pseudogenes. They are organized in a tandem array, and each is preceded by a single J_{λ} region of which $J_{\lambda}2$ and $J_{\lambda}3$ are identical. As a result, mAb sequences can include only one of three different J_{λ} sequences (Vasicek and Leder, 1990). The presence of different C_{λ} genes means λ chains like H chains can exist as one of several isotypes.

1.4.5.6 How is the repertoire defined in the expressed monoclonal antibodies?

The recognition that certain V_{H} , V_{λ} , and V_{κ} genes and families are preferentially rearranged is important in interpreting sequences of human mAbs specific for a particular antigen. Certain genes might be rearranged more often than others and some genes may be present in several copies (Dorner and Lipsky, 2001).

Chapter One

It has been demonstrated using in situ hybridization studies that overexpression of V_{H3} genes persists in the adult (Zouali, 1992). Huang and Stollar, (1993) made an IgG H chain cDNA library from peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) of healthy adults and have shown that there was preferential use of certain genes within the V_{H3} family, particularly V3-23 and V3-30. Furthermore, Brezinschek et al., (1997) have amplified genomic DNA from peripheral B cells expressing surface IgM using using a single cell PCR technique that permits the amplification of both productive and nonproductive V_{H} rearrangements. They showed that genes from the V_{H3} family were more likely to be used in productive rearrangements, with V_{H} -23 being the most commonly rearranged gene accounting for 13% of all productive rearrangements.

Cox et al., (1994) sequenced 37 human germline V_{κ} segments from the genomic DNA of a single individual and compiled a comprehensive directory of all germline V_{κ} segments. Comparison with 236 rearranged sequences revealed about 11 sequences (O2, O8, L8, L12 and A20 from the $V_{\kappa}I$ family, A3 and A17 from the $V_{\kappa}II$, L2, L6 and A27 from the $V_{\kappa}III$, and B3 from the $V_{\kappa}IV$) were used frequently and accounted for 90% of the expressed repertoire. These results suggest that the expressed V_{κ} repertoire is mainly derived from a limited number of segments.

The expressed human Ig V_{λ} repertoire also demonstrates a strong bias in the use of individual V_{λ} segments. By hybridisation of 7600 cDNA clones from peripheral blood lymphocytes Ignatovich et al., (1997) have shown that the use of V_{λ} families is heavily biased in the expressed repertoire. Indeed, of the ten families, only three (V_{λ}1, V_{λ}2 and V_{λ}3) are used to any significant extent. Furthermore, by sequencing 532 λ cDNA clones they have now shown that this bias in family use is mainly due to biases in the use of individual V_{λ} segments. Indeed, of the 30 functional segments three (2a2, 1e and 2c) encode half the expressed V_{λ} repertoire (Ignatovich et al., 1997).

1.5 Sequence Analysis of Human Monoclonal Anti-DNA and Antiphospholipid Antibodies

The antigen-binding site of an antibody is determined by the V region of the H chain and the L chain. Within V_H and V_L , the CDRs show particularly high variability of

sequence and have been shown by crystallography to contain most of the sites where antigen and antibody make contact. Sequence changes which affect the CDRs are therefore particularly important in determining affinity and specificity of antigenantibody interactions. The aim of sequence analysis is to identify sequence features that are found commonly in anti-DNA antibodies or aPL which can cause disease, but rarely in antibodies which are not associated with disease. Sequence analysis studies that differentiate these two groups, may provide some evidence of links between sequence and pathogenicity,

1.5.1 Sequence analysis of murine anti-DNA antibodies

The sequences of over 300 murine anti-DNA mAbs have been published. The antibodies were derived from two types of SLE murine models. The first are autoimmune strains such as MRL/Ipr and (NZB/W)F₁ that spontaneously develop autoimmune disease closely paralleling the symptoms of human SLE. The MRL/Ipr mice display the most dramatic symptoms, developing widespread lympadenopathy, a range of autoantibodies (including anti-dsDNA and aPL) and glomerulonephritis. $(NZB/W)F_1$ mice develop a lupus-like illness characterised by the presence of autoantibodies and glomerulonephritis. The second type of SLE murine models are normal mice that have experimentally induced autoimmune disease similar to human SLE through immunisation with proteins/DNA complexes or antibodies some of which carry public idiotypes associated with autoantibodies (Radic and Weigert, 1994). Of the 283 V_H sequences studied, 183 belong to the J558 V_H gene family, 61 to the 7183 V_H gene family and 39 are members of other families (Radic and Weigert, 1994). V_L gene use in anti-DNA antibodies is more diverse that V_H gene use. Most notable among the recurrent L chains are 8A and 8B, both derived from V_{x} genes (Radic and Weigert, 1994).

Sequence analysis of anti-DNA antibodies from various murine models has led to the identification of recurrent characteristics amongst them. Firstly, it has highlighted the importance of clonal expansion and antigen driven accumulation of somatic mutations in determining the ability of these antibodies to bind dsDNA. Secondly, sequence analysis of these murine anti-DNA antibodies has led to the assumption that certain amino acids are present in the CDRs of anti-DNA antibodies at a higher frequency than in antibodies with other antigen specificities. Marion and colleagues analysed the sequences of 117 monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies from (NZB/W)F₁ mice (Marion et al., 1992). In some cases, IgG produced by a single mouse were

derived from the same expanded B cell clone whereas the majority of IgM were not. Within a single clone, the IgG carried more mutations than the IgM, particularly in the CDRs. An increase in the number of mutations led to increased affinity for dsDNA. The mutations that led to high avidity binding to dsDNA were those that increased the number of arginine residues in the CDRs, especially V_HCDR3 (Marion et al., 1992). Radic et al., (1994) also re-iterated that the accumulation of somatic mutations has led to higher frequencies of certain basic residues, including arginine, asparagine and lysine being present at various positions in the CDRs of murine anti-DNA mAbs. Arginine and lysine are positively charged and it has been suggested that these amino acids could therefore interact with the anionic sugar-phosphate backbone of the DNA double helix. The presence of uncharged asparagine residues also appears to enhance binding to DNA by forming hydrogen bonds with adenine in the major groove and guanine in the minor groove (Seeman et al., 1976).

1.5.2 Sequence analysis of murine aPL

In the case of aPL produced from animal models, the animals show consistent serological features of the syndrome, with either the obstetric or thrombotic clinical features but not both (Radway-Bright et al., 1999). MRL/*lpr* mice frequently produce aPL. Kita and colleagues analyzed the V_H and V_x genes of aPL from MRL/*lpr* mice. Sequence analysis showed that different antibodies from a single mouse tended to be clonally related. 67% used the V_H gene of the J558 family, and 43% used the V_x gene of the V_x 23 group (Kita et al., 1993). The same authors analysed the usage of V_H and V_x genes of aPL in (NZW x BXSB)F₁ mice. The (NZW x BXSB)F₁ mouse may be a better autoimmune model of APS since both male and female mice produce serum aPL of IgG isotype and enhanced binding to CL in the presence of β_2 GPI. Also, male mice develop thrombocytopenia and vascular disease, features characteristic of human APS. Sequence analysis of V_H and V_x genes of aPL showed that the "pathogenic" aPL, which induced thrombosis when injected into mice, had V_H J558 and V_x 21 or V_x 23 genes, whereas the other "non-pathogenic" antibodies used mainly the 7183 V_H family and the random V_x gene group (Kita et al., 1994).

However, the role of gene and family preference in mouse anti-dsDNA and aPL may not be applicable to human antibodies, because the mouse and human Ig gene repertoires are very different (Goldsby et al., 2000). Mice have much larger numbers of $V_{\rm H}$ and $V_{\rm x}$ genes than humans; whereas there are only about 44 functional human

 V_H genes, there may be up to 1000 in the mouse. Mice very rarely rearrange V_{λ} genes; approximately 40% of human antibodies but only 5% of murine antibodies carry λ chains (Goldsby et al., 2000). It is therefore important to study human monoclonal anti-DNA and aPL since murine antibodies are generated from mice that have a disease that is only similar but not identical to human disease.

1.5.3 Sequence analysis of human anti-DNA antibodies

Far fewer human than mouse mAbs have been produced. Whereas laboratory mice can be produced in large numbers to obtain splenocytes for use in the production of mAbs, large numbers of human splenocytes are rarely available. The sequences of 66 human antibodies have been published [reviewed by (Rahman et al., 2002a)]. However, most of these are polyreactive IgM antibodies that bind DNA with low affinity and relatively few human IgG anti-DNA antibodies have been sequenced. Most human IgG anti-DNA antibodies use genes of the V_H3 or V_H4 families and the most commonly utilized gene is V3-23, which is known to be the most commonly rearranged gene in the V_H repertoire (Rahman et al., 2002a).

Amongst the 66 antibodies human anti-DNA antibodies reviewed by Rahman et al., (2002), 52 have known L chain sequences (34 have κ chains and 18 have lambda chains). Certain κ genes (including A27, O2/O12, L2, L12, L6, B3, O8/O18 and A30) and λ genes (such as 2a2, 2b2, 2c, 1b, 1e, 1c and 3h) are used more frequently than other L chain genes. A27 is the most commonly rearranged gene in the V_k repertoire according to the results of Cox and colleagues (Cox et al., 1994). A single V_{λ} gene, 2a2, encodes five λ chains shown to occur in IgG anti-DNA antibodies (Rahman et al., 2002). 2a2 is the most commonly used gene in productive λ rearrangements in normal adults (Ignatovich et al., 1997). One of the IgG mAbs studied in this thesis, B3, was derived from an SLE patient and is encoded by the most commonly rearranged human V_H and V_{λ} genes, V3-23 and 2a2 respectively (Rahman et al., 2001).

1.5.4 Sequence analysis of human aPL

Fifty-one human monoclonal aPL were reviewed by Giles et al., (2006). Twenty-eight IgG aPL were identified. Eleven were derived from patients with SLE (four of whom had APS) and 12 were produced from patients with PAPS. Most of the monoclonal

IgG aPL showed specificity for PL or β_2 GPI. The functional activities of 13 IgG monoclonal aPL have been examined in various biological assays and eight were shown to be pathogenic compared to control mAb. When the monoclonal aPL 516 was injected into mice, the mice displayed a significantly higher rate of fetal resorption and a significant reduction in fetal and placental weight (Ikematsu et al., 1998). Similarly, another group has shown that CIC15, an aPL derived a patient with PAPS, induced a significantly higher rate of fetal losses following intravenous injection into pregnant BALB/c mice (Lieby et al., 2004). In addition, five aPL derived from patients with PAPS (IS2, IS3 and IS4) and SLE/APS (CL15 and CL24) were found to be thrombogenic in an *in vivo* model of thrombosis (Pierangeli et al., 2000).

The commonest V_H genes were found to be V3-23, V3-30, V3-07, V4-34, V4-39, V4-59, V1-18, V1-69 and V5-51 encoding 15 of the published IgG aPL. The most commonly used gene amongst IgG aPL is V3-23. All IgG aPL used V_L genes which are members of the three largest and most commonly expressed V_{κ} (I-III) or V_{λ} (1-3) families. The most commonly rearranged V_{κ} genes include A3, A17, A20, 02/12, L8, L12, L6, A27, L2, and B3 while commonly rearranged V_{λ} genes include 1b, 1c, 1e, 2a2, 2b2, 2c, 3h and 3r.

1.5.5 The importance of somatic hypermutation and charged residues in the CDRs of anti-DNA antibodies and aPL?

Each V region sequence of an antibody can be aligned to the closest germline equivalent in the V-Base directory using DNAplot software. This allows subsequent analysis of nucleotide homology and distribution of somatic mutations. According to the multinomial distribution model for assessment of antigen selection proposed by Lossos et al., (2000), a *P* value of less than 0.05 is evidence for a non-random distribution of mutations. Statistical analysis of IgG anti-DNA antibodies and aPL strongly supports the idea that antigen drive was responsible for the pattern of mutation in the majority of cases (Giles et al., 2006, Rahman et al., 2002a).

The CDRs form most of the contact between antibody and antigen. Comparison of the Ig V region genes expressed in six human hybridomas secreting IgG anti-dsDNA antibodies derived from three SLE patients with known germline genes showed that the V_H and V_L sequences are somatically mutated particularly in the CDRs and the pattern and extent of the observed somatic mutations are suggestive for an antigen-

driven selection (Winkler et al., 1992). MacCallum and colleagues showed that certain residues within CDRs of the H and L chains are more likely than others to contact antigens (MacCallum et al., 1996). Giles et al., (2006) studied the sequences of fifty-one human monoclonal aPL and reported that there is an excess of mutation to arginine, lysine and asparagine in the contact sites of the IgG aPL in comparison to aspartic acid or glutamic acid. IgM aPL also show some evidence of accumulation of arginine, asparagine and lysine at the contact sites. These amino acids are mostly encoded in the germline in IgM and derived from somatic mutation in IgG. Pathogenic aPL have a tendency to bind negatively charged PLs and β_2 GPI, which has a potential epitope rich in negatively charged residues within DI. Therefore the presence of arginine, asparagine, and lysine residues in the contact regions of aPL may increase the affinity of binding via electrostatic interactions and hydrogen bonds with negatively charged epitopes on PLs and DI of β_2 GPI.

This finding also holds true for anti-DNA antibodies. Sequence analysis of murine and human anti-DNA antibodies has shown that somatic mutation leads to an increase of the amino acid residues arginine, asparagine and lysine (discussed in sections 1.5.1 and 1.5.4). Rahman et al., (2002) by systematic analysis of all published sequences of anti-DNA antibodies to date also confirmed a statistically significant accumulation of somatic mutations encoding these amino acids, particularly in the CDR1 and CDR2 areas of the IgG H and κ L chains of human IgG anti-DNA antibodies. It has been postulated that the presence of positively charged residues might enhance binding to DNA, which carries an array of negative charges. Somatic mutations to arginine are a common feature of high-affinity, anti-dsDNA antibodies and have been predicted to be particularly important in the binding to DNA (Radic et al., 1993).

It is important to note that not all antibodies with arginine residues in their CDRs bind dsDNA since it is the actual positions of the arginine residues within the V region of the H and H chains that determine the binding affinity of the antibody. The results obtained by Stevenson et al., (1993) using two antibodies RT-79 and D5 derived from the gene, V_H 4-34, support this argument. The V_H CDR3 sequences for both the antibodies had a predominance of basic amino acids, with RT-79 having five and D-5 two arginine residues respectively. Despite the fact that RT-79 contains five arginine residues in V_H CDR3, it only binds ssDNA. Conversely, D5 contains only two, but binds dsDNA with high affinity (Stevenson et al., 1993). Arginine residues that

have arisen as a result of somatic mutation are present in human IgG anti-DNA antibody, B3 and aPL, IS4 which were studied in this thesis.

1.6 Three-dimensional images of anti-DNA and antiphospholipid antibodies

The importance of individual amino acid residues in determining the binding affinity of an antibody cannot be determined by sequence analysis. For this reason, various groups have produced three-dimensional images of antibodies interacting with their antigen, using X-ray crystallography or computer-generated modelling, to predict the specific amino acid residues in the antigen-binding site of individual antibodies that are most likely to make contact with the antigen. Crystal structures and computer models enable hypotheses to be proposed and it is necessary to test these hypotheses by expressing mutated forms of the Ig cDNA to create slightly altered molecules and examining the effects upon their ability to bind antigen.

1.6.1 X-ray crystallography of anti-DNA antibodies

Few crystal structures of anti-DNA antibodies have been published, because of difficulties in purifying sufficient quantities of a single mAb for X-ray crystallography analysis (Kalsi and Sutton, 1997). Co-crystals show the precise locations at which amino acid residues of the antibody make contacts with the antigen as well as changes in conformation of an antibody on binding to an antigen. The only published co-crystal involving an anti-DNA antibody, has been made by Herron et al., (1991) of an autoantibody BV04-01, with specificity for ssDNA in the presence and absence of a trinucleotide of deoxythymidylic acid, d(pT)3. When complexed with $d(pT)_3$. BV04-01 undergoes conformational changes in order to incorporate the trinucleotide. The co-crystal also showed that the trinucleotide is held in a large irregular groove between the V_{H} and V_{L} regions on the surface of the antibody and that all three CDRs of the H and L chains contribute to this binding site (Herron et al., 1991). An arginine residue, which was present in V_HCDR2 at position 52, was seen to form an electrostatic contact with the phosphodiester backbone of the trinucleotide. Despite the fact that other arginine and lysine residues were present in the binding site, they were unable to directly interact with the antigen due to either participating in ionic bonds in order to stabilise the topography of the antigen binding site or due to not being in the appropriate locations to contact the phosphodiester backbone. This finding highlights the fact that arginines are important but it is their precise position that determines the interaction with the antigen.

1.6.2 Computer-modelling of anti-DNA antibodies and aPL

It is difficult to purify sufficient quantities of a single mAb to make crystals. Therefore to predict the antibody-antigen interaction, sequence data can be employed in computer modelling to produce three-dimensional structures of anti-DNA antibodies and aPL and therefore provide information as to which amino acid groups may enhance or reduce binding to antigen. Computer modelling program create models of the predicted structures of antibody molecules from their V_H and V_L sequences.

This approach has been used to model several human anti-dsDNA mAbs. The computer model of B3 (Kalsi et al., 1996), shown in Figure 1.5, revealed a binding groove along the V_{H} - V_{L} axis, which was flanked by three arginines at positions R27a (V_L CDR1) and R54 (V_L CDR2) of the L chain, and position R53 (V_H CDR2) of the H chain. Two of these arginine residues, $V_L R27a$ and $V_H R53$, were derived by somatic mutation. Interactive docking of the dsDNA helix in the binding groove confirmed that these arginines are present at antibody-antigen contact sites and might stabilise the binding of B3 to dsDNA. Further models have been produced, by replacing $B3V_{L}$ with $33H11V_{L}$ and UK4V_L as shown in Figures 1.6 and 1.7 respectively. According to the computer model shown in Figure 1.6, $B3V_H/33H11V_L$ is likely to bind DNA. The model predicts that this interaction is stabilised by the presence of an arginine residue at position 92 in 33H11V_L. In contrast, the computer model shown in Figure 1.7 predicts that $B3V_H/UK4V_L$ is likely to be a poor binder to DNA. One explanation for this prediction could be that the groove in the $B3V_H/UK4V_L$ model is blocked by various residues from the light chain including a bulky positively charged arginine residue at position 94. In addition, the serine residue at position 29 introduces a possible destabilising electrostatic interaction with the phosphate backbone of DNA.

Barry et al., (1994) modelled six murine anti-DNA mAbs. Three of these antibodies were derived from autoimmune mice, whereas the others were prepared by immunisation of mice with the respective nucleic acid polymer. This procedure allowed the authors to compare autoimmune and induced antibodies on the basis of both sequence and structure to determine whether there were any obvious differences between the antibodies obtained from these two sources. Comparison of three of the models with the respective crystal structures indicated that the differences between the two at the majority of sites were within 0.1nm. In general, ssDNA-specific antibodies have deep clefts where the antigen might bind, whereas dsDNA-specific antibodies present a relatively flat surface. In addition, on the basis of both sequence and structure, there is little to distinguish autoimmune antibodies from those produced by immunisation (Barry et al., 1994).

The computer model of the IgG aPL IS4 shown in Figure 1.8, supports the idea that arginine residues are important at the binding sites of this aPL. IS4 is likely to be representative of pathogenic aPL since it was isolated from a patient with PAPS and was shown to be pathogenic in a murine model. In addition, IS4 shows β_2 GPI dependent binding to CL and contains numerous somatic mutations in an antigen driven pattern. Overall the H chain CDRs of IS4 display an accumulation of predominantly arginine and asparagine residues compared to acidic residues. In particular, IS4V_HCDR3 is 15 amino acids long with a very high content of five arginine residues, four of which are a result of somatic mutation. The model in Figure 1.8 shows these four arginine residues in IS4V_HCDR3 are surface exposed and could therefore be important in contributing to CL-binding specificity. Conversely, IS4V_L shown in Figure 1.8 has no somatic mutations to arginine but contains a germline encoded arginine at position 54.

Computer models such as these have been used to identify particular amino acids that potentially affect the antibody-antigen interaction. These residues need not always be in the binding site itself. Certain hidden residues may control the interaction between different loops of the V region. Alterations in such residues could change the three-dimensional structure of the whole molecule in such a way as to enhance or inhibit its binding ability. Computer models provide a hypothesis and then expression experiments need to be carried out to test the hypothesis and produce variant forms of the antibodies in which these key residues are altered. The effects of wild-type and altered antibodies can be compared upon binding and/or pathogenic properties of the antibody. A number of different systems to express antibody sequences as whole Ig molecules have been developed and are discussed in the next section.

Chapter One



Figure 1.5 Computer generated model of B3V_H/B3V_L with dsDNA

 $B3V_{H}$ is shown in light blue whilst $B3V_{L}$ is shown in dark blue. The double helix of the DNA molecule is shown in the centre of the figure. The three arginine residues at the periphery of the site R27a (V_L CDR1) and R54 (V_L CDR2) of the light chain, and R53 (V_H CDR2) of the heavy chain, predicted by this model to stabilise the interaction with the dsDNA helix, are shown in yellow. R27a and R53 are derived from somatic mutation. Modelled by Dr S. Nagl.



Figure 1.6 Computer generated model of B3VH/33H11VL with dsDNA The computer model predicts that 33H11VL is able to create a DNA binding site in combination with B3VH. B3VH is shown in light blue whilst 33H11VL in dark blue. The VL residues that differ from those found at the same positions in B3VL are shown in red. Unlike B3VL, 33H11VL does not have an arginine residue at 27a in CDR1, it has the germline-derived serine (27a). However, the presence of an arginine residue at position 92 (R92) in 33H11VL CDR3 may compensate for this, since the model predicts that R92 can interact with the backbone of dsDNA. Modelled by Dr S. Nagl.



Figure 1.7 Computer generated model of B3V_H/UK4V_L

 $B3V_H$ is shown in light blue whilst $UK4V_L$ is shown in dark blue. The V_L residues that differ from those found at the same positions in $B3V_L$ are shown in red. No complex with DNA could be modelled. The model predicts that $UK4V_L$ is unable to bind DNA in combination with $B3V_H$ due to steric hindrance resulting from the introduction of an arginine residue at position 94 (R94) and a serine residue at position 29 (S29) in $UK4V_L$ by somatic mutation. Modelled by Dr S. Nagl.



Figure 1.8 Models of IS4V_H and IS4V_L

(A) Spacefill model of the heavy chain of IS4. The four arginines (96, R97, R100 and R100g) in the large CDR3 loop region of IS4VH are predicted to importantly contribute to cardiolipin-binding specificity. (B) Secondary structure model of the heavy chain of IS4. (C) Secondary structure model of the light chain of IS4. Modelled by Dr S. Nagl.

1.7 Expression systems for antibodies

Further investigation of the structure/function relationship of antibodies can be achieved by *in vitro* expression of the antibodies from cloned DNA. The total yield of Ig from *in vitro* expression of cloned DNA is often poor in comparison to that produced by hybridoma cell lines. However, human hybridomas are often unstable and may lose the ability to secrete antibody (Barnes et al., 2003). Therefore, it is necessary to develop recombinant monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies using such expression systems to test hypotheses regarding the effects of sequence changes on their binding and functional properties. The great advantage of *in vitro* expression systems is that the sequence of the DNA being expressed can be controlled whereas the sequence of an antibody from a hybridoma cannot be changed. It is therefore possible to use site-directed mutagenesis to produce an antibody with a precise amino acid sequence. Monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies from patients with SLE and APS as well as murine models with the disease have been expressed in such systems to test various hypotheses ranging from the effects of single point mutations to the effects of exchanging entire H or L chains.

In vitro expression from cloned DNA involves cloning V_H and/or V_L sequences of a selected antibody into an expression vector containing the appropriate C_H and/or C_L as well as the components required to enable the plasmid vector to express Ig once transfected into either a bacterial or eukaryotic cell. Whole Ig molecules have been produced using expression systems.

1.7.1 Bacterial expression systems

The disadvantage of bacterial expression of eukaryotic proteins is bacteria do not possess all the enzymes necessary for post-translational modifications such as glycosylation and the molecules may not be folded properly. This misfolding applies particularly to IgG molecules as it has not been possible to express a stable, functional whole antibody molecule in bacteria (Persic et al., 1997). However, since the antigen-binding site of an antibody is encoded by only the V region, smaller fragments of antibodies, such as single chain Fv molecules (scFv) or Fab molecules [which contain the whole L chain (V_L and C_L) covalently bound to half of the H chain (V_H and C_H1)], have been expressed that still bind to antigen.

scFv are the simplest of the expression products (Figure 1.9). They are composed of two domains, an antibody V_L amino acid sequence tethered to a V_H sequence by a designed peptide that links the carboxyl terminus of the V_L sequence to the amino terminus of the V_H sequence (Bird et al., 1988). The flexibility of the polypeptide linker, which is usually rich in glycine and serine, enables the V_H and V_L domains to adopt various conformations to produce an antigen-binding site. One disadvantage is that because scFV molecules have no C region cDNA and consist of only V regions, the structure of scFvs does not resemble any molecule occurring in nature.

In order to study the contribution of the H or L chain of the Ig molecules to the binding and pathogenic properties of anti- β_2 GPI, Blank and colleagues converted the anti- β_2 GPI mAbs into scFV, replaced H and L chains between the pathogenic and non-pathogenic anti-B2GPI scFV, and studied their contribution in vitro and in vivo (Blank et al., 1999). The authors showed that in most cases replacement of the pathogenic V_H domain with the non-pathogenic V_H decreased the binding affinity of the scFv to β_2 GPI and completely abrogated the anticoagulant activity. BALB/c mice were immunised with the anti- β_2 GPI scFv and developed clinical manifestations of APS such as thrombocytopenia, prolonged activated partial thromboplastin time, and increased fetal resorptions (Blank et al., 1999). Their results showed that scFv of pathogenic antibodies are capable of inducing the same clinical manifestations as the whole antibody molecule upon active immunisation. Brigido and collegues carried out a similar study where they used a plasmid scFv expression vector to express V_H and V_{L} from the murine monoclonal anti-Z-DNA antibody Z22 (Brigido et al., 1993). Z-DNA is a form of DNA in which the double helix winds to the left in a zig-zag pattern (instead of to the right, like the more common B-DNA form). scFV containing both V_{H} and V_L of Z22 bound Z-DNA but not B-DNA or ssDNA which were the same binding properties shown by whole Z22 molecules. Replacement of either V_H or V_L by other mouse V_H or V_L genes prevented binding to Z-DNA in most cases (Brigido et al., 1993). These experiments suggested that both V_H and V_L were important in this antibody.

In some scFv expression systems the V_H and V_L DNA are ligated into phagemids rather than plasmid vectors (Rahman et al., 1998a). These vectors are modified bacteriophages (viruses which infect bacteria). The scFvs are expressed linked to a surface protein on a phage particle, which is produced by the transfected bacteria. This technique is known as phage display. If a library of V_H and V_L sequences is cloned into a phagemid, a library of different phage particles that display a repertoire of different V_H/V_L combinations is produced. This process is called repertoire cloning. An alternative to scFvs is to express Fab fragments (Figure 1.10). The Fab can be free in solution or displayed on the surface of a phage, allowing repertoire cloning (McCafferty et al., 1990). Bacterial expression of Fab fragments gives lower yields than svFv. However, Fab maintain the structure of an antibody binding site, and therefore are the most appropriate fragments to be used in crystallisation studies, particularly if they can be produced and purified from large scale bacterial cultures. Kumar et al., (2004) investigated the binding characteristics of human autoantibodies B3 and UK4 in their IgG and cloned Fab formats. Although B3 did not show convincing binding to Sm, it exhibited moderate binding to La or Ro and high binding to RNP. UK4 bound little to Ro and weakly to Sm, La and RNP. The results obtained show that the relative binding pattern against nuclear antigens exhibited by the cloned Fab fragments of B3 and UK4 was in general comparable to that observed for these molecules in their IgG format (Kumar et al., 2004).

Studies using bacterial expression systems also illustrate the importance of not just the presence but the precise position of residues such as arginine, lysine and asparagine on DNA-binding. Mockridge et al., (1996) showed that human mAb D5 V_H and V_L could be expressed as phage bound Fab, which bound both ssDNA and dsDNA. When the D5 H chain was replaced with one with no mutations and no basic residues in CDR3, DNA binding activity was lost completely (Mockridge et al., 1996). This study showed that somatic mutations in the FRs, CDR1 and CDR2 of D5 VH were not as essential in binding to DNA whereas the basic residues in V_H CDR3 were more crucial.

The advantage of bacterial expression systems is that bacteria are very easy to culture and relatively inexpensive. Therefore, it is possible to produce large amounts of antibody fragments (Verma et al., 1998). In addition, by using libraries of expression vectors, large numbers of combinations of V_H and V_L sequences can be rapidly screened for the ability to bind a particular antigen. However, because Fab and scFv molecules lack C region domains, they are both unsuitable for use in the investigation of the binding properties affecting the pathogenicity of these antibodies *in vivo*. Whole IgG molecules are required and can be produced by transfecting cultured eukaryotic cells.





Figure 1.10 Production of Fab antibody fragments in bacterial expression system

1.7.2 Eukaryotic expression systems

Expression of whole, fully glycosylated antibodies in mammalian cells is the ideal expression system. The overall yield of antibody however is lower than in bacteria because it is difficult to grow mammalian cells in such large quantities. Although Ig molecules can be expressed by yeast and insect cells, these methods have not been used to produce anti-DNA antibodies or aPL (Hasemann and Capra, 1990, Horwitz et al., 1988). Lieby et al., (2004) expressed human monoclonal aPL in insect cells by a baculovirus expression system. Among 5 monoclonal aPL, all originating from a single patient with APS, only 1 (CIC15) induced fetal losses when passively injected into pregnant mice. Its antiphospholipid activity was dependent on annexin A5, and its V regions contained 3 replacement mutations. To elucidate the role of these mutations in the pathogenicity of the antibody, they were reverted to the germline configuration (replacing 3 asparagine residues by serine in CDR1 of V_x). The resulting "germline" antibody reacted with multiple self-antigens (human thyroglobulin, human myoglobin, ssDNA) and only partially lost its reactivity against CL, but it was no more dependent on annexin A5 and, more importantly, was no more pathogenic (Lieby et al., 2004). This study illustrates that the *in vivo* antigen-driven maturation process of natural autoreactive B cells can be responsible for pathogenicity.

There are two types of expression of antibodies in mammalian cells [reviewed in (Rahman et al., 2002b)]. In transient expression, the foreign genes inserted on the plasmid vector are not integrated into the genome of the cell. Therefore, they are active for a short period, 3 to 6 days, after which no more antibody is produced. Only small amounts of Ig are produced in this way, but selection of cells for drug resistance markers and long-term maintenance of cell lines are not required, allowing rapid screening of large combinations of different antibodies. In stable expression, a small minority of cells will retain the transfected foreign genetic information for many generations since it has been integrated into the genome of the host cell. It is essential however to select those cells that have successfully integrated the DNA and that are expressing the highest amount of antibody. By incorporating genes conferring drug resistance into the expression plasmid, this minority of high producing cells can be isolated since only those that have taken up the plasmid will survive in the selective media used (Fann et al., 2000).

The H chain expression vectors used in both transient and stable eukaryotic expression systems, contain the V_H DNA sequence 5' to the appropriate C_H DNA

sequence (i.e. encoding the entire H chain C region and the hinge region). The L chain expression vectors contain the V_L DNA sequence 5' to the appropriate κ or λ C_L DNA sequence. A number of techniques have been described for the transient and stable expression of antibodies in mammalian cells and these fall into three groups: the simultaneous transfection of separate H and L chain expression vectors into eukaryotic cells to express whole fully glycosylated Ig molecules (Figure 1.11A); the transfection of a single expression vector (supervector) containing both H and L chain sequences (V_H, C_H, V_L and C_L DNA sequences) (Figure 1.11B); and the transfection of H chain vector into hybridoma cells which only secrete L chains (a H chain loss variant) [reviewed in (Rahman et al., 2002b)]. The advantage of transfection using a supervector is that more cells may acquire the DNA required to make both chains therefore increasing the yield of Ig produced. However, the simultaneous transfection of separate H and L chain expression vectors does make it easier to produce a wide range of Igs with different H/L chain combinations.




A) Transfection of separate heavy and light chain expression vectors into eukaryotic cells (B) Transfection of single expression vectors containing both heavy and light chain cDNA into eukaryotic cells

1.7.2.1 Transient expression of whole IgG molecules in eukaryotic cells

Various groups have demonstrated transient expression of human and murine antibodies by transfecting both the H and L chain expression vectors into a cell type, which secrete no endogenous Ig. COS-7 cells, an immortal African green monkey kidney cell line, have been used for transient expression of anti-DNA antibodies and aPL. They are permissive for the replication of many plasmids that contain a short sequence (340 bp) including the replication origin of the monkey papova virus, SV40 (Simian Virus 40) (Gluzman, 1981). The SV40 origin is not found in these COS-7 cells but any plasmid vector containing it will be actively replicated in COS-7 cells. Once the COS-7 cells are transfected, foreign DNA cloned into these plasmids is expressed. Transient expression in COS-7 cells is the most widely used of all eukaryotic expression systems.

Zack et al., (1995) achieved transient expression of whole murine IgG anti-DNA antibody, 3E10 in COS-7 cells and examined in detail the binding to DNA. The IgG produced bound ssDNA and dsDNA. There is only one arginine present in the CDRs of the mAb 3E10 H chain and mutagenesis studies presented by the authors showed that a change in the arginine at position 95 removed DNA reactivity. On the other hand, gain of an asparagine in CDR1 at residue 31 increased binding to both ssDNA and dsDNA (Zack et al., 1995). However, the authors also showed that several other residues, especially serine and tyrosine, are of equal importance in the DNA binding of this molecule and the L chain as well as the H chain was found to be critical for binding DNA.

Members of our group have previously used a similar system in which V_H and V_L cDNA from human anti-DNA antibodies (B3 and WRI176) and aPL (IS4 and CL24) were cloned into separate vectors which allowed their expression as whole H and L chains respectively (Rahman et al., 1998b, Giles et al., 2003). By cotransfecting COS-7 cells with pairs of H and L chain vectors it was possible to produce whole IgG molecules from different V_H/V_L combinations. The yield of IgG produced by *in vitro* expression was low but it was possible to show binding to DNA and CL. Arginine residues play important roles in binding to dsDNA and CL however different patterns of mutation to arginine are associated with binding to each of these antigens.

1.7.2.2 Stable expression of whole IgG molecules in eukaryotic cells

Establishing a stable expression system can be difficult and time-consuming however, it has the advantage of producing higher quantities of antibodies. The yields obtained enable researchers to purify the expressed antibodies. Moreover, fuctional studies in mice or certain affinity assays such as BIAcore (surface plasmon resonance), which require the use of purified antibody can be performed, to determine the pathogenic properties of sequence alterations in antibodies.

Experiments using H chain loss variants (HCLVs) have been carried out to study the importance of sequence changes particularly arginine and other basic residues in V_{H} CDR3. Radic et al., (1993) studied the H chain of a murine IgG anti-dsDNA mAb, 3H9 that contains three somatic mutations in CDR2, one of which creates an arginine residue and there is a single arginine in CDR3. Initially they transfected 3H9 V_{H} into a number of different HCLVs and showed that it could produce anti-DNA antibodies in combination with several different V_L sequences. Mutagenesis of the 3H9 V_H sequence to revert the arginine at position 53 in CDR2 to serine has led to a dramatic reduction of affinity for dsDNA. Similarly, when the arginine in CDR3 was changed to glycine, the ability to bind DNA was abolished. However, reversion of the other somatic mutations in CDR2 that did not involve basic residues had little or no effect. Furthermore, introduction of an extra arginine in 3H9 V_{H} at sites where they were known to occur in other murine anti-DNA mAb CDRs, led to an increase in affinity for both ssDNA and dsDNA by between 5 and 10-fold. If two or more arginines were added to the same chain then binding was increased by up to 70-fold showing the effects of the mutations can be additive. These data however, do not imply that every arginine will always react with DNA. A case in point is arginine at position 64, which did not bind detectably to DNA. The authors proposed that a neighbouring aspartic acid at position 65, the product of a somatic mutation in 3H9 V_{H} , reacts with R64 by formation of a salt bridge, in a way that precludes DNA binding. Therefore the nature of amino acid residues as well as the precise position is important in affecting binding affinity. Furthermore, Guth and colleagues found that purified 3H9 binds chromatin and specifically a complex of H2A/H2B/dsDNA, but not dsDNA in solid phase or in solution (Guth et al., 2003). When used in the form of culture supernatant or as a standard protein G preparation, 3H9 binds dsDNA. apparently due to nuclear proteins in the preparation that assemble on target DNA.

The H chains of the murine anti-DNA antibody D42 and the anti-phosphorylcholine antibody 6G6 are both encoded by the same V_H11 germ-line gene (Pewzner-Jung et al., 1996). The two antibodies differ at two sites in V_{H} CDRs 1 and 2 due to replacement mutations in D42. There are three arginines in CDR3 of D42 V_{H} whereas $6G6 V_{H}$ does not have any arginines. Pewzner-Jung et al., (1996) transfected D42 V_{H} and 6G6 V_{H} into HCLVs. Their results indicated that the major contribution to DNA binding affinity is provided by the particular H/L chain pairing and the structure of the V_{H} CDR3 gene segment. They found that only transfection into loss variants secreting the D42 L chain produced anti-DNA binding, which was only possible if the transfected DNA contained D42 V_H CDR3. The presence of the two replacement mutations increased the DNA binding affinity of D42 and one of these mutations abolished phosphorylcholine binding of 6G6, but did not convert it to an anti-DNA antibody. HCLVs are not well suited to studying the effects of changes in the L chain. Some information can be deduced by transfecting the same H chain into variants secreting different L chains but this does not allow for the design of point mutations in the L chain itself.

To evaluate the role of somatic mutations in DNA binding, Wellmann and colleagues subjected human IgG anti-dsDNA antibody 33.C9 and 33.F12 to side-directed mutagenesis, reverting amino acid substitutions to the germline sequence. The Ig V gene segments from genomic DNA from 33.C9 and 33.F12 hybridomas were cloned into expression vectors and the resulting plasmids were used as a template for the site-directed mutagenesis. The variants produced were expressed in myeloma cells. Geneticin and puromycin were used for neomycin selection and double-resistant clones were screened for IgG production in ELISA. The germline revertants of the V regions of 33.C9 and 33.F12 exhibited no detectable ssDNA or dsDNA binding. The authors showed that arginines enhance antibody affinity for DNA in the case for the human antibody 33.F12. For the antibody 33.C9, however, none of the three amino acid exchanges that are essential and sufficient to create a high-affinity-dsDNA antibody are arginines. In addition, 33.C9 with germline-reverted V genes showed strong to CL, creating an antibody with specificity to PLs (Wellmann et al., 2005).

In another similar study, Katz et al., (1994) used site-directed mutagenesis to produce a range of antibody variants of the V_H sequence of the murine anti-DNA antibody R4A. Mutants were generated with amino acid substitutions in CDR2, CDR3 and FR3 that alter the charge of the V region and tested for binding to DNA and

112

deposition in the kidneys of SCID mice. Although mutation of an arginine in CDR3 was found to reduce binding, a single amino acid substitution (arginine to serine) in CDR2 resulted in higher binding than R4A to dsDNA, showing that an arginine may be lost within a CDR without a resulting decrease in dsDNA binding. In addition, the glutamic acid to glutamine replacement in FR3 showed a modest increase in dsDNA binding, demonstrating that FR substitutions can also alter DNA binding. The most dramatic finding of this study is that a very few amino acid substitutions can completely abrogate pathogenicity or alter the in vivo target of a pathogenic autoantibody. They injected young SCID mice intraperitoneally with either R4A hybridoma cells or one of the HCLVs expressing whole IqG with the altered $R4AV_{H}$ (Katz et al., 1994). All mice carrying the R4A hybridoma developed proteinuria with glomerular deposition of the antibody in the kidneys. The mutant cell line producing antibody that gave the highest dsDNA binding, described above, showed some glomerular deposition but deposited to a greater extent in the tubules. However, the change in affinity for dsDNA may also be associated with the acquisition of a novel antigenic cross-reactivity. The localisation of renal deposition raises the question of whether DNA binding is central or ancillary to the pathogenicity of these antibodies. In conclusion, these results indicate that changes in the ability to bind dsDNA do not necessarily predict changes in the pathogenic properties of an antibody.

HCLVs have not been used to express whole human anti-DNA antibodies. Human monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies have only previously been stably expressed in eukaryotic cells by one group (Li et al., 2000). In this system F3B6 human/mouse heteromyeloma cells were transfected simultaneously with expression vectors containing H or L chain DNA of the human IgA monoclonal anti-DNA antibody 412.67. The antibody was expressed as IgG rather than IgA, because the expression vector contained a cloned C, sequence (not C_{α}). Neomycin was used as a selecting agent as the L chain vector carried a neomycin resistance gene neo. Therefore only those cells successfully transfected with the L chain expression vector survived the neomycin treatment. Those cells expressing both H and L chain whole IgG were detected by ELISA and the IgG purified by ammonium sulphate precipitation and then on a column. The quantities of whole Ig produced were far greater than those produced by transient expression systems thus enabling further binding assays to be carried out, such as inhibition assays (ssDNA inhibited antibody binding to solidphase DNA) which require a greater yield of Ig than that produced by transient expression. Li et al., (2000) used this stable expression system to show that for

113

412.67 to bind dsDNA the presence of two V_H CDR3 arginine residues was essential although the presence of either arginine singly was sufficient for ssDNA binding.

1.8 Conclusion:

In conclusion it appears that high affinity anti-dsDNA and aPL IgG are particularly important in patients with SLE and APS respectively. Sequence analysis has shown antigen-driven accumulation of multiple somatic mutations in the V_H and V_L CDRs of these antibodies. Overall the findings from various experiments, using different expression systems support the importance of basic amino acids, particularly arginine residues in V_H CDR3 at the antigen binding site. The importance of these residues has been highlighted using site-directed mutagenesis and tested for binding affinity.

Human monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies and aPL may well be representative of those antibodies most closely related to disease pathogenesis in patients with SLE and APS especially if they are of the IgG isotype. As the pattern of V_H/V_L gene usage is not significantly different in patients with SLE and APS in comparison to that seen in healthy individuals, it is likely that representative anti-DNA antibodies and aPL for all SLE and APS patients are those in which both the V_H and V_L sequences are encoded by the most commonly rearranged genes.

The human monoclonal anti-DNA antibody B3, which I studied in this thesis was derived by members of our group from a patient with active SLE (Ehrenstein et al., 1993a). B3 is relevant to studying SLE for a number of reasons. It has an IgG isotype and a high affinity for dsDNA. The V_H and V_L of B3 are encoded by the two most commonly rearranged human V_H and V_L of B3 are encoded by the two most commonly rearranged human V_H and V_L genes, V3-23 and 2a2 respectively. Furthermore, when injected into SCID mice, B3 deposited in the kidneys and the mice developed proteinuria (Ehrenstein et al., 1995, Mason et al., 2005). The other mAb that I studied is an aPL IS4, derived from a patient with PAPS (Zhu et al., 1999). IS4 possesses multiple features likely to make this antibody relevant to the pathogenesis of APS and representative of pathogenic aPL found in many APS patients. It is of IgG isotype, binds with high affinity to anionic PL only in the presence of β_2 GPI and can bind to β_2 GPI alone. Moreover, it has been shown to be thrombogenic in a murine *in vivo* pinch-induced thrombosis model and to cause *in vitro* and *in vivo* EC activation (Pierangeli et al., 2000). There have been few studies of the relative importance of H and L chain sequence changes in the binding of aPL

to PL- β_2 GPI. Several groups have studied murine aPL however human aPL are more likely to demonstrate the direct relevance to APS in humans.

The computer-generated model of the B3/dsDNA complex (Kalsi et al., 1996) suggests that binding is stabilised by the interaction of dsDNA with three arginine residues on the periphery of the binding site (R27a [V_L CDR1] and R54 [V_L CDR2] of the L chain, and R53 [V_H CDR2] of the H chain). One of the arginine residues (R27a in V_L CDR1) is the product of a somatic mutation of the germline gene, 2a2 and has been previously studied by our group (Rahman et al., 2001). The arginine residue in V_H CDR2 (R53) is the product of a somatic mutation of the germline gene, V3-23. The computer model of IS4 V_H predicts that four arginine residues are surface-exposed, and therefore potentially important in binding to PL. These are in CDR3 at positions 96, 97, 100 and 100g.

1.9 Aims of this thesis

The general aims of my thesis were to examine which sequence features in B3 and IS4 H chains are important in determining their ability to bind antigen by expressing whole antibodies using a transient and stable expression system. Experiments to produce variant forms of antibodies using site directed mutagenesis were also carried out and their effects upon antibody binding to different antigens examined. In more detail I aimed to:

- 1. produce variant forms of the V_H chain region of B3 and IS4 by replacing the arginine residues in B3V_H CDR2 and IS4V_H CDR3 using site-directed mutagenesis.
- 2. develop a COS-7 transient expression system to express different H/L chain combinations as whole IgG molecules and determine their ability to bind dsDNA, nucleosomes, α -actinin, CL, β_2 GPI, DI of β_2 GPI and PS.
- 3. develop a system for the stable expression of cloned antibody DNA sequences, derived from human monoclonal aPL and anti-dsDNA antibodies, as whole IgG molecules in Chinese hamster ovary cells (CHO) which lack the dihydrofolate reductase (*dhfr*) gene.
- 4. purify the expressed antibodies produced from the CHO stable expression system and test their binding affinities to dsDNA, nucleosomes, α -actinin, CL, β_2 GPI, DI of β_2 GPI and PS.

CHAPTER TWO

Materials and Methods

CHAPTER TWO.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Chemicals and reagents

All chemicals used in this project were supplied by BDH, Lutterworth, Leicestershire, UK with the following exceptions:

Absolute Alcohol & Propan-2-ol

Dimethyl Sulfoxide (DMSO)

Trypan Blue solution (0.4%)

(Hayman Ltd, Witham, Essex, UK)

Methotrexate (MTX) / Amethopterin (A6770, Sigma, Poole, UK)

(D-5879, Sigma, Poole, UK)

(T8154, Sigma, Poole, UK)

5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-galactopyranoside in dimethylformamide (Xgal), Isopropyl–β–thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) (Insight Biotechnology, Wembley, U.K) All solid chemicals were dissolved in ddH₂O, adjusted to the correct pH with 0.1M HCL, glacial acetic acid or 0.1M NaOH and autoclaved or filter sterilised with 0.22µm syringe driven filter units (Millipore, Bedford, MA, USA) unless otherwise stated. Deoxynucleotide Triphosphates (dNTPs)- 100mM (pH 7.5) set of dATP, dCTP, dGTP, dTTP (Promega, Southampton, UK) were stored at -20°C.

2.1.2 General materials and equipment

15ml and 50ml sterile tubes	(#91015T, Helena Biosciences, Sunderland, U.K)
Bijou tubes	(#39740, Bibby Sterilin Ltd, Staffordshire, U.K)
Sterilin tubes	(#30593, Bibby Sterilin Ltd, Staffordshire, U.K)
1.5ml and 0.5ml microfuge tubes	(Anachem, Luton, Bedfordshire, U.K)
1.5ml thin-walled microfuge tubes	(Eppendorf AC, Hamburg, Germany)
Centrifuges:	(Kendro Laboratory Products Ltd, Herts, U.K)
Sorvall Biofuge Pico (and refrigerate	ed version <i>Fresco</i>),
Sorvall RT-7 Plus and	
RC26 Plus	
PCR Cycler Machine	(Eppendorf Mastercycler, Hamburg, Germany)
Gene Pulser II Electroporator	(Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd, Herts, U.K)

Gene Pulser II Cuvettes 0.4cm(#165-2088, Bio-Rad Laboratories Ltd)Centricon-YM30 centrifugal concentrators(Amicon Bioseparations, Millipore, UK)Spectrophotometer(BioRad laboratories, CA, USA)

2.1.3 Enzymes

Xho I	(#R6161, Promega, Southampton, UK)
Hind III	(#R6045, Promega, Southampton, UK)
Age I	(#R7251, Promega, Southampton, UK)
Sal I	(#R6051, Promega, Southampton, UK)
BamH I	(New England Biolabs(NEB), Hertfordshire, UK)
EcoRI	(#R6017, Promega, Southampton, UK)
RNase-free, Dnase I	(776 785, Roche, Lewes, East Sussex, UK)
Taq DNA Polymerase	(#M1665, Promega, Southampton, UK)
PfuTurbo® DNA Polymerase	(Quikchange [™] Site-directed mutagenesis kit
	Stratagene, California, USA)
T4 DNA Ligase	(# M1801, Promega, Southampton, UK)
All enzymes were stored at -20°C.	

2.1.4 Reaction buffers

a) 10x PfuTurbo DNA polymerase reaction buffer in Quikchange™ Site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene, California, USA) - 100mM KCl - 100mM (NH₄)₂SO₄ - 200mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.8) - 20mM MgSO4 - 1% Triton[®] X-100 - 1mg/ml nuclease-free bovine serum albumin (BSA) b) DNA ligase buffer (Promega, Southampton, UK) - 300mM Tris-HCl - 100mM MgCl₂ - 100mM dithiothreitol (DTT) - 10mM adenosine triphosphate (ATP) c) Buffer D- for restriction enzymes *Xho I* and *Sal I* (Promega, Southampton, UK) - 60mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.9) - 1.5M NaCl

- 60mM MgCl₂ - 10mM DTT d) Buffer E- for restriction enzymes Hind III and BamH I (Promega, Southampton, UK) - 60mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.5) - 1M NaCl - 60mM MgCl₂ - 10mM DTT e) Buffer H- for restriction enzyme EcoR I (Promega, Southampton, UK) - 900mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.5) - 500mM NaCl - 100mM MgCl₂ (Promega, Southampton, UK) f) Buffer K- for restriction enzyme Age I - 100mM Tris-HCI (pH 7.4) - 1.5M KCl - 100mM MaCl₂ g) Thermophilic DNA Polymerase 10x Buffer B supplied with separate MgCl₂ (Promega, Southampton, UK) - 20mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.0 at 25°C) - 100mM KCl - 0.1mM EDTA - 1mM DTT - 50% glycerol - 0.5% Tween 20 - 0.5% Nonidet®-P40. All reaction buffers were stored at -20°C. 2.1.5 Agarose gel electrophoresis materials and buffers Agarose and low melting point agarose were supplied by Gibco BRL, Life Technologies, Paisley, Scotland, UK. Molecular weight markers: - 1Kb DNA MW marker (Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

Lambda/HindIII DNA MW marker (Promega, Southampton, UK)
100bp DNA MW marker (Promega, Southampton, UK)
Loading Buffer:

The following components were added to 8.45ml autoclaved distilled water:

- 25mg xylene cyanole

- 1.5g Ficoll 400

(Pharmacia, Biotech, Uppsala, Sweden)

2.1.6 General buffers and solutions

a) Tris Acetate EDTA (TAE buffer)

A stock solution of 50 times working strength TAE buffer was made by dissolving the following components in 1L of distilled water:

- 242g/L Tris base
- 57.1ml glacial acetic acid
- 100ml 0.5M EDTA (pH 8.0)

Dilution to a working strength gave a final concentration of 40mM Tris acetate and 1mM EDTA.

- b) Tris-EDTA (TE buffer) (pH 7.5)
- 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5)
- 1mM EDTA
- c) Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (pH 7.4)

One PBS tablet (Gibco, Paisley, UK) was added per 500ml distilled water.

To make PBS/0.1% Tween, 1ml "Tween 20" detergent was added to 1L PBS.

2.1.7 Specific buffers and solutions

a) Plasmid DNA purification from bacterial cultures

The following buffers were supplied with Qiagen (Crawley, West Sussex, UK) plasmid purification kits:

- Buffer P1 (Resuspension Buffer)	50mM Tris-Cl (pH 8.0)
	10mM EDTA
	100µg/ml RNase A
- Buffer P2 (Lysis Buffer)	200mM NaOH
	1% SDS
- Buffer P3 (Neutralisation Buffer)	3.0mM potassium acetate (pH 5.5)
- Buffer QBT (Equilibriation Buffer)	750mM NaCl
	50mm MOPS (pH 7.0)
	15% isopropanol
	0.15% Triton [®] X-100
- Buffer QC (Wash Buffer)	1.0M NaCl

	50mm MOPS (pH 7.0)
	15% isopropanol
- Buffer QF (Elution Buffer for maxiprep kit)	1.25M NaCl
	50mm MOPS (pH 7.0)
	15% isopropanol
- Buffer N3 (Neutralisation Buffer)	3.0mM potassium acetate (pH 5.5)
- Buffer EB (Elution buffer for miniprep kit)	10mM Tris-HCI (pH 8.5)

b) Buffers for production of "super" competent DH5a E.coli cells:

Transformation buffer 1:	10mM MES (pH 5.8)
	100mM RbCl₂
	10mM CaCl₂
	50mM MnCl₂
Transformation buffer 2:	10mM PIPES (pH 6.5)
	75mM CaCl₂
	10mM RbCl ₂
	15% v/v glycerol

c) Western Blot reagents

Perfect Protein[™] Western Markers (Novagen, Nottingham, UK) Anti-human IgG (γ-chain specific) Peroxidase Conjugate (A8419, Sigma, Poole, UK) Anti-Domain I Monoclonal Antibody (kind gift from Dr M. Iverson and Dr M. Linnik, La Jolla Pharmaceuticals (LJP), San Diego, USA) Peroxidase-Conjugated Goat Anti-Mouse Immunoglobulins (P0447, Dako, Glostrup, Denmark)

d) Nucleosome preparation buffers

Dounce buffer:

- 10mM HEPES-NaOH (pH 7.9)
- 1.5mM MgCl2
- 10mM KCl
- 0.5mM Phenylmethylsulphonylfluoride (PMSF)
- 1:100 protease inhibitor cocktail

All reagents made up in ddH_2O except PMSF, which is dissolved in isopropanol and mixed at 55°C until the crystals dissolved. Aliquots of 1ml were frozen and stored at - 20°C.

Digestion buffer: 10mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.4) 1mM CaCl₂ 1mM Phenylmethylsulphonylfluoride (PMSF)

2.1.8 ELISA Reagents and buffers

Bovine serum albumin (BSA)		(#A7030, Sigma, Poole, UK)
Goat anti-human IgG (Fc fragm	nent specific)	(#I8885, Sigma, Poole, UK)
Cardiolipin		(#C1649, Sigma, Poole, UK)
β2-Glycoprotein I	(#B2G1-0001, Haemat	ologic Technologies Inc, U.S.A)
Purified human IgG_{λ}		(#I5029, Sigma, Poole, UK)
α -actinin from chicken gizzard		(#A9776, Sigma, Poole, UK)
Goat anti-human λ alkaline pho	osphatase conjugate	(#A2094, Sigma, Poole, UK)
Goat anti-human IgGy alkaline	phosphatase conjugate	(#A3150, Sigma, Poole, UK)
p-nitrophenyl phosphate tablet	S	(#104-105, Sigma, Poole, UK)
Sample, enzyme and conjugate	e dilution buffer (SEC)	
- 100mM Tris-HCI (pH 7)		

- 100mM Sodium chloride
- 0.02% Tween 20
- 0.2% BSA
- Bicarbonate buffer (BIC) (pH 9.6)
- 0.5M Sodium bicarbonate
- 0.05M Sodium dihydrogencarbonate

2.1.9 Bacterial Strains

- *E. coli* of strain DH5 α were supplied by Gibco, Paisley, U.K.
- E. coli XL1-Blue Supercompetent cells were supplied with Quikchange™ Site-

directed mutagenesis kit by Stratagene, California, USA.

2.1.10 Bacterial growth media

Media were made in ddH₂0 and sterilised by autoclaving.

Luria-Bertani (LB) medium:

- 1% (w/v) Bacto-tryptone

- 0.5% (w/v) Bacto-yeast extract

(Duchefa, Haarlem, The Netherlands)

(Duchefa, Haarlem, The Netherlands)

- 1% (w/v) Sodium chloride

The pH was adjusted to pH 7.0 using NaOH.

For LB agar plates 1.5% (w/v) agar (Duchefa, Haarlem, The Netherlands) was added to the LB medium.

When antibiotic was added to the medium, the final concentration used was 50µg/ml ampicillin. Stock solutions of ampicillin at 50mg/ml in sterile water were kept at -20°C in light-tight containers.

NZY+ Broth:

- 1% (w/v) NZ amine (casein hydrolysate)	(Sigma, Poole, UK)
- 5% (w/v) Bacto-yeast extract	(Duchefa, Haarlem, The Netherlands)

- 5% (w/v) NaCi

This was made up to 1L with distilled water, the pH adjusted to pH 7.5 using Sodium hydroxide and then autoclaved. The following supplements were added to the media prior to use:

- 1.25% 1M MgCl₂
- 1.25% 1M MgSO4
- 1% 2M Glucose solution

2.1.11 Human monoclonal antibodies

B3, 33H11, UK4 and IS4 are all human IgG mAbs produced from peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) of four different patients.

B3, 33H11, and UK4 were isolated by fusion of PBL from patients with SLE with cells of the mouse heteromyeloma line CB-F7. 33H11 is specific for dsDNA, B3 binds ssDNA, dsDNA, nucleosomes and histones. UK4 binds negatively charged (but not neutral) PL in the absence of β_2 GPI and does not bind DNA.

IS4 was derived from a patient with PAPS by EBV transformation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells and fusion with the human-mouse heterohybridoma K6H6/B5 cell line. IS4 binds to CL in the presence of bovine and human β_2 GPI and to human β_2 GPI alone.

B3 and UK4 were produced by our group at UCL in London. 33H11 was a kind gift from Dr Thomas Winkler (Erlangen, Germany). The hybridoma cell lines of IS4 were produced and kindly donated by Dr P. Chen, Department of Medicine, Division of Rheumatology, University of California at Los Angeles, Los Angeles, USA.

2.1.12 Eukaryotic cell lines

COS-7 cells and CHO*dhfr* were both kind gifts from Mrs Alison Levy, AERES Biomedical, MRC Collaborative Unit, Mill Hill, London.

The COS-7 cells were originally derived from American Type Culture Collection, Ref No. CRL 1651.

CHOdhfr⁻ cells used are from the cell line DXB11 originally derived from CHO-K1 in 1978 by Professor Lawrence Chasin (Professor of Biological Sciences, Columbia University, USA). These CHO-K1 cells were derived from Ted Puck and Fa-ten Kao at the Eleanor Roosevelt Cancer Institute in Denver, Colorado, USA in 1970. One *dhfr* allele was deleted in DXB11 and the other allele carries a mis-sense mutation resulting in a single amino acid substitution.

2.1.13 Growth media and solutions for maintenance of eukaryotic cell lines

- Pre-Electroporation COS-7 Growth Medium 1

Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM)	(41966-029, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
Supplemented with:	
10% (v/v) Fetal calf serum (FCS)	(10099-133, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
580µg/ml L-glutamine	(25030-024, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
10000Units/ml penicillin/10000µg/ml streptor	nycin
	(15140-122, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

- Post-Electroporation COS-7 Growth Medium 2

Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM)	(41966-029, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
Supplemented with:	
10% (v/v) Ultra low IgG FCS	(16250-078, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
580µg/ml L-glutamine	(25030-024, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
10000Units/ml penicillin/10000µg/ml streptomy	<i>y</i> cin

(15140-122, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

- CHOdhfr⁻ (Non-selective) Growth Medium A

MEM α -Medium(α -MEM) with ribonucleosides and deoxyribonuclosides

(32571-028, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

Supplemented with:

10% (v/v) FCS (10099-133, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

10000Units/ml penicillin/10000µg/ml streptomycin

(15140-122, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

- CHOdhfr (Selective) Growth Medium B

MEM α -Medium (α -MEM) without ribonucleosides and deoxyribonuclosides

(32571-029, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

Supplemented with:

10% (v/v) Dialysed FCS (Hyclone, UK)

10000Units/ml penicillin/10000µg/ml streptomycin

 (15140-122, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
 Hank's Balanced Salt solution, containing no magnesium and no calcium (HBS) (14175- 053, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)
 Trypsin-EDTA (1x) in HBSS w/o CA&MG, liquid - 0.25% Trypsin 1mM EDTA•4Na (25200-056, Invitrogen, Paisley, UK)

2.1.14 Expression constructs

The expression vector (neSLE122H45.4) that encodes a human V_H3 -23, D6-25, JH5 IgH chain (CDR3: DGGGYSSSFDP) was a kind gift from Dr H. Wardemann, The Rockefeller University, New York, USA. It comes from a non-DNA-reactive, non-self-reactive germline IgM antibody from a naive B cell originally associated with a Vk3-15, Jk2 light chain. The vector has an Amp resistence cassette and the VDJ was cloned into the vector using a 5' *Age I* restriction site and a 3' *Sal I* site. The VDJ was originally amplified from a single cell using nested PCR.

pG1D1, pG1D210, pLN10 and pLN100 are expression vectors and were all kind gifts from Dr C.A. Kettleborough and Dr T. Jones at AERES Biomedical, MRC Collaborative Unit, Mill Hill, London. Each expression vector contains the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) promoter to drive transcription of the recombinant immunoglobulin gene, the SV40 origin of replication to give high levels of transient expression in COS-7 cells and either the bacterial *neo* gene (in pLN10 and pLN100) or mouse *dhfr* gene (in pG1D1 or pG1D210) coding sequences driven by the SV40 early promoter to act

as dominant selectable markers during stable transformation. The SV40 promoter however that drives the *dhfr* is crippled by the presence of a defective SV40 promoter-enhancer sequence so that expression is poor thus allowing for the selection of high expression level clones using comparatively low levels of MTX. Each vector also contains an ampicillin resistance gene driven by an internal promoter to enable it to be cultured in *E.coli*. In the recombinant expression vectors pG1D210 and pLN100, the CMV IEI promoter contains a regulatory sequence intron A, which has been shown to increase the levels of expression of glycoprotein from vectors containing this additional sequence. Plasmids pG1D1 and pLN10 are "old" versions of pG1D210 and pLN100 respectively which lack intron A.

2.1.14.1 Heavy chain expression vectors

Recombinant expression vector pG1D1 and pG1D210 containing human Ig V_H (B3V_H/pG1D1 and B3V_H/pG1D210 respectively) cDNA was constructed by Drs A. Rahman and J. Haley. The construct IS4V_H/pG1D210 was constructed by Dr I. Giles. The vector map of pG1D210 is shown in Figure 2.1.

pG1D1 contains a human cDNA version of the gamma-1 constant region (Human C_H), 5' to which is a multiple cloning site (MCS) allowing the insertion of a variable domain gene immediately followed by a splice donor site. The human C_H is immediately preceded by a splice acceptor site hence the DNA between the variable (V) domain and constant (C) region is treated like a V::C intron by mammalian cells. The C_H is followed by a termination sequence to prevent read through. The C_H is followed by a termination sequence to prevent read through. The promoter driving the *dhfr* gene is crippled so that expression is poor making selection by MTX amplification during stable transfection possible. pG1D210 is identical to pG1D1 apart from for the removal of the V::C intron and the replacement of the multiple cloning site (MCS) with a new sequence which also encodes the last few amino acids of a heavy chain J region, i.e. GTLVTVSS. V_HJ_H sequences can be cloned into the vector directly adjacent to C_H and in frame with it.

127

2.1.14.2 Light chain expression vectors

The following expression constructs were prepared by Dr A. Rahman: $B3V_L/pLN10$, $33H11V_L/pLN10$ and UK- $4V_L/pLN10$ (Figure 2.2). The construct IS $4V_L/pLN100$ was constructed by Dr I. Giles.

The light chain expression vectors pLN10 (Figure 2.2) and pLN100 (Figure 2.3) contain a human cDNA version of the λ -2 constant region sequence DNA (C_{λ}), 5[°] to which is a MCS allowing the insertion of a variable domain gene immediately followed by a splice donor site. The constant region cDNA is immediately preceded by a splice acceptor site hence the DNA between the V domain and C region is treated like a V::C intron by mammalian cells and not represented in the expressed light chain peptide. A termination sequence follows the human C_L to prevent read through. Each of the V_{λ} region sequences were ligated into expression vector pLN10 5' to the C_{λ} human DNA sequence to produce the constructs, B3V_L/pLN10, 33H11V_L/pLN10 and UK4V_L/pLN10.

2.1.14.3 Supervectors

The three supervectors IS4V_H&IS4V_L/PG1D210, IS4V_H&B3V_L/PG1D210 and IS4V_H&UK4V_L/PG1D210 were made by Dr I. Giles. The four supervectors $B3V_H \&B3V_L/pG1D1$, $B3V_H \&B33V_L/pG1D1$, $B3V_H \&B3V_L/pG1D1$ and $B3V_H \&BUV_L/pG1D1$ were made by Drs J. Haley and L. Mason. The method used is outlined in Figure 2.4.

2.1.15 Hybrid V_L chain constructs

Each hybrid V_L chain construct contained the CDR1 of one of the human monoclonal IgG antibody and the CDR2 and CDR3 of a different antibody. These hybrid sequences were named by combining the names of the parent antibodies such that the first letter represented the antibody from which the CDR1 was derived and the last letter represented the antibody from which both the CDR2 and 3 were derived. Thus, hybrid B33 contains CDR1 from B3 and CDR2 and 3 from 33H11 whereas hybrid BU contains CDR1 from B3 and CDR2 and 3 from UK4. The hybrid V_L chain BU had previously been made by Dr J. Haley (Haley et al., 2004), and B33 was made by a similar method by Dr L. Mason.



Figure 2.1 Plasmid map of expression vector pG1D210

Abbreviations: - HCMVI – improved human cytomegalovirus promoter containing intron A; Human CH - cDNA version of the gamma-1 constant region; MCS - multiple cloning site; AmpR pro – ampicillin internal promoter; AmpR sig – ampicillin signal sequence; AmpR - Ampicillin resistance gene; dhfr - dihydrofolate reductase gene.



Figure 2.2 Vector map of recombinant light chain expression vector pLN10 containing V_L cDNA

The V_L region sequences of B3, UK4 and 33H11 were each cloned separately into expression vector pLN10 5' to the C_L human DNA sequences to produce the constructs, $B3V_L/pLN10$, UK4V_L/pLN10 and 33H11V_L/pLN10.

pLN10 contains the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) promoter to drive transcription of the recombinant Ig gene, the SV40 origin of replication to give high levels of transient expression in COS-7 cells and the bacterial *neo* gene coding sequence driven by the SV40 early promoter to act as a dominant selectable marker during stable transformation. pLN10 also contains an ampicillin resistance gene (AmpR) driven by an internal promoter to enable it to be selected in *E. coli*. The Ig V region sequence is immediately followed by a splice donor (SD) site whilst the Ig C region sequence is immediately preceded by a splice acceptor (SA) site. The purpose of these splice sites was to facilitate the transfer of the V region cassette (V region sequence and Ig leader sequence) into the expression vectors.



Figure 2.3 Plasmid map of expression vector pLN100

Abbreviations: - HCMVi – improved human cytomegalovirus promoter containing intron A; Human CL - cDNA version of the human lambda-2 constant region; MCS - multiple cloning site; V::C intron - region of plasmid DNA between variable (V) domain insert and constant (C) region treated like a V::C intron by mammalian cells; AmpR pro – promoter for ampicillin resistance gene; AmpR sig – signal sequence for ampicillin resistance gene; AmpR - ampicillin resistance gene; NeoR pro – promoter for neomycin resistance gene; NeoR – neomycin resistance gene.



Figure 2.4Cloning method used to construct the supervectors by combining the Lchain and H chain expression vectors

(a) *EcoRI* restriction sites in recombinant L chain expression vector, pLN10 containing V_{λ} cloned DNA sequences

(b) *EcoRI*-digested L chain cassette containing HCMV promoter, Ig leader sequence, L chain V region DNA sequence and C region DNA sequence

(c) Ligation of L chain cassette into *EcoR I*-linearised B3V_H/pG1D1 H chain vector to produce the final supervector, containing all components required to produce whole IgG1.

The four supervectors $B3V_H\&B3V_I/pG1D1$, $B3V_H\&B3(R27aS)V_I/pG1D1$, $B3V_H\&B33V_I/pG1D1$ and $B3V_H\&BUV_I/pG1D1$ were constructed using *EcoR I* digested L chain fragments from pLN10 containing $B3V_L$ or $B3(R27aS)V_L$ or V_L -hybrid B33 or V_L -hybrid BU. The other three supervectors $IS4V_H\&IS4V_I/pG1D210$, $IS4V_H\&B3V_I/pG1D210$ and $IS4V_H\&UK4V_I/pG1D210$ were constructed in the same way using the appropriate *EcoR I* digested light chain fragments from $IS4V_I/pLN100$, $B3V_I/pLN10$ and $UK4V_I/pLN10$ leading to slight variations in the overall plasmid size.

2.2 Small-scale extraction of recombinant V_H/V_L vectors

DH5 α -strain *E.coli* containing the recombinant V_H/V_L vectors was stored in media containing 15% (v/v) glycerol at -80°C. Under sterile conditions (i.e. next to a Bunsen burner flame), a sterilised wire loop was used to streak the glycerol-stored cultures onto a Luria-Bertani (LB) agar plate supplemented with 50µg/ml ampicillin and incubated at 37°C in a dry incubator overnight. The plates were transferred to the refrigerator and kept at 4°C. 5ml LB medium supplemented with 100µg/ml ampicillin in a 50ml falcon tube was inoculated with a colony using a sterile wire loop and incubated at 37°C in a shaking incubator overnight. 5ml of LB medium (supplemented with 100µg/ml ampicillin) that had not been inoculated were also incubated under the same conditions. This aliquot was a control to ensure that irrelevant bacteria did not contaminate the LB medium.

Recombinant vector was extracted from overnight *E. coli* bacterial cultures using the QIAGEN QIAprep[®] Miniprep kit (Crawley, West Sussex, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A bacterial pellet was obtained by centrifugation (Sorvall RT-7) at 3000rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C and dried by inversion. The pellet was resuspended in 250µl of buffer P1 and transferred to a 0.5ml microfuge tube. Then 250µl of buffer P2 was added and the tube inverted six times. Following this 350µl of buffer N3 was added, mixed by inversion and then centrifuged for 10 minutes. All subsequent centrifugation steps were carried out at 13000rpm in a microcentrifuge (Biofuge *Pico*) for one minute at room temperature (RT). Supernatant from this step was decanted into a QIAprep spin column and centrifuged. DNA bound to the QIAprep spin column was washed by adding 0.75ml of Buffer PE and centrifuged. Flow through was discarded and the column centrifuged. After placing the QIAprep spin column in a clean 1.5ml microfuge tube recombinant DNA was eluted by adding 50µl of autoclaved water to the centre of each QIAprep column, which was left to stand for one minute before being centrifuged. Eluted DNA was then stored at -20°C.

2.2.1 Restriction digest of recombinant vectors containing V_H/V_L fragments

B3V_H and IS4V_H were digested with *Hind III/Xho I*. B3V_L, 33H11V_H, 33H11V_L, IS4V_L and UK4V_L were digested with *Hind III/BamH I*. V_H3-23/neSLE122H45.4 was digested with *Sal I/Age I* and V_H3-23/pG1D210 was digested with *Hind III/Xho I*. For the confirmation digests 1µg of plasmid DNA and 10 units of each restriction enzyme were usually incubated in a total volume of 20μ l for one hour with the appropriate buffer, at 37°C as recommended by the manufacturer (Promega, Southampton, UK).

The recipe for a typical small-scale restriction digest would be as follows:

Plasmid DNA	5μl (1μg DNA)	
Enzyme	1μl (10u/μl)	
10x Buffer	2µl	
ddH₂0	to 20µl	

2.2.2 Separation of DNA fragments by agarose gel electrophoresis

In order to separate the DNA fragments resulting from the above restriction digests, the products were run on a 1% agarose gel. One litre of TAE buffer was prepared, 100mls of which were then removed and mixed with 1g of low melting point agarose. The solution was heated in a microwave oven until all the agarose had dissolved and then allowed to cool until hand hot when 2μ l of 10mg/ml ethidium bromide was added. Ethidium bromide molecules intercalate between base pairs in the DNA double helix rendering it fluorescent when viewed under ultraviolet (UV) light.

The open ends of a gel tray (Bio-Rad) were closed off with tape and the agarose solution poured in. Plastic combs were then placed in the gel tray to create wells in the agarose as it solidified and any air bubbles were removed. Once the gel had set the comb and tape were carefully removed and the gel tray placed in an electrophoresis tank (Bio-Rad) to which the remaining 900mls of TAE buffer was added.

To each 10μ I of sample to be loaded onto the gel 2μ I of loading buffer were added. This buffer contains FicoII which increases the density of the sample, ensuring the DNA in each sample sinks evenly into the well. The buffer also colours the sample with a dye (xylene cyanole) that moves towards the anode at a predictable rate, allowing progress through the gel to be monitored. Between 5 and 10μ I of each sample were then added to each well and a voltage of 100 Volts applied for one hour. The gel was then removed from the electrophoresis tank and examined under UV light. The position of the band is visualised to assess the size and the relative intensity of each band which reflects the amount of DNA present by comparison with a standard DNA molecular weight marker (1Kb DNA ladder and the λ /Hind III marker) loaded into another well in the same gel. Photographs of the gel were taken using the Genesnap programme (Syngene, Cambridge, UK) and printed onto paper.

2.2.3 Ethanol Precipitation of DNA

In the presence of salt (monovalent cations such as Na⁺) and at a temperature of - 20° C or less, absolute ethanol efficiently precipitates nucleic acids. Therefore 0.1 volume of 3M Sodium Acetate, pH 5.2 and 2.5 volumes of 100% ethanol were added to the DNA preparation in a 1.5ml microcentrifuge tube. This tube was then placed in a -80°C freezer for one hour to precipitate the DNA.

To collect the precipitate the preparation was firstly spun in a microcentrifuge (Biofuge *Fresco*) for 10 minutes at 13000rpm at 4°C. Supernatant was then discarded and the pellet washed with 1ml 70% ice-cold ethanol. The solution was centrifuged again for 10 minutes in a microcentrifuge at 13000rpm at 4°C and then air dried on the bench for 10-30 minutes. Care was taken to ensure that no ethanol remained as this could affect subsequent procedures such as ligations, restriction digests or transfections.

Plasmid DNA intended for transfection into eukaryotic cells was resuspended in sterile autoclaved ddH₂O at a concentration of $2\mu g/\mu l$ under sterile conditions in a tissue culture hood and stored at -20°C.

2.3 Cloning of VH3-23 sequence into pG1D210 Vector

2.3.1 Amplification of V_H by PCR

In this step, template DNA encoding the V_H 3-23 is selectively amplified by specific PCR primers.

At the 5' end the following primer was used to create a *Hind III* site:

5' GAGCTAAGCTTGCCGCCACCATGGGTTGGTCATGTATCATCCTT 3'

At the 3' end the following primer was used to create a Xho I site:

5' GGTCGACGCTCTCGAGACGGTGACCAG 3'

The following reaction mixture was made in a thin-walled PCR tube: 1µl template DNA, 10µl DNA Polymerase 10x Buffer B, 8µl 25mM MgCl₂, 1µl of a mixture of dATP, dCTP, dGTP and dTTP containing each dNTP at a concentration of 25mM, 1µl forward primer (final concentration 1µM), 1µl reverse primer (final concentration 1µM), autoclaved ddH₂0 to 80µl and 1µl (5u/µl) *Taq* Polymerase.

As a negative control no template DNA was added to one reaction mixture. Each mixture was then pulse spun and placed into a PCR machine programmed as follows: Initial denaturation at 95°C for 10 minutes Then 30 cycles as follows: 94°C for 1 minute Annealing temperature at 42°C for one minute 72°C for one minute Then a final elongation phase at 72°C for 5 minutes.

The presence of PCR product of the expected length (420-440bp) was confirmed by gel electrophoresis through a 2% agarose gel (see section 2.2.2).

2.3.2 Purification of amplified V_H DNA from agarose gels

PCR sample was purified from agarose gel using the QIAquick gel extraction (Qiagen, Crawley, West Sussex, UK) kit. An excised band of DNA of up to 0.4g was placed in a 1.5ml microfuge tube and 1ml of buffer QG added. The mixture was then incubated at 55°C for 10 minutes until all agarose had dissolved. 700μ l of this solution was then added to a spin column placed in a collection tube and centrifuged (Biofuge *Pico*) at 13000rpm for 10 seconds. Flow through was discarded from the collection tube and the procedure repeated until all of the initial mixture had been passed through the spin column. A further 500μ l of buffer QG was added to each spin column and centrifuged at 13000rpm for 10 seconds. After discarding the flow through the column was washed twice with 500μ l of buffer PE and centrifuged as above. Each column was then placed into a fresh 1.5ml microfuge tube and dried under a lamp for 5 minutes. Elution of DNA from each column was performed by addition of 50μ l of solution EB (10mM Tris-HCl pH 8.5), allowing the column to stand for 1 minute followed by centrifugation as above. The product was then stored at -20° C.

2.3.3 Ligation of amplified DNA into pG1D210 Vector

Purified PCR product from step 2.3.2 was then ligated into (50ng) pG1D210 Vector by TA cloning at a range of 3:1 to 1:3 insert:vector molar ratios. To 10 μ l of pG1D210 Vector: purified PCR product mix, 2 μ l of 10x ligase buffer, 7.4 μ l of autoclaved water and 0.6 μ l (3u/ μ l) of T4 DNA ligase were added. Samples were incubated for 3 hours at RT or overnight at 4°C. The ligation product was used to transform DH5 α cells made competent by the following method.

2.3.4 Production of fresh competent DH5α-strain *E.coli* cells

Bacterial cultures were prepared from glycerol stocks of DH5 α -strain *E.coli* as described in section 2.2 except that no antibiotic was added to agar plates or LB medium. This culture was then grown overnight in a shaking incubator (250rpm) at 37°C. 100 μ l of this overnight culture were added to 100ml LB medium in a 2.5L sterile (autoclaved) conical flask and then returned to the shaking incubator (250rpm) for approximately three hours.

After 2 hours and then every 30 minutes after that, the growth of the cell culture was checked. The 100ml culture was removed from the incubator when the culture was in the exponential log phase of the growth curve (i.e. clouds of bacteria swirling in the medium were just visible when held up to the light and when the absorbance reading of the culture when measured on the spectrometer at 600nm was between 0.3 and 0.8).

The culture was then divided between two 50ml sterile falcon tubes, placed on ice for five minutes and centrifuged at 3000rpm for 10 minutes in a Sorvall RT-7 Plus at 4°C. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet in each tube was resuspended in 20mls ice-cold transformation buffer 1 and incubated on ice for 5 minutes. Each tube was again centrifuged at 3000rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C and the supernatant discarded. Each pellet was then resuspended in 1ml of transformation buffer 2 and incubated on ice for 15 minutes. 100μ l of this suspension were then aliquoted into pre-chilled 1.5ml microcentrifuge tubes and stored at -80°C or used directly for transformations.

2.3.5 Transformation of competent E.coli cells

 5μ I of ligation mixture was added to 100μ I of competent E.coli cells and incubated on ice for 30 minutes. A heat shock at 42°C for 60 seconds was then applied, following which the cells were incubated in 800µI of LB at 37°C for one hour. The cell suspension was then centrifuged (Biofuge *Pico*) at 3000rpm for 10 minutes, most of the supernatant poured off and the pellet resuspended in the remaining supernatant. This suspension was then spread on an appropriate antibiotic containing LB agar plate. After drying on the bench for 15 minutes the plates were then incubated at 37°C overnight and finally stored at 4°C. The following day antibiotic resistant clones were picked, grown in 5ml LB with appropriate antibiotic and miniprep plasmid DNA produced as in section 2.2.

2.4 Site directed PCR mutagenesis

The QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene) was found to be a convenient method to produce the following:

Arg to Ser mutations-

at position 53 in $B3V_H$ CDR2 at 96, 97, 100 and 100g in IS4V_H CDR3 at position 94 in UK4V_L

Arg to Asp mutation-

at position 53 in $B3V_H$ CDR2

Arg to Lys mutation-

at position 53 in B3V_H CDR2

Ser to Arg mutation-

at position 53 in V_H3-23 CDR2

The basic procedure requires a dsDNA vector containing an insert of interest and the design of two specific oligonucleotide primers containing the desired mutation. The oligonucleotide primers, each complementary to opposite strands of the vector, are extended during temperature cycling by *PfuTurbo* DNA polymerase. This enzyme has a 6-fold higher fidelity in DNA synthesis than *Taq* DNA polymerase; hence has a low potential for generating further mutations during PCR. Incorporation of the oligonucleotide primers generates a mutated plasmid. Following PCR the product is treated with *DpnI*, an endonuclease specific for methylated DNA produced by DH5 α *E.coli*, which thus digests the parental DNA template but not the mutated plasmid.

Vector DNA containing the desired mutations is then transformed into XL1-Blue supercompetent cells.

The mutagenic oligonucleotide primers were designed according to manufacturers specifications. Primers were between 25 and 45 bases in length with a melting temperature (T_m) greater than or equal to 78°C. The formula used to calculate T_m is: T_m = 81.5 + 0.41(%GC) - 675/N - %mismatch

Where - N is the primer length in bases

Values for %GC and %mismatch are whole numbers % GC = the percentage of GC bases in the primer sequence % mismatch = the number of deletions / primer sequence x 100

The specific primers used designed according to the formula are shown in Table 2.1.

Purified plasmid DNA was obtained as described in section 2.2. A series of PCR reactions were then set up containing 5ng, 10ng, 20ng, and 50ng concentrations of plasmid DNA with the appropriate mutagenic primers (Table 2.1) and reaction solutions provided in the QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene). 1µl (5-50ng) of plasmid DNA was mixed with 5µl 10x reaction Buffer, 1µl of dNTP mix, 5µl forward primer (125ng), 5µl reverse primer (125ng), 1µl *Pfu Turbo* DNA Polymerase (2.5 units/µl) and autoclaved ddH₂O to a final volume of 51µl.

As a negative control no plasmid DNA was added to one reaction mixture. Each mixture was then pulse spun and placed into a PCR machine programmed according to the manufacturers instruction with the extension time of each reaction calculated at two minutes per kb of plasmid length. Cycling parameters used were as follows:

Initial denaturation at 95°C for 30 seconds

Then 12 cycles as follows:

- Denaturation- 95°C for 30 seconds

- Annealing- 55°C for 1 minute

- Extension- 68°C for 18 minutes for sample reactions and 12 minutes for control reaction

The reaction was then held at 4°C until the samples were removed.

Once the PCR step had been carried out the methylated template DNA containing the undesired sequence was digested by the addition of 1μ l (10u) of *Dpn* I restriction

enzyme directly to each amplification reaction. The resultant reaction mixture was mixed gently by pipetting up and down several times, after which it was pulse spun in a bench centrifuge and incubated at 37°C for one hour.

	PRIMER SEQUENCE
1.	Forward 5 GCTCATATACAAACAGCGTGTTTTTCGGCGGAGGG 3
2.	Back 5`CCCTCCGCCGAAAAACACGCTGTTTGTATATGAGC 3`
3.	Forward 5' GGGTCTCAACTATTAGTGGTAGTGGTAGTAGCACATAC 3'
4.	Back 5`GTATGTGCTACTACCACTACCACTAATAGTTGAGACCC 3`
5.	Forward 5 GGGTCTCAACTATTAGTGGTAATGGTAGTAGCACATAC 3
6.	Back 5`GTATGTGCTACTACCATTACCACTAATAGTTGAGACCC 3`
7.	Forward 5' GGGTCTCAACTATTAGTGGTAAGGGTAGTAGCACATAC 3'
8.	Back 5`GTATGTGCTACTACCCTTACCACTAATAGTTGAGACCC 3`
9.	Forward 5 CTCAGCTATTAGTGGTCGTGGTGGTAGCACATAC 3
10.	Back 5`GTATGTGCTACCACCACGACCACTAATAGCTGAG 3`
11	Forward 5`GCGAGAGGAAGTAGTGACGTTAGTGGAGTTCTTTGGAGGGGCAGTCATGACTAC 3`
12.	Back 5' GTAGTCATGACTGCCCCTCCAAAGAACTCCACTAACGTCACTACTTCCTCTCGC 3'
13.	Forward 5` GCGAGAGGAAGTCGAGACGTTAGTGGAGTTCTTTGGAGGGGCAGTCATGACTAC 3`
14.	Back 5`GTAGTCATGACTGCCCCTCCAAAGAACTCCACTAACGTCTCGACTTCCTCTCGC 3`
15.	Forward 5`GCGAGAGGACGTAGTGACGTTAGTGGAGTTCTTTGGAGGGGCAGTCATGACTAC 3`
16.	Back 5`GTAGTCATGACTGCCCCTCCAAAGAACTCCACTAACGTCACTACGTCCTCTCGC 3`
17.	Forward 5 CGCGAGAGGAAGTAGTGACGTTCGGG 3
18.	Back 5`CCCGAACGTCACTACTTCCTCTCGCG 3`
19.	Forward 5 CTGCGCGAGAGGAAGTCGAGACGTTCGG 3
20.	Back 5`CCGAACGTCTCGACTTCCTCTCGCGCAG 3`
21.	Forward 5 CGCGAGAGGACGTAGTGACGTTCGGGGAG 3
22.	Back 5`CTCCCCGAACGTCACTACGTCCTCTCGCG 3`
23.	Forward 5 GGACGTCGAGACGTTAGTGGAGTTCTTTGGAGG 3
24.	Back 5°CCTCCAAAGAACTCCACTAACGTCTCGACGTCC 3°
25.	Forward 5 CTTTGGAGGGGCAGTCATGACTACTTTGAC 3
26.	Back 5`GTCAAAGTAGTCATGACTGCCCCTCCAAAG 3`

Table 2.1 Sequences of primers used in site directed mutagenesis

Mutagenic primers with sites of point mutation shown in bold. Primers 1+2 were used to mutate Arg94 to Ser in UK4V_L. Primers 3+4 were used to mutate Arg53 to Ser in B3V_H. Primer 5+6 were used to mutate Arg53 to Asn in B3V_H. Primers 7+8 were used to mutate Arg53 to Lys in B3V_H. Primers 9+10 were used to mutate Ser53 to Arg in V_H3-23. Primers 11-26 were used to mutate Arg to Ser in IS4V_H at the following positions; primers 11+12 mutated Arg 96, 97, 100 and 100g to create V_Hx; primers 13+14 mutated Arg 96, 100 and 100g to create V_Hii,iii&iv; primers 15+16 mutated Arg 97, 100 and 100g to create V_Hii,iii&iv; primers 17+18 mutated Arg 96 and 97 to create V_Hii; primers 19+20 mutated Arg 96 to create V_Hi; primers 21+22 mutated Arg 97 to create V_Hii; primers 23+24 mutated Arg 100 to create V_Hiii; primers 25+26 mutated Arg 100g to create V_Hiv.

A separate 50µl aliquot of XL1-Blue supercompetent cells was then transformed with 1µl of the *Dpn I* treated DNA from each control, sample reaction and transformation control plasmid supplied by Stratagene. Each reaction was kept on ice for 30 minutes and then a heat shock of 42°C was applied for 45 seconds with recovery on ice for a further two minutes; 0.5ml of NZY⁺ medium preheated to 42°C was added to each transformation reaction and incubated at 37°C with shaking.

The purpose of the control was to test the efficiency of mutant plasmid generation. The control plasmid contains a stop codon (TAA) at the position where a glutamine codon (CAA) would normally appear in the β -galactosidase gene. XL1-Blue supercompetent cells transformed with this control plasmid appear white on LB-ampicillin agar plates, containing IPTG and X-gal, because β -galactosidase gene activity has been obliterated. The oligonucleotide control primers create a point mutation on the control plasmid that reverts the T residue of the stop codon (TAA) at amino acid 9 of the β -galactosidase gene to a C residue, to produce the glutamine codon (CAA) found in the wild-type sequence. Following transformation, colonies can be screened for the β -galactosidase (β -gal⁺, blue) phenotype.

Colonies were picked from the sample transformation plates into 5ml LB cultures containing 50μ g/ml of ampicillin and kept overnight in a 37°C shaking incubator. The following day glycerol stocks were made and plasmid DNA purified (see section 2.2) and screened for the presence of the desired mutation by sequencing. The primers used for sequencing the constructs are shown in Table 2.2.
PRIMERS	SEQUENCES
NEO A	5°CTCCATAGAAGACACCG3°
(binds to pG1D1 and pLN10 30bp 5` of insert)	
HCMV1	5'GACTAACAGACTGTTCC3'
(binds to pG1D210, pLN100 and pKN100 50bp 5	
of insert)	
HUG1	5`TTGGAGGAGGGTGCCAAG3`
(binds to pG1D210 90bp 3' of insert)	
DONOR	5°CAAAGTTCTGCCCTTGG3°
(binds to pLN100 80bp 3' of insert)	

Table 2.2 Primers used in sequencing of mutations

.

2.5 Large scale extraction of DNA for transfection into COS-7 cells

The yield of plasmid DNA from a miniprep was insufficient for electroporation into COS-7 cells therefore large-scale extraction to produce $100-500\mu g$ of DNA per preparation was carried out using the Qiagen Plasmid Maxi purification buffers and protocol. A single colony of recombinant DNA in final expression vector was picked from a freshly prepared LB/Ampicillin plate to inoculate a starter culture of 5ml LB/Ampicillin medium. This culture was incubated for approximately eight hours at 37°C with vigorous shaking at 300rpm. One ml of the starter culture was then diluted into 500ml of LB/Ampicillin medium and incubated at 37°C for 16 hours overnight with vigorous shaking at 300rpm. Following which bacterial cells were harvested by centrifugation at 9000 rpm in a Sorvall RC26 Plus (SLA 3000 rotor) for 15 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant was discarded and the bacterial pellet resuspended in 10mls of ice cold buffer P1 and 10mls of buffer P2 was added. After mixing and incubation at RT for 5 minutes 10mls of chilled buffer P3 was added. The mixture was kept on ice for 20 minutes then centrifuged at 12000rpm in a Sorvall RC26 Plus (SS-34 rotor) for 30 minutes at 4°C. Supernatant containing plasmid DNA was promptly removed and recentrifuged for 15 minutes at 4°C. A Qiagen tip 500, containing DNA binding resin, was equilibrated by the addition and free gravity flow of 10mls Buffer OBT. Supernatant was then applied to the Qiagen tip and allowed to enter and bind DNA to the resin by free gravity flow while all other components pass through. The DNA was then washed by passing 30 ml of buffer QC through the tip twice and eluted with 15 ml of buffer QF. To precipitate the DNA 10.5 ml (0.7 volumes) of RT isopropanol was added to the eluted DNA, mixed and then centrifuged at 3000rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for 45 minutes at 4°C. Following which supernatant was carefully decanted and the DNA pellet washed with 5 ml of RT 70% ethanol and centrifuged at 3000rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for 15 minutes at 4°C. Then supernatant was discarded, the pellet dried under a vacuum for 2-5 minutes and then redissolved in 1ml of autoclaved water.

2.5.1 Quantification of dsDNA concentration

dsDNA concentrations were quantified in two ways; either by running the linearised DNA samples alongside molecular weight markers of known DNA concentration on an agarose gel and comparing the intensity of the bands or by using ultraviolet absorbance spectrophotometry. The amount of ultraviolet light absorbed by a solution of DNA is directly proportional to the amount of DNA in the sample.

Absorbance was measured at 260nm, at which wavelength an absorbance (A_{260}) of 1.0 corresponds to 50µg of double-stranded DNA per ml.

Ultraviolet absorbance was also measured at the wavelength 280nm in order to check the purity of the DNA preparation. The ratio of the absorbance at 260nm and 280 nm (A_{260}/A_{280}) of a pure sample of DNA would be 1.8. A ratio of less than 1.8 indicated that the preparation was contaminated with protein.

2.6 Tissue culture

All tissue culture preparation was carried out in a sterile tissue culture hood. Any buffers, solutions and materials required were kept in the tissue culture laboratory and solely used for this work. All plastic ware was supplied by Nunc, VWR International, Leicester, UK. All protocols used for tissue culture and transfection were obtained from AERES Biomedical, Mill Hill, UK.

2.6.1 Transient Expression System in COS-7 cells

COS-7 cells are immortal monkey kidney cells, which express the T antigen of the human polyoma virus SV40 constitutively. The T antigen binds to the SV40 origin to stimulate replication. Plasmids used in this study all contain the SV40 origin (which is not otherwise present in COS-7 cells) hence will be replicated actively in COS-7 cells and achieve a high copy number. This expression system is thus ideal for achieving efficient transient expression of heavy and light chains.

2.6.2 Defrosting COS-7 cells aliquots stored in liquid nitrogen

When using COS-7 cells in a transient expression system, efficiency is optimised by transfecting the cells at as low a passage number as possible. Therefore a master cell bank of the COS-7 cell line stored in liquid nitrogen was essential.

Aliquots of these cells were frozen in growth medium 1 containing 10% DMSO (D-5879, Sigma, Poole, UK) which is cryoprotective during freezing but toxic to the cells once they have thawed. Therefore once defrosted at 37°C, the cell aliquot was immediately added to 10ml fresh, pre-warmed COS-7 growth medium 1 and spun down at 700rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for 10 minutes at RT. The medium was

discarded whilst the pellet was resuspended in 10ml COS-7 growth medium 1 and transferred to an 80cm² culture flask containing a further 10ml of the same medium.

2.6.3 Maintenance of COS-7 cells in culture

COS-7 cells were maintained in a continuous culture by changing the growth medium 1 every 3-4 days. All solutions and media to be used were initially placed in a 37°C water bath for 10 minutes. The 80cm² or 175cm² tissue culture flask containing COS-7 cells was removed from the incubator. Old medium was removed by aspiration and the remaining cells adherent to the floor of the flask washed by adding 10mls sterile HBS to remove any remaining fetal calf serum. HBS was then removed and 3mls of Trypsin-EDTA solution added. The flask was shaken gently to allow Trypsin-EDTA to fully cover the floor of the flask. Trypsin-EDTA was then left in contact with the cells for two minutes in a 37°C incubator to release all cells adherent to the floor of the flask. At the end of this time the flask was tapped and viewed under the microscope to make sure at least 80% of the cells had become detached. 10mls of growth medium 1 were then added to the flask and gently shaken to inactivate the Trypsin-EDTA solution. This mixture was then split from an 80cm² to a 175cm² flask or from one 175cm² to three new 175cm² flasks and growth medium 1 added to a final volume of 20ml for an 80cm² flask or 25ml for a 175cm² flask. The flasks were then placed horizontally in a 37°C incubator in which the concentration of CO₂ was 5% and checked daily to assess growth.

2.6.4 Freezing down COS-7 cells for storage in liquid nitrogen

To create a cell bank, cells of a low passage number growing in an exponential phase were trypsinised as above then spun at 700 rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for 10 minutes at RT. Following a cell count (carried out as described below) the cells were resuspended in the appropriate volume of growth medium 1 containing 10% DMSO, to give a concentration of 1×10^7 cells/ml. 1.5ml aliquots were then put in cryovials, immediately placed at -80°C overnight and then transferred to liquid nitrogen.

2.6.5 Preparation of COS-7 cells for electroporation

The COS-7 cell line was maintained as detailed in section 2.6.3 and used in a transfection at as low a passage number as possible. The cells were split 24 hours prior to transfection to ensure exponential growth as follows:

24 hours prior to the electroporation, the COS-7 cells were split from one 175cm^2 to two new 175cm^2 flasks, as described above. The cells were incubated overnight at 37° C in 5% CO₂. The number of flasks of COS-7 cells that were prepared was dependent on the number of electroporations that were planned (approximately one 175cm^2 flask per electroporation).

The following day the cells in each flask were washed with HBS and trypsinised as described above. Ten mls of warm medium 1 were added to each flask and the entire contents then transferred to a sterile 50ml centrifugation tube. The cells were then centrifuged at 700rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for five minutes at RT. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet of COS-7 cells resuspended in 20-50 mls of autoclaved PBS according to the size of the cell pellet. A cell count was performed upon a 200μ l aliquot of the suspension to estimate the number of cells present.

2.6.6 Trypan blue viable cell count

Trypan blue is one of several stains that can be used in dye exclusion procedures for viable cell counting. This method is based on the principle that live (viable) cells do not take up certain dyes whilst dead (non-viable) cells do. The following protocol derived from Sambrook et al. (2001) was used:

The cells were re-suspended in HBS. 0.5ml of 0.4% Trypan blue solution (w/v) was transferred to a 5ml bijou tube. 0.3ml of HBS and 0.2ml of the cells suspension were then added to the bijou, therefore producing a dilution factor of five. The preparation was mixed thoroughly and then allowed to stand for 5 to 15 minutes. (If cells are exposed to Trypan blue for extended periods of time, viable cells as well as non-viable cells may begin to take up the dye).

A haemocytometer was used to count the cells. Each square of the haemocytometer with the cover slip in place represented a total volume of 0.1 mm³ or 10^{-4} cm³. Since

1cm³ is equivalent to 1ml, the subsequent cell concentration per ml and the total number of cells were determined as follows:

CELLS per ml = the average count per square x dilution factor x 10^4 (count 10 squares)

TOTAL CELLS = cells per ml x the original volume of fluid from which cell sample was removed

This procedure was repeated in order to ensure accuracy.

The remainder of the suspension was again centrifuged at 600rpm for 10 minutes at RT. Supernatant was carefully removed by aspiration and the cell pellet resuspended in the appropriate volume of PBS to give a final concentration of 1×10^7 cells per ml.

2.6.7 Transfection of COS-7 cells with recombinant expression vectors by electroporation

Recombinant expression vector DNA was removed from storage at -20° C and thawed at RT. 10µg of H chain and 10µg of λ L chain expression vector DNA were added to a Gene Pulser[®] (0.4cm gap) disposable electroporation cuvette. Alternatively, 20µg of single expression vector containing both the H and L chain sequence ("supervector") was added to a cuvette. A separate cuvette was used for each supervector or combination of heavy and light chain vectors. 7 x 10⁶ washed COS-7 cells (700µl) were then added to each and gently mixed with the DNA by slowly pipetting the contents up and down three times. To ensure that no arcing could occur during the electroporation, it was ensured that there was neither liquid on the side of the cuvette nor air bubbles nor clumps of cells in the cuvette. Using the Bio-Rad Gene Pulser[®] apparatus a 1.9kV and 25µFarad capacitance pulse was delivered to each cuvette. A negative control cuvette containing COS-7 cells only and no DNA was prepared and subjected to an electroporation pulse in exactly the same way.

The transfected COS-7 cells were allowed to recover at RT for 10 minutes. The contents of each cuvette were then gently transferred into a 10cm diameter tissue culture dish containing 8ml of fresh pre-warmed (post-electroporation) COS-7 growth medium 2. The cells were incubated in 5% CO₂ at 37°C for 72 hours.

2.6.8 Treatment of COS-7 cell supernatants with DNase / (RNase – free)

After 72 hours post-electroporation the supernatants were removed from the cells and transferred to sterile 15ml falcon tubes. The supernatants were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 2000rpm in a Sorvall RT7 Plus at RT in order to pellet all the cell debris present. Following centrifugation, the COS-7 cell supernatants were immediately transferred to fresh 15ml falcon tubes and treated with *RNase-free DNase I* as follows:

DNase I (RNase-free) was added to the COS-7 cell supernatants to produce a final concentration of 7.5u DNase I per ml of supernatant (i.e. 6μ l of $10u/\mu$ l DNase I was added to 8ml supernatant). The tubes were inverted to mix and then incubated at 37°C in a dry incubator for one hour. After the one-hour incubation, EDTA (pH 8.0) to a final concentration of 15mM was then added to inactivate the enzyme plus 5μ l of 1M sodium azide solution (final concentration 0.5mM). The function of the EDTA is to chelate the magnesium ions in the solution required by the DNAse I to function. Sodium azide was added to the supernatants to prevent fungal growth. The supernatants were then stored at 4°C for testing by ELISA.

The treatment of the supernatants with *DNase I* (*RNase*-free) was essential since 80% of cells die during electroporation, thus releasing their contents (including DNA) into the supernatant. Whole IgG antibody molecules that were produced due to the transfection may then have bound this DNA, forming immune complexes. Thus making them undetectable by whole IgG ELISA (see section 2.7.1) as had been demonstrated previously by (Rahman et al., 1998). Therefore the *DNase I* was used to digest this DNA thus breaking down the immune complexes leaving the antibody molecules free to be detected by ELISA.

2.6.9 Concentration of whole IgG in cell supernatants

Due to the relatively low concentrations of IgG produced by the transient expression system, the IgG levels in the COS-7 supernatants were concentrated prior to ELISA analysis. The supernatants were concentrated by using Centricon-YM30 centrifugal concentrators (30 000 MW cut-off) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Two mls of supernatant were added to each sample reservoir coupled with its filtrate vial and centrifuged at 5000rpm in a Sorvall RC26 Plus (SS-34 rotor) at RT for 30 minutes. Further supernatant was then added to the sample reservoir and

subsequent centrifugation steps performed for 40-50 minutes. This process was repeated until all but the final one ml of supernatant had passed through the membrane of the sample reservoir. A retentate vial was then placed over the sample reservoir the unit inverted and centrifuged at 3000rpm for 2 minutes in a Sorvall RC26 Plus (SS-34 rotor) to transfer concentrated antibody from the membrane into the remaining supernatant. Concentrated samples were then stored at 4°C.

2.7 Analysis of COS-7 supernatant IgG by immunoassays

In all of the different ELISAs performed the 96 well plates were supplied by Nunc, VWR International, Leicester, U.K. and OD measured by the Genios plate reader (Tecan, Reading, U.K.). Each plate was marked vertically to divide it into two halves; the test half and the control half. The 36 wells at the edge of the plate were not used and henceforth all descriptions of the plate refer to the inner 60 wells only.

2.7.1 Detection of total whole IgG molecules in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA

A "Sandwich" ELISA (Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent assay) was used to detect the total whole IgG molecule concentration of each supernatant. Goat anti-human IgG (Fc fragment specific) was dissolved in bicarbonate (BIC) buffer to give a working concentration of 400ng/ml. 50μ l of this solution were added to each well of a *Maxisorp* plate in the left (test) half of the plate. 50μ l of BIC buffer alone were added to the wells in the right (control) half of the plate. Each plate was then covered and incubated overnight at 4°C. After this the plates were washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween and 100\mul of PBS containing 2% BSA were added to each well to block non-specific binding of Ig to the plate. The plates were incubated for one hour at 37°C and then washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween.

In order to dilute COS-7 cell supernatant in SEC buffer serially, such that for each well in the test half of the plate there was a well in the control half containing the same supernatant at the same dilution the following procedure was performed. 50μ l of SEC buffer was added to each well in both halves of the plate except the top wells. 100μ l of neat COS-7 cell supernatant was added to the top well and diluted down the column such that each well contained supernatant at half the

concentration of the well above. Purified human IgG_{λ} of known concentration (100ng/ml or 10ng/ml) was loaded and diluted serially in the same way upon each plate to allow the construction of a standard curve relating optical density (OD) to Ig concentration. The plates were incubated for one hour at 37°C and then washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween.

To detect bound antibody, 50μ l goat anti-human λ alkaline phosphatase conjugate (diluted 2500-fold in SEC dilution buffer) was added to the wells and incubated for one hour at 37°C. After one hour, the plates were washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween and once with BIC buffer. One tablet of *p*- nitrophenyl phosphate substrate was dissolved in 5ml BIC buffer supplemented with 10μ l of 2mM MgCl₂. 50μ l of this solution was added to each of the wells on the plate. The plates were then incubated at 37°C to allow a yellow colour to develop in each well. The optical density of the reaction was read after 60 minutes at 405nm. The final reading was calculated by subtracting the OD value of each control well from the OD value of the same sample in the corresponding test well. This ensures that only conjugate bound directly to IgG in the supernatant that had been captured by the anti-Fc IgG, would contribute to the result.

The binding of the whole IgG molecules in the supernatants to the plate depended on the presence of the Fc region whereas detection by the alkaline phosphatase conjugate depended on the presence of the λ light chain, therefore this method only detected whole IgG λ antibodies.

2.7.2 Detection of anti-dsDNA activity in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA

Direct ELISAs were used to detect the anti-dsDNA activity of the whole IgG antibody molecules in the supernatant.

To prepare the pure DNA, calf thymus DNA (Sigma, Poole, UK) was dissolved in TE buffer (pH 7.5) on a rotator at RT overnight. The DNA solution was then subjected to a phenol: chloroform: isoamyl alcohol (25:24:1) extraction and ethanol-precipitated (as before, see section 2.8.3). The dried pellet of DNA was resuspended in TE buffer (pH 7.5) and then sonicated at high frequency for one minute. ssDNA was removed by passing the solution through a $0.45\mu g$ Millex-HA filter that contained methyl-cellulose esters. The sonication of the DNA produces a more reproducible coating of

the plate whilst there is less chance of the binding detected being due to ssDNA rather than dsDNA.

A 96 well *Maxisorp* ELISA plate was marked vertically into two halves, the test half and the control half. The test half of the plate was coated with 50µl of 10mg/ml purified dsDNA dissolved in PBS, pH 7.4, whilst the control half was coated with PBS, pH 7.4 only. The plates were incubated overnight at 4°C and then washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween. Non-specific binding to the plate was blocked by adding 150µl of 2% casein in PBS to each well. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for one hour. The plates were washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween.

The concentrated COS-7 supernatants were serially diluted in SEC buffer and identical concentrations of supernatant added to each half of the plate. As a positive control for experiments described in this thesis, human serum (known to contain anti-dsDNA IgG) was serially diluted from 1/400 to 1/32000 onto the plate. The plates were incubated for one hour at 37°C and then washed six times with PBS/0.1% Tween.

To detect bound antibody, a goat anti-human IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugate (A3150, Sigma, Poole, UK) was diluted to 1/1000 in SEC buffer and 50μ I were then added to each well. The plates were incubated for one hour at 37° C and then washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween and once with BIC buffer. Bound antibodies were detected using the same substrate as described for the human IgG ELISA (section 2.6.1).

2.7.3 Detection of anti-cardiolipin antibodies in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA

Wells in the test half of a *Polysorp* ELISA plate were coated with 50μ l of CL (diluted to 50μ g/ml in ethanol) and 50μ l of ethanol alone were added to wells in the control half. The plates were incubated uncovered overnight at 4°C. Each plate was then washed three times with PBS and 100μ l of PBS containing 10% FCS (Invitrogen) were added to each well to block non-specific binding of Ig to the plastic. After incubation at 37°C for one hour, plates were washed three times with PBS.

Each concentrated COS-7 supernatant to be tested was serially diluted in PBS containing 10% FCS. An identical concentration of supernatant was loaded into a well in the test half and a corresponding well in the control half of the plate. Serum containing polyclonal antibodies known to bind CL was loaded as a positive control to each plate. The total volume in each well was 50μ l. Plates were then incubated for 90 minutes at 37° C after which they were washed three times with PBS. Goat antihuman IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugate was diluted 1000 fold in PBS containing 10% FCS and 50μ l of this solution added to each well. After one hour at 37° C the plate was washed four times with PBS and once with BIC buffer. Addition of substrate and incubation were carried out as in section 2.7.1 with additional OD measurements taken at 30 minutes.

The standard CL ELISA was modified to remove β 2GPI from the assay by replacing 10% FCS in each relevant step with 10% BSA.

2.7.4 Detection of anti- α -actinin antibodies in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA

A 96 well *Maxisorp* ELISA plate was marked vertically into two halves, the test half and the control half. The test half of the plate was coated with 50μ l of 20μ g/ml α actinin dissolved in BIC, pH 9.6, whilst the control half was coated with BIC, pH 9.6 only. The plates were incubated overnight at 4°C and then washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween. Non-specific binding to the plate was blocked by adding 150 μ l of 2% (w/v) BSA in PBS/0.1% Tween to each well. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for one hour. The plates were washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween.

The concentrated COS-7 supernatants were serially diluted in the PBS/0.1% Tween and identical concentrations of supernatant added to each half of the plate. As a positive control for experiments described in this project, human serum (known to have anti- α -actinin activity) was serially diluted from 1/400 to 1/32000 onto the plate. The plates were incubated for one hour at 37°C and then washed six times with PBS/0.1% Tween.

To detect bound antibody, a goat anti-human IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugate (A3150, Sigma, Poole, UK) was diluted to 1/1000 in SEC buffer and 50μ I were then added to each well. The plates were incubated for one hour at 37° C and then

.

washed three times with PBS/0.1% Tween and once with BIC buffer. Bound antibodies were detected using the same substrate as described for the human IgG ELISA (section 2.7.1).

2.7.5 Detection of anti-β₂GPI antibodies in COS-7 supernatants by ELISA

A *Maxisorp* ELISA plate was coated with 50µl of β_2 GPI (SCIPAC), diluted to 10µg/ml in PBS, on wells in the test half and 50µl of PBS alone on the control half. Plates were covered and incubated overnight at 4°C. Following that each plate was washed three times with PBS. In order to block non-specific binding 50µl of 0.25% gelatin/PBS was added to each well. After incubation at 37°C for one hour plates were washed three times with PBS.

Antibody samples were serially diluted in 0.1% BSA/PBS and then loaded upon each half of the plate, as well as a positive control of serum containing polyclonal anti- β 2GPI antibodies leaving a final volume in each well of 50µl. Plates were then incubated for two hours at 37°C after which they were washed three times with PBS. Goat anti-human IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugate was diluted 1000 fold in PBS containing 0.1% BSA/PBS and 50µl of this solution added to each well. A final incubation for one hour at 37°C was performed and the plate washed four times with PBS and once with bicarbonate buffer. Addition of substrate and incubation were carried out as in section 2.7.1 with additional OD measurements taken at 30 minutes.

2.7.6 Detection of monoclonal aPL binding to purified recombinant his₆tagged DI

DI of human β_2 GPI with a C-terminal his₆-tag was expressed in bacteria by Dr Y. Ioannou. By virtue of the incorporated C-terminal his₆-tag, a direct ELISA could be performed by recombinant DI binding to a nickel-coated microwell plate. This process would orientate DI correctly and allow binding to various aPL to be assayed (Iverson et al., 1998).

Recombinant his₆-tagged DI was diluted to a concentration of 75μ g/ml using PBS and 50μ l added to the wells of a nickel chelate-coated microwell plate. The test half was coated with DI and the control half with PBS. Plates were incubated at RT for

two hours and then washed three times with PBS, blocked with 100μ l 0.25% gelatin (Sigma, Poole, UK) in PBS, incubated for a further one hour at RT and washed three times with PBS.

Each monoclonal aPL sample to be tested, either affinity purified antibody or derived from CHO supernatant, was serially diluted in SEC. An identical concentration of primary antibody was loaded into a well in the test half and a corresponding well in the control half of the plate. Serum containing polyclonal antibodies known to bind CL and β_2 GPI was diluted 100x with SEC buffer and loaded as a positive control to each plate. The total volume in each well was 50µl. Plates were then incubated for one hour at 37°C after which they were washed three times with PBS. Goat antihuman IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugate was diluted 1000 fold in SEC buffer and 50µl of this solution added to each well. After one hour at 37°C the plate was washed three times with PBS and one time with BIC. Addition of substrate was carried out as in section 2.7.1, the plates incubated at RT and OD measurements taken at 30 minutes and one hour.

2.7.7 Detection of monoclonal aPL binding to PS or PC

Wells in the test half of a *Polysorp* ELISA plate were coated with 50μ I of PS or PC (diluted to 50μ g/mI in methanol and chloroform 4:1) and 50μ I of methanol and chloroform alone were added to wells in the control half. The plates were incubated uncovered overnight at 4°C. Following that, the plates were washed twice with PBS and blocked with 100μ I of 10% FCS/ PBS at RT for one hour. The plates were then washed twice with PBS. Test samples were serially diluted with 10% FCS/ PBS. An identical concentration of supernatant was loaded into a well in the test half and a corresponding well in the control half of the plate. Polyclonal serum was applied to each plate as a standard. The total volume in each well was 50μ I. The plates were then incubated for 90 minutes at RT and washed with PBS three times. Goat antihuman IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugate (Sigma A3150) was diluted 1 in 1000 in 10% FCS/PBS, 50μ I of this solution added to each well and incubated for 1 hour at RT. The plates were washed with PBS three times and once with BIC. 50μ I/well substrate of 1 tablet PNP in 5mI BIC and 10uI 2M MgCl₂ was applied per plate and incubated at 37°C. Plates were read at 405nm at 15, 30, 45 and 60 minutes.

2.7.8 Detection of anti-PS-PT antibodies by standard ELISA

Each well of a Polysorp ELISA plate was coated with 30µl of PS (diluted to 50µg/ml in methanol:chloroform 4:1) and the plates were incubated uncovered overnight at 4°C. Following that, the plates were washed with TBS/Tween 0.05%/5mM CaCl₂ three times and blocked with 150µl of TBS containing 1% BSA and 5mM CaCl₂ (BSA-Ca) at RT for one hour. The plate was washed with TBS/Tween 0.05%/5mM CaCl₂ three times. 50µl human PT (10µg/ml) in BSA-Ca was added to the test half of the plate and BSA-Ca alone to the control half and the plate incubated for one hour at 37°C. The plates were then washed three times with TBS/Tween 0.05%/5mM CaCl₂ and test samples were serially diluted in BSA-Ca, 50µl/well. Polyclonal serum was applied to each plate as a standard. The plates were incubated for 60 minutes at RT and washed three times with TBS/Tween 0.05%/5mM CaCl₂. Goat anti-human IgG alkaline phosphatase conjugate (Sigma A3150) was diluted 1 in 1000 in BSA-Ca, 50µl of this solution added to each well and incubated one hour at RT. The plates were then washed with TBS/Tween 0.05%/5mM CaCl₂ three times and once with BIC. 50µl/well substrate of 1 tablet PNP in 5ml BIC and 10ul 2M MgCl₂ was applied per plate and incubated for 30-60 minutes at RT. Plates were read at 405nm at 15, 30, 45 and 60 minutes.

2.8 Stable expression system in CHOdhfr⁻ cells

The CHO cell line used lacks a functional *dhfr* gene. The enzyme dihydrofolate reductase is responsible for the intracellular reduction of dihydrofolic acid to tetrahydrofolic acid, which is an important co-factor in the synthesis of nucleic acid precursors. To survive the CHO*dhfr*⁻ cell line required exogenous hypoxanthine (adenine), glycine, proline and thymidine for survival. All of these nutritional requirements were provided via non-selective medium.

If however, these CHOdhfr⁻ cells were successfully transfected with expression vectors (e.g. a supervector) containing a functional *dhfr* gene the cells would be transformed to a *dhfr*⁺ phenotype. Thus, allowing them to grow in selective medium that was depleted of ribonucleosides and deoxyribonucleosides (but not proline as all CHO cells are proline-dependent even in the presence of *dhfr* gene). Consequently CHO*dhfr*⁻ cells were used to provide an expression system in which the genes required to produce IgG could be co-transfected with the *dhfr* gene.

MTX is a competitive inhibitor of the intracellular activity of the DHFR enzyme. Progressive selection of cells that are resistant to increasing concentrations of MTX leads to amplification of the *dhfr* gene, with concomitant amplification of IgGencoding sequences that flank the *dhfr* sequences (Schimke, 1984). In those resistant cells where amplification has occurred, there is not only sufficient free *dhfr* enzyme to generate intracellular tetrahydrofolate required for cell biosynthesis but also these resulting cell lines express high levels of Ig.

2.8.1 Maintenance of CHOdhfr⁻ cells prior to electroporation

The CHOdhfr⁻ cells were grown in pre-warmed non-selective growth medium A (described in section 2.1.13) in 175cm^2 flasks prior to transfection and split every 3 – 4 days keeping their passage number to a minimum prior to transfection. A master cell bank was created and the cells were defrosted and frozen down as described in section 2.6.2 and 2.6.4 using growth medium A containing 10% DMSO.

2.8.2 Preparation of CHO cells for electroporation

The cells were split 24 hours prior to transfection to ensure exponential growth. Flasks containing confluent CHO cells were trypsinised and then divided equally between three 175cm^2 flasks, each containing 25ml of fresh, pre-warmed CHO*dhfr*^{\ddot{r}} (non-selective) growth medium A. One flask was required for each supervector to be tested. The cells were incubated overnight at 37°C in 5% CO₂.

The following day the cells in each flask were washed, trypsinised, pelleted and resuspended in sufficient autoclaved PBS to give a final concentration of 1×10^7 cells per ml.

2.8.3 Transfection of recombinant expression supervector into CHOdhfr⁻ cells

The CHOdhfr⁻ cells were electroporated (using the same method as that used for the COS-7 cells, see section 2.6.7). A 700 μ l aliquot of the washed CHOdhfr⁻ cell suspension was pipetted into a disposable electroporation cuvette to which 20 μ g of thawed recombinant supervector was added. A 1.9kV and 25 μ F capacitance pulse was then delivered to each experimental transfection and a control containing CHOdhfr⁻ cells only, using a Bio-Rad Gene Pulser® II electroporator. The cells were

then allowed to recover at RT for 10 minutes and the contents of each cuvette transferred to a separate 10cm tissue culture dish containing 8ml of pre-warmed medium A. Each dish was then incubated overnight in 5% CO_2 at 37°C.

2.8.4 Selection of transfected CHOdhfr⁻ cells post electroporation

From this point onwards the cells were maintained in selective growth medium B (described in section 2.1.13) that lacks ribonucleosides and deoxyribonucleosides, which are absent from dialysed FCS. Thus only those cells which contain supervector, hence a functional *dhfr* gene will then be able to grow.

Following overnight growth of the transfected CHOdhfr⁻ cells in non-selective medium A the cells in each 10cm dish were washed with 10mls of HBS, trypsinised and then pelleted at 700rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for five minutes at RT. Cells from each transfection and control were resuspended separately in 100mls of prewarmed selective medium B before being divided equally between ten 10cm diameter tissue culture dishes.

Incubation of the cells at 37°C in 5% CO₂ then took place for 10-14 days changing the selective medium B every 3-4 days. After 10-14 days the cells on the no DNA control dish were all dead and discrete foci of transfected cells were clearly visible on all the test culture dishes without the aid of a microscope. In order to pick these foci they were visualised under a microscope and using a sterile pipette tip 200μ l of foci plus medium was aspirated under direct vision and transferred into individual wells of a 24 well tissue culture plate containing 0.5ml of prewarmed medium B. A total of 48 foci were picked from each transfection (ten plates). The picked cells were then grown in the selective medium B until almost confluent (between 7-14 days), changing the media every seven days.

Once almost confluent, the medium from the individual wells of each 24 well plate was tested for whole IgG antibody production by ELISA (see section 2.6.1). Those clones producing the highest levels of antibody were selected for expansion in CHO*dhfr*⁻ (selective) growth medium B until the cells were growing in 175cm² tissue culture flasks.

2.8.5 Assay of antibody production in transfected CHOdhfr cells

Following growth of the selected cells to just below confluent level in selective media in 175cm² flasks the cells were washed with 10ml HBS, trypsinised with Trypsin-EDTA and pelleted at 700rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for five minutes at RT. Each clone of cells was resuspended in 20ml of prewarmed selective medium B and a viable cell count performed (as in section 2.5.6). The cells were then pelleted again (as above) and resuspended in sufficient prewarmed medium B to produce a viable cell count of 1×10^6 cells/ml. One ml of this solution was then added to a 10cm diameter tissue culture dish containing 9ml of prewarmed medium B and incubated at 37° C in 5% CO₂ for three days. After three days, the supernatant of these cells was collected from each 10cm dish and the concentration of intact whole IgG antibody assayed using an ELISA, as described in section 2.7.1. Cells in each 10cm dish were washed with 5ml HBS, trypsinised (2ml Trypsin-EDTA) and pelleted at 700rpm (in a Sorvall RT7 Plus) for five minutes at RT. Following this the cells were resuspended in one ml of prewarmed medium B and a viable cell count was performed as above.

From the new viable cell count and the antibody concentration in the decanted supernatants, the level of antibody production was calculated and expressed as $ng/10^6$ cells/day. A cell bank of the clones with the highest antibody production rates was created by suspending 1 x 10^7 cells/ml in medium B containing 10% DMSO and stored in liquid nitrogen (as in section 2.6.4) for further selection using MTX amplification.

2.8.6 Amplification of transfected CHO*dhfr* cells following electroporation and selection

Following the growth of the selected CHO*dhfr*⁻ cells in CHO*dhfr*⁻ (selective) growth medium B in a 175cm² flask, the cell lines producing the highest levels of IgG were trypsinised and centrifuged at 700rpm for two minutes at RT in a Sorvall RT7 Plus. The cells were resuspended in CHO*dhfr*⁻ (selective) growth medium B to produce a final viable cell count of 1×10^6 cells/ml. 0.5ml (i.e. 5×10^5 cells) of this solution was diluted in a further 49.5ml of pre-warmed 1×10^{-8} M amplification medium (i.e. CHO*dhfr*⁻ (selective) growth medium B to produce a cell coult of 1×10^6 cells/ml. 0.5ml (i.e. 5×10^5 cells) of this solution was diluted in a further 49.5ml of pre-warmed 1×10^{-8} M amplification medium (i.e. CHO*dhfr*⁻ (selective) growth medium B supplemented with 1×10^{-8} M MTX). The resulting culture was then divided equally between five 10cm-diameter tissue culture

dishes, (i.e. 1×10^5 cells/culture dish). This dilution was required in order to produce pure foci that could be easily identified from one another on the plate.

The cells were incubated at 37° C in 5% CO₂ for 10-14 days. The amplification medium (supplemented with the appropriate concentration of MTX) was changed every 3-4 days. After 10-14 days, foci of transfected cells were easily visible in most of the culture dishes.

Approximately 24 foci were picked for each transfection (as in section 2.8.4) and were then transferred into individual wells of a 24-well tissue culture plate containing 1ml of pre-warmed CHO*dhfr*⁻ amplification medium. These cells were allowed to grow in the amplification medium until almost confluent (usually after 7-14 days), whilst the medium was changed every 7 days or as required. Once almost confluent, the medium from the individual wells was tested for antibody production as before, using the whole IgG ELISA (see section 2.7.1).

Those clones producing the highest levels of antibody were selected for expansion in CHO*dhfr*⁻ (selective) growth medium B with MTX until the cells were growing in 175cm² tissue culture flasks. The antibody production rates of individual clones (see section 2.8.5) were then determined. A cell bank of selected amplified cell lines was created. When creating a cell bank, selective pressure was maintained when freezing cells i.e. concentration of MTX was kept the same on freezing as that used in culture.

2.9 SDS-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (PAGE)

Each gel consisted of 3mls 5% stacking gel layered on top of 5mls 15% resolving gel. The resolving gel was poured and immediately layered with isopropanol. After the gel had set, the isopropanol was removed and the stacking gel added to form the upper layer. A suitable comb was added prior to the polymerisation of the stacking gel. The composition of the resolving and stacking gels is described in Table 2.3.

Total protein samples were separated into polypeptide units by SDS-PAGE according to the method of (Laemmli, 1970). Protein samples were added in a 1:1 ratio to sample buffer (2% (w/v) SDS, 50mM Tris-HCl pH6.8, 0.1% bromophenol blue, 10% (w/v) glycerol, 100mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and denatured at 100°C for 3 minutes immediately before loading on to the gel. 20μ l of sample or 5μ l of molecular weight

protein marker (Prestained Protein Marker, Broad Range, NEB, Herts, UK or RainbowTM Coloured Protein Molecular Weight Markers, AmershamBio, Bucks, UK) were loaded. SDS-PAGE gels were prepared in a vertical gel, one-dimensional, electrophoresis system (Gibco-BRL, Paisley, UK) and run in 1x running buffer (25mM Tris, 250mM glycine and 0.1% (w/v) SDS pH 8.3) at 40mA/gel at RT until the dye reached the bottom of the plate.

	10mls 10% Resolving gel	8mls 5%Stacking gel
ddH₂0	2.3mls	5.5mls
30% acrylamide mix ¹	5.0mls	1.3mls
1.5M Tris, pH 8.8	2.5mls	-
1.0M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8	-	1.0mi
10% SDS	0.1ml	0.08ml
10% AmPS ²	0.1ml	0.08ml
TEMED ³	0.004ml	0.008ml

Table 2.3. Composition of resolving and stacking gels for SDS-PAGE ¹Acrylamide bis = N,N'-Methylene-bis-acrylamide. ²AmPS = ammonium persulfate. ³TEMED = NNNN-tetramethylethalinediamine.

2.9.1 Coomassie Stain

This stain was used to visualise the protein bands run on an SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was transferred from the electrophoresis apparatus to a plastic container and covered with 0.2% Coomassie gel stain (0.2% (w/v) Coomassie, 7.5% acetic acid, 40% methanol, dH₂0 to a volume of 1L) for eight minutes. The gel was then destained with Coomassie destain (7.5% acetic acid and 5% methanol made up to 1L with dH₂0) for three hours. The gel was then dried on a gel dryer at 60-80°C for 30 minutes and kept as a permanent record.

2.9.2 Transfer of protein to nitrocellulose and western blotting

Protein separated on SDS-PAGE gels were transferred to Hybond C membranes (Amersham, Bucks, UK) using a wet-transfer method described by Towbin, 1979. The gel and the nitrocellulose membrane were pre-soaked in transfer buffer (50mM Tris, 180mM glycine, 0.1% (w/v) SDS and 20% methanol) and blotted over one hour at 400mM / RT in a Trans-blot[™] Cell (Bio Rad) according to manufacture's instructions. An ice-block was placed in the cell to avoid over-heating. The membrane was subsequently removed and dried.

2.9.3 Immunodetection of proteins on western blots

The membrane was blocked in PBS/0.1% polyxyethylene sorbitan monolaurate Tween 20/5% (w/v) skimmed milk for one hour at RT on a shaking platform. The primary antibody solution (in PBS/0.1% Tween 20/5% milk) was added and incubated for a further one hour, shaking at RT. The unbound primary antibody was then rinsed off by two 10-minute washes with PBS/0.1% Tween 20, and the appropriate anti-IgG horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated secondary antibody (in PBS/0.1% Tween 20/5% milk) added for one hour, RT on a shaker. Unbound secondary antibody was then rinsed off with two washes of 10 minutes with PBS/0.5% Tween 20. The bound HRP was then detected using chemiluminescence (ECL[™], Amersham, Bucks, UK) and the resultant light emissions exposed to X-ray film for one second to one hour, depending on the strength of the signal.

2.10 Nucleosome preparation

Jurkat cells were grown in 40 ml medium until 70% confluent (7 X 10⁷ cells are needed for the nucleosome preparation). The cells were pelleted in a 50 ml Falcon by centrifugation at 700rpm (Sorvall RT7 Plus) at RT for 8 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and gently resuspended in 10 ml ice cold PBS. The cells were again centrifuged at 700rpm for 8 minutes the supernatant discarded and resuspended in 2 ml ice cold Dounce buffer (adding fresh protease inhibitor at 1:100 each time) and transferred to Dounce tube. The cells were incubated in the Dounce tube on ice for 10 minutes. The cell membrane was disrupted using a fine tissue homogenizer that enables release of the nucleus without destroying it. The cells were assessed to identify those with a disrupted membrane from which nuclei could be released. When sufficiently homogenized, the vast majority of cells stain blue with trypan blue,

with the nucleus only remaining. The homogenised cells were transferred into 1.5ml eppendorf tubes and the nuclei were pelleted by centrifugation at 3000rpm (Biofuge *Fresco*), 4°C for 10 minutes. Nuclei were resuspended in a minimal volume of 10mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 8.0, with 50mM NaCl, 5mM MgCl₂. The nuclei were either stored in 50% glycerol at -80° C or directly processed as described below to produce oligonucleosomes or mononucleosomes.

Stored nuclei were rapidly thawed in a 37° C water bath and a minimal volume of digestion buffer was added, spun at 3000rpm (Biofuge *Fresco*) for 20 mins at 4° C and the supernatant was discarded. The wash and cetrifugation steps were repeated, the nuclei were gently resuspended by flicking the tube, and 100μ l ice-cold digestion buffer was added. The DNA concentration was checked by taking an aliquot in 2% SDS (ultra-pure quality) and measuring absorbance at 260nm (A₂₆₀) on a spectrophotometer. Further digestion buffer was added until the DNA concentration was approximately 5μ g/µl.

The suspension was quickly warmed to RT and micrococcal nuclease was added (Worthington Biochem, USA) to a final concentration of 200 units/ml. Digestion was continued for 45-60 minutes on a rotator. Digestion was terminated by making up the suspension to a concentration of 2mM in EDTA (pH 8.0). Nuclei were pelletted by centrifugation in an eppendorf centrifuge at 1000rpm for 5 minutes at 4^oC and the supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube on ice without disturbing the pellet. Products of this procedure were then confirmed to give the ladder of bands expected from oligonucleosomes on a gel.

2.11 Reproducibility of direct binding assays

In the results chapters to follow, single representative graphs from ELISA experiments are presented. All experiments were carried out in triplicate in separate occasions to demonstrate reproducibility and diluted serum from a patient was run on every plate as a positive control and cells transfected with no DNA, as a negative control. As an example, Figure 2.5 illustrates duplicate experiments carried on separate occasions. Overall, OD values vary in repeat experiments however, the same pattern of binding with the different antibody combinations is observed.



Figure 2.5 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to nucleosomes

In order to confirm the findings of the first experiment (A), this experiment was repeated on a separate occasion (B). Further discussion on the binding of the antibodies shown in this figure is detailed in Chapter 5.

CHAPTER THREE

The importance of sequence features of the heavy chain of B3 and the light chain of UK4 in binding to different antigens

CHAPTER THREE.

THE IMPORTANCE OF SEQUENCE FEATURES OF THE HEAVY CHAIN OF B3 AND THE LIGHT CHAIN OF UK4 IN BINDING TO DIFFERENT ANTIGENS

3.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter

The human monoclonal IgG1 anti-DNA antibody B3, derived from a patient with active SLE, is known to be pathogenic *in vivo* in SCID mice and contains V_H and V_L encoded by the two most commonly rearranged human V_λ and V_H genes, V_λ 2a2 and V_H 3-23. Therefore, it is likely to be representative of those antibodies related to disease pathogenesis in patients with SLE.

Sequence analysis of both murine and human monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies, suggests that high affinity for dsDNA is associated with the presence of certain amino acid residues within the CDRs, notably arginine, asparagine and lysine, which frequently arise at sites of somatic mutation. Expression and modification of murine and human anti-DNA antibodies in vitro has shown that substitution of arginine residues, especially those in V_{H} CDR3, often leads to a decrease in affinity for dsDNA.

The original computer model of the B3/dsDNA complex, previously published by our group (Kalsi et al., 1996) (shown in Figure 1.5) suggests that the dsDNA double helix lies in a groove on the surface of B3 between the V_H and V_L and that this interaction is stabilised by the presence of three arginine residues at the periphery of the antigen-binding site (R27a and R54 of the L chain and R53 of the H chain). Since R53 in B3V_H is to be found in the CDR2 region, it is important to determine whether replacing arginine by another amino acid would this hinder or block DNA binding. In this chapter, site-directed mutagenesis was used to determine whether the arginine residue at position 53 (R53) in B3V_H CDR2, which is the product of a somatic mutation of the V_H germline gene V3-23, is important in enabling B3 to bind DNA, as predicted by the model. The hypothesis is that mutation of R53 will reduce binding to DNA. Which leads to another interesting question: can binding be 'created' by adding this arginine? To investigate this question, a construct that has the wild-type

sequence of the V3-23 gene was made and the serine at position 53 was mutated to arginine.

Previous studies showed that the critical arginine residues for DNA binding in the 2a2-derived L chains of human anti-DNA antibodies B3 and 33H11, were those in B3V_L CDR1 and 33H11V_L CDR3, whilst an arginine in UK4V_L CDR3 appeared to block DNA binding of this aPL (Rahman et al., 2001). This latter finding was predicted by the computer model (shown in Figure 1.7) because the groove in the B3V_H/UK4V_L model is blocked by various residues from the L chain including a bulky positively charged arginine residue at position 94 (R94). This finding leads to the question: if the arginine in UK4V_L CDR3 is replaced by another amino acid, would it exhibit a positive effect on binding to DNA? To answer this question, a mutant form of UK4V_L was created by site-directed mutagenesis and tested for binding to DNA.

The principal aim of the experiments described in this section was to use a COS-7 transient expression system to produce a variety of IgG1 molecules and test: (1) the effect of the mutations created by site-directed mutagenesis in the H chain of B3 in order to investigate the contribution of the arginine residue in V_HCDR2 to the binding properties of the antibody; (2) the effect of the mutation created by site-directed mutagenesis in the V_H3-23 construct in order to investigate the role of the arginine residue introduced by mutagenesis in V_HCDR2; and (3) the effect of the mutation of the L chain of UK4. The effect of the B3V_H mutation on binding to other clinically relevant antigens such as nucleosomes, α -actinin, and CL was tested, since previous studies have suggested cross-reactivity between DNA and these antigens. Two groups have reported that pathogenic murine anti-DNA monoclonals bind directly to α -actinin (Deocharan et al., 2002, Mostoslavsky et al., 2001).

However, the quantities of IgG produced by the transient expression system are insufficient to affinity purify the antibodies and determine their pathogenic properties. This chapter describes the production of four stable cell lines expressing some of the H/L combinations reported previously in the transient expression system.

3.2 The importance of sequence features of $B3V_H$ in binding to dsDNA, nucleosomes, cardiolipin and alpha-actinin

3.2.1 Transfer of V_H 3-23 cloned PCR fragment from neSLE122H45.4 to pG1D210

As explained in more detail in section 2.3, the appropriate V_H3-23 cloned PCR fragment was transferred from the original expression vector neSLE122H45.4, to the vector pG1D210 containing C_H sequence. Through the design of specific primers, a *Hind III* and a *Xho I* site was introduced into V_H3-23/neSLE122H45.4 so that the V_H3-23 region DNA sequence could be extracted from neSLE122H45.4 and transferred to pG1D210 with *Hind III* and *Xho I*. The V_H3-23 sequence was successfully amplified as shown in Figure 3.1 and once ligated into pG1D210, a *Hind III/Xho I* restriction digest was used to verify the presence of V_H3-23 DNA sequence in the new vector. Successful ligation of V_H3-23 into pG1D210 produced two bands of 7217 and 434 bp in length when digested with *Hind III/Xho I* upon gel electrophoresis, as shown in Figure 3.2. DNA sequencing ensured that no additional mutations had been introduced into the sequence due to PCR error and Figure 3.3 shows the representative sequencing plot.



Lanes

- 1 = Control (PCR mix without template cDNA)
- $2 = \text{Template V}_{H}3-23 \text{ cDNA}$
- 3 = 100bp DNA Ladder

Figure 3.1 PCR amplification of V_H 3-23 sequence cDNA

The $V_{H}3$ -23 region DNA sequence was extracted from neSLE122H45.4 and amplified by using specific PCR primers (see section 2.3.1). A 430bp band of cDNA consistent with $V_{H}3$ -23 is seen in lane 2 and no band is seen in the control lane 1.

Flavre 3.2 Continuation Flavé Afrika (rombi bilo digno) el apatar pO10218 apoteinin 6.3-23 mbert Chapter Three



Lanes

- 1 = Lambda DNA/Hind III marker
- 2 = Hind III/Xho I digested VH3-23/pG1D210

Figure 3.2 Confirmation Hind III/Xho I restriction digest of vector pG1D210 containing V_{H} 3-23 insert

TTEED TO GEED AGO OT COAADOAD TO CTATACCET COECOAT CITTEGEADAG TAATATAC COCCA Figure 3.3 Sequencing plot confirming the cloning of V_H3-23 sequence into the pG1D210 plasmid The sequence of the V_H3-23 insert into pG1D210 was confirmed by automated sequencing. The chromatograph trace is shown here with the black arrows indicating the beginning and the end of the V_H 3-23 insert.

The importance of sequence features of the heavy chain of B3 and the light chain of UK4

Chapter Three

3.2.2 Sequences of heavy chains and light chains expressed and results of site-directed mutagenesis

The amino acid sequence of $B3V_H$, $B3(R53S)V_H$, $B3(R53N)V_H$, $B3(R53K)V_H$, the corresponding germline gene, V3-23 and V_H3 -23(S53R) are displayed in Figure 3.4A (highlighted in red are the arginines mutated). $B3V_H$ has a single somatic mutation to arginine in CDR2. Figure 3.4A shows the amino acid sequence of three variant forms of $B3V_H$ produced by mutagenesis, where the arginine at position 53 in the CDR2 region was converted into a serine, asparagine or lysine. The H chain VH3-23(S53R) shown in the figure, was derived from the V3-23 gene, by site directed mutagenesis, where the serine at position 53 in the CDR2 region was converted into a serine.

Amino acid sequences of B3V_L, B3(R27aS)V_L, 33H11V_L, UK4V_L and the corresponding germline gene, 2a2 are shown in Figure 3.4B. B3V_L contains two adjacent arginine residues in CDR1 both produced by somatic mutations. 33H11V_L contains two arginine residues in CDR3, neither of which is germline encoded. One is the result of a somatic mutation whilst the other is formed by the junction between 2a2 and $J_{\lambda}2$. UK4V_L has a single somatic mutation to arginine in CDR3. Figure 3.4B also shows the amino acid sequence of a variant form of B3V_L produced by mutagenesis converting the arginine at position 27a into a serine in the CDR1 region. The L chain B3(R27aS) shown in the figure, was derived from B3V_L, by site-directed mutagenesis. All L chains expressed are encoded by the same germline gene, 2a2, but differ in their pattern of somatic mutation.

Plasmid DNA of the appropriate size was confirmed, post transformation, by a *HindIII/XhoI* digest (Figure 3.5). This plasmid DNA was then sent for sequencing analysis (MWG-Biotech). The results of site-directed mutagenesis of the germline V_H3 -23 and its variant V_H3 -23(53) and of the V_H CDR2 of the wild type $B3V_H$ and its variants $B3(R53S)V_H$, $B3(R53N)V_H$, and $B3(R53K)V_H$ were confirmed by sequencing and are shown in Figure 3.6.

A V_H

	FR1	CDR1	FR2	CDR2		FR3			CDR3	J,
		31	36 40	52abc 5	3 60	70	82	90	100	101
		ļ			-		abc		1	
3-23	EVQLLESGGGLVQPGGSLRLSCAASGFTFS	SYAMS	WVRQAP	GKGLEWVS AISG	ggstyyadsvkg	RFTISRDNSKN	NTLYLQMNSLRAED	TAVYYCAK		YFDYWGQGTLVTVSS
3-23*	EVQLLESGGGLVQPGGSLRLSCAASGFTFS	SYAMS	WVRQAP	GKGLEWVS AISGR	GGSTYYADSVKG	RFTISRDNSKN	TLYLQMNSLRAED	TAVYYCAK		YFDYWGQGTLVTVSS
В3	TT	T		T	-SGQ-	L	3		PNVGSGW	SSL-T
B3-1	T	T		TS	-SGQ-	LS			PNVGSGW	SSL-T
B3-2	T	T		N	I-SGQ-	LS			PNVGSGW	SSL-T
B3-3	T	T		K	-sGQ-	LS			PNVGSGW	SSL-T

B V_L

FR1	CDR	.1 FR2	CDR	2 FR3	CDF	C3 J _k	
	1 20	24 27 34	35 40	50 60	70 80	89 94	100
		abc				1	
2a2	QSALTQPASVSG.SPGQSITISC	TGTSSDVGGYNYVS	WYQQHPGKAPKLMIY	EVSNRPS GVSNRFSGSKS	BGNTASLTISGLQAEDE ADYYC	SSYTSSST	VVFGGGTKLTVLG
в3	~~~~~~~~~~, ~~~~~~~~	R		HTA	S	S-TTR	یہ بند کر بند ہے تند ہے بند کہ جد سے جو دی
B3-4		RSF		HTA	S	S-TTR	
UK4		SNS	LEL	DAIKE-	G	N R	-F
UK4*		sns	LBL	DAIKE-	G	NS	-F
33H11		I	LL	DT	يس هذه هي بلي جد الله على عاد ألك ذكر اجد أله عنه عنه خو جان عن الله عن جه باله ه	R	R

Figure 3.4 Sequence alignment of expressed V_H and V_L regions

(A) Sequences of expressed V_H regions compared to 3-23. (B) Sequences of expressed V_L regions compared to 2a2. The amino acids altered by site-directed mutagenesis are highlighted in red. The amino acids are numbered according to Kabat (Wu and Kabat, 1970). A dash indicates homology with the corresponding germline sequence. Abbreviations: FR - Framework region; CDR - Complementarity determining region; $3-23^* - V_H 3-23(53)$; $B3-1 - B3(R53S)V_H$; $B3-2 - B3(R53N)V_H$; $B3-3 - B3(R53K)V_H$; $B3-4 - B3(R27aS)V_L$; $UK4^* - UK4(R94S)V_L$.



Lanes

1 = 1kb DNA ladder

- $2 = Hind III/Xho I digested B3V_H/pG1D210$
- $3 = Hind III/Xho I digested B3(R53S)V_H/pG1D210$
- $4 = Hind III/Xho I digested B3(R53N)V_H/pG1D210$
- 5 = Hind III/Xho I digested B3(R53K)V_H/pG1D210
- $6 = Hind III/Xho I digested V_{H}3-23/pG1D210$
- 7 = Hind III/Xho I digested $V_H3-23(53)/pG1D210$

Figure 3.5 Hind III/Xho I restriction digest of pG1D210 vector containing $B3V_H$ and $B3V_H$ variant constructs, V_H3 -23 and V_H3 -23(53) variant construct on 1% agarose gel

B3V_H/pG1D210, B3(R53SV_H/pG1D210, B3(R53N)V_H/pG1D210, B3(R53K)V_H/pG1D210, V_H3-23/pG1D210 and V_H3-23(53)/pG1D210 were digested with *Hind III* and *Xho 1* and the fragments separated on a 1% agarose gel. The actual agarose gel is shown above, indicating the expected band sizes. It can be seen from the gel that DNA bands of 7222 and 431 bp are present in each.

Chapter Three



Figure 3.6 (A) The sequences of the $B3V_H$ variants were confirmed by automated sequencing (see over for legend)

The importance of sequence features of the heavy chain of B3 and the light chain of UK4 **Chapter Three** 3' GTA TGT GCT ACC ACC ACT ACC ACT AAT AGC TGA 5' V_H3-23 CDR2 Serine (4)GEG TAGTATGTGO TAG DAD B. DG AO DAD TA A TA GD TG AGADOOAD Arginine

Figure 3.6 (B) The sequence of the $V_{\rm H}3\mathchar`-23$ variant was confirmed by automated sequencing

The amino acids mutated in the wild-type and germline sequences are highlighted in green. In the wild-type $B3V_H$ sequence, a single amino acid alteration was introduced to produce 3 different variants and in the case of the germiline V_H3 -23, one variant was produced. The chromatograph traces represented in this figure show the sequences of (1) $B3(R53S)V_H$, (2) $B3(R53N)V_H$, (3) $B3(R53K)V_H$ and (4) V_H3 -23(S53R). The mutation introduced in these sequences is indicated by blue arrow pointing to the single amino acid alteration. Sequences (A), (B) and (C) are 5' to 3' and sequence (D) is 3' to 5'.

3.2.3 Transient expression of whole IgG1 molecules in COS-7 cells

Table 3.1 displays the H/L chain combinations expressed in COS-7 cells. The L chains were all similar in that they were derived from the germline gene 2a2, but contained different somatic mutations. The transfection of the COS-7 cells was carried out as described in section (2.6.7), and after 72 hours the supernatants from the cells were *DNase I* treated and concentrated (2.6.9). Three expression experiments were carried out for each combination. The whole IgG yields for each V_H/V_L combination were similar between each of the expression experiments. The B3 L chain variant, B3(R27aS)V_L, was generated by Dr A. Rahman using site-directed mutagenesis of arginine 27a to serine in B3V_L CDR1 (see figure 3.4B).

The concentration of IgG1 in each COS-7 cell supernatant was determined by IgG1 ELISA, described in section 2.7.1. IgG was obtained in the supernatant for all combinations. Each combination was expressed in three separate occasions and similar yields of antibody were produced. The range of IgG concentrations obtained are shown in Table 3.2.

In each experiment, the negative control sample in which COS-7 cells were electroporated without any plasmid DNA contained no detectable IgG1. Combinations containing UK4V_L produced noticeably higher yields of whole IgG than the other combinations. There is no clear reason for the variable expression seen with different V_H and V_L combinations and the differences in antibody levels produced and this is well documented in this and other expression systems (Rahman et al., 1998, Rahman et al., 2001). This variation could have occurred for a number of reasons, such as variable post-electroporation COS-7 cell growth, or transfection efficiency.

Chapter Three

The importance of sequence features of the heavy chain of B3 and the light chain of UK4



Table 3.1 The heavy/light chain combinations expressed in COS-7 cells This schematic diagram illustrates the six groups of V_H/V_L combinations in which a different H chain is paired with the four 2a2-encoded V_L chains.
Heavy Chain	2a2-derived Light Chain	IgG concentration (ng/ml)
B3	B3	3-18
В3	B3(R27aS)	3-25
B3	33H11	3-20
B3	UK4	62-92
B3 (R53S)	B3	80-120
B3 (R53S)	B3(R27aS)	90-120
B3 (R53S)	33H11	75-95
B3 (R53S)	UK4	225-250
B3 (R53N)	B3	415-425
B3 (R53N)	B3(R27aS)	415-425
B3 (R53N)	33H11	420-600
B3 (R53N)	UK4	485-495
B3 (R53K)	B3	800-850
B3 (R53K)	B3(R27aS)	800-850
B3 (R53K)	33H11	800-950
B3 (R53K)	UK4	875-900
VH3-23	B3	13-17
VH3-23	B3(R27aS)	57-60
VH3-23	33H11	57-60
VH3-23	UK4	475-485
VH3-23(53)	B3	12-15
VH3-23(53)	B3(R27aS)	42-45
VH3-23(53)	33H11	42-45
VH3-23(53)	UK4	35-40
No DNA	No DNA	0

 Table 3.2 The range of IgG concentrations in ng/ml for each heavy/light chain

 combination during the COS-7 transient expression experiments

Three variant forms of $B3V_H$ were produced by mutagenesis, $B3(R53S)V_H$, $B3(R53N)V_H$, and $B3(R53K)V_H$, where the arginine at position 53 in the CDR2 region was converted into a serine, asparagine or lysine respectively. The H chain V_H3 - 23(S53R) was derived from the V3-23 gene, by site-directed mutagenesis, where the serine at position 53 in the CDR2 region was converted into an arginine. Each value in the table was derived, by reference to a standard curve of human IgG of known concentration, after the background OD values had been subtracted.

3.2.4 Results of anti-nucleosome and anti-dsDNA ELISA with COS-7 supernatants

Binding of each of the H/L chain combinations to nucleosomes is shown in Figure 3.7A and to dsDNA in Figure 3.7B. In each case, similar binding results were seen from each of the expression experiments and the figures show results of a single representative experiment. The negative control sample in each case was supernatant from COS-7 cells to which no plasmid DNA had been added during electroporation and contained neither anti-DNA activity nor anti-nucleosome activity on testing by ELISA. The positive control in each case was polyclonal serum from a patient with SLE known to bind dsDNA and nucleosomes. The same aliquot of polyclonal serum was used for all the anti-dsDNA and anti-nucleosome ELISAs.

The strongest binding to both antigens was seen with the combinations containing the wild-type sequence of $B3V_H$ when paired with $B3V_L$ or $33H11V_L$ ($B3V_H/B3V_L$ and $B3V_H/33H11V_L$). Both of these H/L chain pairs produced very small amounts of whole IgG yet clearly bound to both these antigens. The introduction of the single R to S mutation in CDR1 led to a reduction in binding to nucleosomes or dsDNA (i.e. $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$). The results of the DNA ELISA were consistent with those obtained in previous studies of expression studies of these combinations in COS-7 cells (Rahman et al., 2001, Giles et al., 2003, Haley et al., 2004).

Despite being tested at a range of concentrations much higher than those that gave maximal nucleosome and DNA binding for the other wild-type combinations, the variant forms of $B3V_H$ showed no binding to nucleosomes or dsDNA. Also, none of the other combinations containing V_H3 -23 or V_H3 -23(53) or UK4V_L showed any binding nucleosomes or dsDNA at all.

3.2.5 Anti-alpha-actinin binding of expressed whole IgG molecules

The α -actinin binding ability of each of the V_H/V_L combinations was tested by ELISA and is shown in Figure 3.8. From the three expression experiments, similar results were seen. Figure 3.8 shows the α -actinin binding results of a single, representative, experiment. The negative control sample in each case contained neither IgG1 nor anti- α -actinin activity on testing by ELISA. The positive control in each case was polyclonal serum from a patient with SLE known to bind α -actinin. The same aliquot of polyclonal serum was used for all the α -actinin ELISAs. B3V_H/33H11V_L was the only combination that bound α -actinin. All other combinations did not bind, despite being tested at a range of concentrations higher than those that gave binding with the B3V_H/33H11V_L combination.

3.2.6 Anti-cardiolipin binding of expressed whole IgG molecules

Binding of each of the H/L chain combinations to CL is shown in Figure 3.9. In each case, similar results were seen from each of the expression experiments and the figure shows results of a single representative experiment. The negative control sample contained neither IgG1 nor anti-CL activity in an ELISA test. The positive control in each case was polyclonal serum from a patient with APS known to bind CL. The same aliquot of polyclonal serum was used for all the CL ELISAs.

The strongest binding was seen with the $B3V_H/B3V_L$ (wild-type) chain combination. The reversion of the arginine residue to a serine residue at position 27a (R27aS) in V_L CDR1 led to a reduction in binding to CL. The introduction of a mutation at position V_H CDR2 (R53S, R53N and R53K) completely abolished binding to CL irrespective of the L chain it was paired with.



Figure 3.7 (A) Effect of point mutation in B3V_H and V_H3-23 in binding to nucleosomes (See figure legend)

The

chain of B3 and the light chain of UK4



Figure 3.7 Effect of point mutation in $B3V_{H}$ and $V_{H}3-23$

The graphs show binding of IgG in COS-7 cell supernatants containing each H/L chain combination to (A) nucleosomes and (B) dsDNA. Diluted serum from a patient with SLE was run on every plate as a positive control. The negative control in each case was supernatant from COS-7 cells to which no plasmid DNA had been added during electroporation and contained no IgG and no anti-nuclesome or anti-dsDNA activity.



Figure 3.8 Results of anti- α -actinin ELISA

The graph shows binding of IgG in COS-7 cell supernatants containing each H/L chain combination to α -actinin (20µg/ml).

The importance of sequence features of the heavy chain of B3 and the light chain of UK4



3.3 The importance of sequence features of $UK4V_L$ in binding to dsDNA

3.3.1 Results of site-directed mutagenesis for production of $\mathsf{UK4V}_\mathsf{L}$ variant

The amino acid sequence of $UK4V_L$, $UK4(R94S)V_L$, and the corresponding germline gene, 2a2 are displayed in Figure 3.4B (highlighted in red is the mutated arginine). To study the contribution of arginine at position 94 in CDR3 of $UK4V_L$ in binding to dsDNA, a variant of $UK4V_L$ was made by site-directed mutagenesis and germline reversion of the arginine at position 94 (R94) to a serine (S).

Plasmid DNA of the appropriate size was confirmed, post transformation, by a *Hind III/Bam HI* digest (Figure 3.10). This plasmid DNA was then sent for sequencing analysis (MWG-Biotech) and the mutation was confirmed. The sequencing plots are represented in Figure 3.11.

3.3.2 Transient expression of whole IgG1 molecules in COS-7 cells

The following L chains were expressed in combination with the B3 H chain in COS-7 cells; UK4V_L and UK4(R94S)V_L. Three expression experiments were carried out for the two combinations and a negative control sample of COS-7 cells that were electroporated without plasmid DNA and contained no detectable IgG1 in their supernatant. The whole IgG yields for each V_H/V_L combination were similar between each of the expression experiments. The mean yields obtained were 75ng/ml for B3V_H/UK4V_L and 110ng/ml for B3V_H/UK4(R94S)V_L.

3.3.3 Results of anti-dsDNA binding of expressed whole IgG molecules

The dsDNA binding ability of each of the combinations were tested by ELISA and are shown in Figure 3.12. Each expression experiment (i.e. electroporation and subsequent human IgG, and anti-dsDNA ELISAs) was carried out three times and in each case, similar results were seen in each. Figure 3.12 shows the DNA binding results of a single, representative experiment. As shown previously, $B3V_{H}/UK4V_{L}$ showed no binding to dsDNA. In addition, the combination containing the UK4(R94S)V_L CDR3 did not bind to dsDNA.



Lanes

1 = 1kb DNA ladder

- 2 = Hind III/BamH I digested UK4V_L/pLN10
- 3 4 = Hind III/BamH I digested UK4(R94S)VL/pLN10

Figure 3.10 Hind III/BamH I restriction digest of pLN10 vector containing UK4V_L and UK4(R94S)V_L variant construct on 1% agarose gel

UK4V_L/pLN10 and UK4(R94S)V_L/pLN10 were digested with *Hind III* and *BamH I* and the fragments separated on a 1% agarose gel. The actual agarose gel is shown above, indicating the expected band sizes. It can be seen from the gel that DNA bands of 7091 and 355 bp are present in each.



Figure 3.11 The sequence of UK4V_L variant was confirmed by automated sequencing The chromatograph trace represented in this figure shows the sequence of UK4(R94S)V_L CDR3. The mutation introduced in the sequence is indicated by an arrow pointing to the single amino acid alteration.

The importance of sequence features of the heavy chain of B3 and the light chain of UK4

hards "Eventstellan of unitality instruction on Chrowthe costs

here are blet mail differences who me use of 195 y CD9 if not superhabits. The ret is mat use that adjoint of 195 produces from bonning expression is and so



Figure 3.12 Effect of point mutation in UK4VL

Chapter Three

The graphs show binding of IgG in COS-7 cell supernatants containing $B3V_H$ paired with UK4V_L and UK4V_L R94S to dsDNA. Diluted serum from a patient with SLE was run on every plate as a positive control. The negative control in each case was supernatant from COS-7 cells to which no plasmid DNA had been added during electroporation and contained no IgG or anti-dsDNA activity.

icover bits the was type it owned any and we wanted to see it that effect was wereone the negative effect of the RSS surface in the H draw.

Using an Book prestriction digest, planning Chill of the superprivate size was participated by the presence of a 6517cp band and/or 2250cp band when run on an operate cell The superconduct of the impletion in the H chain of the proportedors was regifted by securitizing analysis (MVRE-Righed).

3.4 Stable expression of whole IgG molecules in CHOdhfr⁻ cells

There are two main difficulties with the use of IgG in COS-7 cell supernatants. The first is that the total amount of IgG produced from transient expression is small so that it is not feasible to purify the IgG. The second is that the concentration of IgG in COS-7 supernatants from cells transfected with different H/L combinations varies widely so that it is difficult to test all the combinations at the same concentration. Both these problems can be overcome by creating stably transfected CHO cells, which secrete the H/L combinations of interest.

3.4.1 "Supervectors" expressing both V_H and V_L

The two supervectors (SV), SV-B3V_H/B3V_L and SV-B3V_H/B33V_L were originally made by Drs J. Haley and L. Mason as described in section 2.1.14.3. The single expression vectors were combined to produce "supervectors". From the plasmid vector pLN10, an EcoRI fragment containing the promoter, the λ C region gene and the λ V region gene was transferred into the vector pG1D1/B3V_H. From the two supervectors SVBL and SVB33, I produced four new variants by site-directed mutagenesis. Two of the variant supervectors had an arginine to serine mutation at position 53 in the B3 H chain and were paired with B3 L chain (SV-B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L) and B33 L chain (SV- $B3(R53S)V_H/B33V_L$). The other two variant supervectors both had the same B3 L chain but a different H chain, one with an arginine to asparagine (SV- $B3(R53N)V_{H}/B3V_{L}$) and the other with an arginine to lysine (SV-B3(R53K)V_{H}/B3V_{L}) mutation at position 53 in B3 H chain. $SV-B3(R53S)V_H/B33V_L$ was included because previous experiments had shown that the chimeric L chain B33VL (i.e. B3VL CDR1 and 33H11V_L CDR2 and CDR3) confers stronger anti-dsDNA and anti-nucleosome activity than the wild type L chain B3V_L, and we wanted to see if that effect would overcome the negative effect of the R53S change in the H chain.

Using an *EcoRI* restriction digest, plasmid DNA of the appropriate size was confirmed by the presence of a 6917bp band and a 2260bp band when run on an agarose gel. The incorporation of the mutation in the H chain of the supervectors was verified by sequencing analysis (MWG-Biotech).

3.4.2 Transfection of CHO*dhfr* cells with supervectors and methotrexate amplification of the transfected CHO cell lines

CHOdhfr⁻ cells were transfected with the four supervectors by electroporation. In addition, two aliquots of CHOdhfr⁻ cells were also electroporated (under the same conditions as the expression vectors), one with an empty pG1D210 expression vector (i.e. contains no H or L chain V region DNA sequences) and one without any DNA. Following 10-14 days of culture in growth medium lacking ribo and deoxyribonucleosides, all the cells in the "no DNA" negative control dish were dead and foci of cells were clearly visible in the dishes containing cells transfected with the four supervectors and the empty pG1D210 expression vector. The amount of IgG produced was measured from which the IgG production rate was determined for a number of clones of each supervector. The production rates of the highest producers are shown in Table 3.3. The two controls produced no detectable IgG1.

Supervector	IgG production rate (ng/10 ⁶ cells/day)
SV-B3(R53S)V _H /B3V _L	413
SV-B3(R53S) _H /B33V _L	52
SV- B3(R53N)V _H /B3VL	670
SV- B3(R53K)V _H /B3V _L	670

Table 3.3 Human IgG production rates of CHO cells transfected with the supervectors

Different amounts of IgG were obtained from each cell line after one round of MTX amplification. However, MTX amplification did not increase the yield of IgG in the case of these four stable cell lines. The variable expression from CHO cells is well documented in both our hands and others (Kim et al., 1998, Rahman et al., 2002). This phenomenon occurs during sub-cloning in successive amplification steps; when cells can increase the copy number of the *dhfr* gene without increasing their production rate. Thus, cells that do not produce an exogenous protein will usually have a higher growth rate and take over the culture thereby reducing the chance of selecting a high producer cell.

3.5 Discussion

The results described in this chapter show that whole human IgG1 molecules that bind dsDNA, nucleosomes alpha-actinin and CL can be produced through the transient expression of cloned autoantibody DNA sequences in eukaryotic cells. The total yield of IgG1 varied between 3ng/ml to 950ng/ml depending on the H/L chain combination. Zack et al. (1995) have reported low yields of expressed IgG1, through the use of a similar expression system in COS-7 cells. Kettleborough et al., (1991) have previously used this expression system to humanise a mouse mAb by CDR exchange and have seen that the yield of IgG varied between different constructs.

B3V_H/B3V_L (wild type) bound dsDNA, nucleosomes and CL, which is consistent with the previously reported properties of this mAb, (Ehrenstein et al., 1995, Giles et al., 2003, Mason et al., 2005) as well as the computer model of the interaction between a dsDNA helix and B3, shown in Figure 1.5 (Kalsi et al., 1996). Although V_H CDR3 plays a major role in antigen binding of a number of other murine and human antidsDNA antibodies described in the past (Radic and Weigert, 1994, Li et al., 2000), I believe it is unlikely to play a major role in the interaction of B3 with antigen. The computer model of the B3/dsDNA complex shows no major sites of contact between dsDNA and V_H CDR3 and this CDR3 sequence is short and contains no arginine, asparagine or lysine residues (sequence shown in Figure 3.4) The results of the ELISA tests correlated with the predictions of the computer model in showing that the ability of B3 to bind dsDNA is dependent upon the arginine residues present at critical positions (position 53 in B3V_H and positions 27a and 54 in B3V_L) that enable the antibody to form a specific electrostatic interaction with the phosphate backbone of dsDNA. This interaction is completely lost by mutation to serine (R53S), asparagine (R53N) or lysine (R53K), thus leading to a loss in DNA binding ability by the variant H chain when compared to the wild type. In contrast, in B3 L chain, this interaction is critically reduced but not lost by mutation to serine (R27aS), therefore leading to a reduction in DNA binding ability. The precise location of arginine residues has been shown to be important in the binding of both murine and human anti-dsDNA antibodies to DNA (Radic et al., 1993, Radic and Weigert, 1994). $33H11V_{L}$ contains a serine at position 27a rather than an arginine, however, despite this fact it is able to bind DNA when in combination with B3 H chain. The computer model of the $B3V_L/33H11V_L$ combination predicts that the arginine at position 92 in the CDR3 is able to interact with the dsDNA backbone. Therefore it is possible that the presence of the arginine residue in CDR3 of 33H11V_L could compensate for the

absence in CDR1. In conclusion, the results shown here suggest that in a 2a2 encoded L chain such as $B3V_L$ and $33H11V_L$, which has undergone extensive somatic mutation, DNA-binding ability is determined by the pattern of these somatic mutations. Also, the presence of the H chain of B3 plays a dominant role in binding dsDNA, nucleosomes and CL. $B3V_H$ binds nucleosomes and DNA with 3 of the 4 L chains tested (Figure 3.8). Single amino acid changes can affect DNA binding of these antibodies, especially where these changes involve arginine residues that have been predicted by the computer models to directly interact with the dsDNA helix. The arginine residues critical to DNA binding are those in $B3V_H$ CDR2, $B3V_L$ CDR1 and $33H11V_L$ CDR3 which may have an additive effect in enhancing binding to DNA whilst an arginine in UK4V_L CDR3 blocks DNA binding (computer models shown in Figures 1.5, 1.6 and 1.7) (Haley et al., 2004). Replacement of this arginine residue with serine did not introduce DNA binding.

To identify the features of $B3V_{H}$ that are responsible for conferring DNA and nucleosome binding ability, I focused on the germline $V_{H}3$ -23. The position 53 is occupied by serine so I produced the opposite effect, which was addition of an arginine to investigate if this amino acid will re-introduce binding to nucleosomes and DNA. However, there was no binding observed with the variant form of $V_{H}3$ -23 (Figure 3.7). Thus introducing the S53R mutation alone into this germline gene is not sufficient to engender binding to these antigens. This finding suggests that the arginine is not solely responsible for binding of $B3V_{H}$ to nucleosomes or DNA. Therefore, other somatically mutated amino acids present in the sequence of $B3V_{H}$ in combination with this arginine must also play a role in conferring the binding ability of this antibody.

UK4V_L is very similar to B3V_L, however there is a serine rather than a glycine present at position 29 in CDR1 and an asparagine at position 27a rather than an arginine. As predicted by the computer model of $B3V_H/UK4V_L$ (Figure 1.7), the pattern of somatic mutations in UK4V_L prevents any binding to DNA, even when paired with B3 heavy chain. From the computer model, it was hypothesized that the introduction of the arginine residue at position 94 in addition to the changes at positions 27a and 29 prevent DNA binding. This finding is in agreement with previous studies that have also shown that it is not the mere presence of arginine residues in the CDRs that confers the ability to bind DNA but their precise positions (Guth et al., 2003,

Stevenson et al., 1993). I had hypothesised that the blocking arginine at position 94 prevents the binding to DNA in the case of $B3V_H/UK4V_L$ combination. Mutation of this arginine to serine however, did not introduce binding to DNA. The reason for the lack of any DNA binding might involve other blocking amino acids in UK4V_L, and mutation of multiple residues might be required to produce an effect. Therefore, this hypothesis needs to be further investigated since the mutation introduced alone is not sufficient to free the binding cleft.

Various groups have previously used computer models to produce three-dimensional images of anti-DNA antibodies (mainly murine) interacting with DNA and to predict sites of contact between dsDNA and certain amino acid residues at the antigenbinding site (Radic and Weigert, 1994). They have followed a method similar to our group, where they used site-directed mutagenesis to test the validity of these predictions. In many cases the targets of mutagenesis have been arginine residues and as in our system the number of arginine residues did not always strictly correlate with the ability of the antibody to bind DNA (Radic et al., 1993). For example, Radic et al (1993) examined the effects of amino acid substitutions on DNA binding where they reverted three somatic mutations in the H chain of a murine anti-dsDNA antibody 3H9. Their results showed that arginine 53 eliminated virtually all dsDNA binding and this agreed with my findings shown in this chapter. Mutation of a leucine in $3H9V_{H}$ CDR2 to an arginine (L64 to R64), completely eliminated binding to ssDNA and dsDNA. The authors suggested that this may be due to the formation of a salt bridge of R64 with a neighbouring aspartic acid (D65) producing an Ig conformation incompatible with DNA binding (Radic et al., 1993). Wellmann et al., (2005) used human monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies that were systematically subjected to sitedirected mutagenesis reverting amino acid substitutions to the germline sequence, and tested the antibody reactivity against dsDNA. They have shown that for the human antibody 33.F12, arginines enhance antibody affinity for DNA. In the case of another antibody however, asparagine and lysine residues in the L chain of 33.C9 are involved in the contact to DNA.

Katz et al., (1994) used site-directed mutagenesis to change amino acid residues in the H chain of the pathogenic R4A anti-dsDNA antibody to look for alterations in DNA binding and pathogenicity. Their results showed that single amino acid substitutions in both CDRs and FW regions reduced DNA binding. However, in contrast to the results of Radic and colleagues and my findings, this group showed that the V_H

sequence that resulted in the highest ability to bind DNA contained two fewer arginine residues than R4A, highlighting the fact that charge interaction is not the sole determinant of binding to DNA. These two arginines were both replaced by serine in R4AV_H FR3, suggesting that FW regions not only perform a scaffolding function but also affect binding specificity. Furthermore, Radic et al., (1994) predicted from a computer model of a murine anti-dsDNA antibody that V_H FR3 is positioned so as to contribute contacts with the minor groove of the DNA.

Members of our group have used a bacterial expression system to produce Fab of three autoantibodies described in this chapter (B3/33H11, anti-DNA; UK4, aPL) and six related hybrids (Kumar et al., 2000, Kumar et al., 2001). The system described by Kumar et al., (2000) involved the transformation of *E. coli* with plasmid expression vectors containing the appropriate V_L - C_L and V_H - C_H DNA for each antibody. Following culture of the bacteria, Fab were harvested from the periplasm of the *E. coli* and then purified. SDS-PAGE and Western blot confirmed that the purified Fab was of the correct size and assembled form. Protein expression levels of 5-9mg per litre of culture were achieved. The comparative DNA/CL-binding analysis of the nine Fabs demonstrated that B3 and 33H11 L chains possess both anti-DNA and anti-CL activities (Kumar et al., 2001). These results are consistent with the binding results and computer generated models of these H and L chain combinations expressed in eukaryotic systems, as presented previously by our group (Haley et al., 2004) and in this chapter.

The amount of whole IgG produced by transient expression in COS-7 cells described in this chapter was too small to allow purification of the antibodies or for experiments on pathogenicity to be carried out. It was therefore necessary to establish a stable expression system for production of recombinant B3 and its variants in CHO cells to allow for more extensive *in vitro* and *in vivo* characterisation of the binding of the human IgG. The results described in this chapter also show that I have successfully developed a stable expression system to produce whole human recombinant anti-nucleosome IgG1 molecules from cloned PCR products encoding anti-nucleosome antibody sequences. This system has the potential to produce significant amounts of antibody whose sequence-related functional properties can be studied both in *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays. The total yield of IgG1 varied between 52 and 413 ng per 10⁶ cells per day depending on the H/L chain combination expressed. The yield of these antibodies, however, was not increased by further selection of the

stable cell lines in selective growth media containing MTX. The process of MTX amplification selects the clones of cells with a higher *dhfr* copy number and consequently a higher copy number of IgG cDNA flanking the *dhfr* gene.

A number of groups have previously described stable expression of murine anti-DNA antibodies from cloned cDNA (Katz et al., 1994, Radic et al., 1993, Pewzner-Jung et al., 1996). In most cases, expression was achieved using HCLVs, which are hybridoma cells that have lost the ability to secrete H chains. By transfecting such variants with expression vectors encoding various different H chains, Radic et al., (1993), Katz et al., (1994) and Pewzner-Jung et al., (1996) were all able to demonstrate that altering the numbers of arginines in CDRs of the H chains altered the ability of murine mAbs to bind DNA. Of these groups, only Katz and colleagues went on to test the ability of the altered antibodies to cause pathogenic changes in mice. They produced antibodies based on the murine monoclonal anti-DNA antibody R4A. All these antibodies had the L chain of R4A, but the H chains were variants of the R4A V_H sequence. They found that the antibody with strongest binding to dsDNA did not have more CDR arginines than wild-type R4AV_H. This antibody actually showed less glomerular binding but more tubular binding to mouse kidneys *in vivo* than the wild-type R4A.

Only one group has previously reported stable expression of whole human antidsDNA molecules (as opposed to Fab or single chain Fv fragments) *in vitro*. Li and colleagues expressed the V region sequences of the human IgA anti-DNA antibody 412.67 in F3B6 human/mouse heteromyeloma cells (Li et al., 2000). The products were whole IgG molecules, since the expression vectors contained γ , rather than α , C regions. This group showed that reversion of two arginines in 412.67 V_H CDR3 totally removed the ability to bind ssDNA or dsDNA. All somatic mutations outside V_H CDR3 in either V_H or V_L of this antibody, however, could be reverted with no effect on DNA binding. No data were presented regarding the effect of these sequence changes on pathogenicity, and it is not known whether the original IgA antibody 412.67 is pathogenic in mice. The stable expression of a whole human anti-dsDNA antibody *in vitro*.

CHAPTER FOUR

Somatic mutations to arginine residues affect the binding of different human aPL derived heavy and light chains to cardlelipin, βr-glycoprotein I and phosphatidylserine

CHAPTER FOUR.

SOMATIC MUTATIONS TO ARGININE RESIDUES AFFECT THE BINDING OF DIFFERENT HUMAN aPL DERIVED HEAVY AND LIGHT CHAINS TO CARDIOLIPIN, β₂-GLYCOPROTEIN I AND PHOSPHATIDYLSERINE

4.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter

Sequence analysis of human monoclonal aPL has shown that IgG aPL often contain large numbers of somatic mutations in their H and L chain V region sequences (Giles et al., 2003b). The distribution of these somatic mutations suggests they are antigen-driven (Shlomchik et al., 1987). Arginine, asparagine and lysine residues tend to accumulate in the CDRs of these monoclonal aPL and arginine residues have been shown to play an important role in the CDRs of some murine monoclonal aPL (Cocca et al., 2001, Kita et al., 1993).

Our group has previously described a system for *in vitro* expression of whole IgG molecules from cloned V_H and V_L sequences of human monoclonal aPL (Giles et al., 2003a). This system was used to test the binding properties of different H and L chain combinations derived from a range of antibodies. One of these is the human monoclonal IgG antibody IS4, which was derived from a patient with PAPS and binds to anionic (but not neutral) PL in the presence of the cofactor β_2 GPI. This human mAb is pathogenic in a murine model, therefore it is likely to be relevant in the pathogenesis of APS (Pierangeli et al., 2000). Our group has shown that the sequence of IS4V_H was dominant in conferring the ability to bind CL whilst the V_L that was paired with was important in determining the strength of CL binding (Giles et al., 2003a).

Modelling studies have shown that multiple surface-exposed arginine residues are prominent features of the H chain of IS4 that conferred the highest ability to bind CL in earlier experiments (Giles et al., 2003a). The hypothesis is that in the arginine rich CDR3 of IS4V_H, four out of five arginine residues [at positions 96, 97, 100, 100g (Wu

and Kabat, 1970)] are surface exposed and therefore potentially important in binding to CL. Therefore, the aim of my experiments as described in this chapter was to define the contribution of individual arginine residues within CDR3, in binding to CL, β_2 GPI and PS. To investigate this, patterns of CDR3 arginine residues in the V_H sequence were altered by site-directed mutagenesis. The altered sequences were expressed transiently in COS-7 cells and stably in CHO*dhfr⁻* cells. The binding of the different H and L combinations expressed was then assessed by direct ELISAs.

4.2 The importance of sequence features of $IS4V_{H}$ in binding to CL

4.2.1 Sequences of heavy chains and light chains expressed

The V_L sequences of IS4V_L and B3V_L are both encoded by the same germline V_{λ} gene, 2a2, but differ in their patterns of somatic mutation. The amino acid sequences are displayed in Figure 4.1A. As described in the previous chapter, B3V_L contains two adjacent arginine residues in CDR1, both produced by somatic mutations. In CDR3 of IS4V_L a serine residue is replaced by asparagine. The amino acid sequences of IS4V_H and the corresponding germline gene are shown in Figure 4.1B. IS4V_H contains an asparagine residue in CDR2 that was created by somatic mutation and multiple arginine residues in CDR3. The four surface exposed arginine residues that were altered by site-directed mutagenesis are shown in bold.

4.2.2 Results of site-directed mutagenesis

Six mutant forms of IS4V_H were generated in which particular arginine residues were mutated to serine. Serine was chosen because it is a non-polar amino acid residue. Germline reversion could not be performed, as our group could not align IS4 D_H to the germline D_H gene using DNAplot, which has strict alignment criteria described in Corbett et al., (1997). Four mutants, named IS4V_Hi, IS4V_Hii, IS4V_Hiii and IS4V_Hiv contained single mutations of arginine residues at positions 96, 97, 100 and 100g respectively. The remaining mutants contained two arginine to serine mutations at positions 96 and 97 (IS4V_Hi&ii) and at all four positions in IS4V_Hx. Figure 4.2 shows the sites of site-directed mutagenesis in the V_H CDR3 of the wild type IS4V_H and its six variants IS4V_Hi, IS4V_Hii, IS4V_Hiii, IS4V_Hiii, IS4V_Hii, SiXV_Hii, SiXV_HiX



Figure 4.1 Sequence alignment of expressed V_L and V_H regions (A) Sequences of expressed V_L regions compared to 2a2. (B) Sequence of expressed V_H region compared to 1-03. The amino acids altered by site-directed mutagenesis are shown in bold. The amino acids are numbered according to Kabat (Wu and Kabat, 1970). A dash indicates homology with the corresponding germline sequence.



Figure 4.2 Production of IS4V_H variants

This figure illustrates the results of the site-directed mutagenesis of $IS4V_{H}$ producing 6 new variant constructs. The amino acids mutated in the wild-type sequence are highlighted in yellow.

4.2.3 Transient expression of whole IgG in COS-7 cells

A total of 14 H/L chain combinations were expressed in COS-7 cells. At least two expression experiments were carried out for each combination. Each of the six mutant forms of $IS4V_H$ was paired with $IS4V_L$ and $B3V_L$. IgG was obtained in the supernatant for all the combinations and the range of concentrations in COS-7 cell supernatants from each of the 14 H/L chain combinations is illustrated in Table 4.1. In each experiment, the negative control sample in which COS-7 cells were electroporated without any plasmid DNA contained no detectable IgG.

4.2.4 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA and the importance of arginine residues in $IS4V_{H}$

For each H/L chain combination that bound CL, the linear portion of the binding curve for absorbance against antibody concentration was determined empirically by dilution of the COS-7 supernatant over a wide range of concentrations. For each combination, similar patterns of binding were observed from repeated expression experiments, hence representative results from a single experiment are shown in Figure 4.3. A H/L chain combination was not considered to bind CL if its binding curve gave an absorbance at 405nm, less than 0.1 in the anti-CL ELISA.

Very weak binding was seen with native IS4 (IS4V_H/IS4V_L) and this binding was lost when variant forms of IS4V_H were paired with IS4V_L. Pairing with B3V_L however is more informative. IS4V_H/B3V_L displayed high binding to CL, which was altered by the replacement of some or all of the four surface-exposed arginines in IS4V_H CDR3 to serine. Substitution of all four arginine with serine residues (IS4V_Hx) abolished CL binding completely. This effect seems likely to be due entirely to the changes at positions 100 and 100g since the H chain combinations containing arginine to serine at these positions (IS4V_Hiii and IS4V_Hiv) showed approximately 50% weaker binding to CL in combination with B3V_L than the wild-type IS4V_H/B3V_L combination. In contrast, the H chains containing arginine to serine mutations at position 96 (IS4V_Hi), position 97 (IS4V_Hii) or both (IS4V_Hi&ii) dispayed no reduction in CL binding.

Heavy Chain	Light Chain	IgG concentration (ng/ml)
IS4	B3	5-14
IS4V _H i	B3	24-54
IS4V _H ii	B3	30-34
IS4V _H iii	B3	30-34
IS4V _H iv	B3	28-30
IS4V _H x	B3	32-34
IS4V _H iⅈ	B3	32-47
IS4	IS4	24-368
IS4V _H i	IS4	50-56
IS4V _H ii	IS4	65-70
IS4V _H iii	IS4	48-90
IS4V _H iv	IS4	48-90
IS4V _H x	IS4	78-94
IS4V _H iⅈ	IS4	74-80

Table 4.1 The range of IgG concentrations in ng/ml produced for each heavy/light chain combination during the COS-7 transient expression experiments The IS4V_H mutants V_Hi, V_Hii, V_Hiii and V_Hiv contain single arginine to serine point mutations at positions 96, 97, 100 and 100g respectively; whilst V_Hi&ii contains arginine to serine mutations at positions 96 and 97; and V_Hx has arginine to serine mutations at all four positions.



Figure 4.3 Effect of arginine to serine point mutations in IS4V_H CDR3

Somatic mutations to Arg residues affect aPL derived H and L chains to CL, $\beta_2 GPI, \, PS$

Chapter Four

CL binding of IgG in COS-7 cell supernatants containing wild type or mutant forms of IS4 H chain with wild type IS4 or B3 L chains. The IS4V_H mutants V_{Hi} , V_{Hii} , V_{Hii} and V_{Hiv} contain single Arg to Ser point mutations at positions 96, 97, 100 and 100g respectively; whilst V_{Hi} contains Arg to Ser mutations at positions 96 and 97; and V_{HX} has Arg to Ser mutations at all four positions.

4.3 Stable expression of whole IgG molecules in CHOdhfr⁻ cells

4.3.1 Transfection of CHO*dhfr* cells with supervectors and methotrexate amplification of the transfected CHO cell lines to increase the yield of IgG

CHOdhfr² cells were transfected with the thirteen supervectors by electroporation as described in section 2.8. The three supervectors SV-IS4V_H/B3V_L, SV-IS4V_H/IS4V_L and SV-IS4V_H/UK4V_L were made by Dr I. Giles. I produced the remaining 10 supervectors by introducing mutations in these three supervectors, using site-directed mutagenesis. Two control lines underwent the same procedures and stresses as the supervector cell lines but they did not secrete IgG. This was achieved by transfecting the CHOdhfr² cells with an expression vector that contained a functional *dhfr* gene but no cloned V_H cDNA or V_λ cDNA (the "empty vector"). Consequently, these cells were not able to express whole IgG. This control cell line was treated (i.e. selected and amplified with MTX) exactly as the IgG producing cell lines. Another electroporation was carried out on CHOdhfr² cells, without the addition of DNA as another control. After 24 hours the cells were plated out in selective CHOdhfr² growth medium as described in section 2.8. Following 10-14 days of culture, all the cells in the "no DNA" negative control dishes were dead and foci of cells were clearly visible in the dishes containing cells transfected with the supervectors.

From the twenty-four foci picked from each electroporation stable cell line and tested for human IgG production (as described in section 2.8), six clones with the highest IgG production were selected for further expansion. Of these six, the highest producer was selected for further expansion and MTX amplification. Thirteen stable cell lines were produced from a single round of selection in growth medium B lacking ribo and deoxyribonucleosides (see section 2.1.13). The human IgG production / 1×10^6 cells / day of each clone, shown in Table 4.2, was measured as described in section 2.8.5.

Supervector	IgG production rate
	(ng/10 ⁶ cells/day)
SV-IS4V _H /IS4V _L	700
SV-IS4V _H iⅈ/IS4V _L	1056
SV-IS4V _H iii/IS4V _L	5152
SV-IS4V _H iv/IS4V _L	3145
SV-IS4V _H iii&iv/IS4V _L	4103
SV-IS4V _H x/IS4V _L	1458
SV-IS4V _H /B3VL	100
SV-IS4V _H iⅈ/B3V _L	293
SV-IS4V _H iii&iv/B3V _L	2242
SV-IS4V _H x/B3V _L	4333
SV-IS4V _H /UK4V _L	100
SV-IS4V _H i,iii&iv/B3V _L	4103
SV-IS4V _H ii,iii&iv/B3VL	293

Table 4.2 Human IgG production rates of CHO cells transfected with the supervectors The IS4V_H mutants V_Hi, V_Hii, V_Hiii and V_Hiv contain single arginine to serine point mutations at positions 96, 97, 100 and 100g respectively; whilst V_Hi&ii contains arginine to serine mutations at positions 96 and 97; and V_Hx has arginine to serine mutations at all four positions.

4.3.2 Binding of IgG produced by CHO cells to CL

The supernatants from CHO cell cultures producing each of the human aPL were tested for binding to CL by ELISA. Figure 4.4 shows the results of a representative experiment (carried out three times). The negative controls used in the ELISAs were CHO*dhfr*⁻ media and also supernatant from the CHO (empty pG1D210 vector) cell lines. Neither contained IgG nor anti-CL activity on testing by ELISA. The positive control in each case was serum from a patient with APS, containing anti-CL IgG. The same positive control was used for all the PL ELISAs and the SD of the positive control between the *OD* readings of the three experiments was always less than 0.1.

The IgG produced by the cell lines containing native IS4V_H (SV-IS4V_H/B3V_L and SV-IS4V_H/IS4V_L) were shown to bind CL with SV-IS4V_H/B3V_L being the strongest binder. With the higher concentration of IgG obtained from the stable cell lines, there was binding to CL, which was not evident with my previous experiments with the IgG amounts obtained from the COS-7 expression system. From the results of the COS-7 expression system, IS4V_H/IS4V_L binds well to CL. Mutation of the arginines at positions 96 and 97 to serine in IS4V_H, only has a slight effect on the binding to CL when paired with B3V_L (SV-IS4V_Hi&ii/B3V_L) and when paired with IS4V_L the binding to CL is abolished. Mutations at positions 100 and 100g have a greater influence on the binding to CL with binding significantly reduced when paired with B3V_L and completely lost when paired with IS4V_L (96, 100 and 100g / 97, 100 and 100g) reduces the binding even further. I observed weak binding to CL with SV-IS4V_Hi/IS4V_L, which I was unable to show in the COS-7 transient expression system.

4.3.3 Binding of IgG produced by CHO cells to β_2 GPI and PS

The anti- β_2 GPI and anti-PS binding activity of the IgG expressed by the stably transfected CHO*dhfr*⁻ cells is shown in Figure 4.5 and 4.6 respectively, which are representative results of three experiments. The positive and negative controls used were the same as those used in the CL ELISA. A combination was not considered to bind β_2 GPI if its binding curve gave an absorbance of less than 0.1 (at 405nm) for the concentration tested in the anti- β_2 GPI ELISA. The strongest binder to both β_2 GPI is SV-IS4V_H/B3V_L. Another four combinations show weak binding to β_2 GPI. I successfully demonstrated weak binding of SV-IS4V_H/IS4V_L to β_2 GPI, something that I had been unable to show with the concentrations of antibody obtained previously

from the COS-7 expression system. This combination was described as a weak binder to β_2 GPI by the original authors (Zhu et al., 1999). The combination containing the mutation at position 100g and IS4V_L (i.e. SV-IS4V_Hiv/IS4V_L) also bound β_2 GPI and the binding was slightly stronger than the wild-type SV-IS4V_H/IS4V_L. Two other combinations gave similar weak binding to β_2 GPI in combination with IS4V_L, one has the mutation at position 100 and the other has the mutation at positions 96 and 97 in IS4V_H. Any mutation in IS4V_H in combination with B3V_L abolishes the binding to β_2 GPI.

The results obtained from the anti-PS ELISA are much clearer (Figure 4.6). Only two combinations bind PS. $SV-IS4V_H/B3V_L$ is a strong binder and mutation of arginines at positions 96 and 97 shows a marked reduction in the binding to PS. None of the other combinations bind PS at the concentrations tested.



Figure 4.4 Results of aCL ELISA

CL binding of IgG in CHO cell supernatants containing supervectors with wild type or mutant forms of IS4 H chain with wild type IS4, B3 and UK4 L chains.

Somatic mutations to Arg residues affect aPL derived H and L chains to CL, $\beta_2 \text{GPI}, \, \text{PS}$

Chapter Four



Figure 4.5 Results of anti-β₂GPI ELISA

 β_2 GPI binding of IgG in CHO cell supernatants containing supervectors with wild type or mutant forms of IS4 H chain with wild type IS4, B3 and UK4 L chains.

Somatic mutations to Arg residues affect aPL derived H and L chains to CL, §2GPI, PS



Figure 4.6 Results of anti-PS ELISA

derived H and L chains to CL, $\beta_2 \text{GPI}, \text{ PS}$

aPL

Somatic mutations to Arg residu

Chapter Four

PS binding of IgG in CHO cell supernatants containing supervectors with wild type or mutant forms of IS4 H chain with wild type IS4, B3 and UK4 L chains.

4.4 Discussion

Computer models and previous experiments performed by our group have shown that $IS4V_{H}$ contains multiple non-germline encoded surface exposed arginine residues, which may be important in creating a CL binding site (Giles et al., 2003a). The results described in this chapter support this hypothesis as well as showing that it is not just the presence but also the precise location of arginine residues in the CDRs that is important in determining the ability to bind CL.

The experiments described report the use of an *in vitro* eukaryotic expression system to produce whole human IgG aPL. The great advantage of this transient expression system is that it allows rapid testing of large numbers of H/L chain combinations. One of the light chains that I expressed was derived from aPL (IS4V_L) whereas others were derived from an anti-DNA antibody (B3V_L). The links between aPL and anti-DNA antibodies are a source of some interest since they share a number of sequence characteristics. It has been shown that a murine anti-PC antibody can lose specificity for PL and become an anti-DNA antibody (Diamond and Scharff, 1984). By studying the properties of various combinations of these chains, I aimed to distinguish sequence features important in binding to PL.

Site-directed mutagenesis of specific arginine residues at sites of antigen contact, in $IS4V_{H}$ CDR3, was performed to assess the contribution of individual arginines to CL binding. The low binding of IS4V_H/IS4V_L was abolished by inclusion of any one of these mutations. This phenomenon of loss of binding was not observed, however, when these IS4V_H mutants are paired with $B3V_L$. In this case the arginine residues at positions 100 and 100g confer a greater effect on CL binding compared to the arginine residues at positions 96 and 97. Substitution of all of these IS4V_H CDR3 arginine residues was sufficient to abolish completely all binding to CL. It may be concluded that the effect of these arginine residues on binding to CL is highly dependent on the positions that they occupy in the sequence. Krishnan and colleagues (Krishnan et al., 1996, Krishnan and Marion, 1998) demonstrated a strong correlation between the position of arginine residues in $V_{\rm H}$ CDR3 and the specificity for dsDNA. They reported that the frequency of arginine expression among murine anti-dsDNA antibodies was highest at position 100 which suggests that the importance of this residue in binding to dsDNA lies in its position at the centre of the $V_{\rm H}$ CDR3 loop in the structure of the antigen combining site (Krishnan et al., 1996).

In the previous chapter, I have shown the importance of an arginine residue at a specific position in the V_H of an anti-DNA antibody, B3. Many other groups have also expressed antibodies *in vitro*, altering the V_H or V_L sequence by mutagenesis and shown that altering the numbers of arginine residues in the CDRs of these antibodies can lead to significant changes in binding to DNA. Several groups have shown that arginines in V_HCDR3 often play a particularly important role in binding to DNA (Li et al., 2000, Radic et al., 1991, Mockridge et al., 1996). In the case of aPL, different groups have reported important contributions from the H and the L chain. Cocca et al., (2001) studied a murine antibody, 3H9 that has dual specificity for PLs and DNA and showed that reversion of an arginine in the H chain V region reduced binding to these antigens. In another study also by the same group (Cocca et al., 2002), arginine residues were introduced into the V_H region at positions known to mediate DNA binding and they observed enhanced binding to PS- β_2 GPI complexes and to apoptotic cell debris.

The amount of whole IgG produced by transient expression in COS-7 cells was too small to allow purification or for experiments on pathogenicity to be carried out. It was therefore necessary to establish a stable expression system for production of recombinant IS4 and its variants in CHO cells to allow for more extensive *in vitro* and *in vivo* characterisation of the binding of the human IgG. In this chapter I also describe the successful development of a stable expression system to produce whole human recombinant aPL IgG molecules from cloned PCR products encoding aPL sequences. Furthermore, the stable cells lines were amplified using MTX.

The total yield of IgG1 varied between 6 and 5152 ng per 10^6 cells per day depending on the H and L chain expressed. With the larger amounts of IgG produced using MTX amplification, binding to CL as well as β_2 GPI and PS was clearly demonstrated. The results demonstrating weak binding to β_2 GPI in the absence of CL shown in Figure 4.5 confirm the observation of the original authors (Zhu et al., 1999) who found that IS4 secreted by hybridoma cells bound better to CL than to β_2 GPI.

My results show that there are different patterns of binding to different antigens. It is possible that the effects of the CDR3 arginine residues on binding to anionic PL are due to charge interactions between different antigens and different antibodies. It is also likely that the conformation of the cofactor, β_2 GPI, exposes different epitopes to different PL. The binding of human monoclonal aPL IS4 to β_2 GPI is further evidence
that studying this antibody is relevant to increasing our understanding of the pathogenesis of APS given that β_2 GPI is recognised as an important cofactor for pathogenic aPL. This aPL is likely to be typical of pathogenic aPL found in other patients with APS. Pewzner-Jung et al., (1996) is the only group that have described a stable expression system to produce a murine monoclonal anti-phosphorylcholine antibody (6G6) as whole IgM molecules. The stable expression of IS4 and variants that I have described in this thesis is the first report of stable *in vitro* expression of whole human IgG aPL.

In summary, I have demonstrated the relative importance of certain surface exposed arginine residues at critical positions within the heavy chain CDR3 of aPL (IS4) in conferring the ability to bind CL in a direct ELISA. After expression of the altered antibodies in larger quantities obtained from stably transfected cells, it is now important to test the effects of sequence changes involving these amino acids on pathogenic functions. More accurate information about changes in affinity of variant forms of IS4 for CL or β_2 GPI could be obtained by testing larger quantities of purified antibodies.

CHAPTER FIVE

Investigation of the relationship between antibody sequence and binding properties of purified human monoclonal antibody B3 and its variants

CHAPTER FIVE.

INVESTIGATION OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ANTIBODY SEQUENCE AND BINDING PROPERTIES OF PURIFIED HUMAN MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY B3 AND ITS VARIANTS

5.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter

When purified under rigorous conditions, Guth and colleagues have shown that some murine anti-dsDNA antibodies actually bind chromatin rather than dsDNA (Guth et al., 2003). This finding suggests that they may actually be anti-nucleosome antibodies, which only appear to bind dsDNA when they are incompletely dissociated from nucleosomes.

In order to obtain large quantities of purified human IgG secreted from the CHO cell lines produced and described in more detail in Chapter Three, they were grown in their selective amplification medium in a large volume commercial culture system. The human IgG was then purified from the supernatant using a protein A column and dialysed into PBS. The product was then analysed for purity by SDS-PAGE and quantified by spectrophotometry. This large-scale culture and purification was carried out by Chemicon Europe Ltd, Hampshire, UK. With the large amounts of purified antibody generated using this method, it was possible to obtain more accurate information regarding binding affinities to different clinically relevant antigens.

The aims of this chapter are to report the results of testing the purified antibodies to investigate whether the human mAb B3 is actually an anti-nucleosome antibody and also to investigate further the properties of the mutations introduced into B3, in binding to nucleosomes, ssDNA, α -actinin, CL, β_2 GPI, Domain I of β_2 GPI, PS and PS-PT.

5.2 Results of binding of purified human IgG molecules to clinically relevant antigens

5.2.1 Assembly of purified antibodies

Microgram quantities of recombinant human IgG were produced from each of the CHO cell lines 'wild-type' $B3V_H/B3V_L$, $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$, $B3V_H/B33V_L$ ($B3V_H$ coexpressed with $B3V_L$ CDR1 and $33H11V_L$ CDR2 and CDR3), $B3V_H/BUV_L$ ($B3V_H$ coexpressed with $B3V_L$ CDR1 and $UK-4V_L$ CDR2 and CDR3), $B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L$, $B3(R53S)V_H/B33V_L$, $B3(R53N)V_H/B3V_L$, $B3(R53K)V_H/B3V_L$. The human IgG concentration of each antibody was verified using the whole human IgG ELISA, described in section 2.7.1.

5.2.1.1 Results of anti-dsDNA ELISA

Figure 5.1 shows binding of purified IgG from the four H/L combinations $B3V_{H}/B3V_{L}$, B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L, B3V_H/B33V_L and B3V_H/BUV_L to dsDNA under different conditions. Similar results were obtained in repeated ELISA assays. Figure 5.1A shows that when the samples are not treated with DNase after being simply diluted in SEC buffer, the combination $B3V_H/B33V_L$ binds dsDNA but the other three do not. Figure 5.1B, shows the effect of DNase I treatment of the purified antibodies, diluted in SEC buffer, prior to testing in the dsDNA ELISA. None of these combinations binds dsDNA and the DNase I treatment appears to have abolished the binding of the purified SVB33 to dsDNA. In order to investigate whether a 'cofactor' was necessary for DNA binding, which might be present in cell culture supernatant but which may have been removed by purification, the purified antibodies were also tested for binding to dsDNA after dilution in supernatant from COS-7 cells that had been electroporated in the absence of plasmid. The antibody/COS-7 supernatant solutions were pre-treated with DNase I, prior to testing in the dsDNA ELISA. The addition of the COS-7 supernatant allows the binding of the three combinations - $B3V_{H}/B3V_{L}$, $B3V_{H}/B3(R27aS)V_{L}$, $B3V_{H}/B33V_{L}$ – to dsDNA (Figure 5.1C), despite treatment with DNase. The strength of binding increased in the order $B3V_{H}/B3(R27aS)V_{L} < C$ $B3V_{H}/B3V_{L} < B3V_{H}/B33V_{L}$. The same order was seen previously by expressing these combinations transiently in COS-7 cells (Haley et al., 2004). The combination $B3V_H/BUV_L$ does not bind dsDNA in ELISA under any conditions, which also corresponds to results obtained previously (Haley et al., 2004).





Figure 5.1 Binding of purified human IgG molecules to dsDNA

The purified human IgG antibodies were tested by ELISA for their binding to dsDNA. Diluted serum from a patient with SLE was run on every plate as a positive control. The standard deviation (S.D) of the standard serum OD value between plates was +/-0.07. ODs in the control wells containing no antigen were always lower than 0.068. In order to confirm the findings of the experiments, they were repeated on a separate occasion.

(A) The dsDNA binding of the purified antibodies when diluted in SEC buffer but not treated with *DNase I*. The standard deviations were as follows: SD < 0.121 OD units for all points on the curve $B3V_{H}/B33V_{L}$ and SD < 0.002 for all points on curves $B3V_{H}/B3V_{L}$, $B3V_{H}/B3(R27aS)V_{L}$ and $B3VH/BUV_{L}$.

(B) The dsDNA binding of the purified antibodies when diluted in SEC buffer, and treated with *DNase I* prior to testing in the ELISA. The SD for all points on all four curves was less than 0.002 OD units.

(C) The dsDNA binding of the purified antibodies diluted in supernatant derived from non-transfected COS-7 cells and treated with *DNase I* prior to testing in the ELISA. The standard deviations were as follows: SD < 0.176 OD units for all points on the curve $B3V_H/B33V_L$, SD < 0.185 for all points on curve $B3V_H/B3V_L$, SD < 0.185 for all points on curve $B3V_H/B3V_L$, SD < 0.185 for all points on curve $B3V_H/B3V_L$, SD < 0.185 for all points on curve $B3V_H/B3V_L$, SD < 0.185 for all points on curve $B3V_H/B3V_L$, SD < 0.185 for all points on curve $B3V_H/B3V_L$.

5.2.1.2 Results of anti-nucleosome and anti-ssDNA ELISA

Figure 5.2 shows binding of the eight purified antibodies to nucleosomes, in the absence of COS-7 cell supernatant. The combinations $B3V_H/B3V_L$, $B3V_H/B33V_L$, and $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$) are good nucleosome binders. Strength of binding to nucleosomes was similar for the three combinations. There is a tendency to increased strength of binding in the order $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L < B3V_H/B3V_L < B3V_H/B3V_L$. $B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L$ is a weak binder to nucleosomes. The other four combinations $B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L$, $B3(R53N)V_H/B3V_L$, $B3(R53K)V_H/B3V_L$, and $B3V_H/BUV_L$ do not bind nucleosomes. Thus mutation of R53 to either S, N or K abolishes binding of B3 to nucleosomes (when paired with $B3V_L$) even when the antibodies are purified and tested at high concentrations. Similar patterns of binding were obtained with each antibody from repeated experiments hence representative results from a single experiment are shown in Figure 5.2. I also tested the antibodies for binding to ssDNA. There was no binding to ssDNA for any of the eight purified antibodies despite good binding of the positive control in the anti-ssDNA ELISA.

5.2.1.3 Addition of nucleosomes allows the reinstatement of dsDNA binding of the purified antibodies

Since the same three combinations which bound dsDNA on the addition of COS-7 supernatant (Figure 5.1C) also bound nucleosomes (Figure 5.2), I carried out experiments to test whether addition of purified nucleosomes (rather than cell supernatant) would have the same effect on binding of these antibodies to dsDNA. Figure 5.3 shows that binding of $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ to dsDNA is reconstituted by adding purified nucleosomes at a concentration of $10\mu g$ dsDNA/ml. This effect was also seen for this H/L combination at a nucleosome concentration of 2.5 μg dsDNA/ml (though the OD achieved was lower) but not at nucleosome concentrations of 1.5 μg dsDNA/ml or $20\mu g$ dsDNA/ml. I was unable to demonstrate reconstitution of binding of purified B3V_H/B3V_L, B3V_H/B33V_L or B3V_H/BUV_L to dsDNA at any of these four concentrations of nucleosomes (1.5, 2.5, 10 or $20\mu g$ dsDNA/ml).



Figure 5.3 Binding to dsDNA of purified antibodies containing nucleosomes

sequence and binding of purified B3 and variants

Investigation of relationship between

Chapter Five

Binding to dsDNA of purified *DNase I* treated antibodies diluted in SEC containing nucleosomes at a concentration of $10\mu g$ dsDNA/ml. At this concentration of nucleosomes only $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ binds to dsDNA. The same results were obtained when the experiment was repeated at a concentration of 2.5µg dsDNA/ml except that the peak OD for the $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ curve was lower (OD values was 0.2. At nucleosome concentrations of 1.5µg dsDNA/ml or $20\mu g$ dsDNA/ml, none of these H/L combinations bound dsDNA.



Figure 5.3 Binding to dsDNA of purified antibodies containing nucleosomes

binding of purified B3 and variants

Five

Chapter

Binding to dsDNA of purified *DNase I* treated antibodies diluted in SEC containing nucleosomes at a concentration of $10\mu g$ dsDNA/ml. At this concentration of nucleosomes only $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ binds to dsDNA. The same results were obtained when the experiment was repeated at a concentration of $2.5\mu g$ dsDNA/ml except that the peak OD for the $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ curve was lower (OD values was 0.2. At nucleosome concentrations of $1.5\mu g$ dsDNA/ml or $20\mu g$ dsDNA/ml, none of these H/L combinations bound dsDNA.

5.2.1.4 Results of α -actinin ELISA

Figure 5.4 shows binding of the eight purified antibodies to α -actinin. In complete contrast to the results of the anti-nucleosome ELISA, the presence of the R53S mutation enhances binding to α -actinin. The wild-type combination B3V_H/B3V_L did not bind α -actinin in this experiment. However, B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L did bind α -actinin. Both B3V_H/B33V_L and B3(R53S)V_H/B33V_L bind α -actinin but the latter binds more strongly, again showing that the R53S mutation enhances binding to this antigen. The B33 light chain appears to confer stronger binding to α -actinin than B3V_L, just as was previously seen for binding to dsDNA and nucleosomes. None of the other combinations binds α -actinin. In particular, the other mutations at position R53 (R53N and R53K) did not enhance binding.

5.2.1.5 Results of binding to whole $\beta_2 GPI$ and Domain I of $\beta_2 GPI$

Figure 5.5 shows binding of the eight purified antibodies to β_2 GPI. Binding was only seen at concentrations 10 times higher than those which gave binding of the wild-type B3V_H/B3V_L to nucleosomes. As with α -actinin, the introduction of the R53S mutation enhances binding to β_2 GPI. Similarly, B3(R53S)V_H/B33V_L binds β_2 GPI better than B3V_H/B33V_L. Interestingly, on this occasion the R27aS mutation in B3V_L also enhances binding. The loss of this L chain arginine has not previously been found to enhance binding to any antigen (Haley et al., 2004, Rahman et al., 2001). B3V_H/BUV_L does not bind β_2 GPI even at an IgG concentration of 10µg/ml but it is difficult to reach any firm conclusions about the other combinations because I could not test them at concentrations above 1µg/ml (at which only B3(R53S)V_H/B33V_L showed binding). In particular, it is impossible to tell from Figure 5.5 whether mutation of R53 to N or K would have the same effect as R53S.

If we consider Figure 5.6, it becomes clear, that the mutation R53S in B3V_H has an effect on binding to DI of β_2 GPI, which is not shared by R53N or R53K. This figure shows binding of all eight purified antibodies to DI over the same range of concentrations up to a peak of 1µg/ml. Only B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L shows any significant binding to DI at these concentrations. Here, B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L binds much less strongly than B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L showing that the B33 L chain does not enhance binding to DI, contrary to its effects on binding to nucleosomes and α -actinin.



Figure 5.4 Results of anti-α-actinin ELISA

sequence and binding of purified B3 and variants

Investigation of relationship between

Chapter Five

This figure shows the binding of the eight purified antibodies in direct ELISA assay to α -actinin. Diluted serum from a patient with SLE was run as a positive control.



Figure 5.5 Results of anti- β_2 GPI ELISA

This figure shows the binding of the eight purified antibodies in direct ELISA assay to β_2 GPI. Diluted serum from a patient with APS was run as a positive control.



5.2.1.6 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA

Figure 5.7 shows results of the ELISA to detect binding to CL in the presence of FCS, containing bovine β_2 GPI. With the exceptions of combinations B3V_H/B3V_L and B3(R53S)V_H/B33V_L, binding is either absent or weak and only present above 1µg/ml. Surprisingly, the combination B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L did not bind CL despite binding well to β_2 GPI and DI at the same concentrations of IgG. In many cases human anti- β_2 GPI antibodies bind CL, using β_2 GPI as a cofactor. One possible explanation was that the strong binding of B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L to human β_2 GPI and DI is species-specific since there are 11 amino acid differences between human and bovine DI of β_2 GPI, represented in Figure 5.8. This hypothesis would predict that this combination would bind CL in the presence of human but not bovine β_2 GPI. Therefore, I replaced the FCS in the CL ELISA with human serum to test this hypothesis. Figure 5.9 shows weak binding of the purified antibody B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L to CL was restored in the presence of human serum and was similar to that seen with a human monoclonal aPL (IS4V_H/IS4V_L). To confirm the species-specificity still further, B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L was tested for binding to bovine β_2 GPI in a direct ELISA and did not bind.

5.2.1.7 Results of anti-phosphatidylserine ELISA

Figure 5.10 shows the results of the ELISA to detect binding to PS in the presence of FCS, containing bovine β_2 GPI. There is weak binding with the combination B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L, but since the ODs are very low, it is difficult to reach to any firm conclusions. None of the other combinations bound PS. However, it can be argued that binding of B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L to PS may be enhanced by replacing the FCS with human serum (since we have proved above that B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L is species-specific).

5.2.2 Reproducibility of results

Figures 5.1 to 5.10 (except Figure 5.8) all show representative ELISA curves. To confirm reproducibility of the findings we tested each antibody against each antigen in triplicate at a fixed IgG concentration of 1μ g/ml. Figures 5.11 and 5.12 show these results with error bars (mean +/- S.D) and confirm the different patterns of binding seen against different antigens. These results show that the presence or absence of R53 in the V_H sequences of these eight H/L combinations has profound effects on binding to multiple clinically relevant antigens but has different effects on different antigens.



Figure 5.7 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA

This figure shows the binding of the eight purified antibodies in direct ELISA assay to CL. Diluted serum from a patient with the Antiphospholipid syndrome was run as a positive control.

nvestigation of relationship between sequence and binding of purified B3 and variants

Chapter Five

Chapter Five

	1	5	10			
Human	NH2-Gly-Arg-Thr-Cys-Pro-Lys-Pro-Asp-Asp-Leu-Pro-Phe-Ser-Thr-Val					
Bovine	NH2-Gly-Arg-	NH2-Gly-Arg-Thr-Cys-Pro-Lys-Pro-Asp-Glu-Leu-Pro-Phe-Ser-Thr-Val				
	16	20	25			
Human	Val-Pro-Leu-Lys- <mark>Thr-Phe</mark> -Tyr-Glu-Pro-Gly-Glu- <mark>Glu</mark> -Ile- <mark>Thr-Tyr</mark>					
Bovine	Val-Pro-	Val-Pro-Leu-Lys-Arg-Thr-Tyr-Glu-Pro-Gly-Glu-Gin-Ile-Val-Phe				
	31	35	40			
Human	Ser-Cys- <mark>Lys</mark> -Pro-Gly-Tyr-Val-Ser-Arg-Gly-Gly- <mark>Met</mark> -Arg- <mark>Lys</mark> -Phe					
Bovine	Ser-Cys-Gin-Pro-Gly-Tyr-Val-Ser-Arg-Gly-Gly- Ile-Arg-Arg-Phe					
	46	50	55			
Human	Ile-Cys-Pro-Leu-Thr-Gly-Leu-Trp-Pro-Ile-Asn-Thr-Leu-Lys-Cys-Thr					
Bovine	Thr-Cys-Pro-Leu-Thr-Gly-Leu-Trp-Pro-Ile-Asn-Thr-Leu-Lys-Cys-Met					

Figure 5.8 Amino acid sequence of Domain I of human and bovine β_2 GPI There are 11 amino acid differences between the sequence of Domain I of human and bovine β_2 GPI. These are highlighted in yellow (in the case of human) and blue (in the case of bovine).

Figure 5.10 Results of anti-phosphatingiaerine ELISA This figure shows the binding of the eight purified antibodies in direct ELISA assay to PS. Otherd period from a patient with APS was run its a positive control. A contribution was not considered to find PS if its binding curve gave an absorbance of less them 0.1 (at 405mm) (represented by the dotted line) for the concentration bested in the anti-PS ELISA.







Figure 5.10 Results of anti-phosphatidylserine ELISA

This figure shows the binding of the eight purified antibodies in direct ELISA assay to PS. Diluted serum from a patient with APS was run as a positive control. A combination was not considered to bind PS if its binding curve gave an absorbance of less than 0.1 (at 405nm) (represented by the dotted line) for the concentration tested in the anti-PS ELISA.



Purified antibodies at 1mcg/ml

Figure 5.11 Summary of binding to nucleosomes and α -actinin

The chart represents the binding of the eight purified antibodies to nucleosomes (equivalent to a concentration of 10μ g/ml dsDNA) and α -actinin (20μ g/ml). All antibodies were tested at a concentration of 1μ g/ml in triplicate and the error bars represent mean +/– S.D.





Purified antibodies at 1mcg/ml

Figure 5.12 Summary of binding to cardiolipin, β_2 GPI and Domain I The chart represents the binding of the eight purified antibodies to CL (50µg/ml), β_2 GPI (10µg/ml) and DI (5µg/ml). All antibodies were tested at a concentration of $1\mu a/ml$ in triplicate and the bars represent mean +/- S.D.

5.3 Discussion

The results that I obtained from ELISA using the purified antibodies show that the wild-type antibody $B3V_H/B3V_L$ only binds to dsDNA when the antibody is complexed with a component that is present in the supernatant of transfected COS-7 cells. This complex dissociates when the antibody is purified causing the binding to be lost. When the COS-7 cell supernatant is added back, the ability to bind dsDNA is restored. The same is true of B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L, but binding is weaker. The combination $B3V_H/B33V_L$ binds more strongly to dsDNA with the addition of the supernatant. However, in the case of purified $B3V_H/B33V_L$, the complex does not dissociate fully during purification and when diluted in SEC buffer alone, this combination binds dsDNA. This binding is lost following treatment with DNase suggesting that the component complexed with $B3V_H/B33V_L$ is a bridging nucleoprotein, which is essential for binding of this antibody to dsDNA. This hypothesis is based on the assumption that if only a small quantity of cofactor was bound to the purified SVB33, DNase I digestion of the DNA component might dissociate the complex and prevent binding to DNA via the histone component. This theory is potentially supported, by the abrogation of the binding of $B3V_H/B33V_L$ to dsDNA by DNase I treatment. If the complexed component were dsDNA alone, then digestion with DNase I would increase binding to dsDNA on the plate rather than decreasing it. The results obtained after addition of the cell supernatant concur with the findings obtained using the transient expression, of separate H and L chain vectors on COS-7 cells, showing the same pattern of binding (Haley et al., 2004).

This interpretation of my results, obtained using human antibodies is very similar to the arguments of Kramers et al., (1996) and Guth et al., (2003), following their experiments using murine antibodies. Kramers and colleagues showed that purification of monoclonal murine antibodies from hybridoma supernatant using *DNase* and high salt conditions prior to loading on a protein A column was necessary to produce non-complexed antibodies. These antibodies would bind to nucleosomes but not dsDNA whereas if high salt and *DNase* were not used the antibodies remained complexed to nucleosomes, and would bind dsDNA. Guth and colleagues studied antibodies 3H9 and SN5-18 derived from two different autoimmune mouse strains and obtained similar results. Both antibodies bound chromatin, but not histones or dsDNA, when highly purified whereas unpurified hybridoma supernatant or Protein G preparation of 3H9 did bind dsDNA and SN5-18 supernatant or SP2/0

cells was added to highly purified 3H9, its ability to bind dsDNA was restored and is similar to our finding that addition of COS-7 supernatant restores binding of the purified antibody B3 to DNA. The conclusion was that incomplete purification of such antibodies can lead to the interpretation that they bind dsDNA whereas the true antigen is nucleosomes (a complex of dsDNA, histone 2A and histone 2B) (Guth et al., 2003).

There is another possible explanation of my results. Treatment with *DNase* may alter DNA in solution in such a way that it acts as a competitive inhibitor of binding of antibody to dsDNA on the plate. When *DNase I* is added to an incompletely dissociated complex of dsDNA with $B3V_H/B33V_L$ it may generate small fragments of DNA or perhaps ssDNA. These fragments may remain associated with the antibody, or may gain access to the combining site, and act as efficient competitors of binding to dsDNA. The supernatants of the dying COS-7 cells could release other nucleases cleaving the phosphodiester bonds between the nucleotide subunits of DNA. However, this theory does not explain why $B3V_H/B3V_L$ and $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ do not bind dsDNA in the absence of COS-7 supernatants even in the absence of *DNase I*, but will bind it when these supernatants are added.

During electroporation of COS-7 cells, approximately 70% of the cells are believed to die. The supernatant collected from these cells is therefore rich in debris from dying cells. Nucleosomes are part of this material and contain DNA. Nucleosomes might well be the cofactor from the COS-7 supernatant that binds the expressed antibodies and enables them to bind dsDNA in ELISA. For this assumption to be correct, then the purified DNase treated antibodies should bind nucleosomes. Results shown in Figure 5.2 confirm this assumption. The combinations $B3V_{H}/B3V_{L}$, $B3V_{H}/B3(R27aS)V_{L}$, and B3V_H/B33V_L bind nucleosomes, without requiring the addition of cell supernatant. Guth et al., (2003) showed that arginine to serine mutations in V_{H} CDR3 of SN5-18 eliminates binding to chromatin. The single arginine to serine mutation in $B3(R27aS)V_L$ did not remove binding to nucleosomes but reduced it slightly. Replacement of CDR2 and CDR3 of B3V_L by those of 33H11 or UK4 gave different effects on binding to nucleosomes, even though these three L chains are derived from the same germline gene and differ only at positions of somatic mutations (see Figure 5.2). In particular, the combination $B3V_H/BUV_L$ does not bind nucleosomes at all.

It was confusing that addition of purified nucleosomes could reconstitute the binding of $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ to dsDNA but not that of combinations $B3V_H/B3V_L$, or $B3V_H/B33V_L$, which bind nucleosomes at least as well as $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ in direct ELISA. However, it is clear from the experiments with $B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L$ that the concentration of nucleosomes is critical to their ability to act as a cofactor in the binding of this antibody to dsDNA. This finding may well also be the case for the other two combinations. Perhaps some non-nucleosome component of the supernatant, such as a nuclease, which removes a competitive inhibitor from the binding site, is playing a role in promoting the binding of $B3V_H/B3V_L$ and $B3V_H/B33V_L$ to dsDNA. Alternatively, these two H/L combinations may require the presence of a nucleoprotein cofactor, which is not found in our nucleosome preparation, in order to bind dsDNA.

My results from the binding studies described in this chapter show that a single change from arginine to serine in V_H CDR2 causes a dramatic shift in the binding properties of the human monoclonal IgG antibody B3. Arginine at position 53 is critical for binding to dsDNA and nucleosomes. Changing this arginine to serine, in the absence of any other change in sequence in either the H or L chain, abolishes binding to those two antigens but creates binding to α -actinin, whole β_2 GPI and DI. Other groups have previously shown simultaneous decreases in binding of human anti-dsDNA antbodies to dsDNA and nucleosomes (Wellmann et al., 2005) or to dsDNA and PLs (Cocca et al., 2001) after loss of particular arginine residues by mutagenesis. In this thesis I have reported dramatic shifts of binding in opposite directions to different clinically relevant antigens caused by a single arginine to serine mutation and to my knowledge this finding has not been reported in the literature thus far.

Mostoslavsky and colleagues studied a panel of 15 monoclonal murine anti-DNA, anti-histone and anti-nucleosome antibodies and have shown that their ability to cause nephritis was closely associated with their ability to bind α -actinin (Mostoslavsky et al., 2001). α -actinin is an important structural protein in the renal podocyte and the theory that anti- α -actinin antibodies are important in lupus nephritis has been supported by experiments in another murine model (Deocharan et al., 2002, Zhao et al., 2005) and in a clinical study (Mason et al., 2004). This thesis describes an analysis of the effects of somatic mutations in anti-dsDNA antibodies on

ability to bind α -actinin and to my knowledge, this has not been reported in the literature thus far.

Anti-nucleosome antibodies are thought to cause glomerulonephritis by the formation of nucleosome/anti-nucleosome complexes, which interact with HS in the GBM (Kramers et al., 1994, van Bruggen et al., 1997). Wellmann et al., (2005) recently showed that two somatic mutations in the L chain and one in the H chain of the human monoclonal anti-dsDNA antibody 33.C9 were essential for binding to either dsDNA or nucleosomes. In summary, there is convincing evidence that antinucleosome antibodies are important in the pathogenesis of lupus nephritis and that somatic mutations are important in controlling affinity for nucleosomes.

Cocca et al., (2001) showed that reversion of an arginine at position 53 in the H chain of the murine anti-dsDNA antibody 3H9 to serine reduces binding to DNA, PL, β_2 GPI and apoptotic cells. They suggested that some autoantibodies are produced in response to autoantigens derived from apoptotic cell debris and that some somatic mutations could therefore enhance binding to several such antigens. Accumulation of further mutations might then be expected to increase the affinity of the antibody for one autoantigen while reducing its affinity for others. My results could suggest that the wild-type B3 antibody which contains some somatic mutations (94% homology to the germline gene V3-23) had high affinity for nucleosomes, but the introduction of the H chain germline reversion R53S created an antibody with specificity and high affinity for α -actinin and β_2 GPI. My experiments showed that B3V_H/B3V_I binds nucleosomes at much lower antibody concentrations than the concentrations of B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L required to bind α -actinin and β_2 GPI. The computer model of the B3/dsDNA complex (Figure 1.5) showing an interaction between dsDNA and R53 supports the idea that R53 is important in affinity maturation of the antibody (Kalsi et al., 1996). Although some previous authors had shown that an increase of arginine residues in CDRs led antibodies to develop first binding to ssDNA then binding to dsDNA (Li et al., 2000, Wellmann et al., 2005), in my experiments none of the H/L chain combinations bound ssDNA.

One strength of my work compared to previous studies is that I compared the effects of mutations to differently charged amino acids (R53S, R53N and R53K). I did this comparison because several authors have noted a prevalence of R, N and K residues at the antigen-binding sites of human and murine anti-dsDNA antibodies (Radic and

Weigert, 1994, Winkler et al., 1992, Rahman et al., 2002). Using a different approach (Collis et al., 2003) reviewed the sequences of 1875 antibodies in the Kabat database and showed that both R and N, but not K, are significantly over-represented in the combining sites of antibodies that bind nucleotide antigens, in comparison to antibodies binding other types of antigen. Lysine, like arginine, is positively charged and could potentially interact with negatively charged antigens. Arginine, asparagine and lysine can all form hydrogen bonds with dsDNA. Therefore, this might lead to the hypothesis that the R53N and R53K mutations would have less adverse effect on binding to dsDNA and nucleosomes than R53S but I did not find this to be the case in my study. It seems likely that a property of arginine apart from charge or hydrogen bond formation is crucial to its interaction with dsDNA. Perhaps the length and shape of the arginine side chain are important. In contrast R53S, R53N and R53K had very different effects on interaction with α -actinin, and DI.

The production of an antibody, B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L which was found to distinguish human from bovine β_2 GPI was unexpected and has not previously been described according to my literature search. As shown in Figure 5.8, there are 11 amino acid differences between the sequence of DI of human and bovine β_2 GPI, therefore it is likely one of these differences plays a role in the specificity of the antibody for human β_2 GPI.

CHAPTER SIX.

Arginine residues are important in determining the binding of purified hnman monoclonal antibody IS4 to clinically relevant antigons

CHAPTER SIX.

ARGININE RESIDUES ARE IMPORTANT IN DETERMINING THE BINDING OF PURIFIED HUMAN MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY IS4 TO CLINICALLY RELEVANT ANTIGENS

6.1 Introduction and aims of this chapter

In Chapter Four, I have shown that the sequence of IS4V_H conferred the ability to bind PL whilst the identity of the paired V_L was important in determining the strength of PL binding. Subsequently, I reported that specific arginine residues in IS4V_H CDR3 were especially important in conferring the ability to bind CL, β_2 GPI and PS and described the production of stable cell lines that provided an increase in the yield of IgG compared to the transient expression system. Thus, it was feasible to purify IgG and remove apoptotic/necrotic debris from the supernatant. This large-scale culture and purification was carried out by Chemicon Europe Ltd, Hampshire, UK.

The aims of the work described in this Chapter are to report the experiments performed with each purified H/L combination in ELISA assays for binding to anionic PL, such as CL and PS, as well as β 2GPI and PS-PT that have been proposed as important targets in APS. I have also tested the purified antibodies for binding to a neutral PL (PC) and dsDNA, which shares some structural similarities with anionic PL but is not involved in the pathogenesis of APS. PC and dsDNA were included to determine whether the relationships between antibody sequence and binding that I observed were specific for clinically important antigen/antibody interactions.

6.2 Assembly of aPL antibodies

6.2.1 Sequences of expressed antibody variable regions

The sequences of IS4, B3 and UK4 have all been described in the previous chapters. All three antibodies contain L chains encoded by the germline V_{λ} gene 2a2. These L chains differ in nucleotide sequence only by 7% or less, as a result of their different patterns of somatic mutation. There are five Arg residues in IS4V_H CDR3, four of which are surface exposed and were mutated to serine to create the mutant forms of $IS4V_{H}$ (discussed in more detail in Chapter Four). The nomenclature of the mutant H chains is summarised in Table 6.1.

Heavy chain	Position 96	Position 97	Position 100	Position 100g
IS4VH	R	R	R	R
IS4VHiii	R	R	R100S	R
IS4VHiv	R	R	R	R100gS
IS4VHiⅈ	R96S	R97S	R	R
IS4VHiii&iv	R	R	R100S	R100gS
IS4VHi,iii&iv	R96S	R	R100S	R100gS
IS4VHii,iii&iv	R	R97S	R100S	R100gS
IS4VHx	R96S	R97S	R100S	R100gS

Table 6.1 Patterns of Arginine (R) to serine (S) replacements in IS4V_HCDR3

6.2.2 Stable expression of whole IgG in CHO cells and purification of antibody

A total of 13 H/L chain combinations were expressed in CHO cells, which contained wild type or mutant $IS4V_{H}$. Different amounts of IgG were obtained from each cell line after successive rounds of methotrexate amplification (detailed in Chapter Four). Human IgG was purified and quantified (as described in Chapter Five). Western blot analyses of the purified antibodies confirmed the presence of a strong band consistent with whole IgG on non-reducing gels (Figure 6.1) with no free H chains.

6.3 Characterisation of the binding properties of monoclonal aPL by ELISA

6.3.1 Results of anti-cardiolipin ELISA

Figure 6.2 shows binding the degree of the thirteen purified antibodies to CL. Similar patterns of binding were obtained with each antibody from repeated experiments hence representative results from a single experiment with dilutions of antibody over a wide range of concentrations are shown in Figure 6.2. These results are also confirmed in Figure 6.3, which represents binding of each combination in triplicate using a fixed antibody concentration of $1\mu g/ml$ to prove reproducibility. The wild-type combination IS4V_H/IS4V_L bound CL, but any reduction in the number of CDR3 arginines abolished binding. In contrast, replacement of the L chain of IS4 by B3V_L $(IS4V_H/B3V_L)$ increased binding to CL. Since the binding of the combination $IS4V_{H}/IS4V_{I}$ was abolished by substitution of any one of the four V_H CDR3 arginine residues, the effects of V_H CDR3 arginine to serine substitutions in combination with $IS4V_H/B3V_L$ on binding to CL are more informative. The combination containing mutations at positions 96 and 97 (IS4V_Hi&ii/B3V_L) has actually increased the binding to CL. With all the other combinations, binding was reduced, but not always abolished by different patterns of arginine to serine substitutions, therefore useful comparisons between the degrees of reduction caused by substitutions at different positions can be made. Substitution of all four arginine with serine residues $(IS4V_{Hx}/B3V_{L})$ abolished binding to CL completely. Substitution of the arginines at positions 100 and 100g (IS4V_Hiii&iv/B3V_L) reduced binding to CL. However, in the case of the triple mutants, either 96, 100 and 100g (IS4V_Hi,iii&iv/B3V_L) or 97, 100 and 100g (IS4V_Hiii&iv/B3V_L), binding was abolished. The combination IS4V_H/UK4V_L conferred weak binding to CL (Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.1 Western blot showing the presence of whole IgG

Lane 1: COS-7 cell supernatant from electroporation without any plasmid DNA

- Lane 2: CHO cell supernatant from electroporation without any plasimd DNA
- Lane 3: Shows the presence of whole IgG in the COS-7 supernatant produced from the $IS4V_{H}/IS4V_{L}$ combination
- Lane 4: Shows the presence of whole IgG in the CHO supernatant produced from the $IS4V_{H}/IS4V_{L}$ combination
- Lane 5: This band represents the positive control, whole IgG in the purified $IS4V_{H}/IS4V_{L}$ (150-kDa)

The second band obtained in lanes 1-4 is likely to be some form of impurity present in the cell supernatant since this band is not visible in the purified sample. This band was visible in the negative control lanes 1 and 2 ("no DNA" control supernatants), therefore it rules out the possibility that this band represents any free H or L chain. A marker was not available for a non-denaturing gel therefore the size of the band is not known.



Figure 6.2 Results of cardiolipin ELISA

The graph shows binding of purified IgG antibodies to CL in a direct ELISA when $IS4V_{H}$ and variants are paired with A) native $IS4V_{L}$ and B) $B3V_{L}$ and $UK4V_{L}$.



246

Chapter Six

Arginine residues are important in determining binding of purified human monoclonal IS4

6.3.2 Results of modified anti-CL ELISA

Purified native IS4V_H/IS4V_L and two other combinations (IS4V_H/B3V_L and IS4V_Hiii&iv/B3V_L) that bound CL in the standard ELISA, bound equally well to CL in the modified ELISA (Figure 6.4). This result suggested a lack of serum dependency of native IS4, in contrast to the findings of Zhu and colleagues (Zhu et al., 1999) using IS4 hybridoma. Therefore, I examined the purified samples for the presence of contaminating β_2 GPI by western blot. A faint band was visible on the blot consistent with the presence of bovine β_2 GPI at 54-kDa (Figure 6.5). This result indicates that the purification carried out was not sufficient to remove completely the bovine β_2 GPI present in the FCS of the culture media used for growing the cell lines.

6.3.3 Results of anti-phospatidylserine ELISA

The results of the PS ELISA (Figure 6.6) are similar to the results of the binding to CL. This is confirmed in Figure 6.7 which represents binding results to PS, of each combination in triplicate using a fixed antibody concentration of 1μ g/ml. The wild-type combination IS4V_H/IS4V_L bound PS, but any reduction in the number of CDR3 arginines paired with IS4V_L abolished binding as was the case with CL.

In contrast, replacement of the L chain of IS4 by $B3V_L$ (IS4V_H/B3V_L) increased binding to PS. Similar to the results obtained in the CL ELISA, the combination containing mutations at positions 96 and 97 (IS4V_Hi&ii/B3V_L) has actually increased the binding to PS. However, substitution of all four arginine with serine residues (IS4V_Hx/B3V_L) abolished binding to PS completely (Figure 6.6). There is a minor difference between binding to PS and CL. IS4V_H/UK4V_L conferred weak binding to CL but did not bind PS.

The results shown in Figure 6.6 obtained using higher concentration of IgG available with the use of purified antibodies add more information to what I reported in Chapter Four using CHO cell supernatant, where only two combinations bound PS $(IS4V_H/B3V_L \text{ and } IS4V_Hi\&i/B3V_L)$.







Figure 6.4 Results of modified anti-cardiolipin ELISA

The graph shows binding of purified IgG antibodies to CL detected by ELISA in the absence of FCS, when $IS4V_H$ and variants are paired with A) native $IS4V_L$ and B) $B3V_L$.



Lane 1: Shows the presence of whole $\beta_2 \text{GPI}$ in the CHO supernatant produced from

the $IS4V_H/IS4V_L$ combination

Lane 2: Purified IS4V_Hi&ii/B3V_L at a concentration of 1μ g/ml

Lane 3: Purified IS4V_H/IS4V_L at a concentration of 1μ g/ml

Lane 4: Shows the positive control, whole human β 2GPI at concentration 125ng/ml

Figure 6.5 Western blot showing the presence of whole β_2 GPI in antibody preparations

Different antibody preparations were loaded onto the gel and probed for presence of β_2 GPI to compare with control β_2 GPI.





Figure 6.6 Results of phosphatidylserine ELISA

The graph shows binding of purified IgG antibodies to PS in a direct ELISA when $IS4V_{H}$ and variants are paired with A) native $IS4V_{L}$ and B) $B3V_{L}$ and $UK4V_{L}$.



important in determining binding of purified human monoclonal IS4

are

residues

Chapter Six
6.3.4 Results of anti-phosphatidylcholine ELISA

Figure 6.8 shows the binding results to PC where the wild-type combination $IS4V_H/IS4V_L$ did not bind PC. However, replacement of the L chain of IS4 by $B3V_L$ ($IS4V_H/B3V_L$) created the ability to bind PC. None of the other combinations bound PC. It seems likely that all four of these residues contribute to PC binding since double mutations of either arginines 96 and 97 ($IS4V_Hi8ii/B3V_L$) or arginines 100 and 100g ($IS4V_Hii8iv/B3V_L$) also caused a complete loss of binding to this antigen.

6.3.5 Results of anti-phosphatidylserine-prothrombin ELISA

The results of the PS-PT ELISA (Figure 6.9) are similar to the results of the binding to PC. $IS4V_H/B3V_L$ displayed strong binding to PS-PT. In fact, this combination was the only one to convincingly bind to PS-PT. Therefore, it is clear that any pattern of arginine to serine substitutions in $IS4V_H$ dramatically reduces binding to PS-PT.

6.3.6 Results of anti-dsDNA ELISA

dsDNA shares some structural similarities with anionic PL but is not involved in the pathogenesis of APS therefore I tested all combinations for binding to this antigen. None of the purified antibodies convincingly bound dsDNA therefore no data is shown.





6.3.7 Results of anti-β2GPI ELISA

Figure 6.10 shows the binding of the purified antibodies to β_2 GPI. I found that IS4V_H/IS4V_L and IS4V_H/B3V_L bound β_2 GPI but IS4V_H/UK4V_L did not. Although this order of binding was similar to the results obtained in the PL ELISAs, the results obtained with the arginine to serine substitutions are different. When paired with IS4V_L, single arginine to serine mutations at 100 or 100g as well as double mutations at 96 or 97 or 100 and 100g did not abolish binding when tested at the maximal concentrations available. The double mutants (IS4V_Hi&ii/B3V_L and IS4V_Hiii&iv/B3V_L) showed similar reductions in binding to β_2 GPI compared to IS4V_H/B3V_L and this binding was abolished altogether when any three or all four arginines were mutated.

The new information obtained with higher concentration of IgG available with the use of purified antibodies compared to the CHO supernatant results in Chapter Four, is that three additional combinations bind β_2 GPI. These are IS4V_Hiii&iv/IS4V_L, IS4V_Hi&ii/B3V_L and very weak binding of IS4V_H/UK4V_L. Figure 6.11 represents binding results to β_2 GPI, of each combination in triplicate using a fixed antibody concentration of 1µg/ml. In this figure IS4V_Hiii&iv/IS4V_L and IS4V_H/UK4V_L, do not bind β_2 GPI. This finding is explained by the lower concentration of 1µg/ml used in this experiment whereas the minimum concentration for these combinations to bind was 2.4 and 10µg/ml respectively in the serial dilution experiments shown in Figure 6.10.

Chapter Six

Arginine residues are important in determining binding of purified human monoclonal IS4



Figure 6.10 Results of β_2 GPI ELISA

The graph shows binding of purified IgG antibodies to β_2 GPI in a direct ELISA when IS4V_H and variants are paired with A) native IS4V_L and B) B3V_L and UK4V_L. A combination was not considered to bind β_2 GPI if its binding curve gave an absorbance of less than 0.1 (at 405nm) (represented by the dotted line) for the concentration tested in the anti- β_2 GPI ELISA.



6.3.8 Results of anti-Domain I ELISA

The results obtained in the anti-DI ELISA, shown in Figure 6.12, differ from the results obtained in the anti- β_2 GPI ELISA in both the V_H/V_L combinations that bind and their pattern of binding. Figure 6.13 also confirms that these results are reproducible by testing each combination in triplicate using a fixed antibody concentration of 1μ g/ml. The strongest binder to DI is IS4V_H/IS4V_L. Substitution of any of the four arginine with serine residues in combination with IS4V_L, abolishes binding to DI completely. IS4V_H/B3V_L binds DI but removal of the arginines at positions 96 and 97 (IS4V_{Hi}&ii/B3V_L) and 100 and 100g (IS4V_Hiii&iv/B3V_L) does not have a marked effect on the binding to DI. From the serial dilution graph (Figure 6.12B) the curves are very similar therefore there is equal contribution to the binding of each of the combinations containing $B3V_L$. This is also the case with the triple mutants (i.e. IS4V_Hi,iii&iv/B3V_L and IS4V_Hii,iii&iv/B3V)_L. In Figure 6.13, the ODs obtained by the different combinations are very similar if we take into consideration the error bars therefore I conclude that there is no marked difference between the combinations containing mutations 96 and 97 or 100 and 100g and the native $IS4V_{H}/B3V_{L}$. Furthermore, if all four arginines in $IS4V_{H}$ are mutated, when paired with $B3V_{L}$ $(IS4V_{HX}/B3V_{L})$, this combination loses its ability to bind DI and this is clear in both Figure 6.12 and 6.13. There is a difference in what I have seen in the binding to β_2 GPI compared to DI, where IS4V_H/B3V_L was the strongest binder followed by $IS4V_{H}/IS4V_{L}$. In the case of DI, however, I have shown the reverse order, with $IS4V_H/IS4V_L$ being the strongest, followed by $IS4V_H/B3V_L$. For $IS4V_H/UK4V_L$, I have shown that it is a weak binder to DI as was found with β_2 GPI.





Figure 6.12 Results of Domain I of β_2 GPI ELISA

The graph shows binding of purified IgG antibodies to DI in a direct ELISA when $IS4V_{H}$ and variants are paired with A) native $IS4V_{L}$ and B) $B3V_{L}$ and $UK4V_{L}$. A combination was not considered to bind DI if its binding curve gave an absorbance of less than 0.1 (at 405nm) (represented by the dotted line) for the concentration tested in the anti-DI ELISA.

1.2 Arginine residues are important in determining binding of purified human monoclonal IS4 0.8 OD at 405nm 0.4 0 ISAVHISAVA ISAVHIJISAVA ISAVA ISAVA ISAVA ISAVA ISAVA ISAVA ISAVHIJISAVBOVA ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVBOVA ISAVHIJISAVBOVA ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJISAVI ISAVHIJI ISAVI ISAVHIJI ISAVI ISAVI ISAVI ISAVI ISAVHIJI ISAVI ISAVI ISAVI ISAVI ISAVI ISAVI Purified antibodies at 1mcg/ml Figure 6.13 Reproducibility of binding to Domain I of β_2 GPI with purified IgG Chapter Six Each purified V_H/V_L combination was tested at 1μ g/ml in triplicate and error bars represent mean absorbance +/- S.D.

6.4 Discussion

In this Chapter, I have examined the binding of human monoclonal purified aPL to a variety of antigens. I found that the wild-type IS4V_H/IS4V_L antibody binds to CL, PS, β_2 GPI and DI of β_2 GPI. This finding is consistent with the hypothesis that development of pathogenic aPL such as IS4 is driven by an antigen which is a complex of anionic PL and β_2 GPI. Therefore, specific amino acids within the V_H or V_L sequences of IS4 that have been created by somatic mutation in the germline gene and promote binding to anionic PL and β_2 GPI can be identified. My results show that arginine residues at positions 100 and 100g when changed to serine show reduced binding to CL, PS and β_2 GPI. This effect was seen when the mutated V_H was paired with $IS4V_{L}$. However, binding to these antigens is dependent on the identity of the L chain with which it is paired. In the case of $B3V_L$, mutations at positions 96 and 97 in IS4V_H can either enhance or reduce binding to CL and PS depending on whether positions 100 and 100g are occupied by arginine or serine. In the case of 96 and 97 mutations alone the binding to CL and PS is enhanced. In the case of the 96, 100 and 100g mutations binding is reduced and the same holds true for 97, 100 and 100g. My explanation for the results obtained by mutating arginine 96 and 97 to serine is that these particular arginines are concerned primarily with binding to β_2 GPI. It is also possible that these two arginine residues are particularly important in forming an interaction with $IS4V_L$, which itself has multiple antigen driven somatic mutations. In that case, it would not be surprising that substitutions of arginine 96 and 97 to serine reduce binding of $IS4V_{H}/IS4V_{I}$ but not $IS4V_{H}/B3VL$ to anionic PL. My results suggest that it is possible that IS4V_H makes contacts with PL that are separate from its interaction with β_2 GPI, since the effects of arginine to serine substitutions on binding to β_2 GPI were markedly different to the effects on binding to the PL antigens tested.

DI of β_2 GPI is thought to contain crucial antibody binding epitopes for aPL, which are critical to the pathogenesis of APS. Recombinant DI used in my experiments is an artificially produced antigen made by my colleague Dr J. Ioannou (Ioannou et al., 2006). My explanation for the fact that some antibodies bind DI better than whole β_2 GPI could be that the isolated domain has greater exposure of aPL binding epitopes that are shielded when attached to the rest of β_2 GPI when bound to an irradiated plate. It is likely that aPL bind weakly to β_2 GPI in solution than in solid

phase because of the conformation of the antigen. Dr J. Ioannou has also shown that DI inhibits the binding of $IS4V_H/IS4V_L$ to DI.

There were two limitations with my experiments. Firstly, the antibody preparations did not remove β_2 GPI completely, as I have shown by Western blotting (see Figure 6.1). Therefore, I was unable to demonstrate a loss of CL binding when purified IS4V_H/IS4V_L was tested in the modified CL ELISA in the absence of FCS (see Figure 6.4). By carrying out more rigorous purification of IS4 from hybridoma supernatant, Zhu et al., (1999) were able to remove β_2 GPI and hence, demonstrate that IS4 does not bind CL in the absence of β_2 GPI. Secondly, the concentration of purified antibodies available was limited and not all antibodies were available at 10µg/ml.

It is important that I have been able to show reactivity to PS with IS4, since it is now recognised as another clinically relevant antigen important in the pathogenesis of the APS, in addition to CL (Gharavi et al., 1987, Nash et al., 2004) and β_2 GPI (McNally et al., 1995). Anti-PS antibodies have been shown to have a significant association with arterial thrombosis (Lopez et al., 2004) and studies have also found a relationship between anti-PT antibodies and clinical manifestations of the APS (Amengual et al., 2003). Cocca et al., (2002) have shown that by introducing arginine residues into the V_H of a murine antibody, 3H9, which has dual specificity for PL and DNA, the binding to PS- β_2 GPI complexes and to apoptotic cells was enhanced. dsDNA is negatively charged and similar to anionic PL, however, none of the 13 H/L chain combinations that I tested bind to dsDNA. This observation shows that the effects of the CDR3 arginine residues on binding to anionic PL are not simply due to non-specific charge interactions between antigen and antibody and suggests that dsDNA is not part of the immunogenic antigen that has driven the accumulation of these arginine residues.

IS4V_H/B3V_L is a strong binder to a number of clinically relevant antigens such as β_2 GPI and PT, and my prediction would be that it is likely to be pathogenic *in vivo*. However, this combination also binds PC. I was not expecting IS4V_H/B3V_L to bind to the neutral PC because this characteristic is generally a feature of non-pathogenic aPL (Loizou et al., 1990). The real test of my prediction, will however come from experiments testing this combination in biological assays, which are currently in progress by my colleague Dr I. Giles. The aim is to study the variants of IS4 for their thrombogenic properties in an *in vivo* pinch-induced thrombosis model developed by

Pierangeli et al., (1999) at the Morehouse School of Medicine in Antlanta, USA. Native IS4 isolated from hybridoma cells has previously been shown to be thrombogenic (Pierangeli et al., 2000). Pierangeli and colleagues injected groups of mice either with monoclonal Igs isolated from patients with the APS or with monoclonal Igs of the same isotype from healthy controls. A non-occlusive thrombus was induced in the femoral veins of experimental mice by a pinch injury (Pierangeli et al., 1999). Igs from patients with APS caused a significant increase in mean thrombus area and a significant delay in mean thrombus disappearance time as compared with normal controls.

Two groups have shown that germline reversion of certain somatic mutations in both murine (Cocca et al., 2001) and human (Wellmann et al., 2005) anti-dsDNA antibodies reduced the ability of the antibodies to bind DNA and nucleosomes but enhanced their PS binding. I have also shown this phenomenon in Chapter Five where I mutated an arginine residue into the germline serine residue in a human mAb, B3 and abolished binding to dsDNA and nucleosomes but introduced binding to PL in the presence of human β 2GPI. This abolition of binding was not demonstrated with any of the mutated IS4 antibodies however since none of the antibodies bound dsDNA regardless of reactivity to PS. Given that I have shown that purified native B3, an anti-nucleosome antibody, did not bind dsDNA unless supernatant from electroporated cells was added, it would be interesting to examine these purified recombinant aPL for binding to nucleosomes. It is possible that IS4V_Hi&ii/B3V_L (with arginine 96 and 97 substituted to Ser), which binds well to anionic CL and PS, may also bind nucleosomes.

There have been very few reports investigating the relationship between sequence, structure and pathogenicity of aPL. Pierangeli and colleagues have tested a range of aPL in *in vivo* models of microcirculation and have shown that there is no simple relationship between pathogenicity and strength of binding to CL (Pierangeli et al, 2000). Two of the antibodies tested, IS1 and IS2, contained identical V_H and their L chains differed from each other by only five amino acids (Chukwuocha et al., 2002). IS1V_L contained a few more mutations than IS2V_L which improved its reactivity for antigen but removed its thrombogenic activity (Zhu et al., 1999, Pierangeli et al., 2000). Lieby et al., (2004) studied 5 monoclonal aPL, all originating from a single patient suffering from this autoimmune disease. They have found that for only one antibody (CIC15) its antiphospholipid activity was dependent on annexin A5, and its

V region contained mainly 3 replacement mutations, which were *in vitro* reverted to the germline configuration (asparagines to serine in V_L CDR1), to demonstrate the role of these mutations in the pathogenicity of the antibody. The resulting "germline" antibody reacted with multiple self-antigens and only partially lost its reactivity against PLs, but it was no more dependent on annexin A5 and, more importantly was no more pathogenic. Germline reversion caused the antibody to lose its ability to induce fetal loss in BALB/c mice. In conclusion, somatic mutations affect the binding of antibodies and the effect on function requires further studies.

CHAPTER SEVEN

Overview and ideas for future work

CHAPTER SEVEN.

OVERVIEW AND IDEAS FOR FUTURE WORK

The work described in this thesis increases our understanding of the importance of somatic mutations and the critical effect that the precise position of arginine residues in the antigen-binding site may have on the binding properties of anti-DNA antibodies and aPL. Computer models for the human mAbs, B3 and IS4 have provided more insight about the likely positions of key arginine residues leading to the hypothesis that these residues are likely to contribute to the binding affinity of the antibodies. To investigate this hypothesis I have produced variant forms of B3V_H and IS4V_H using site-directed mutagenesis, and have shown that arginines in the CDRs play a major role in the binding properties of anti-dsDNA antibodies and aPL.

Both transient and stable expression of cloned cDNA from human monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies and aPL in the form of whole IgG molecules has been accomplished and allowed me to test the properties of $B3V_H$ and $IS4V_H$ variant forms. In total I have produced 17 stable cell lines. The antibody production of the CHO cells transfected with the supervectors was higher than that of the COS-7 cells cotransfected with separate H and L chain vectors. The main advantage of the transient expression system however, was that it allowed testing of a range of H/L combinations and provided evidence as to which chains are essential in binding to nucleosomes, dsDNA, CL, and β_2 GPI.

It was vital to express antibodies stably in CHO cells to increase the volume and concentration of IgG expressed, in order to test these antibodies against a wider variety of antigens at a higher dose than was possible with COS-7 cells. The larger amounts of antibodies produced from CHO cells were crucial for purification. This purification could not be carried out using the much smaller amounts of IgG produced by the transient system because during purification much Ig protein is lost, therefore requiring larger initial quantities of Ig. I have summarised and represented the binding results of all purified antibodies against all antigens in Table 7.1 and 7.2.

The abolition of dsDNA binding by the purification and *DNase I* treatment of antibodies, which had previously bound dsDNA when suspended in supernatant, and

Chapter Seven

the subsequent reinstatement of dsDNA binding by reconstitution with supernatant, suggested that B3 might in fact recognise an epitope comprising both dsDNA and histone, such as nucleosomes. To determine the nature of the factor in the supernatant that was required for dsDNA binding, pure nucleosomes were added to the purified and *DNase I* treated antibodies prior to assaying for dsDNA binding. In the case of purified B3V_H/B3(R27aS)V_L, addition of nucleosomes allowed the reconstitution of dsDNA binding. In light of the lack of DNA binding by the highly purified antibodies, I also assessed the binding of these antibodies to nucleosomes on the solid-phase and confirmed anti-nucleosome activity. The additional binding of purified B3V_H/B33V_L to α -actinin suggests that it actually recognises a conformational epitope that allows limited cross-reactive binding. Thus it is possible that anti-nucleosome and anti-dsDNA antibodies may bind more than one antigen.

The major achievement from my work however, is that I have shown dramatic shifts of binding in opposite directions to different clinically relevant antigens caused by a single arginine to serine mutation (refer to summary table 7.1). In the combination $B3V_{H}/B3V_{L}$ an arginine in V_{H} CDR2 at position 53 is critical for binding to dsDNA and nucleosomes. Changing this arginine to serine, in the absence of any other change in sequence in either the H or L chain, abolished binding to those two antigens but created binding to α -actinin, whole β_2 GPI and DI of whole β_2 GPI. In addition, the production of an antibody $[B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L]$ that distinguishes human from bovine β_2 GPI has not previously been described. There are 11 amino acid differences between the sequence of DI of human and bovine β_2 GPI, therefore it is likely one of these differences plays a role in the specificity of the antibody for human β_2 GPI. Our group has expressed two variant forms of DI that specifically target these residues of interest, therefore it will be possible in future experiments to determine the binding affinity of $B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L$ to these variant forms of DI. Only the germline reversion R53S (not R53N or R53K) enhanced binding to α -actinin, whole β_2 GPI and DI, supporting the idea that the germline sequence of the V3-23 gene in that region promoted low affinity binding to these antigens. Since I did not produce a stably transfected CHO line producing the germline V3-23 sequence, I was not able to produce sufficient quantities of purified germline-encoded antibody to test its binding to α -actinin, whole β_2 GPI or DI. However, there are many descriptions in the literature of polyreactive antibodies with H chains encoded by the unmutated V3-23 gene [reviewed in (Giles et al., 2003)].

Chapter Seven

Conclusions and ideas for future work

Antibody	dsDNA	Nucleosomes	α- actinin	CL	PS	β2 GPI	DI
	(Figure 5.1)	(Figure 5.2)	(Figure 5.4)	(Figure 5.7)	(Figure 5.10)	(Figure 5.5)	(Figure 5.6)
B3V _H /B3V _L	+++	+++	-	+	-	-	-
B3V _H /B33V∟	+++	+++	+++	-	-	+	-
B3V _H /B3(R27aS)V _L	++	++	-	+	-	+	-
B3(R53S)V _H /B3V _L	-	-	+++	+++	-	+++	+++
B3(R53S)V _H /B33V _L	-	-	+++	+	-	+	+
B3(R53N)V _H /B3V _L	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
B3(R53K)V _H /B3V∟	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
B3V _H /BUVL	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 7.1 Summary of the binding properties of the B3 variants

The presence of arginine at position 53 in $B3V_H$ results in binding to dsDNA and nucleosomes. On the contrary, the presence of this arginine reduced binding to alpha-actinin, β_2 GPI and Domain I of β_2 GPI. Binding to these antigens was shown when the arginine was substituted to serine. (+++: indicates strong binding, ++: medium, +: weak and -: denotes no binding)

Antibody	CL	PS	PC	PS-PT	β2 GPI	DI
	(Figure 6.2)	(Figure 6.6)	(Figure 6.8)	(Figure 6.9)	(Figure 6.10)	(Figure 6.12)
IS4V _H /IS4V _L	+++	++	-	-	+++	+++
IS4V _H iii/IS4V _L	-	-	-	-	+	+
IS4V _H iv/IS4V _L	-	-	-	-	+	+
IS4V _H iⅈ/IS4VL	-	-	-	-	-	-
IS4V _H iii&iv/IS4VL	-	-	-	-	-	-
IS4V _H x/IS4V _L	-	-	-	-	-	-
IS4V _H /B3VL	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++	+++
IS4V _H iⅈ/B3V∟	+++	+++	-	-	+	++
IS4V _H iii&iv/B3V _L	++	++	-	-	+	++
IS4V _H i,iii&iv/B3VL	-	-	-	-	-	++
IS4V _H ii, iii &iv/B3V _L	+	+	-	-	-	++
IS4V _H x/B3V _L	-	-	-	-	-	-
IS4V _H /UK4VL	+	-	-	-	-	+

Table 7.2 Summary of the binding properties of the IS4 variants

Arginine residues in IS4V_H substituted to serine, at positions 100 and 100g reduced binding to all antigens, while at positions 96 and 97 reduced binding to β_2 GPI but increased or decreased binding to CL and PS (in combination with B3V_L). When paired with IS4V_L, arginine residues substituted to serine at positions 100 and 100g abolish binding to CL and PS but confer weak binding to β_2 GPI and DI. Only the IS4V_H/B3V_L combination bound PC and PS-PT. (+++: indicates strong binding, ++: medium, +: weak and -: denotes no binding)

The direct binding ELISAs used in this thesis were sufficient to determine the binding ability of the purified antibodies tested however, may be possible in future to obtain more accurate information using assays such as surface plasmon resonance (SPR) or inhibition ELISAs. SPR can be applied in the case of the two antibodies that did not show any binding to the any of the antigens tested $[B3(R53K)V_{H}/B3V_{1}]$ and $B3(R53N)V_H/B3V_L$]. In inhibition ELISAs, the affinity of Igs in a test sample is determined according to the amount of antigen that has to be added to the test sample in order to inhibit binding to the same or another antigen coated to the plate. Alternatively the dissociation constant (Kd), as a measure of antibody affinity, can be determined by incubation of the antibodies with varying concentrations of antigen prior to assaying in an ELISA with antigen on the solid-phase (Friguet et al. 1985). In this system the concentration of antigen must be in great excess of the concentration of antibody. Functional affinity of the antibodies can also be measured by addition of the chaotropic agent diethylamine (DEA) to inhibit the binding of low affinity antibodies to the antigen coated on the solid-phase (Devey et al 1988). The higher the affinity of the antibodies tested, the smaller the shift in binding caused by the presence of DEA in the assay. The results are expressed in terms of the inhibition index, which is the reciprocal \log_{10} of the shift, thus a small shift in binding gives a high inhibition index for a high affinity antibody. In SPR the antibody affinity for an antigen is measured through the calculation of kinetic rate constants detected for the binding and dissociation of an antibody when it is passed over a chip coated with antigen.

In future, it is vital to assess the pathogenicity of these antibodies *in vivo* to correlate binding with functional effects. For example, our group and others have studied the effects of whole IgG secreted from hybridoma or CHO cells administered intraperitoneally to immunodeficient mice (Mason et al., 2005, Mostoslavsky et al., 2001, Zhao et al., 2005, Ehrenstein et al., 1995, Ravirajan et al., 1998). It would be interesting to compare the effects of the nucleosome-binding antibody $B3V_H/B3V_L$ and the α -actinin-binding antibody $B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L$ on the kidneys of such mice. The use of murine models to study human diseases may be criticised especially since studying the role of human mAbs in normal, immunodeficient or autoimmune mice is clearly complex. Given their increased availability, it would seem reasonable to consider using simpler *in vitro* systems, such as human kidney cells. Using a conditionally immortalised human podocyte line, Coward and colleagues recently showed that exposure to plasma from patients with nephrotic syndrome (including

one with SLE) altered the distribution of intracellular proteins essential to podocyte function (Coward et al., 2005). The podocyte is highly specialised and is especially interesting since several hereditary human nephrotic syndromes have been shown to be attributable to defects in podocyte specific genes including those for nephrin and podocin (Pavenstadt et al., 2003). It would be fascinating to see if the anti-nucleosome and/or anti- α -actinin IgG antibodies expressed in this experiment have similar effects on those podocytes and if they can bind to other podocyte molecules such as nephrin and podocin, which have been implicated in other human nephrotic diseases. As well as the binding to the individual cells, antibody binding could also be assessed in the human glomerular basement membrane assay (Lefkowith and Gilkeson, 1996) and the rat perfused kidney system (Raz et al., 1989). The perfused rat kidney has previously been used to measure the effect of both murine and human anti-DNA antibodies on induction of proteinuria (Raz et al., 1989).

Assays of the effects of monoclonal aPL on thrombosis (Pierangeli et al., 1994) and pregnancy loss (Blank et al., 1991) in mice have been developed and it would be possible to compare the effects of anti- β_2 GPI antibodies such as B3(R53S)V_H/B3V_L with antibodies that do not bind β_2 GPI (e.g. B3V_H/BUV_L) in these assays. IS4 has been shown to be highly thrombogenic and to enhance endothelial activation in the *in vivo* model of microcirculation (Pierangeli et al., 2000). As described in section 6.4, my colleague Dr I. Giles is currently looking at the effects of the IS4 variants upon thrombus formation and leucocyte adhesion in this model. In addition, it would be interesting to study the effects of the IS4 variants upon vascular EC activation *in vitro* by examining the expression of adhesion molecules (E-Selectin, ICAM-1 and VCAM-1) which have all been shown to be up-regulated by native IS4 (Pierangeli et al., 2000)

TF is a major initiator of coagulation *in vivo* produced from EC and monocytes. Several studies have shown both *in vivo* and *in vitro* up-regulation of monocyte TF expression in patients with APS. aPL from APS patients, have been shown to enhance TF expression and procoagulant activity on normal monocytes (Kornberg et al., 1994, Reverter et al., 1998). Additionally, TF expression on monocytes from patients with PAPS (compared to monocytes from normal controls) is directly involved in the pathogenesis of thrombotic complications (Cuadrado et al., 1997). *In vitro* studies have also shown that IgG purified from patients with APS increases surface expression of TF in normal human EC (Ferrara et al., 2004). Recent studies have

shown that aPL activate monocytes and EC through several signalling pathways such as p38MAPK and NF- κ B. Having extensively characterised the binding properties of IS4 (both wild-type and mutant forms), it would be very interesting to study its effects upon monocyte and EC expression and function of TF and characterise the signalling pathways involved.

It is therefore urgent to carry out this future work since it would help to elucidate the precise role of arginine residues in the binding of autoantibodies to their target antigen and provide better understanding of how manipulation of antibody binding sites may affect their function. The long-term goal of this future research would be to design a more effective and targeted therapy to block the effects of these autoantibodies in patients with SLE and APS.

An attempt has made to re-educate the immune system with toleragenic therapies, by administration of a structure which contains oligovalent B cell epitopes on a nonimmunogenic molecular framework, lacking T cell epitopes. This has been developed as a means to inactivate pathological B cells in an antigen-specific manner. These types of agents, developed by La Jolla Pharmaceuticals, consist of three or four identical antigenic constructs attached to a proprietary carrier platform made of nonimmunogenic polyethylene glycol (Merrill, 2004). Abetimus sodium (LJP 394, Riquent) consists of four deoxyoligonucleotide epitopes selective for antibodies to dsDNA (Lorenz, 2002). Animal studies and clinical trials suggested that LJP-394 is safe and well tolerated. It has been shown to inhibit binding of DNA to anti-dsDNA antibodies and to reduce antibody producing cells in an immunised mouse model and in controlled trials in SLE, it can reduce circulating anti-dsDNA antibody levels without causing generalized immunosuppression. Treatment with LJP 394 in patients with high affinity antibodies seemed to prolong time to renal flare and decreased the number of renal flares (Lorenz, 2002). Similarly, another polyvalent antigenic structure has been developed for the treatment of stroke, deep-vein thrombosis and other conditions associated with antibody-mediated thrombosis. LJP 1082 is aimed at crosslinking specific surface Ig and tolerising B cells to β_2 GPI (Merrill, 2004).

Toleragen studies have provided evidence of encouraging clinical benefit however it is likely that they can cause a reduction in the average affinity of the remaining antibodies. If this type of therapeutic intervention results in elimination of a majority of high affinity B cells that specifically recognize an antigen, administration of a small

peptide that targets arginine residues in autoantibodies would be a possible option. My findings have shown that in the two human monoclonal antibodies, B3 and IS4, arginine residues are important in binding to clinically relevant antigens, therefore targeting these arginine residues with an inert epitope can be effective at modulating the immune response and would be expected to influence the amount and affinity of circulating antibody.

List of References

ABU-SHAKRA, M., GLADMAN, D. D. & UROWITZ, M. B. (2004) Mortality studies in SLE: how far can we improve survival of patients with SLE. *Autoimmun Rev*, **3**, 418-20.

ALARCON-SEGOVIA, D. & LLORENTE, L. (1983) Antibody penetration into living cells. IV. Different effects of anti-native DNA and anti-ribonucleoprotein IgG on the cell cycle of activated T gamma cells. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 52, 365-71.

ALARCON-SEGOVIA, D. & ALARCON-RIQUELME, M. E. (1999) Etiopathogenesis of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: A tale of three troikas. In Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. p 55-67 3rd ed, Academic Press, London. Edited by Lahita, R.G.

ALARCON-SEGOVIA, D., TUMLIN, J. A., FURIE, R. A., MCKAY, J. D., CARDIEL, M. H., STRAND, V., BAGIN, R. G., LINNIK, M. D. & HEPBURN, B. (2003) LJP 394 for the prevention of renal flare in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: results from a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. *Arthritis Rheum*, 48, 442-54.

ALBERT, B., JOHNSON, A., LEWIS, J., RAFF, M., ROBERTS, K. & WALTER, B. (2002) Molecular Biology of the Cell, 4th ed. Garland Publishing, New York, NY, USA.

AMITAL, H. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1999) Autoimmunity and Autoimmune diseases such as SLE. Chapter 1 pages 1-17 in *Systemic Lupus Erythematosus* 3rd ed, Academic Press, London. Edited by Lahita, R.G.

AMITAL, H., HEILWEIL, M., ULMANSKY, R., SZAFER, F., BAR-TANA, R., MOREL, L., FOSTER, M. H., MOSTOSLAVSKY, G., EILAT, D., PIZOV, G. & NAPARSTEK, Y. (2005) Treatment with a laminin-derived peptide suppresses lupus nephritis. *J Immunol*, 175, 5516-23.

AMENGUAL, O., ATSUMI, T. & KOIKE, T. (2003) Specificities, properties, and clinical significance of antiprothrombin antibodies. *Arthritis Rheum*, 48, 886-95

AMOURA, Z., CHABRE, H., KOUTOUZOV, S., LOTTON, C., CABRESPINES, A., BACH, J. F. & JACOB, L. (1994) Nucleosome-restricted antibodies are detected before anti-

dsDNA and/or antihistone antibodies in serum of MRL-Mp lpr/lpr and +/+ mice, and are present in kidney eluates of lupus mice with proteinuria. *Arthritis Rheum*, 37, 1684-8.

AMOURA, Z., KOUTOUZOV, S., CHABRE, H., CACOUB, P., AMOURA, I., MUSSET, L., BACH, J. F. & PIETTE, J. C. (2000a) Presence of antinucleosome autoantibodies in a restricted set of connective tissue diseases: antinucleosome antibodies of the IgG3 subclass are markers of renal pathogenicity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 43, 76-84.

AMOURA, Z., KOUTOUZOV, S. & PIETTE, J. C. (2000b) The role of nucleosomes in lupus. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*, 12, 369-73.

ARAI, T., YOSHIDA, K., KABURAKI, J., INOKO, H., IKEDA, Y., KAWAKAMI, Y. & KUWANA, M. (2001) Autoreactive CD4(+) T-cell clones to beta2-glycoprotein I in patients with antiphospholipid syndrome: preferential recognition of the major phospholipid-binding site. *Blood*, 98, 1889-96.

ARBUCKLE, M. R., MCCLAIN, M. T., RUBERTONE, M. V., SCOFIELD, R. H., DENNIS, G. J., JAMES, J. A. & HARLEY, J. B. (2003) Development of autoantibodies before the clinical onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. *N Engl J Med*, 349, 1526-33.

ARINGER, M., GRANINGER, W. B., STEINER, G. & SMOLEN, J. S. (2004) Safety and efficacy of tumor necrosis factor alpha blockade in systemic lupus erythematosus: an open-label study. *Arthritis Rheum*, 50, 3161-9.

ASHERSON, R. A. (1998) The catastrophic antiphospholipid syndrome. A review of the clinical features, possible pathogenesis and treatment. *Lupus*, 7 Suppl 2, S55-62.

ASHERSON, R.A, CERVERA, R., PIETTE, J.C., et al. (1998) Catastrophic antiphosholipid syndrome: clinical and laboratory features of 50 patients. Medicine (Baltimore);77:195-207.

ASHERSON, R. A., KHAMASHTA, M. A., ORDI-ROS, J., DERKSEN, R. H., MACHIN, S. J., BARQUINERO, J., OUTT, H. H., HARRIS, E. N., VILARDELL-TORRES, M. &

HUGHES, G. R. (1989) The "primary" antiphospholipid syndrome: major clinical and serological features. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 68, 366-74.

BAECHLER, E. C., BATLIWALLA, F. M., KARYPIS, G., GAFFNEY, P. M., ORTMANN, W. A., ESPE, K. J., SHARK, K. B., GRANDE, W. J., HUGHES, K. M., KAPUR, V., GREGERSEN, P. K. & BEHRENS, T. W. (2003) Interferon-inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 2610-5.

BARNES, L. M., BENTLEY, C. M. & DICKSON, A. J. (2003) Stability of protein production from recombinant mammalian cells. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 81, 631-9.

BARRY, M. M., MOL, C. D., ANDERSON, W. F. & LEE, J. S. (1994) Sequencing and modeling of anti-DNA immunoglobulin Fv domains. Comparison with crystal structures. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 3623-32.

BASSING, C. H., SWAT, W. & ALT, F. W. (2002) The mechanism and regulation of chromosomal V(D)J recombination. *Cell*, 109 Suppl, S45-55.

BEEBE, A. M., CUA, D. J. & DE WAAL MALEFYT, R. (2002) The role of interleukin-10 in autoimmune disease: systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and multiple sclerosis (MS). *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev,* 13, 403-12.

BENNETT, L., PALUCKA, A. K., ARCE, E., CANTRELL, V., BORVAK, J., BANCHEREAU, J. & PASCUAL, V. (2003) Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood. *J Exp Med*, 197, 711-23.

BENTLEY, D. L. & RABBITS, T. H. (1980) Human immunoglobulin variable region genes--DNA sequences of two V kappa genes and a pseudogene. *Nature*, 288, 730-3.

BEREK, C. & MILSTEIN, C. (1987) Mutation drift and repertoire shift in the maturation of the immune response. *Immunol Rev*, 96, 23-41.

BEREK, C. & MILSTEIN, C. (1988) The dynamic nature of the antibody repertoire. *Immunol Rev*, 105, 5-26.

BEVERS, E. M., GALLI, M., BARBUI, T., COMFURIUS, P. & ZWAAL, R. F. (1991) Lupus anticoagulant IgG's (LA) are not directed to phospholipids only, but to a complex of lipid-bound human prothrombin. *Thromb Haemost*, 66, 629-32.

BIRD, R. E., HARDMAN, K. D., JACOBSON, J. W., JOHNSON, S., KAUFMAN, B. M., LEE, S. M., LEE, T., POPE, S. H., RIORDAN, G. S. & WHITLOW, M. (1988) Single-chain antigen-binding proteins. *Science*, 242, 423-6.

BLANK, M., COHEN, J., TODER, V. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1991) Induction of antiphospholipid syndrome in naive mice with mouse lupus monoclonal and human polyclonal anti-cardiolipin antibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 88, 3069-73.

BLANK, M., KRAUSE, I., LANIR, N., VARDI, P., GILBURD, B., TINCANI, A., TOMER, Y. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1995) Transfer of experimental antiphospholipid syndrome by bone marrow cell transplantation. The importance of the T cell. *Arthritis Rheum*, 38, 115-22.

BLANK, M., WAISMAN, A., MOZES, E., KOIKE, T. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1999) Characteristics and pathogenic role of anti-beta2-glycoprotein I single-chain Fv domains: induction of experimental antiphospholipid syndrome. *Int Immunol*, 11, 1917-26.

BOHANA-KASHTAN, O., ZIPOREN, L., DONIN, N., KRAUS, S. & FISHELSON, Z. (2004) Cell signals transduced by complement. *Mol Immunol*, 41, 583-97.

BOOTSMA, H., SPRONK, P., DERKSEN, R., DE BOER, G., WOLTERS-DICKE, H., HERMANS, J., LIMBURG, P., GMELIG-MEYLING, F., KATER, L. & KALLENBERG, C. (1995) Prevention of relapses in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lancet*, 345, 1595-9.

BORRELL, M., SALA, N., DE CASTELLARNAU, C., LOPEZ, S., GARI, M. & FONTCUBERTA, J. (1992) Immunoglobulin fractions isolated from patients with antiphospholipid antibodies prevent the inactivation of factor Va by activated protein C on human endothelial cells. *Thromb Haemost*, 68, 268-72.

BOTTO, M., DELL'AGNOLA, C., BYGRAVE, A. E., THOMPSON, E. M., COOK, H. T., PETRY, F., LOOS, M., PANDOLFI, P. P. & WALPORT, M. J. (1998) Homozygous C1q

deficiency causes glomerulonephritis associated with multiple apoptotic bodies. *Nat Genet*, 19, 56-9.

BOTTO M, WALPORT M.J. (2002) C1q, autoimmunity and apoptosis. *Immunobiology*, 205(4-5), 395-406.

BOUMA, B., DE GROOT, P. G., VAN DEN ELSEN, J. M., RAVELLI, R. B., SCHOUTEN, A., SIMMELINK, M. J., DERKSEN, R. H., KROON, J. & GROS, P. (1999) Adhesion mechanism of human beta(2)-glycoprotein I to phospholipids based on its crystal structure. *Embo J*, 18, 5166-74.

BREZINSCHEK, H. P., BREZINSCHEK, R. I. & LIPSKY, P. E. (1995) Analysis of the heavy chain repertoire of human peripheral B cells using single-cell polymerase chain reaction. *J Immunol*, 155, 190-202.

BREZINSCHEK, H. P., FOSTER, S. J., BREZINSCHEK, R. I., DORNER, T., DOMIATI-SAAD, R. & LIPSKY, P. E. (1997) Analysis of the human VH gene repertoire. Differential effects of selection and somatic hypermutation on human peripheral CD5(+)/IgM+ and CD5(-)/IgM+ B cells. *J Clin Invest*, 99, 2488-501.

BRIGIDO, M. M., POLYMENIS, M. & STOLLAR, B. D. (1993) Role of mouse V_H10 and V_L gene segments in the specific binding of antibody to Z-DNA, analyzed with recombinant single chain Fv molecules. *J Immunol*, 150, 469-79.

BROCKLY, F., ALEXANDRE, D., CHUCHANA, P., HUCK, S., LEFRANC, G. & LEFRANC,M. P. (1989) First nucleotide sequence of a human immunoglobulin variable lambdagene belonging to subgroup II. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 17, 3976.

BUSCHMANN, C., FISCHER, C., OCHSENHIRT, V., NEUKIRCH, C., LACKNER, K. J. & VON LANDENBERG, P. (2005) Generation and characterization of three monoclonal IgM antiphospholipid antibodies recognizing different phospholipid antigens. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1051, 240-54.

CARLSTEN, H., TARKOWSKI, A., HOLMDAHL, R. & NILSSON, L. A. (1990) Oestrogen is a potent disease accelerator in SLE-prone MRL lpr/lpr mice. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 80, 467-73.

CASCIOLA-ROSEN, L. A., ANHALT, G. & ROSEN, A. (1994) Autoantigens targeted in systemic lupus erythematosus are clustered in two populations of surface structures on apoptotic keratinocytes. *J Exp Med*, 179, 1317-30.

CEPPELLINI, R., POLLI, E. & CELADA, F. (1957) A DNA-reacting factor in serum of a patient with lupus erythematosus diffusus. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med*, 96, 572-4.

CERVERA, R., KHAMASHTA, M. A., FONT, J., SEBASTIANI, G. D., GIL, A., LAVILLA, P., DOMENECH, I., AYDINTUG, A. O., JEDRYKA-GORAL, A., DE RAMON, E. & ET AL. (1993) Systemic lupus erythematosus: clinical and immunologic patterns of disease expression in a cohort of 1,000 patients. The European Working Party on Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 72, 113-24.

CERVERA, R., KHAMASHTA, M. A., FONT, J., SEBASTIANI, G. D., GIL, A., LAVILLA, P., AYDINTUG, A. O., JEDRYKA-GORAL, A., DE RAMON, E., FERNANDEZ-NEBRO, A., GALEAZZI, M., HAGA, H. J., MATHIEU, A., HOUSSIAU, F., RUIZ-IRASTORZA, G., INGELMO, M. & HUGHES, G. R. (1999) Morbidity and mortality in systemic lupus erythematosus during a 5-year period. A multicenter prospective study of 1,000 patients. European Working Party on Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Medicine (Baltimore),* 78, 167-75.

CERVERA, R., PIETTE, J. C., FONT, J., KHAMASHTA, M. A., SHOENFELD, Y., CAMPS, M. T., JACOBSEN, S., LAKOS, G., TINCANI, A., KONTOPOULOU-GRIVA, I., GALEAZZI, M., MERONI, P. L., DERKSEN, R. H., DE GROOT, P. G., GROMNICA-IHLE, E., BALEVA, M., MOSCA, M., BOMBARDIERI, S., HOUSSIAU, F., GRIS, J. C., QUERE, I., HACHULLA, E., VASCONCELOS, C., ROCH, B., FERNANDEZ-NEBRO, A., BOFFA, M. C., HUGHES, G. R. & INGELMO, M. (2002) Antiphospholipid syndrome: clinical and immunologic manifestations and patterns of disease expression in a cohort of 1,000 patients. *Arthritis Rheum*, 46, 1019-27.

CHAMLEY, L. W., DUNCALF, A. M., MITCHELL, M. D. & JOHNSON, P. M. (1998) Action of anticardiolipin and antibodies to beta2-glycoprotein-I on trophoblast proliferation as a mechanism for fetal death. *Lancet*, 352, 1037-8.

CHAN, O. T., HANNUM, L. G., HABERMAN, A. M., MADAIO, M. P. & SHLOMCHIK, M.

J. (1999) A novel mouse with B cells but lacking serum antibody reveals an antibodyindependent role for B cells in murine lupus. *J Exp Med*, 189, 1639-48.

CHANG, B. & CASALI, P. (1994) The CDR1 sequences of a major proportion of human germline Ig VH genes are inherently susceptible to amino acid replacement. *Immunol Today*, 15, 367-73.

CHOTHIA, C., LESK, A. M., TRAMONTANO, A., LEVITT, M., SMITH-GILL, S. J., AIR, G., SHERIFF, S., PADLAN, E. A., DAVIES, D., TULIP, W. R. & ET AL. (1989) Conformations of immunoglobulin hypervariable regions. *Nature*, 342, 877-83.

CHUKWUOCHA, R. U., ZHU, M., CHO, C. S., VISVANATHAN, S., HWANG, K. K., RAHMAN, A. & CHEN, P. P. (2002) Molecular and genetic characterizations of five pathogenic and two non-pathogenic monoclonal antiphospholipid antibodies. *Mol Immunol*, 39, 299-311.

COCCA, B. A., SEAL, S. N., D'AGNILLO, P., MUELLER, Y. M., KATSIKIS, P. D., RAUCH, J., WEIGERT, M. & RADIC, M. Z. (2001) Structural basis for autoantibody recognition of phosphatidylserine-beta 2 glycoprotein I and apoptotic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98, 13826-31.

COCCA, B. A., CLINE, A. M. & RADIC, M. Z. (2002) Blebs and apoptotic bodies are B cell autoantigens. *J Immunol*, 169, 159-66.

COLLIS, A. V., BROUWER, A. P. & MARTIN, A. C. (2003) Analysis of the antigen combining site: correlations between length and sequence composition of the hypervariable loops and the nature of the antigen. *J Mol Biol*, 325, 337-54.

CONTRERAS, G., PARDO, V., LECLERCQ, B., LENZ, O., TOZMAN, E., O'NAN, P. & ROTH, D. (2004) Sequential therapies for proliferative lupus nephritis. *N Engl J Med*, 350, 971-80.

COOK, G. P. & TOMLINSON, I. M. (1995) The human immunoglobulin VH repertoire. *Immunol Today*, 16, 237-42.

CORBETT, S. J., TOMLINSON, I. M., SONNHAMMER, E. L., BUCK, D. & WINTER, G.

(1997) Sequence of the human immunoglobulin diversity (D) segment locus: a systematic analysis provides no evidence for the use of DIR segments, inverted D segments, "minor" D segments or D-D recombination. *J Mol Biol*, 270, 587-97.

COWARD, R. J., FOSTER, R. R., PATTON, D., NI, L., LENNON, R., BATES, D. O., HARPER, S. J., MATHIESON, P. W. & SALEEM, M. A. (2005) Nephrotic plasma alters slit diaphragm-dependent signaling and translocates nephrin, Podocin, and CD2 associated protein in cultured human podocytes. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 16, 629-37.

COX, J. P., TOMLINSON, I. M. & WINTER, G. (1994) A directory of human germ-line V kappa segments reveals a strong bias in their usage. *Eur J Immunol*, 24, 827-36.

CROCE, C. M., SHANDER, M., MARTINIS, J., CICUREL, L., D'ANCONA, G. G., DOLBY, T. W. & KOPROWSKI, H. (1979) Chromosomal location of the genes for human immunoglobulin heavy chains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 76, 3416-9.

CUADRADO, M. J., LOPEZ-PEDRERA, C., KHAMASHTA, M. A., CAMPS, M. T., TINAHONES, F., TORRES, A., HUGHES, G. R. & VELASCO, F. (1997) Thrombosis in primary antiphospholipid syndrome: a pivotal role for monocyte tissue factor expression. *Arthritis Rheum*, 40, 834-41.

DATTA, S. K. (1998) Production of pathogenic antibodies: cognate interactions between autoimmune T and B cells. *Lupus*, 7, 591-6.

DEAN, G. S., TYRRELL-PRICE, J., CRAWLEY, E. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2000) Cytokines and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 59, 243-51.

DEAPEN, D., ESCALANTE, A., WEINRIB, L., HORWITZ, D., BACHMAN, B., ROY-BURMAN, P., WALKER, A. & MACK, T. M. (1992) A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 35, 311-8.

DE GROOT, P. G., HORBACH, D. A. & DERKSEN, R. H. (1996) Protein C and other cofactors involved in the binding of antiphospholipid antibodies: relation to the pathogenesis of thrombosis. *Lupus*, *5*, 488-93.

DE GROOT, P. G. & DERKSEN, R. H. (2005) Pathophysiology of the antiphospholipid

syndrome. J Thromb Haemost, 3, 1854-60.

DE LAAT, B., DERKSEN, R. H., URBANUS, R. T. & DE GROOT, P. G. (2005) IgG antibodies that recognize epitope Gly40-Arg43 in domain I of beta 2-glycoprotein I cause LAC, and their presence correlates strongly with thrombosis. *Blood*, 105, 1540-5.

DE LAAT, B., DERKSEN, R. H., VAN LUMMEL, M., PENNINGS, M. T. & DE GROOT, P. G. (2006) Pathogenic anti-beta2-glycoprotein I antibodies recognize domain I of beta2-glycoprotein I only after a conformational change. *Blood*, 107, 1916-24.

DEL PAPA, N., GUIDALI, L., SPATOLA, L., BONARA, P., BORGHI, M. O., TINCANI, A., BALESTRIERI, G. & MERONI, P. L. (1995) Relationship between anti-phospholipid and anti-endothelial cell antibodies III: beta 2 glycoprotein I mediates the antibody binding to endothelial membranes and induces the expression of adhesion molecules. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 13, 179-85.

DEL PAPA, N., GUIDALI, L., SALA, A., BUCCELLATI, C., KHAMASHTA, M. A., ICHIKAWA, K., KOIKE, T., BALESTRIERI, G., TINCANI, A., HUGHES, G. R. & MERONI, P. L. (1997) Endothelial cells as target for antiphospholipid antibodies. Human polyclonal and monoclonal anti-beta 2-glycoprotein I antibodies react in vitro with endothelial cells through adherent beta 2-glycoprotein I and induce endothelial activation. *Arthritis Rheum*, 40, 551-61.

DEOCHARAN, B., QING, X., LICHAUCO, J. & PUTTERMAN, C. (2002) Alpha-actinin is a cross-reactive renal target for pathogenic anti-DNA antibodies. *J Immunol*, 168, 3072-8.

DEVEY M.E., BLEASDALE K., LEE S. & RATH S. (1988) Determination of the functional affinity of IgG1 and IgG4 antibodies to tetanus toxoid by isotype-specific solid-phase assays. *J.Immunol.Methods* **106**, 119-125.

DIAMOND, B. & SCHARFF, M. D. (1984). Somatic mutation of the T15 heavy chain gives rise to an antibody with autoantibody specificity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **81**, 5841-4.

DI SIMONE, N., MERONI, P. L., DE PAPA, N., RASCHI, E., CALIANDRO, D., DE CAROLIS, C. S., KHAMASHTA, M. A., ATSUMI, T., HUGHES, G. R., BALESTRIERI, G., TINCANI, A., CASALI, P. & CARUSO, A. (2000) Antiphospholipid antibodies affect trophoblast gonadotropin secretion and invasiveness by binding directly and through adhered beta2-glycoprotein I. *Arthritis Rheum*, 43, 140-50.

DOBADO-BERRIOS, P. M., LOPEZ-PEDRERA, C., VELASCO, F. & CUADRADO, M. J. (2001) The role of tissue factor in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum*, 44, 2467-76.

DONOHOE, S., KINGDOM, J. C. & MACKIE, I. J. (1999) Affinity purified human antiphospholipid antibodies bind normal term placenta. *Lupus*, **8**, 525-31.

DORNER, T. & LIPSKY, P. E. (2001) Immunoglobulin variable-region gene usage in systemic autoimmune diseases. *Arthritis Rheum*, 44, 2715-27.

DORNER, T. & RADBRUCH, A. (2005) Selecting B cells and plasma cells to memory. J Exp Med, 201, 497-9.

DREYER, W. J. & BENNETT, J. C. (1965) The molecular basis of antibody formation: a paradox. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 54, 864-9.

EARLY, P., HUANG, H., DAVIS, M., CALAME, K. & HOOD, L. (1980) An immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region gene is generated from three segments of DNA: VH, D and JH. *Cell*, 19, 981-92.

EDWORTHY, S. M. (2001) Telemedicine in developing countries. Bmj, 323, 524-5.

EDWORTHY, S. M. (2001) Clinical manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. In Kelley's Textbook of rheumatology, 1105-1119 6th ed., Saunders, Philadelphia, USA. Edited by Ruddy, S., Harris E. D., Sledge, C. B. & Kelley, W. N.

EHRENSTEIN, M., LONGHURST, C. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1993a) Production and analysis of IgG monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies from systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 92, 39-45. EHRENSTEIN, M. R., MCSWEENEY, E., SWANE, M., WORMAN, C. P., GOLDSTONE, A. H. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1993b) Appearance of anti-DNA antibodies in patients treated with interferon-alpha. *Arthritis Rheum*, 36, 279-80.

EHRENSTEIN, M. R., KATZ, D. R., GRIFFITHS, M. H., PAPADAKI, L., WINKLER, T. H., KALDEN, J. R. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1995) Human IgG anti-DNA antibodies deposit in kidneys and induce proteinuria in SCID mice. *Kidney Int*, 48, 705-11.

ERIKSON, J., MARTINIS, J. & CROCE, C. M. (1981) Assignment of the genes for human lambda immunoglobulin chains to chromosome 22. *Nature*, 294, 173-5. EROGLU, G. E. & KOHLER, P. F. (2002) Familial systemic lupus erythematosus: the role of genetic and environmental factors. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 61, 29-31.

FANN, C. H., GUIRGIS, F., CHEN, G., LAO, M. S. & PIRET, J. M. (2000) Limitations to the amplification and stability of human tissue-type plasminogen activator expression by Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 69, 204-12.

FERNANDEZ-GUTIERREZ, B., DE MIGUEL, S., MORADO, C., HERNANDEZ-GARCIA, C., BANARES, A. & JOVER, J. A. (1998) Defective early T and T-dependent B cell activation in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*, 7, 314-22.

FERRARA, D. E., SWERLICK, R., CASPER, K., MERONI, P. L., VEGA-OSTERTAG, M. E., HARRIS, E. N. & PIERANGELI, S. S. (2004) Fluvastatin inhibits up-regulation of tissue factor expression by antiphospholipid antibodies on endothelial cells. *J Thromb Haemost*, 2, 1558-63.

FISCHETTI, F., DURIGUTTO, P., PELLIS, V., DEBEUS, A., MACOR, P., BULLA, R., BOSSI, F., ZILLER, F., SBLATTERO, D., MERONI, P. & TEDESCO, F. (2005) Thrombus formation induced by antibodies to beta2-glycoprotein I is complement dependent and requires a priming factor. *Blood*, 106, 2340-6.

FISHMAN, P., FALACH-VAKNINE, E., ZIGELMAN, R., BAKIMER, R., SREDNI, B., DJALDETTI, M. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1993) Prevention of fetal loss in experimental antiphospholipid syndrome by in vivo administration of recombinant interleukin-3. *J Clin Invest*, 91, 1834-7.

FORASTIERO, R., MARTINUZZO, M., POMBO, G., PUENTE, D., ROSSI, A., CELEBRIN, L., BONACCORSO, S. & AVERSA, L. (2005) A prospective study of antibodies to beta2-glycoprotein I and prothrombin, and risk of thrombosis. *J Thromb Haemost*, 3, 1231-8.

FOURNIE, G. J. (1988) Circulating DNA and lupus nephritis. Kidney Int, 33, 487-97.

FRIGUET B., CHAFFOTTE A.F., DJAVADI-OHANIANCE L. & GOLDBERG M.E. (1985) Measurements of the true affinity constant in solution of antigen-antibody complexes by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. *J.Immunol.Methods* **77**, 305-319.

GALLI, M., COMFURIUS, P., MAASSEN, C., HEMKER, H. C., DE BAETS, M. H., VAN BREDA-VRIESMAN, P. J., BARBUI, T., ZWAAL, R. F. & BEVERS, E. M. (1990) Anticardiolipin antibodies (ACA) directed not to cardiolipin but to a plasma protein cofactor. *Lancet*, 335, 1544-7.

GEARHART, P. J. & BOGENHAGEN, D. F. (1983) Clusters of point mutations are found exclusively around rearranged antibody variable genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 80, 3439-43.

GEORGE, J., BLANK, M., LEVY, Y., MERONI, P., DAMIANOVICH, M., TINCANI, A. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1998a) Differential effects of anti-beta2-glycoprotein I antibodies on endothelial cells and on the manifestations of experimental antiphospholipid syndrome. *Circulation*, 97, 900-6.

GEORGE, J., GILBURD, B., HOJNIK, M., LEVY, Y., LANGEVITZ, P., MATSUURA, E., KOIKE, T. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1998b) Target recognition of beta2-glycoprotein I (beta2GPI)-dependent anticardiolipin antibodies: evidence for involvement of the fourth domain of beta2GPI in antibody binding. *J Immunol*, 160, 3917-23.

GHARAVI, A. E., HARRIS, E. N., ASHERSON, R. A. & HUGHES, G. R. (1987) Anticardiolipin antibodies: isotype distribution and phospholipid specificity. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 46, 1-6.

GHARAVI, A. E., MELLORS, R. C. & ELKON, K. B. (1989) IgG anti-cardiolipin antibodies in murine lupus. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 78, 233-8.

GILES, I. P., HALEY, J., NAGL, S., LATCHMAN, D. S., CHEN, P. P., CHUKWUOCHA, R. U., ISENBERG, D. A. & RAHMAN, A. (2003a) Relative importance of different human aPL derived heavy and light chains in the binding of aPL to cardiolipin. *Mol Immunol*, 40, 49-60.

GILES, I. P., HALEY, J. D., NAGL, S., ISENBERG, D. A., LATCHMAN, D. S. & RAHMAN, A. (2003b) A systematic analysis of sequences of human antiphospholipid and antibeta2-glycoprotein I antibodies: the importance of somatic mutations and certain sequence motifs. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*, 32, 246-65.

GILES, I. P., ISENBERG, D. A & RAHMAN, A. (2006) Lessons from sequence analysis of monoclonal antiphospholipid antibodies. In Hughes Syndrome- Antiphospholipid Syndrome, 2nd ed, Springer, London, UK. Edited by Khamashta, M. A.

GILKESON, G. S., BLOOM, D. D., PISETSKY, D. S. & CLARKE, S. H. (1993) Molecular characterization of anti-DNA antibodies induced in normal mice by immunization with bacterial DNA. Differences from spontaneous anti-DNA in the content and location of VH CDR3 arginines. *J Immunol*, 151, 1353-64.

GIRARDI, G., BERMAN, J., REDECHA, P., SPRUCE, L., THURMAN, J. M., KRAUS, D., HOLLMANN, T. J., CASALI, P., CAROLL, M. C., WETSEL, R. A., LAMBRIS, J. D., HOLERS, V. M. & SALMON, J. E. (2003) Complement C5a receptors and neutrophils mediate fetal injury in the antiphospholipid syndrome. *J Clin Invest*, 112, 1644-54.

GLUZMAN, Y. (1981) SV40-transformed simian cells support the replication of early SV40 mutants. *Cell*, 23, 175-82.

GOLDSBY, R., KINDT, T. J. & OSBORNE, B. A. (2000) Kuby Immunology. W.H. Freeman and Company, NY, USA.

GUTH, A. M., ZHANG, X., SMITH, D., DETANICO, T. & WYSOCKI, L. J. (2003) Chromatin specificity of anti-double-stranded DNA antibodies and a role for Arg residues in the third complementarity-determining region of the heavy chain. *J Immunol*, 171, 6260-6.

HAHN, B. H. (1998) Antibodies to DNA. N Engl J Med, 338, 1359-68.

HALEY, J., MASON, L. J., NAGL, S., GILES, I., LATCHMAN, D. S., ISENBERG, D. A. & RAHMAN, A. (2004) Somatic mutations to arginine residues affect the binding of human monoclonal antibodies to DNA, histones, SmD and Ro antigen. *Mol Immunol*, 40, 745-58.

HANLY, J. G. (2003) Antiphospholipid syndrome: an overview. Cmaj, 168, 1675-82.

HARRIS, E. N., GHARAVI, A. E., BOEY, M. L., PATEL, B. M., MACKWORTH-YOUNG, C. G., LOIZOU, S. & HUGHES, G. R. (1983) Anticardiolipin antibodies: detection by radioimmunoassay and association with thrombosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lancet*, *2*, 1211-4.

HARRIS, E. N. (1987) Syndrome of the black swan. Br J Rheumatol, 26, 324-6.

HASEMANN, C. A. & CAPRA, J. D. (1990) High-level production of a functional immunoglobulin heterodimer in a baculovirus expression system. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 3942-6.

HASHIMOTO, Y., KAWAMURA, M., ICHIKAWA, K., SUZUKI, T., SUMIDA, T., YOSHIDA, S., MATSUURA, E., IKEHARA, S. & KOIKE, T. (1992) Anticardiolipin antibodies in NZW x BXSB F1 mice. A model of antiphospholipid syndrome. *J Immunol*, 149, 1063-8.

HERRMANN, M., VOLL, R. E., ZOLLER, O. M., HAGENHOFER, M., PONNER, B. B. & KALDEN, J. R. (1998) Impaired phagocytosis of apoptotic cell material by monocytederived macrophages from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 41, 1241-50.

HERRON, J. N., HE, X. M., BALLARD, D. W., BLIER, P. R., PACE, P. E., BOTHWELL, A. L., VOSS, E. W., JR. & EDMUNDSON, A. B. (1991) An autoantibody to singlestranded DNA: comparison of the three-dimensional structures of the unliganded Fab and a deoxynucleotide-Fab complex. *Proteins*, 11, 159-75.

HIETER, P. A., MAX, E. E., SEIDMAN, J. G., MAIZEL, J. V., JR. & LEDER, P. (1980)

Cloned human and mouse kappa immunoglobulin constant and J region genes conserve homology in functional segments. *Cell*, 22, 197-207.

HOCHBERG, M. C., CHANG, R. W., DWOSH, I., LINDSEY, S., PINCUS, T. & WOLFE, F. (1992) The American College of Rheumatology 1991 revised criteria for the classification of global functional status in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* **35**, 498-502.

HOCHBERG, M. C. (1997) Updating the American College of Rheumatology revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 40, 1725.

HODIS, H. N., QUISMORIO, F. P., JR., WICKHAM, E. & BLANKENHORN, D. H. (1993) The lipid, lipoprotein, and apolipoprotein effects of hydroxychloroquine in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* **20**, 661-5.

HOLERS, V. M., GIRARDI, G., MO, L., GUTHRIDGE, J. M., MOLINA, H., PIERANGELI, S. S., ESPINOLA, R., XIAOWEI, L. E., MAO, D., VIALPANDO, C. G. & SALMON, J. E. (2002) Complement C3 activation is required for antiphospholipid antibody-induced fetal loss. *J Exp Med*, 195, 211-20.

HORWITZ, A. H., CHANG, C. P., BETTER, M., HELLSTROM, K. E. & ROBINSON, R. R. (1988) Secretion of functional antibody and Fab fragment from yeast cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 85, 8678-82.

HOUSSIAU, F. A., LEFEBVRE, C., VANDEN BERGHE, M., LAMBERT, M., DEVOGELAER, J. P. & RENAULD, J. C. (1995) Serum interleukin 10 titers in systemic lupus erythematosus reflect disease activity. *Lupus*, *4*, 393-5.

HOZUMI, N. & TONEGAWA, S. (1976) Evidence for somatic rearrangement of immunoglobulin genes coding for variable and constant regions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 73, 3628-32.

HUANG, C. & STOLLAR, B. D. (1993) A majority of Ig H chain cDNA of normal human adult blood lymphocytes resembles cDNA for fetal Ig and natural autoantibodies. *J Immunol*, 151, 5290-300.
HUGHES, G. R. (1983) Thrombosis, abortion, cerebral disease, and the lupus anticoagulant. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)*, 287, 1088-9.

HUNT, J. E., MCNEIL, H. P., MORGAN, G. J., CRAMERI, R. M. & KRILIS, S. A. (1992) A phospholipid-beta 2-glycoprotein I complex is an antigen for anticardiolipin antibodies occurring in autoimmune disease but not with infection. *Lupus*, 1, 75-81.

ICHIHARA, Y., MATSUOKA, H. & KUROSAWA, Y. (1988) Organization of human immunoglobulin heavy chain diversity gene loci. *Embo J*, **7**, 4141-50.

IGNATOVICH, O., TOMLINSON, I. M., JONES, P. T. & WINTER, G. (1997) The creation of diversity in the human immunoglobulin V(lambda) repertoire. *J Mol Biol*, 268, 69-77.

IKEMATSU, W., LUAN, F. L., LA ROSA, L., BELTRAMI, B., NICOLETTI, F., BUYON, J. P., MERONI, P. L., BALESTRIERI, G. & CASALI, P. (1998) Human anticardiolipin monoclonal autoantibodies cause placental necrosis and fetal loss in BALB/c mice. *Arthritis Rheum*, 41, 1026-39.

INANC, M., RADWAY-BRIGHT, E. L. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1997) beta 2-Glycoprotein I and anti-beta 2-glycoprotein I antibodies: where are we now? *Br J Rheumatol*, 36, 1247-57.

IOANNOU, Y., GILES, I., LAMBRIANIDES, A., RICHARDSON, C., PEARL, L. H., LATCHMAN, D. S., ISENBERG, D. A. & RAHMAN, A. (2006) A novel expression system of domain I of human beta2 glycoprotein I in Escherichia coli. *BMC Biotechnol*, 6, 8.

ISENBERG, D. A. (1997) Systemic lupus erythematosus: immunopathogenesis and the card game analogy. *J Rheumatol Suppl*, 48, 62-6.

ISENBERG, D. and HORSFALL, A. (1998) Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. In Oxford Textbook of Rheumatology, Vol. 2, p. 1147 - 1180. Oxford University Press, Oxford. Edited by Maddison, P.J., Isenberg, D.A., Woo, P. and Glass D.N.

ISENBERG, D. (2004) Anti-dsDNA antibodies: still a useful criterion for patients with

systemic lupus erythematosus? Lupus, 13, 881-5.

ISENBERG, D. & RAHMAN, A. (2006) Systemic lupus erythematosus – 2005 annus mirabilis? *Nat Clin Pract Rheum*, 2, 145-152.

ISHIDA, H., MUCHAMUEL, T., SAKAGUCHI, S., ANDRADE, S., MENON, S. & HOWARD, M. (1994) Continuous administration of anti-interleukin 10 antibodies delays onset of autoimmunity in NZB/W F1 mice. *J Exp Med*, 179, 305-10.

IVERSON, G. M., VICTORIA, E. J. & MARQUIS, D. M. (1998) Anti-beta2 glycoprotein I (beta2GPI) autoantibodies recognize an epitope on the first domain of beta2GPI. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 15542-6.

IVERSON, G. M., REDDEL, S., VICTORIA, E. J., COCKERILL, K. A., WANG, Y. X., MARTI-RENOM, M. A., SALI, A., MARQUIS, D. M., KRILIS, S. A. & LINNIK, M. D. (2002) Use of single point mutations in domain I of beta 2-glycoprotein I to determine fine antigenic specificity of antiphospholipid autoantibodies. *J Immunol*, 169, 7097-103.

JACOB, C. O. & MCDEVITT, H. O. (1988) Tumour necrosis factor-alpha in murine autoimmune 'lupus' nephritis. *Nature*, 331, 356-8.

JANEWAY, C.A., TRAVERS, P., WALPORT, M. and SHLOMCHIK, M. (2001) Immunobiology: the immune system in health and disease. Garland Publishing, New York, NY, USA.

JANKOWSKI, M., VREYS, I., WITTEVRONGEL, C., BOON, D., VERMYLEN, J., HOYLAERTS, M. F. & ARNOUT, J. (2003) Thrombogenicity of beta 2-glycoprotein Idependent antiphospholipid antibodies in a photochemically induced thrombosis model in the hamster. *Blood*, 101, 157-62.

JOHNSON, A. E., GORDON, C., PALMER, R. G. & BACON, P. A. (1995) The prevalence and incidence of systemic lupus erythematosus in Birmingham, England. Relationship to ethnicity and country of birth. *Arthritis Rheum*, 38, 551-8.

JONSEN, A., BENGTSSON, A. A., STURFELT, G. & TRUEDSSON, L. (2004) Analysis of

HLA DR, HLA DQ, C4A, FcgammaRIIa, FcgammaRIIIa, MBL, and IL-1Ra allelic variants in Caucasian systemic lupus erythematosus patients suggests an effect of the combined FcgammaRIIa R/R and IL-1Ra 2/2 genotypes on disease susceptibility. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 6, R557-62.

JONSSON, H., NIVED, O. & STURFELT, G. (1989) Outcome in systemic lupus erythematosus: a prospective study of patients from a defined population. Medicine (Baltimore); 68:141-50. 24. Rahman P, Urowitz MB, Gladman.

KALAAJI, M., STURFELT, G., MJELLE, J. E., NOSSENT, H. & REKVIG, O. P. (2006) Critical comparative analyses of anti-alpha-actinin and glomerulus-bound antibodies in human and murine lupus nephritis. *Arthritis Rheum*, 54, 914-26.

KALIYAPERUMAL, A., MOHAN, C., WU, W. & DATTA, S. K. (1996) Nucleosomal peptide epitopes for nephritis-inducing T helper cells of murine lupus. *J Exp Med*, 183, 2459-69.

KALSI, J. K., MARTIN, A. C., HIRABAYASHI, Y., EHRENSTEIN, M., LONGHURST, C.
M., RAVIRAJAN, C., ZVELEBIL, M., STOLLAR, B. D., THORNTON, J. M. & ISENBERG,
D. A. (1996) Functional and modelling studies of the binding of human monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies to DNA. *Mol Immunol*, 33, 471-83.

KALSI, J. K. & SUTTON, B. (1997) Structural analysis of anti-DNA antibodies. *Lupus*, 6, 317-20.

KAMMER, G. M., PERL, A., RICHARDSON, B. C. & TSOKOS, G. C. (2002) Abnormal T cell signal transduction in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 46, 1139-54.

KATZ, J. B., LIMPANASITHIKUL, W. & DIAMOND, B. (1994) Mutational analysis of an autoantibody: differential binding and pathogenicity. *J Exp Med*, 180, 925-32.

KIROU, K. A. & CROW, M. K. (1999) New pieces to the SLE cytokine puzzle. *Clin Immunol*, 91, 1-5.

KITA, Y., SUMIDA, T., ICHIKAWA, K., MAEDA, T., YONAHA, F., IWAMOTO, I.,

YOSHIDA, S. & KOIKE, T. (1993) V gene analysis of anticardiolipin antibodies from MRL-lpr/lpr mice. *J Immunol*, 151, 849-56.

KITA, Y., SUMIDA, T., IWAMOTO, I., YOSHIDA, S. & KOIKE, T. (1994) V gene analysis of anti-cardiolipin antibodies from (NZW x BXSB) F1 mice. *Immunology*, 82, 494-501.

KIM, N. S., KIM, S. J. & LEE, G. M. (1998) Clonal variability within dihydrofolate reductase-mediated gene amplified Chinese hamster ovary cells: stability in the absence of selective pressure. *Biotechnol Bioeng*, 60, 679-88.

KLINMAN, D. M., SHIRAI, A., ISHIGATSUBO, Y., CONOVER, J. & STEINBERG, A. D. (1991) Quantitation of IgM- and IgG-secreting B cells in the peripheral blood of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 34, 1404-10.

KODAMA, S., DAVIS, M. & FAUSTMAN, D. L. (2005) The therapeutic potential of tumor necrosis factor for autoimmune disease: a mechanistically based hypothesis. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 62, 1850-62.

KOHLER, G. & MILSTEIN, C. (1975) Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. *Nature*, 256, 495-7.

KORB, L. C. & AHEARN, J. M. (1997) C1q binds directly and specifically to surface blebs of apoptotic human keratinocytes: complement deficiency and systemic lupus erythematosus revisited. *J Immunol*, 158, 4525-8.

KORNBERG, A., BLANK, M., KAUFMAN, S. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1994) Induction of tissue factor-like activity in monocytes by anti-cardiolipin antibodies. *J Immunol*, 153, 1328-32.

KRAMERS, C., HYLKEMA, M. N., VAN BRUGGEN, M. C., VAN DE LAGEMAAT, R., DIJKMAN, H. B., ASSMANN, K. J., SMEENK, R. J. & BERDEN, J. H. (1994) Antinucleosome antibodies complexed to nucleosomal antigens show anti-DNA reactivity and bind to rat glomerular basement membrane in vivo. *J Clin Invest*, 94, 568-77.

KRAMERS, K., STEMMER, C., MONESTIER, M., VAN BRUGGEN, M. C., RIJKE-

SCHILDER, T. P., HYLKEMA, M. N., SMEENK, R. J., MULLER, S. & BERDEN, J. H. (1996) Specificity of monoclonal anti-nucleosome auto-antibodies derived from lupus mice. *J Autoimmun*, *9*, 723-9.

KRISHNAN, M. R. & MARION, T. N. (1993) Structural similarity of antibody variable regions from immune and autoimmune anti-DNA antibodies. *J Immunol*, 150, 4948-57.

KRISHNAN, M. R., JOU, N. T. & MARION, T. N. (1996) Correlation between the amino acid position of arginine in VH-CDR3 and specificity for native DNA among autoimmune antibodies. *J Immunol*, 157, 2430-9.

KRISHNAN, M. R. & MARION, T. N. (1998) Comparison of the frequencies of arginines in heavy chain CDR3 of antibodies expressed in the primary B-cell repertoires of autoimmune-prone and normal mice. *Scand J Immunol*, 48, 223-32.

KUMAR, S., KALSI, J., RAVIRAJAN, C. T., RAHMAN, A., ATHWAL, D., LATCHMAN, D. S., ISENBERG, D. A. & PEARL, L. H. (2000) Molecular cloning and expression of the Fabs of human autoantibodies in Escherichia coli. Determination of the heavy or light chain contribution to the anti-DNA/-cardiolipin activity of the Fab. *J Biol Chem*, 275, 35129-36.

KUMAR, S., KALSI, J., LATCHMAN, D. S., PEARL, L. H. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2001) Expression of the Fabs of human auto-antibodies in Escherichia coli: optimization and determination of their fine binding characteristics and cross-reactivity. *J Mol Biol*, 308, 527-39.

KUMAR, S., KALSI, J., BUNTING, K., RAVIRAJAN, C. T., LATCHMAN, D. S., PEARL, L. H. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2004) Fine binding characteristics of human autoantibodiespartial molecular characterization. *Mol Immunol*, 41, 495-510.

KUROSAWA, Y. & TONEGAWA, S. (1982) Organization, structure, and assembly of immunoglobulin heavy chain diversity DNA segments. *J Exp Med*, 155, 201-18.

LACKI, J. K., LESZCZYNSKI, P., KELEMEN, J., MULLER, W. & MACKIEWICZ, S. H. (1997) Cytokine concentration in serum of lupus erythematosus patients: the effect

on acute phase response. J Med, 28, 99-107.

LAEMMLI, U. K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, 227, 680-5.

LAI, K. N., LEUNG, J. C., LAI, K. B. & LAI, C. K. (1997) Effect of anti-DNA autoantibodies on the gene expression of interleukin 8, transforming growth factorbeta, and nitric oxide synthase in cultured endothelial cells. *Scand J Rheumatol*, 26, 461-7.

LEANDRO, M. J., EDWARDS, J. C., CAMBRIDGE, G., EHRENSTEIN, M. R. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2002) An open study of B lymphocyte depletion in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 46, 2673-7.

LEANDRO, M. J., CAMBRIDGE, G., EDWARDS, J. C., EHRENSTEIN, M. R. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2005) B-cell depletion in the treatment of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: a longitudinal analysis of 24 patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 44, 1542-5.

LEFKOWITH, J. B. & GILKESON, G. S. (1996) Nephritogenic autoantibodies in lupus: current concepts and continuing controversies. *Arthritis Rheum*, 39, 894-903.

LEVINE, J. S., BRANCH, D. W. & RAUCH, J. (2002) The antiphospholipid syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, 346, 752-63.

LI, Z., SCHETTINO, E. W., PADLAN, E. A., IKEMATSU, H. & CASALI, P. (2000) Structure-function analysis of a lupus anti-DNA autoantibody: central role of the heavy chain complementarity-determining region 3 Arg in binding of double- and single-stranded DNA. *Eur J Immunol*, 30, 2015-26.

LI, Z. & KRILIS, S. A. (2003) Anti-beta(2)-glycoprotein I antibodies and the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Autoimmun Rev*, 2, 229-34.

LIEBY, P., POINDRON, V., ROUSSI, S., KLEIN, C., KNAPP, A. M., GARAUD, J. C., CERUTTI, M., MARTIN, T. & PASQUALI, J. L. (2004) Pathogenic antiphospholipid antibody: an antigen-selected needle in a haystack. *Blood*, 104, 1711-5. LIMA, F., KHAMASHTA, M. A., BUCHANAN, N. M., KERSLAKE, S., HUNT, B. J. & HUGHES, G. R. (1996) A study of sixty pregnancies in patients with the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 14, 131-6.

LINKER-ISRAELI, M., DEANS, R. J., WALLACE, D. J., PREHN, J., OZERI-CHEN, T. & KLINENBERG, J. R. (1991) Elevated levels of endogenous IL-6 in systemic lupus erythematosus. A putative role in pathogenesis. *J Immunol*, 147, 117-23.

LLORENTE, L., RICHAUD-PATIN, Y., GARCIA-PADILLA, C., CLARET, E., JAKEZ-OCAMPO, J., CARDIEL, M. H., ALCOCER-VARELA, J., GRANGEOT-KEROS, L., ALARCON-SEGOVIA, D., WIJDENES, J., GALANAUD, P. & EMILIE, D. (2000) Clinical and biologic effects of anti-interleukin-10 monoclonal antibody administration in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 43, 1790-800.

LOIZOU, S., MACKWORTH-YOUNG, C. G., COFINER, C. & WALPORT, M. J. (1990) Heterogeneity of binding reactivity to different phospholipids of antibodies from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and with syphilis. *Clin Exp Immunol,* 80, 171-6.

LOONEY, R. J., ANOLIK, J. H., CAMPBELL, D., FELGAR, R. E., YOUNG, F., AREND, L. J., SLOAND, J. A., ROSENBLATT, J. & SANZ, I. (2004) B cell depletion as a novel treatment for systemic lupus erythematosus: a phase I/II dose-escalation trial of rituximab. *Arthritis Rheum*, 50, 2580-9.

LOPEZ, L. R., DIER, K. J., LOPEZ, D., MERRILL, J. T. & FINK, C. A. (2004) Anti-beta 2-glycoprotein I and antiphosphatidylserine antibodies are predictors of arterial thrombosis in patients with antiphospholipid syndrome. *Am J Clin Pathol*, 121, 142-9.

LORENZ HM. (2002) Abetimus (La Jolla pharmaceuticals). *Curr Opin Investi Drugs*, **3**, 234–239.

LOSSOS, I. S., TIBSHIRANI, R., NARASIMHAN, B. & LEVY, R. (2000) The inference of antigen selection on Ig genes. *J Immunol*, 165, 5122-6.

LUCAS, J. A., AHMED, S. A., CASEY, M. L. & MACDONALD, P. C. (1985) Prevention of

autoantibody formation and prolonged survival in New Zealand black/New Zealand white F1 mice fed dehydroisoandrosterone. *J Clin Invest*, **75**, 2091-3.

MACCALLUM, R. M., MARTIN, A. C. & THORNTON, J. M. (1996) Antibody-antigen interactions: contact analysis and binding site topography. *J Mol Biol*, 262, 732-45.

MACKWORTH-YOUNG, C. G. (2004) Antiphospholipid syndrome: multiple mechanisms. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 136, 393-401.

MADAIO, M. P. & YANASE, K. (1998) Cellular penetration and nuclear localization of anti-DNA antibodies: mechanisms, consequences, implications and applications. *J Autoimmun*, 11, 535-8.

MAIZELS, N. (2005) Immunoglobulin gene diversification. *Annu Rev Genet*, **39**, 23-46.

MALCOLM, S., BARTON, P., MURPHY, C., FERGUSON-SMITH, M. A., BENTLEY, D. L. & RABBITTS, T. H. (1982) Localization of human immunoglobulin kappa light chain variable region genes to the short arm of chromosome 2 by in situ hybridization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 79, 4957-61.

MANDERSON, A. P., BOTTO, M. & WALPORT, M. J. (2004) The role of complement in the development of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 22, 431-56.

MARCINIAK, E. & ROMOND, E. H. (1989) Impaired catalytic function of activated protein C: a new in vitro manifestation of lupus anticoagulant. *Blood*, 74, 2426-32.

MARION, T. N., TILLMAN, D. M., JOU, N. T. & HILL, R. J. (1992) Selection of immunoglobulin variable regions in autoimmunity to DNA. *Immunol Rev*, 128, 123-49.

MASON, L. J., RAVIRAJAN, C. T., RAHMAN, A., PUTTERMAN, C. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2004) Is alpha-actinin a target for pathogenic anti-DNA antibodies in lupus nephritis? *Arthritis Rheum*, 50, 866-70.

MASON, L. J., LAMBRIANIDES, A., HALEY, J. D., MANSON, J. J., LATCHMAN, D. S.,

ISENBERG, D. A. & RAHMAN, A. (2005) Stable expression of a recombinant human antinucleosome antibody to investigate relationships between antibody sequence, binding properties, and pathogenicity. *Arthritis Res Ther*, 7, R971-83.

MATHIAN, A., WEINBERG, A., GALLEGOS, M., BANCHEREAU, J. & KOUTOUZOV, S. (2005) IFN-alpha induces early lethal lupus in preautoimmune (New Zealand Black x New Zealand White) F1 but not in BALB/c mice. *J Immunol*, 174, 2499-506.

MATSUDA, F., SHIN, E. K., NAGAOKA, H., MATSUMURA, R., HAINO, M., FUKITA, Y., TAKA-ISHI, S., IMAI, T., RILEY, J. H., ANAND, R. & ET AL. (1993) Structure and physical map of 64 variable segments in the 3'0.8-megabase region of the human immunoglobulin heavy-chain locus. *Nat Genet*, **3**, 88-94.

MATSUDA, F., ISHII, K., BOURVAGNET, P., KUMA, K., HAYASHIDA, H., MIYATA, T. & HONJO, T. (1998) The complete nucleotide sequence of the human immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region locus. *J Exp Med*, 188, 2151-62.

MATTHYSSENS, G. & RABBITTS, T. H. (1980) Structure and multiplicity of genes for the human immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 77, 6561-5.

McBRIDE, O. W., HIETER, P. A., HOLLIS, G. F., SWAN, D., OTEY, M. C. & LEDER, P. (1982) Chromosomal location of human kappa and lambda immunoglobulin light chain constant region genes. *J Exp Med*, 155, 1480-90.

McCAFFERTY, J., GRIFFITHS, A. D., WINTER, G. & CHISWELL, D. J. (1990) Phage antibodies: filamentous phage displaying antibody variable domains. *Nature*, 348, 552-4.

McNALLY, T., MACKIE, I. J., MACHIN, S. J. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1995) Increased levels of beta 2 glycoprotein-I antigen and beta 2 glycoprotein-I binding antibodies are associated with a history of thromboembolic complications in patients with SLE and primary antiphospholipid syndrome. *Br J Rheumatol*, 34, 1031-6.

McNEIL, H. P., SIMPSON, R. J., CHESTERMAN, C. N. & KRILIS, S. A. (1990) Antiphospholipid antibodies are directed against a complex antigen that includes a lipid-

binding inhibitor of coagulation: beta 2-glycoprotein I (apolipoprotein H). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 87, 4120-4.

MERONI, P. L., RASCHI, E., CAMERA, M., TESTONI, C., NICOLETTI, F., TINCANI, A., KHAMASHTA, M. A., BALESTRIERI, G., TREMOLI, E. & HESS, D. C. (2000) Endothelial activation by aPL: a potential pathogenetic mechanism for the clinical manifestations of the syndrome. *J Autoimmun*, 15, 237-40.

MERRILL, J.T. (2004) LJP 1082: a toleragen for Hughes syndrome. *Lupus*, 13(5), 335-8.

MIESCHER, P. & STRASSLE, R. (1957) New serological methods for the detection of the L.E. factor. *Vox Sang*, 2, 283-7.

MILLARD, T. P. & HAWK, J. L. (2001) Ultraviolet therapy in lupus. Lupus, 10, 185-7.

MITCHELL, D. A., PICKERING, M. C., WARREN, J., FOSSATI-JIMACK, L., CORTES-HERNANDEZ, J., COOK, H. T., BOTTO, M. & WALPORT, M. J. (2002) C1q deficiency and autoimmunity: the effects of genetic background on disease expression. *J Immunol*, 168, 2538-43.

MIYAKIS, S., GIANNAKOPOULOS, B. & KRILIS, S. A. (2004) Beta 2 glycoprotein I-function in health and disease. *Thromb Res*, 114, 335-46.

MIYAKIS, S., LOCKSHIN, M. D., ATSUMI, T., BRANCH, D. W., BREY, R. L., CERVERA, R., DERKSEN, R. H., PG, D. E. G., KOIKE, T., MERONI, P. L., REBER, G., SHOENFELD, Y., TINCANI, A., VLACHOYIANNOPOULOS, P. G. & KRILIS, S. A. (2006) International consensus statement on an update of the classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome (APS). *J Thromb Haemost*, *4*, 295-306.

MOCKRIDGE, C. I., CHAPMAN, C. J., SPELLERBERG, M. B., ISENBERG, D. A. & STEVENSON, F. K. (1996) Use of phage surface expression to analyze regions of human V4-34(VH4-21)-encoded IgG autoantibody required for recognition of DNA: no involvement of the 9G4 idiotope. *J Immunol*, 157, 2449-54.

MOHAN, C., ADAMS, S., STANIK, V. & DATTA, S. K. (1993) Nucleosome: a major

immunogen for pathogenic autoantibody-inducing T cells of lupus. *J Exp Med*, 177, 1367-81.

MOK, C. C. & LAU, C. S. (2003) Pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Clin Pathol*, 56, 481-90.

MOREL, L., RUDOFSKY, U. H., LONGMATE, J. A., SCHIFFENBAUER, J. & WAKELAND, E. K. (1994) Polygenic control of susceptibility to murine systemic lupus erythematosus. *Immunity*, 1, 219-29.

MOREL, L., CROKER, B. P., BLENMAN, K. R., MOHAN, C., HUANG, G., GILKESON, G. & WAKELAND, E. K. (2000) Genetic reconstitution of systemic lupus erythematosus immunopathology with polycongenic murine strains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 97, 6670-5.

MORROW W. J. W., NELSON L., WATTS R. & ISENBERG D. A. (1999) Autoimmune Rheumatic Disease. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

MOSTOSLAVSKY, G., FISCHEL, R., YACHIMOVICH, N., YARKONI, Y., ROSENMANN, E., MONESTIER, M., BANIYASH, M. & EILAT, D. (2001) Lupus anti-DNA autoantibodies cross-react with a glomerular structural protein: a case for tissue injury by molecular mimicry. *Eur J Immunol*, 31, 1221-7.

MOSTOSLAVSKY, R., ALT, F. W. & RAJEWSKY, K. (2004) The lingering enigma of the allelic exclusion mechanism. *Cell*, 118, 539-44.

NASH, M. J., CAMILLERI, R. S., KUNKA, S., MACKIE, I. J., MACHIN, S. J. & COHEN, H. (2004) The anticardiolipin assay is required for sensitive screening for antiphospholipid antibodies. *J Thromb Haemost*, 2, 1077-81.

NENG LAI, K., LEUNG, J. C., BIK LAI, K., LI, P. K. & LAI, C. K. (1996) Anti-DNA autoantibodies stimulate the release of interleukin-1 and interleukin-6 from endothelial cells. *J Pathol*, 178, 451-7.

NEUBERGER, M. S. & MILSTEIN, C. (1995) Somatic hypermutation. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 7, 248-54.

NIVED, O. and STURFELDT, G. (1997) Does the black population in Africa get SLE? If not, why not? In Controversies in Rheumatology, p.65-74. Martin Dunitz Ltd, London, UK. Edited by Isenberg, D.A and Tucker, L.B.

NUSSENZWEIG, M. C. & ALT, F. W. (2004) Antibody diversity: one enzyme to rule them all. *Nat Med*, 10, 1304-5.

OKAMURA, M., KANAYAMA, Y., AMASTU, K., NEGORO, N., KOHDA, S., TAKEDA, T. & INOUE, T. (1993) Significance of enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) for antibodies to double stranded and single stranded DNA in patients with lupus nephritis: correlation with severity of renal histology. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 52, 14-20.

OOSTING, J. D., DERKSEN, R. H., BOBBINK, I. W., HACKENG, T. M., BOUMA, B. N. & DE GROOT, P. G. (1993) Antiphospholipid antibodies directed against a combination of phospholipids with prothrombin, protein C, or protein S: an explanation for their pathogenic mechanism? *Blood*, 81, 2618-25.

ORDI, J., SELVA, A., MONEGAL, F., PORCEL, J. M., MARTINEZ-COSTA, X. & VILARDELL, M. (1993) Anticardiolipin antibodies and dependence of a serum cofactor. A mechanism of thrombosis. *J Rheumatol*, 20, 1321-4.

PAUL, E., POZDNYAKOVA, O. O., MITCHELL, E. & CARROLL, M. C. (2002) Anti-DNA autoreactivity in C4-deficient mice. *Eur J Immunol*, 32, 2672-9.

PAVENSTADT, H., KRIZ, W. & KRETZLER, M. (2003) Cell biology of the glomerular podocyte. *Physiol Rev*, 83, 253-307.
PEAKMAN, M. & VERGANI, D. (1997) Basic and Clinical Immunology. Churchill Livingstone, London, UK.

PEEVA, E., DIAMOND, B. & PUTTERMAN, C. (2002) The Structure and Derivation of Antibodies and Autoantibodies. In *Dubois' Lupus Erythematosus*, 391-413. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia. Edited by Wallace, D. J. and Hahn, B. H.

PERSIC, L., ROBERTS, A., WILTON, J., CATTANEO, A., BRADBURY, A. & HOOGENBOOM, H. R. (1997) An integrated vector system for the eukaryotic

expression of antibodies or their fragments after selection from phage display libraries. *Gene*, 187, 9-18.

PETRI, M. (2000) Treatment of the antiphospholipid antibody syndrome: progress in the last five years? *Curr Rheumatol Rep*, 2, 256-61.

PEWZNER-JUNG, Y., SIMON, T. & EILAT, D. (1996) Structural elements controlling anti-DNA antibody affinity and their relationship to anti-phosphorylcholine activity. *J Immunol*, 156, 3065-73.

PICKERING, M. C. & WALPORT, M. J. (2000) Links between complement abnormalities and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 39, 133-41.

PIERANGELI, S. S., BARKER, J. H., STIKOVAC, D., ACKERMAN, D., ANDERSON, G., BARQUINERO, J., ACLAND, R. & HARRIS, E. N. (1994) Effect of human IgG antiphospholipid antibodies on an in vivo thrombosis model in mice. *Thromb Haemost*, 71, 670-4.

PIERANGELI, S. S., COLDEN-STANFIELD, M., LIU, X., BARKER, J. H., ANDERSON, G. L. & HARRIS, E. N. (1999) Antiphospholipid antibodies from antiphospholipid syndrome patients activate endothelial cells in vitro and in vivo. *Circulation*, 99, 1997-2002.

PIERANGELI, S. S., LIU, S. W., ANDERSON, G., BARKER, J. H. & HARRIS, E. N. (1996) Thrombogenic properties of murine anti-cardiolipin antibodies induced by beta 2 glycoprotein 1 and human immunoglobulin G antiphospholipid antibodies. *Circulation*, 94, 1746-51.

PIERANGELI, S. S., LIU, X., ESPINOLA, R., OLEE, T., ZHU, M., HARRIS, N. E. & CHEN, P. P. (2000) Functional analyses of patient-derived IgG monoclonal anticardiolipin antibodies using in vivo thrombosis and in vivo microcirculation models. *Thromb Haemost*, 84, 388-95.

PIERANGELI, S. S., ESPINOLA, R. G., LIU, X. & HARRIS, E. N. (2001) Thrombogenic effects of antiphospholipid antibodies are mediated by intercellular cell adhesion

molecule-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, and P-selectin. Circ Res, 88, 245-50.

PISETSKY, D. S. (1996) Immune activation by bacterial DNA: a new genetic code. *Immunity*, 5, 303-10.

PISETSKY, D. S. (1997) Systemic lupus erythematosus. A. Epidemiology, pathology and pathogenesis. In Primer on the rheumatic diseases. 246-251, 11th ed., Arthritis Foundation, Georgia, USA. Edited by Klippel, J. H.

PISETSKY, D. S. & DRAYTON, D. M. (1997) Deficient expression of antibodies specific for bacterial DNA by patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Proc Assoc Am Physicians*, 109, 237-44.

PITTONI, V., RAVIRAJAN, C. T., DONOHOE, S., MACHIN, S. J., LYDYARD, P. M. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2000) Human monoclonal anti-phospholipid antibodies selectively bind to membrane phospholipid and beta2-glycoprotein I (beta2-GPI) on apoptotic cells. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 119, 533-43.

POOLE, B. D., SCOFIELD, R. H., HARLEY, J. B. & JAMES, J. A. (2006) Epstein-Barr virus and molecular mimicry in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity*, 39, 63-70.

PRAK, E. L. & WEIGERT, M. (1995) Light chain replacement: a new model for antibody gene rearrangement. *J Exp Med*, 182, 541-8.

PUTTERMAN, C., KUO, P. & DIAMOND, B. (1997) The structure and derivation of antibodies and autoantibodies. Pages 383-396 in *Dubois' lupus erythematosus* 5th ed., Williams & Wilkins, Baltimore. Edited by Wallace, D.J. & Hahn, B.H.

RADIC, M. Z., MASCELLI, M. A., ERIKSON, J., SHAN, H. & WEIGERT, M. (1991) Ig H and L chain contributions to autoimmune specificities. *J Immunol*, 146, 176-82.

RADIC, M. Z. & WEIGERT, M. (1994) Genetic and structural evidence for antigen selection of anti-DNA antibodies. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 12, 487-520.

RADIC, M. Z., MACKLE, J., ERIKSON, J., MOL, C., ANDERSON, W. F. & WEIGERT, M.

(1993) Residues that mediate DNA binding of autoimmune antibodies. *J Immunol*, 150, 4966-77.

RADIC, M., MARION, T. & MONESTIER, M. (2004) Nucleosomes are exposed at the cell surface in apoptosis. *J Immunol*, 172, 6692-700.

RADWAY-BRIGHT, E. L., INANC, M. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1999) Animal models of the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 38, 591-601.

RAHMAN, A., LATCHMAN, D. S. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1998a) The role of in vitro expression systems in the investigation of antibodies to DNA. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*, 28, 130-9.

RAHMAN, M. A., KETTLEBOROUGH, C. A., LATCHMAN, D. S. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1998b) Properties of whole human IgG molecules produced by the expression of cloned anti-DNA antibody cDNA in mammalian cells. *J Autoimmun*, 11, 661-9.

RAHMAN, P., UROWITZ, M. B., GLADMAN, D. D., BRUCE, I. N. & GENEST, J., JR. (1999) Contribution of traditional risk factors to coronary artery disease in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol*, 26, 2363-8.

RAHMAN, A., HALEY, J., RADWAY-BRIGHT, E., NAGL, S., LOW, D. G., LATCHMAN, D. S. & ISENBERG, D. A. (2001) The importance of somatic mutations in the V(lambda) gene 2a2 in human monoclonal anti-DNA antibodies. *J Mol Biol*, 307, 149-60.

RAHMAN, A., GILES, I., HALEY, J. & ISENBERG, D. (2002a) Systematic analysis of sequences of anti-DNA antibodies--relevance to theories of origin and pathogenicity. *Lupus*, 11, 807-23.

RAHMAN, A., HALEY, J. & LATCHMAN, D. S. (2002b) Molecular expression systems for anti-DNA antibodies--1. *Lupus*, 11, 824-32.

RAVETCH, J. V., SIEBENLIST, U., KORSMEYER, S., WALDMANN, T. & LEDER, P. (1981) Structure of the human immunoglobulin mu locus: characterization of embryonic and rearranged J and D genes. *Cell*, 27, 583-91.

RAVIRAJAN, C. T., RAHMAN, M. A., PAPADAKI, L., GRIFFITHS, M. H., KALSI, J., MARTIN, A. C., EHRENSTEIN, M. R., LATCHMAN, D. S. & ISENBERG, D. A. (1998) Genetic, structural and functional properties of an IgG DNA-binding monoclonal antibody from a lupus patient with nephritis. *Eur J Immunol*, 28, 339-50.

RAZ, E., BREZIS, M., ROSENMANN, E. & EILAT, D. (1989) Anti-DNA antibodies bind directly to renal antigens and induce kidney dysfunction in the isolated perfused rat kidney. *J Immunol*, 142, 3076-82.

REDDEL, S. W., WANG, Y. X., SHENG, Y. H. & KRILIS, S. A. (2000) Epitope studies with anti-beta 2-glycoprotein I antibodies from autoantibody and immunized sources. *J Autoimmun*, 15, 91-6.

REKVIG, O. P., MOENS, U., SUNDSFJORD, A., BREDHOLT, G., OSEI, A., HAAHEIM, H., TRAAVIK, T., ARNESEN, E. & HAGA, H. J. (1997) Experimental expression in mice and spontaneous expression in human SLE of polyomavirus T-antigen. A molecular basis for induction of antibodies to DNA and eukaryotic transcription factors. *J Clin Invest*, 99, 2045-54.

REKVIG, O. P., KALAAJI, M. & NOSSENT, H. (2004) Anti-DNA antibody subpopulations and lupus nephritis. *Autoimmun Rev*, **3**, 1-6.

REVERTER, J. C., TASSIES, D., FONT, J., KHAMASHTA, M. A., ICHIKAWA, K., CERVERA, R., ESCOLAR, G., HUGHES, G. R., INGELMO, M. & ORDINAS, A. (1998) Effects of human monoclonal anticardiolipin antibodies on platelet function and on tissue factor expression on monocytes. *Arthritis Rheum*, 41, 1420-7.

ROBBINS, W. C., HOLMAN, H. R., DEICHER, H. & KUNKEL, H. G. (1957) Complement fixation with cell nuclei and DNA in lupus erythematosus. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med*, 96, 575-9.

ROGOZIN, I. B. & KOLCHANOV, N. A. (1992) Somatic hypermutagenesis in immunoglobulin genes. II. Influence of neighbouring base sequences on mutagenesis. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1171, 11-8.

ROITT, I., BROSTOFF, J. & MALE, D. (1996) Immunology. Mosby Publishers,

Barcelona, Spain.

ROITT, I. & DELVES, P. (2002) Roitt's Essential Immunology, 10th ed. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford, UK.

ROTHER, R. P., MOJCIK, C. F. & MCCROSKERY, E. W. (2004) Inhibition of terminal complement: a novel therapeutic approach for the treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*, 13, 328-34.

ROUBEY, R. A. (1996) Immunology of the antiphospholipid antibody syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum*, 39, 1444–54.

ROUBEY, R. A. (2000) Tissue factor pathway and the antiphospholipid syndrome. *J Autoimmun,* 15, 217-20.

ROUBINIAN, J. R., TALAL, N., GREENSPAN, J. S., GOODMAN, J. R. & SIITERI, P. K. (1979) Delayed androgen treatment prolongs survival in murine lupus. *J Clin Invest*, 63, 902-11.

RUIZ-IRASTORZA, G. & KHAMASHTA, M. A. (2005) Management of thrombosis in antiphospholipid syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus in pregnancy. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 1051, 606-12.

RUMORE, P. M. & STEINMAN, C. R. (1990) Endogenous circulating DNA in systemic lupus erythematosus. Occurrence as multimeric complexes bound to histone. *J Clin Invest*, 86, 69-74.

SABBAGA, J., LINE, S. R., POTOCNJAK, P. & MADAIO, M. P. (1989) A murine nephritogenic monoclonal anti-DNA autoantibody binds directly to mouse laminin, the major non-collagenous protein component of the glomerular basement membrane. *Eur J Immunol*, 19, 137-43.

SAKANO, H., HUPPI, K., HEINRICH, G. & TONEGAWA, S. (1979) Sequences at the somatic recombination sites of immunoglobulin light-chain genes. *Nature*, 280, 288-94.

SALMON, J. E., GIRARDI, G. & HOLERS, V. M. (2002) Complement activation as a mediator of antiphospholipid antibody induced pregnancy loss and thrombosis. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 61 Suppl 2, ii46-50.

SANZ, I., KELLY, P., WILLIAMS, C., SCHOLL, S., TUCKER, P. & CAPRA, J. D. (1989) The smaller human VH gene families display remarkably little polymorphism. *Embo J*, 8, 3741-8.

SANZ, I. (1991) Multiple mechanisms participate in the generation of diversity of human H chain CDR3 regions. *J Immunol*, 147, 1720-9.

SAWALHA, A. H. & HARLEY, J. B. (2004) Antinuclear autoantibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Curr Opin Rheumatol*, 16, 534-40.

SCHABLE, K. F. & ZACHAU, H. G. (1993) The variable genes of the human immunoglobulin kappa locus. *Biol Chem Hoppe Seyler*, 374, 1001-22.

SCHATZ, D. G., OETTINGER, M. A. & SCHLISSEL, M. S. (1992) V(D)J recombination: molecular biology and regulation. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 10, 359-83.

SCHATZ, D. G. (2004) V(D)J recombination. Immunol Rev, 200, 5-11.

SCHILLING, J., CLEVINGER, B., DAVIE, J. M. & HOOD, L. (1980) Amino acid sequence of homogeneous antibodies to dextran and DNA rearrangements in heavy chain V-region gene segments. *Nature*, 283, 35-40.

SCHIMKE, R. T. (1984) Gene amplification in cultured animal cells. Cell, 37, 705-13.

SCHWARZENBACHER, R., ZETH, K., DIEDERICHS, K., GRIES, A., KOSTNER, G. M., LAGGNER, P. & PRASSL, R. (1999) Crystal structure of human beta2-glycoprotein I: implications for phospholipid binding and the antiphospholipid syndrome. *Embo J*, 18, 6228-39

SEBIRE, N. J., FOX, H., BACKOS, M., RAI, R., PATERSON, C. & REGAN, L. (2002) Defective endovascular trophoblast invasion in primary antiphospholipid antibody syndrome-associated early pregnancy failure. *Hum Reprod*, 17, 1067-71. SEBIRE, N. J., BACKOS, M., EL GADDAL, S., GOLDIN, R. D. & REGAN, L. (2003) Placental pathology, antiphospholipid antibodies, and pregnancy outcome in recurrent miscarriage patients. *Obstet Gynecol*, 101, 258-63.

SEEMAN, N. C., ROSENBERG, J. M. & RICH, A. (1976) Sequence-specific recognition of double helical nucleic acids by proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 73, 804-8.

SELIGMANN, M. (1957) [Demonstration in the blood of patients with disseminated lupus erythematosus a substance determining a precipitation reaction with desoxyribonucleic acid.]. *C R Hebd Seances Acad Sci*, 245, 243-5.

SELSING, E. (2006) Ig class switching: targeting the recombinational mechanism. *Curr Opin Immunol*, 18, 249-54.

SHEN, N. & TSAO, B. P. (2004) Current advances in the human lupus genetics. *Curr Rheumatol Rep,* 6, 391-8.

SHLOMCHIK, M. J., MARSHAK-ROTHSTEIN, A., WOLFOWICZ, C. B., ROTHSTEIN, T. L. & WEIGERT, M. G. (1987) The role of clonal selection and somatic mutation in autoimmunity. *Nature*, 328, 805-11.

SHOENFELD, Y., RAUCH, J., MASSICOTTE, H., DATTA, S. K., ANDRE-SCHWARTZ, J., STOLLAR, B. D. & SCHWARTZ, R. S. (1983) Polyspecificity of monoclonal lupus autoantibodies produced by human-human hybridomas. *N Engl J Med*, 308, 414-20.

SHOENFELD, Y., SHERER, Y. & FISHMAN, P. (1998) Interleukin-3 and pregnancy loss in antiphospholipid syndrome. *Scand J Rheumatol Suppl*, 107, 19-22.

SIEBENLIST, U., RAVETCH, J. V., KORSMEYER, S., WALDMANN, T. & LEDER, P. (1981) Human immunoglobulin D segments encoded in tandem multigenic families. *Nature*, 294, 631-5.

SINGH, A. K. (1995) Lupus in the Fas lane? J R Coll Physicians Lond, 29, 475-8.

SMITH, H. R., HANSEN, C. L., ROSE, R. & CANOSO, R. T. (1990) Autoimmune MRL-1

pr/1pr mice are an animal model for the secondary antiphospholipid syndrome. *J Rheumatol*, 17, 911-5.

STEVENSON, F. K., LONGHURST, C., CHAPMAN, C. J., EHRENSTEIN, M., SPELLERBERG, M. B., HAMBLIN, T. J., RAVIRAJAN, C. T., LATCHMAN, D. & ISENBERG, D. (1993) Utilization of the VH4-21 gene segment by anti-DNA antibodies from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Autoimmun*, 6, 809-25.

STURFELT, G. & TRUEDSSON, L. (2005) Complement and its breakdown products in SLE. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*, 44, 1227-32.

SUZUKI, N., HARADA, T., MIZUSHIMA, Y. & SAKANE, T. (1993) Possible pathogenic role of cationic anti-DNA autoantibodies in the development of nephritis in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol*, 151, 1128-36.

SUZUKI, N., ICHINO, M., MIHARA, S., KANEKO, S. & SAKANE, T. (1998) Inhibition of Fas/Fas ligand-mediated apoptotic cell death of lymphocytes in vitro by circulating anti-Fas ligand autoantibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 41, 344-53.

TAKAHASHI, T., TANAKA, M., BRANNAN, C. I., JENKINS, N. A., COPELAND, N. G., SUDA, T. & NAGATA, S. (1994) Generalized lymphoproliferative disease in mice, caused by a point mutation in the Fas ligand. *Cell*, 76, 969-76.

TAN, E. M., COHEN, A. S., FRIES, J. F., MASI, A. T., MCSHANE, D. J., ROTHFIELD, N. F., SCHALLER, J. G., TALAL, N. & WINCHESTER, R. J. (1982) The 1982 revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*, 25, 1271-7.

TAYLOR, P. R., CARUGATI, A., FADOK, V. A., COOK, H. T., ANDREWS, M., CARROLL, M. C., SAVILL, J. S., HENSON, P. M., BOTTO, M. & WALPORT, M. J. (2000) A hierarchical role for classical pathway complement proteins in the clearance of apoptotic cells in vivo. *J Exp Med*, 192, 359-66.

TER BORG, E. J., HORST, G., HUMMEL, E. J., LIMBURG, P. C. & KALLENBERG, C. G. (1990) Measurement of increases in anti-double-stranded DNA antibody levels as a

predictor of disease exacerbation in systemic lupus erythematosus. A long-term, prospective study. *Arthritis Rheum*, 33, 634-43.

TILLMAN, D. M., JOU, N. T., HILL, R. J. & MARION, T. N. (1992) Both IgM and IgG anti-DNA antibodies are the products of clonally selective B cell stimulation in (NZB × NZW)F1 mice. *J Exp Med*, 176, 761-79.

TOLNAY, M. & TSOKOS, G. C. (1998) Complement receptor 2 in the regulation of the immune response. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol*, 88, 123-32.

TOMER, Y., BLANK, M. & SHOENFELD, Y. (1994) Suppression of experimental antiphospholipid syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus in mice by anti-CD4 monoclonal antibodies. *Arthritis Rheum*, 37, 1236-44.

TOMLINSON, I. M., WILLIAMS, S. C., CORBETT, S. J., COX, J. P. L. & WINTER, G. (1996) VBASE: A database of human immunoglobulin variable region genes. MRC Centre for Protein Engineering, Cambridge, UK.

TONEGAWA, S., MAXAM, A. M., TIZARD, R., BERNARD, O. & GILBERT, W. (1978) Sequence of a mouse germ-line gene for a variable region of an immunoglobulin light chain. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 75, 1485-9.

TROUW, L. A., SEELEN, M. A., VISSEREN, R., DUIJS, J. M., BENEDIKTSSON, H., DE HEER, E., ROOS, A., VAN KOOTEN, C. & DAHA, M. R. (2004) Anti-C1q autoantibodies in murine lupus nephritis. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 135, 41-8.

VAN BRUGGEN, M. C., WALGREEN, B., RIJKE, T. P., TAMBOER, W., KRAMERS, K., SMEENK, R. J., MONESTIER, M., FOURNIE, G. J. & BERDEN, J. H. (1997) Antigen specificity of anti-nuclear antibodies complexed to nucleosomes determines glomerular basement membrane binding in vivo. *Eur J Immunol*, 27, 1564-9.

VASICEK, T. J. & LEDER, P. (1990) Structure and expression of the human immunoglobulin lambda genes. *J Exp Med*, 172, 609-20.

VERMA, R., BOLETI, E. & GEORGE, A. J. (1998) Antibody engineering: comparison of bacterial, yeast, insect and mammalian expression systems. *J Immunol Methods*,

216, 165-81.

VLAHAKOS, D. V., FOSTER, M. H., ADAMS, S., KATZ, M., UCCI, A. A., BARRETT, K. J., DATTA, S. K. & MADAIO, M. P. (1992) Anti-DNA antibodies form immune deposits at distinct glomerular and vascular sites. *Kidney Int*, 41, 1690-700.

WAGNER, S. D. & NEUBERGER, M. S. (1996) Somatic hypermutation of immunoglobulin genes. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 14, 441-57.

WAKELAND, E. K., MOREL, L., MOHAN, C. & YUI, M. (1997) Genetic dissection of lupus nephritis in murine models of SLE. *J Clin Immunol*, 17, 272-81.

WALPORT, M. J. (2001a) Complement. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med*, 344, 1058-66.

WALPORT, M. J. (2001b) Complement. Second of two parts. *N Engl J Med*, 344, 1140-4.

WALPORT, M. J. (2002) Complement and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Res*, 4 Suppl 3, S279-93.

WALPORT, M. J. & LACHMANN, P. J. (1988) Erythrocyte complement receptor type 1, immune complexes, and the rheumatic diseases. *Arthritis Rheum*, 31, 153-8.

WANG, M. X., KANDIAH, D. A., ICHIKAWA, K., KHAMASHTA, M., HUGHES, G., KOIKE, T., ROUBEY, R. & KRILIS, S. A. (1995) Epitope specificity of monoclonal antibeta 2-glycoprotein I antibodies derived from patients with the antiphospholipid syndrome. *J Immunol*, 155, 1629-36.

WELLMANN, U., LETZ, M., HERRMANN, M., ANGERMULLER, S., KALDEN, J. R. & WINKLER, T. H. (2005) The evolution of human anti-double-stranded DNA autoantibodies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 9258-63.

WILLIAMS, S. C., FRIPPIAT, J. P., TOMLINSON, I. M., IGNATOVICH, O., LEFRANC, M. P. & WINTER, G. (1996) Sequence and evolution of the human germline V lambda repertoire. *J Mol Biol*, 264, 220-32. WILLIAMS, R. C., JR., MALONE, C. C., MEYERS, C., DECKER, P. & MULLER, S. (2001) Detection of nucleosome particles in serum and plasma from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus using monoclonal antibody 4H7. *J Rheumatol*, 28, 81-94.

WILSON, W. A., GHARAVI, A. E., KOIKE, T., LOCKSHIN, M. D., BRANCH, D. W., PIETTE, J. C., BREY, R., DERKSEN, R., HARRIS, E. N., HUGHES, G. R., TRIPLETT, D. A. & KHAMASHTA, M. A. (1999) International consensus statement on preliminary classification criteria for definite antiphospholipid syndrome: report of an international workshop. *Arthritis Rheum*, 42, 1309-11.

WILSON, W. A. (2001) Classification criteria for antiphospholipid syndrome. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am*, 27, 499-505, v.

WINKLER, T. H., FEHR, H. & KALDEN, J. R. (1992) Analysis of immunoglobulin variable region genes from human IgG anti-DNA hybridomas. *Eur J Immunol*, 22, 1719-28.

WONG, R. C., ADELSTEIN, S., GILLIS, D. & FAVALORO, E. J. (2005) Development of consensus guidelines for anticardiolipin and lupus anticoagulant testing. *Semin Thromb Hemost*, 31, 39-48.

WU, T. T. & KABAT, E. A. (1970) An analysis of the sequences of the variable regions of Bence Jones proteins and myeloma light chains and their implications for antibody complementarity. *J Exp Med*, 132, 211-50.

YANASE, K., SMITH, R. M., PUCCETTI, A., JARETT, L. & MADAIO, M. P. (1997) Receptor-mediated cellular entry of nuclear localizing anti-DNA antibodies via myosin 1. *J Clin Invest*, 100, 25-31.

YANCOPOULOS, G. D. & ALT, F. W. (1986) Regulation of the assembly and expression of variable-region genes. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 4, 339-68.

ZACK, D. J., STEMPNIAK, M., WONG, A. L., TAYLOR, C. & WEISBART, R. H. (1996) Mechanisms of cellular penetration and nuclear localization of an anti-double strand DNA autoantibody. *J Immunol*, 157, 2082-8. ZACK, D. J., YAMAMOTO, K., WONG, A. L., STEMPNIAK, M., FRENCH, C. & WEISBART, R. H. (1995) DNA mimics a self-protein that may be a target for some anti-DNA antibodies in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol*, 154, 1987-94.

ZHAO, Z., WEINSTEIN, E., TUZOVA, M., DAVIDSON, A., MUNDEL, P., MARAMBIO, P. & PUTTERMAN, C. (2005) Cross-reactivity of human lupus anti-DNA antibodies with alpha-actinin and nephritogenic potential. *Arthritis Rheum*, 52, 522-30.

ZHU, M., OLEE, T., LE, D. T., ROUBEY, R. A., HAHN, B. H., WOODS, V. L., JR. & CHEN, P. P. (1999) Characterization of IgG monoclonal anti-cardiolipin/anti-beta2GP1 antibodies from two patients with antiphospholipid syndrome reveals three species of antibodies. *Br J Haematol*, 105, 102-9.

ZOUALI, M. (1992) Development of human antibody variable genes in systemic autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev*, 128, 73-99.